
 
 

OCTOBER 9, 2019 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
6:00 P.M. Regular Session 

201 N. Broadway, Escondido, CA 92025 

 

 MAYOR Paul McNamara 

 DEPUTY MAYOR Consuelo Martinez 

 COUNCIL MEMBERS Olga Diaz 
  John Masson 
  Michael Morasco 

 CITY MANAGER Jeffrey Epp 

  CITY CLERK Zack Beck 

 CITY ATTORNEY Michael McGuinness 

 DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Bill Martin 

 DIRECTOR OF ENGINEERING SERVICES Julie Procopio 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ELECTRONIC MEDIA: 
Electronic media which members of the public wish to be used during any public comment period should be submitted 
to the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the Council meeting at which it is to be shown.   
 
The electronic media will be subject to a virus scan and must be compatible with the City’s existing system.  The media 
must be labeled with the name of the speaker, the comment period during which the media is to be played and contact 
information for the person presenting the media.   

 
The time necessary to present any electronic media is considered part of the maximum time limit provided to speakers.  
City staff will queue the electronic information when the public member is called upon to speak.  Materials shown to 
the Council during the meeting are part of the public record and may be retained by the Clerk.   
 
The City of Escondido is not responsible for the content of any material presented, and the presentation and content 
of electronic media shall be subject to the same responsibilities regarding decorum and presentation as are applicable 
to live presentations. 

  



 

October 9, 2019 
6:00 P.M. Meeting 

 

Escondido City Council 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

MOMENT OF REFLECTION: 
City Council agendas allow an opportunity for a moment of silence and reflection at the beginning of the evening meeting.  
The City does not participate in the selection of speakers for this portion of the agenda, and does not endorse or sanction 
any remarks made by individuals during this time.  If you wish to be recognized during this portion of the agenda, please 
notify the City Clerk in advance.   

 

FLAG SALUTE   
 

ROLL CALL:  Diaz, Martinez, Masson, Morasco, McNamara 
 

PROCLAMATIONS: Certificate of Achievement - Capstone Fire & Safety Management  

   Fire Prevention Week - October 6-12, 2019  
   Hispanic Heritage Month   

   Water Professionals Week - October 5-11, 2019 
 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT 
 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 

The public may address the Council on any item that is not on the agenda and that is within the subject matter 

jurisdiction of the legislative body.  State law prohibits the Council from discussing or taking action on such 
items, but the matter may be referred to the City Manager/staff or scheduled on a subsequent agenda.  (Please 

refer to the back page of the agenda for instructions.) NOTE:  Depending on the number of requests, comments 

may be reduced to less than 3 minutes per speaker and limited to a total of 15 minutes. Any remaining speakers 
will be heard during Oral Communications at the end of the meeting. 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

Items on the Consent Calendar are not discussed individually and are approved in a single motion.  However, 

Council members always have the option to have an item considered separately, either on their own request 
or at the request of staff or a member of the public. 

1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/RRB) 



2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council) 

Request the City Council approve the City Council and Housing Successor Agency warrant numbers: 
 

  334566 – 334809 dated September 18, 2019 

  334810 – 335079 dated September 25, 2019 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Joan Ryan) 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: A) Regular Meeting of September 11, 2019  B) Regular Meeting 
of September 25, 2019 

4. PROPOSED CHANGES TO COMMUNITY SERVICES FEE SCHEDULE - 

Request the City Council approve authorizing new Community Services fees, make changes to certain 

existing fees for services, and delete fees for services that are no longer used. 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Communications and Community Services Department: 

Joanna Axelrod) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-153 

5. RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING APPLICATION FOR SB 2 PLANNING GRANT - 

Request the City Council approve authorizing the Director of Community Development or his designee 
to submit an application for SB 2 Planning Grant Program Funds to support planning efforts and increase 

the supply and affordability of homes in Escondido; and, if awarded, accept the grant funds, complete 

a budget adjustment, and complete grant documents on behalf of the City of Escondido. 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-156 

 

CONSENT RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES (COUNCIL/RRB) 

The following Resolutions and Ordinances were heard and acted upon by the City Council/RRB at a previous 

City Council/Mobilehome Rent Review meeting.  (The title of Ordinances listed on the Consent Calendar are 
deemed to have been read and further reading waived.) 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

6. DOWNTOWN SPECIFIC PLAN AMENDMENT AND MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT 

PLAN FOR THE QUINCE STREET SENIOR HOUSING PROJECT (PHG 17-0028) - 

Request the City Council approve an amendment to the Downtown Specific Plan and a new Planned 
Development for the Quince Street Senior Housing Project located at 220 N. Quince Street (APN 229-
331-10-00). This item was continued from September 25, 2019 and is being continued to October 23, 
2019.  

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin) 

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-12 (First Reading and Introduction) 

  



7. DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE 
"ASPIRE" MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT (PHG 19-0014) - 

Request the City Council approve a Development Agreement to allocate density from the Downtown 
Density Transfer Program; approve a Master and Precise Development Plan including a Density Bonus 

Application; and adopt a Class 32 exemption in accordance with the California Environmental Quality 

Act for a proposed 131-unit, mixed use development known as "Aspire;" located at 137 West Valley 
Parkway.  

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin) 

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-13 (First Reading and Introduction) 

8. TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION MAP, MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR A 32-UNIT MIXED-USE CONDOMINIUM PROJECT AT 555 
W. GRAND AVENUE (SUB 18-0008; PHG 18-0021) - 

Request the City Council approve a Master and Precise Development Plan and Development Agreement 

for a 32-unit mixed-use condominium project within the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific 
Plan; and approve a one-lot Tentative Subdivision Map.  

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin)  

A) RESOLUTION NO. 2019-143  B) ORDINANCE NO. 2019-15 (First Reading and Introduction) 

 

FUTURE AGENDA 

9. FUTURE AGENDA - 
The purpose of this item is to identify issues presently known to staff or which members of the City 

Council wish to place on an upcoming City Council agenda. Council comment on these future agenda 

items is limited by California Government Code Section 54954.2 to clarifying questions, brief 
announcements, or requests for factual information in connection with an item when it is discussed. 

Staff Recommendation: None (City Clerk's Office: Zack Beck) 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

CITY MANAGER'S WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT 

The most current information from the City Manager regarding Economic Development, Capital Improvement 

Projects, Public Safety and Community Development. This report is also available on the City’s website, 
www.escondido.org. 

 WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT -  

  

file:///C:/Users/RVAQuestys/Downloads/www.escondido.org


ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 

The public may address the Council on any item that is not on the agenda and that is within the subject matter 

jurisdiction of the legislative body.  State law prohibits the Council from discussing or taking action on such 
items, but the matter may be referred to the City Manager/staff or scheduled on a subsequent agenda. Speakers 

are limited to only one opportunity to address the Council under Oral Communications.  

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

UPCOMING MEETING SCHEDULE 
Date Day Time Meeting Type Location 

October 16 - - No Meeting - 

October 23 Wednesday 5:00 & 6:00 p.m. Regular Meeting Council Chambers 

October 30 - - No Meeting - 

November 6 Wednesday 5:00 & 6:00 p.m. Regular Meeting Council Chambers 



TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL 
 

The public may address the City Council on any agenda item. Please complete a Speaker’s form and give it to 
the City Clerk.  Submission of Speaker forms prior to the discussion of an item is highly encouraged.  Comments 

are generally limited to 3 minutes. 
 

If you wish to speak concerning an item not on the agenda, you may do so under “Oral Communications.”  
Please complete a Speaker’s form as noted above. 
 

Nomination forms for Community Awards are available at the Escondido City Clerk’s Office or at 

http://www.escondido.org/city-clerks-office.aspx 
 

Handouts for the City Council should be given to the City Clerk.  To address the Council, use the podium in the 
center of the Chambers, STATE YOUR NAME FOR THE RECORD and speak directly into the microphone. 
 

AGENDA, STAFF REPORTS AND BACK-UP MATERIALS ARE AVAILABLE: 
 

• Online at http://www.escondido.org/meeting-agendas.aspx 

• In the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall  
• Placed in the Council Chambers (See: City Clerk/Minutes Clerk) immediately before and during the 

Council meeting. 
 

AVAILABILITY OF SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS AFTER AGENDA POSTING:  Any supplemental writings 
or documents provided to the City Council regarding any item on this agenda will be made available for public 

inspection in the City Clerk’s Office located at 201 N. Broadway during normal business hours, or in the Council 

Chambers while the meeting is in session. 
 

LIVE BROADCAST 
 

Council meetings are broadcast live on Cox Cable Channel 19 and U-verse Channel 99 – Escondido Gov TV.  
They can also be viewed the following Sunday and Monday evenings at 6:00 p.m. on those same channels.  

The Council meetings are also available live via the Internet by accessing the City’s website at 
www.escondido.org, and clicking the “Live Streaming –City Council Meeting now in progress” button on the 

home page. 
 

Please turn off all cellular phones and pagers while the meeting is in session. 
 

The City Council is scheduled to meet the first four Wednesdays 
of the month at 5:00 in Closed Session and 6:00 in Open Session. 

(Verify schedule with City Clerk’s Office) 
Members of the Council also sit as the Successor Agency to the Community Development 

Commission, Escondido Joint Powers Financing Authority, 

 and the Mobilehome Rent Review Board. 
 

CITY HALL HOURS OF OPERATION 
Monday-Friday 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

 

 

 
If you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact our ADA Coordinator at 

839-4643.  Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable 
arrangements to ensure accessibility. 

 

Listening devices are available for the hearing impaired – please see the City Clerk. 

 

http://www.escondido.org/city-clerks-office.aspx
http://www.escondido.org/meeting-agendas.aspx
file:///C:/Users/RVAQuestys/Downloads/www.escondido.org


Consent Item No. 1 October 9, 2019

A F F I D A V I T S

OF

I T E M 

P O S T I N G



Staff Report - Council

Consent Item No. 2 October 9, 2019 File No. 0400-40

SUBJECT: Approval of Warrants

DEPARTMENT: Finance Department

RECOMMENDATION:

Request approval for City Council and Housing Successor Agency warrant numbers:

334566 – 334809 dated September 18, 2019
334810 – 335079 dated September 25, 2019

FISCAL ANALYSIS:

The total amount of the warrants for the following periods are as follows:
 
September 12 – September 18, 2019, is $1,962,326.35
September 19 – September 25, 2019, is $1,960,300.25

BACKGROUND:

The Escondido Municipal Code Section 10-49 states that warrants or checks may be issued and paid 
prior to audit by the City Council, provided the warrants or checks are certified and approved by the 
Director of Finance as conforming to the current budget. These warrants or checks must then be 
ratified and approved by the City Council at the next regular Council meeting.



September 11, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 1 of 6

CITY OF ESCONDIDO

September 11, 2019
5:00 P.M. Meeting Minutes

Escondido City Council

CALL TO ORDER

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 5:00 p.m. on Wednesday, September 
11, 2019 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor McNamara presiding.
ATTENDANCE: 
The following members were present: Councilmember Olga Diaz, Deputy Mayor Consuelo Martinez, 
Councilmember John Masson, Councilmember Michael Morasco, and Mayor Paul McNamara. Quorum present.

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

CLOSED SESSION: (COUNCIL/RRB)

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Masson and seconded by Deputy Mayor Martinez to recess to Closed 
Session. Motion carried unanimously. 

I. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-- EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code 
54956.9(d)(1))
a. Case Name: Chris Bill v. City of Escondido

Case No: WCAB No. ADJ11681971

b. Case Name: John Myers v. City of Escondido
Case No: WCAB No. ADJ19920199

II. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-ANTICIPATED LITIGATION/SIGNIFICANT 
EXPOSURE (Government Code 54956.9(d)(2)) 
a. One Case: Claim No. 5132

ADJOURNMENT

Mayor McNamara adjourned the meeting at 5:15 p.m.

_______________________________ _______________________________
MAYOR CITY CLERK



September 11, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 2 of 6

CITY OF ESCONDIDO

September 11, 2019
6:00 P.M. Meeting Minutes

Escondido City Council

CALL TO ORDER

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 6:00 p.m. on Wednesday, September 
11, 2019 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor McNamara presiding.

MOMENT OF REFLECTION
Zack Beck, City Clerk, led the Moment of Reflection. 

FLAG SALUTE
The Escondido Police and Fire Color Guard led the flag salute. 

ATTENDANCE: 
The following members were present: Councilmember Olga Diaz, Deputy Mayor Consuelo Martinez, 
Councilmember John Masson, Councilmember Michael Morasco, and Mayor Paul McNamara. Quorum present.

Also present were: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager; Michael McGuinness, City Attorney; Bill Martin, Director of 
Community Development; Julie Procopio, Director of Engineering Services; Zack Beck, City Clerk.

PROCLAMATIONS:
Jeff Murdock, Emergency and Disaster Preparedness Manager, accepted the proclamation for National 
Preparedness Month.

Elisa Marrone, Environmental Program Specialist, accepted the proclamation for Pollution Prevention Week - 
September 16-22, 2019.

The proclamation for Childhood Cancer and Blood Cancer Awareness Month was mailed to the recipient.

CLOSED SESSION REPORT

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-- EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code 
54956.9(d)(1))

a. Case Name: Chris Bill v. City of Escondido
Case No: WCAB No. ADJ11681971
Settlement in the amount of $58,020. Approved unanimously. 

b. Case Name: John Myers v. City of Escondido
Case No: WCAB No. ADJ19920199
Settlement in the amount of $48,212.58. Approved unanimously.

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-ANTICIPATED LITIGATION/SIGNIFICANT 
EXPOSURE (Government Code 54956.9(d)(2)) 

a. One Case: Claim No. 5132
Settlement in the amount of $24,765. Approved unanimously.



September 11, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 3 of 6

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

Jackie Kirkpatrick, Expressed support for Assembly Bill 45 and concern about pet stores in Escondido 
potentially violating the law.
Michelle Walther, Expressed support for Assembly Bill 45 and concern about pet stores in Escondido 
potentially violating the law.
Kathi Stanley, Expressed support for Assembly Bill 45 and concern about pet stores in Escondido potentially 
violating the law.

CONSENT CALENDAR

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Masson and seconded by Councilmember Morasco to approve all Consent 
Calendar items. Motion carried unanimously.
1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/RRB)
2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council)

Request the City Council approve the City Council and Housing Successor Agency warrant numbers: 
(File No. 0400-40)

  333496 – 333596 dated August 14, 2019
  333597 – 333891 dated August 21, 2019
  333892 – 334145 dated August 28, 2019

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Sheryl Bennett)
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: A) Regular Meeting of August 7, 2019 B) Regular Meeting of 

August 21, 2019

4. REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE AD HOC SUBCOMMITTEE ON CITY COUNCIL 
RULES AND POLICIES -
Request the City Council approve the recommendations of the Ad Hoc Subcommittee on City Council 
Rules and Policies, and incorporate further revisions requested by Council and the City Manager's Office. 
This item was continued from August 21, 2019. (File No. 0610-90)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (City Attorney's Office: Michael R. McGuinness)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-65R

5. IMPLEMENTATION OF CITYWORKS SOFTWARE AT THE HALE AVENUE RESOURCE 
RECOVERY FACILITY -
Request the City Council approve authorizing the execution of a Public Services Agreement with 
Woolpert, Inc. in the amount of $290,050 for Cityworks software implementation services at the Hale 
Avenue Resource Recovery Facility (HARRF) and approve a budget adjustment of $290,000 from the 
Wastewater Fund's Unallocated Reserves to fund the Agreement. (File No. 0600-10 [A-3316])

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Utilities Department: Christopher W. McKinney and 
Information Systems Department: Rob Van De Hey)

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-127



September 11, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 4 of 6

6. YEAR 2020 HOLIDAYS -
Request the City Council approve designating the dates that City of Escondido offices will be closed for 
the calendar year 2020 for holiday observances. (File No. 0740-30)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Human Resources Department: Sheryl Bennett)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-130

7. PURCHASE TWO (2) MEDIX AMBULANCES FROM REPUBLIC EMERGENCY VEHICLE SALES 
(REPUBLIC-EVS) THROUGH SOUTHWEST AMBULANCE SALES OF KENNEDALE, TEXAS - 
Request the City Council approve authorizing Fleet Services Division to purchase two (2) Medix 
Ambulances from Republic-EVS through Southwest Ambulance Sales for the amount of $402,468 by 
utilizing a Cooperative Purchase Contract through the Houston-Galveston Area Council (HGAC), 
Contract Number AM10-18. The registration and documentation fees and sales tax totaling $31, 466.08 
will be added to the final purchase invoice, upon accepted delivery, bringing the total purchase amount 
to $433,914.08 for the two (2) ambulances. (File No. 0470-35)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Public Works Department: Joseph Goulart)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-132

8. NOTICE OF COMPLETION FOR TRACT SUB 14-0018, CITRON DEVELOPMENT -
Request the City Council approve and accept the public improvements and authorize staff to file a 
Notice of Completion for the Escondido Tract SUB 14-0018, Citron Development. (File No. 0800-10)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Engineering Services Department: Julie Procopio)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-133

9. PUBLICATION OF ORDINANCE SUMMARIES AND DISPLAY ADVERTISEMENTS -
Request the City Council approve the publication of an ordinance summary instead of the full text of 
an ordinance whenever a fair and adequate summary can be prepared and cost savings for legal 
advertising are anticipated from such action. (File No. 0110-30)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (City Clerk's Office: Zack Beck)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-138

CONSENT RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES (COUNCIL/RRB)

The following Resolutions and Ordinances were heard and acted upon by the City Council/RRB at a previous 
City Council/Mobilehome Rent Review meeting.  (The title of Ordinances listed on the Consent Calendar are 
deemed to have been read and further reading waived.)

10. CONTINUED DISCUSSION OF THE ZONING CODE AND LAND USE STUDY (AZ 18-0006) -
Approved on August 21, 2019 with a vote of 5/0 (File No. 0680-50)

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-09 (Second Reading and Adoption)

11. NEW INVENTORY PARKING LOT FOR LEXUS ESCONDIDO (PHG 18-0026)
Approved on August 21, 2019 with a vote of 5/0 (File No. 0800-40)

ORDINANCE NO. 2019-11R (Second Reading and Adoption)



September 11, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 5 of 6

CURRENT BUSINESS

12. APPROVAL OF A LINE OF CREDIT WITH ESCONDIDO EDUCATION COMPACT -
Request the City Council approve a Line of Credit in the amount of $30,000 for Escondido Education 
COMPACT. (File No. 0600-10 [A-3317])

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Joan Ryan)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-131

Mary Anne Dijak, Manager of Youth Violence & Prevention for Escondido Education COMPACT, presented the 
staff report utilizing a PowerPoint presentation.
Jack Anderson, Escondido, requested that City Council approve the line of credit.
MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Masson to approve a Line of Credit 
in the amount of $30,000 for Escondido Education COMPACT and adopt Resolution No. 2019-131. Motion 
carried unanimously. 

13. NOTICE OF COMPLETION FOR HIGHWAY SAFETY IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (HSIP) 
TRAFFIC SIGNALS PROJECT -
Request the City Council approve authorizing the City Engineer to file a Notice of Completion for the 
Highway Safety Improvement Program Traffic Signals Project. (File No. 0600-10 [A-3272])

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Engineering Services Department: Julie Procopio)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-134

Ali Shahzad, Associate Engineer, presented the staff report utilizing a PowerPoint presentation.
MOTION: Moved by Deputy Mayor Martinez and seconded by Councilmember Diaz to approve authorizing 
the City Engineer to file a Notice of Completion for the Highway Safety Improvement Program Traffic Signals 
Project and adopt Resolution No. 2019-134. Motion carried unanimously. 

FUTURE AGENDA

14. FUTURE AGENDA -
The purpose of this item is to identify issues presently known to staff or which members of the City 
Council wish to place on an upcoming City Council agenda. Council comment on these future agenda 
items is limited by California Government Code Section 54954.2 to clarifying questions, brief 
announcements, or requests for factual information in connection with an item when it is discussed.

Staff Recommendation: None (City Clerk's Office: Zack Beck)

COUNCILMEMBER MASSON AND COUNCILMEMBER DIAZ REQUESTED A REVIEW OF THE TRAFFIC 
SIGNAL POLICY RELATED TO LEFT-HAND TURN SIGNALS AND REVERSIBLE LANES.

COUNCILMEMBER MORASCO REQUESTED A REVIEW OF THE DEPUTY MAYOR SELECTION 
PROCESS.



September 11, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 6 of 6

COUNCIL MEMBERS SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS

Councilmember Diaz – Participated in the Community Survey Subcommittee with Councilmember Masson. 
Attended the League of California Cities meeting where there was a presentation from SDG&E regarding peak 
energy consumption. There was also a presentation from the regional airport authority describing plans for 
airport expansion. 

Councilmember Masson participated in the Community Survey Subcommittee with Councilmember Diaz.

Mayor McNamara attended a SANDAG meeting where a regional housing needs assessment for Escondido was 
discussed. 

CITY MANAGER'S WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT

The most current information from the City Manager regarding Economic Development, Capital Improvement 
Projects, Public Safety and Community Development. This report is also available on the City’s website, 
www.escondido.org.

 WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT -

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

ADJOURNMENT

Mayor McNamara adjourned the meeting at 7:13 p.m.

_______________________________ _______________________________
MAYOR CITY CLERK



September 25, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 1 of 8

CITY OF ESCONDIDO

September 25, 2019
5:00 P.M. Meeting Minutes

Escondido City Council

CALL TO ORDER

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 5:00 p.m. on Wednesday, September 
25, 2019 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor McNamara presiding.
ATTENDANCE: 
The following members were present: Councilmember Olga Diaz, Deputy Mayor Consuelo Martinez, 
Councilmember John Masson, Councilmember Michael Morasco, and Mayor Paul McNamara. Quorum present.

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

CLOSED SESSION: (COUNCIL/RRB)

MOTION: Moved by Deputy Mayor Martinez and seconded by to recess to Closed Session. Motion carried 
unanimously. 

I. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-- EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code 
54956.9(d)(1))
a. Case Name: Crown Castle Fiber LLC V. City of Escondido, U.S. District Court

Case No: ’19-CV-1056-DMS (WVG)

II. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-ANTICIPATED LITIGATION/SIGNIFICANT 
EXPOSURE (Government Code 54956.9(d)(2)) 
a. Consideration of Opposing the Wireless Infrastructure Association’s Petition for Declaratory 

Ruling with the Federal Communications Commission, In the Matter of Accelerating Wireless 
Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to Infrastructure Investment (WT Docket No. 
17-79).

III. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR (Government Code §54956.8)
a. Property: 1201 E. Washington Avenue, APN 230-141-01

City Negotiator: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager
Negotiating Parties: KB Homes
Under Negotiation: Review Unsolicited Offer

b. Property: APNs 233-022-21 & 233-022-23
City Negotiator: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager
Negotiating Parties: 555 W. Grand LLC
Under Negotiation: Price and Terms of Agreement



September 25, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 2 of 8

ADJOURNMENT

Mayor McNamara adjourned the meeting at 5:20 p.m.

_______________________________ _______________________________
MAYOR CITY CLERK



September 25, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 3 of 8

CITY OF ESCONDIDO

September 25, 2019
6:00 P.M. Meeting Minutes

Escondido City Council

CALL TO ORDER

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 6:00 p.m. on Wednesday, September 
25, 2019 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor McNamara presiding.

MOMENT OF REFLECTION
Zack Beck, City Clerk, led the Moment of Reflection.

FLAG SALUTE
Bill Martin, Director of Community Development, led the flag salute.

ATTENDANCE
The following members were present: Councilmember Olga Diaz, Deputy Mayor Consuelo Martinez, 
Councilmember John Masson, Councilmember Michael Morasco, and Mayor Paul McNamara. Quorum present.

Also present were: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager; Michael McGuinness, City Attorney; Bill Martin, Director of 
Community Development; Julie Procopio, Director of Engineering Services; Zack Beck, City Clerk.

PROCLAMATIONS
Rick Shell, President of the West Hillside Neighborhood Group, accepted the proclamation for National 
Neighborhood Day.

Anahid Brakke and John Millspaugh accepted the proclamation for San Diego Hunger Awareness.

PRESENTATIONS
Kevin O’Beirne, Major Projects Development Manager, presented an update regarding San Diego Gas & Electric.

Jason Foster, Administrative Services Director, presented regarding the San Diego County Water Authority. 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT

I. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-- EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code 
54956.9(d)(1))
a. Case Name: Crown Castle Fiber LLC V. City of Escondido, U.S. District Court

Case No: ’19-CV-1056-DMS (WVG)
Approved unanimously. 

II. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-ANTICIPATED LITIGATION/SIGNIFICANT 
EXPOSURE (Government Code 54956.9(d)(2)) 

a. Consideration of Opposing the Wireless Infrastructure Association’s Petition for Declaratory 
Ruling with the Federal Communications Commission, In the Matter of Accelerating Wireless 
Broadband Deployment by Removing Barriers to Infrastructure Investment (WT Docket No. 
17-79).
Approved unanimously.



September 25, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 4 of 8

III. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR (Government Code §54956.8)
a. Property: 1201 E. Washington Avenue, APN 230-141-01

City Negotiator: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager
Negotiating Parties: KB Homes
Under Negotiation: Review Unsolicited Offer
Approved unanimously.

b. Property: APNs 233-022-21 & 233-022-23
City Negotiator: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager
Negotiating Parties: 555 W. Grand LLC
Under Negotiation: Price and Terms of Agreement
Approved unanimously.

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

Andrea Cunningham, expressed concern about pet stores in Escondido potentially violating Assembly 
Bill 485.

CONSENT CALENDAR

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Masson and seconded by Councilmember Morasco to approve all Consent 
Calendar items, with the exception of item #5. Approved unanimously.
1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/RRB)
2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council)

Request the City Council approve the City Council and Housing Successor Agency warrant numbers: 
(File No. 0400-40)

  334146 – 334356 dated September 4, 2019
  334357 – 334565 dated September 11, 2019

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Sheryl Bennett)
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: None Scheduled

4. FISCAL YEAR 2019 REGIONAL REALIGNMENT RESPONSE GRANT AND BUDGET 
ADJUSTMENT -
Request the City Council approve authorizing the Escondido Police Department to accept a Fiscal Year 
2019 Regional Realignment Response Grant funds in the amount of $100,000; authorize the Chief of 
Police or his designee to execute grant documents on behalf of the City; and approve budget 
adjustments needed to spend grant funds. (File No. 0480-70)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Police Department: Craig Carter)

5. FISCAL YEAR 2019-20 STATE OF CALIFORNIA OFFICE OF TRAFFIC SAFETY SELECTIVE 
TRAFFIC ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM (STEP) GRANT AND BUDGET ADJUSTMENT -
Request the City Council approve authorizing the Escondido Police Department to accept a Fiscal Year 
2019-20 California Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) Selective Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP) Grant 
in the amount of $454,000; authorize the Chief of Police or his designee to execute grant documents 



September 25, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 5 of 8

on behalf of the City; and approve budget adjustments needed to spend grant funds. (File No. 0480-
70)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Police Department: Craig Carter)
Moved by Deputy Mayor Martinez and seconded by Council Member Masson to approve authorizing 
Escondido Police Department to accept a Fiscal Year 2019-20 California Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) 
Selective Traffic Enforcement Program (STEP) Grant in the amount of $454,000; authorize the Chief of 
Police or his designee to execute grant documents on behalf of the City; and approve budget 
adjustments needed to spend grant funds. Approved with four yes votes. Deputy Mayor Martinez voted 
no.

6. FISCAL YEAR 2019-20 STATE OF CALIFORNIA OFFICE OF TRAFFIC PEDESTRIAN AND 
BICYCLE SAFETY PROGRAM GRANT AND BUDGET ADJUSTMENT -
Request the City Council approve authorizing the Escondido Police Department to accept a Fiscal Year 
2019-20 California Office of Traffic Safety (OTS) Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety Program Grant in the 
amount of $25,000; authorize the Chief of Police or his designee to execute grant documents on behalf 
of the City; and approve budget adjustments needed to spend grant funds. (File No. 0480-70)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Police Department: Craig Carter)

7. RUBBERIZED PAVEMENT GRANT PROGRAM APPLICATION -
Request the City Council approve authorizing the Director of Engineering Services or her designee to 
submit an application(s) for the Rubberized Pavement Grant Program funds for an amount up to 
$350,000 from the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle); and if 
awarded, to accept the grant funds and complete the necessary documents required by CalRecycle for 
participation in the Rubberized Pavement Program in conjunction with the Citywide annual pavement 
maintenance program. (File No. 0480-70)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Engineering Services Department: Julie Procopio)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-140

8. BID AWARD FOR THE PURCHASE OF LIVE RAINBOW TROUT -
Request the City Council approve accepting the second lowest responsive and responsible bid from Mt. 
Lassen Trout to purchase live Rainbow Trout by unit price for stocking at Dixon Lake and Lake 
Wohlford; and authorize the Deputy City Manager to execute a Purchasing Contract with Mt. Lassen 
Trout effective September 25, 2019 through June 30, 2020, with the option to renew the Contract on 
an annual fiscal year basis not to exceed a total of four consecutive years. Contract renewal options 
are contingent upon budget appropriations and satisfactory performance by the contractor. The unit 
price bid for live rainbow trout is $4.44 per pound with an estimated purchase quantity of 55,000 
pounds per year for an estimated annual amount of $244,200. (File NO. 0470-35)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Sheryl Bennett)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-137

CONSENT RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES (COUNCIL/RRB)

The following Resolutions and Ordinances were heard and acted upon by the City Council/RRB at a previous 
City Council/Mobilehome Rent Review meeting.  (The title of Ordinances listed on the Consent Calendar are 
deemed to have been read and further reading waived.)

PUBLIC HEARINGS



September 25, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 6 of 8

9. APPEAL OF PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION TO APPROVE A CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT FOR A WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITY FOR PTI-T-MOBILE (PHG 18-0016)
Request the City Council deny the appeal and uphold the Planning Commission decision to approve the 
project and adopt Resolution No. 2019-148. Staff has suggested two alternative options: Option A) 
Affirm the appeal, set aside the decision of the Planning Commission with findings reached by the City 
Council to deny the project, and adopt Resolution No. 2019-149; or Option B) Deny the appeal, but 
modify the decision of the Planning Commission (with or without amended conditions). (File No. 0810-
20)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin)
A) RESOLUTION NO. 2019-148 B) RESOLUTION NO. 2019-149

Mike Strong, Assistant Director of Planning, presented the staff report utilizing a PowerPoint presentation.
Mayor McNamara opened the public hearing and asked if anyone wished to speak on this issue in any way. 
MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Masson and seconded by Councilmember Morasco to issue a continuance 
of this item and refund the appellant. Approved unanimously. 

10. DOWNTOWN SPECIFIC PLAN AMENDMENT AND MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN FOR THE QUINCE STREET SENIOR HOUSING PROJECT (PHG 17-0028) -
Request the City Council approve an amendment to the Downtown Specific Plan and a new Planned 
Development for the Quince Street Senior Housing Project located at 220 N. Quince Street (APN 229-
331-10-00). (File No. 0800-70)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin)
ORDINANCE NO. 2019-12 (First Reading and Introduction)

Adam Finestone, Principal Planner, presented the staff report utilizing a PowerPoint presentation.
Mayor McNamara opened the public hearing and asked if anyone wished to speak on this issue in any way. 
MOTION: Moved by Deputy Mayor Martinez and seconded by Councilmember Diaz to continue this item to 
the October 9, 2019 City Council Meeting. 

11. TAX EQUITY AND FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY ACT HEARING FOR HEALTHRIGHT 360 
FACILITIES -
Request the City Council approve the issuance of one or more series of revenue bonds in an aggregate 
principal amount not to exceed $65,000,000 by the California Municipal Finance Authority, of which 
approximately $6,150,000 will be allocable to projects in the City of Escondido and the remaining 
amount will be allocable to projects in other cities. (File No. 0440-65)

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin)
RESOLUTION NO. 2019-141

Karen Youel, Housing and Neighborhood Services Manager, presented the staff report utilizing a PowerPoint 
presentation. 
Mayor McNamara opened the public hearing and asked if anyone wished to speak on this issue in any way. 
MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Morasco to approve the issuance 
of one or more series of revenue bonds in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $65,000,000 by the 
California Municipal Finance Authority, of which approximately $6,150,000 will be allocable to projects in the 
City of Escondido and the remaining amount will be allocable to projects in other cities and adopt Resolution 
No. 2019-141. Approved unanimously.

CURRENT BUSINESS



September 25, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 7 of 8

12. HOUSING RELATED PARKS PROGRAM PROJECT UPDATE -
Request the City Council receive and file an update on recreational facilities rehabilitation and 
improvements built with Housing Related Parks Program (HRP) grant funds. (File No. 0480-70)

Staff Recommendation: Receive and File (Public Works Department: Joseph Goulart and 
Communications & Community Services Department: Joanna Axelrod)

Karen Youel, Housing and Neighborhood Services Manager and Joe Goulart, Director of Public Works, presented 
the staff report utilizing a PowerPoint presentation. 

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Masson to receive and file an 
update on recreational facilities rehabilitation and improvements built with Housing Related Parks Program 
(HRP) grant funds. Approved unanimously. 

WORKSHOP

13. COMMUNITY ADVISORY GROUP UPDATE -
The workshop will serve as an update on progress in forming five Community Advisory Groups and 
announce future meeting dates.

Staff Recommendation: None (City Manager's Office: William L. Wolfe)

William L. Wolfe, Deputy City Manager, presented an update regarding Community Advisory Groups utilizing a 
PowerPoint presentation. 

NO COUNCIL ACTION NECESSARY.

FUTURE AGENDA

14. FUTURE AGENDA -
The purpose of this item is to identify issues presently known to staff or which members of the City 
Council wish to place on an upcoming City Council agenda. Council comment on these future agenda 
items is limited by California Government Code Section 54954.2 to clarifying questions, brief 
announcements, or requests for factual information in connection with an item when it is discussed.

Staff Recommendation: None (City Clerk's Office: Zack Beck)

Councilmember Diaz requested an update regarding pet stores complying with Assembly 
Bill 485 in Escondido.

COUNCIL MEMBERS SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS

Councilmember Diaz attended the ad-hoc community survey subcommittee with Councilmember Masson.

Councilmember Masson attended the ad-hoc community survey subcommittee with Councilmember Diaz.

CITY MANAGER'S WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT



September 25, 2019 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 8 of 8

The most current information from the City Manager regarding Economic Development, Capital Improvement 
Projects, Public Safety and Community Development. This report is also available on the City’s website, 
www.escondido.org.

 WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

Tom Albergo, expressed concern regarding sound issues and compliance issues with the Air X business. 

Brian Wilson, requested that the cell tower being proposed for his property should be considered for approval 
by the City Council.

Gail McMorran, President of Air X, expressed concern about the complaints being levied against her company. 

Daniel Day, employee of Air X, expressed concern about the number of inspections that are taking place at the 
Air X company by the City of Escondido.

ADJOURNMENT

Mayor McNamara adjourned the meeting at 8:27 p.m.

_______________________________ _______________________________
MAYOR CITY CLERK



Staff Report - Council

Consent Item No. 4 October 9, 2019 File No. 0480-45

SUBJECT: Proposed Changes to Community Services Fee Schedule

DEPARTMENT: Communications and Community Services Department

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2019-153 authorizing new Community 
Services fees, making changes to certain existing fees for services, and deleting fees for services that 
are no longer used.

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

Revenue generated by the rental of library media items for FY 2018-19 was $39,231 which would be 
lost as part of this proposal.

PREVIOUS ACTION:

On March 21, 2018, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2018-29 authorizing new City of 
Escondido (“City”) fees, making changes to certain existing fees for service, and deleting fees for 
service that were no longer used.  

BACKGROUND:

Each year Staff reviews the City fee inventory schedule to make recommendations for fee increases 
necessary to accurately offset the cost of providing services, to eliminate fees for services that are no 
longer provided, and to recommend new fees for services provided. 

Exhibit "A" of Resolution No. 2019-153 provides a comparison between existing and proposed fee 
changes.  If these proposed fee changes are approved by the City Council, they will go into effect 
October 14, 2019. These proposed fee changes do not include fee increases that require a Prop 218 
notification.  

The Community Services Recreation Division provides life-enriching recreational programs and 
activities for people of all ages, from infants to older adults. Leisure classes are offered in personal 
enrichment, music, dance, arts & crafts, swimming, preschool, tennis, and health & fitness; special 
programs for youth include the After School Program and day camps; and sports activities and 
leagues including softball, roller hockey, and arena soccer are scheduled seasonally. 



Proposed Changes to Community Services Fee Schedule 
October 9, 2019
Page 2

The Escondido Public Library provides equal access to information and educational experiences that 
inspire learning and foster participation in a thoughtful, diverse society through a broad selection of 
reading and media materials and a diverse array of programs for all ages. 

The following is a description of the proposed fee changes.

COMMUNITY SERVICES

 Afterschool Program Paid Sites: Increase the daily drop-in rate at our paid afterschool program 
sites from $10/day to $12 -$15/day. Effective January 1, 2017, the minimum wage for all 
industries increased and will continue to increase by one dollar annually, through January 1, 
2022. Raising the drop-in fee annually through 2022 covers this additional cost. 

 Activenet Online Registration/Credit Card Processing Fee: The Community Services 
Department currently utilizes Activenet for online registration and credit card processing. For 
every transaction run through Activenet, there is a convenience and processing fee charged to 
the City which is then passed on to the customer. That fee is typically increased on an annual 
basis.  In order to cover the cost of the fee increase imposed by Activenet, the City fee 
increase will go from 5.89% to 6.1 – 8.0%.  The range is being recommended since the 
percentage will fluctuate depending on the type of credit card used and the method of 
processing (e.g. online or in person).

 Removal of registration fees for ACE - Makos Swim Club, ACE- Riptides Water Polo, and 
Splash Ball: These programs are no longer offered, or have been restructured as facility 
rentals, and will be deleted from the inventory.

LIBRARY

 Removal of DVD Rental Fee, Media Checkout/CD Fee, Audio Book Checkout Fee: Elimination 
of this fee will provide more equitable access to media materials and is also consistent with 
other library systems throughout San Diego County who do not charge for the rental of media 
items. While at some cost to the general fund, this recommendation was brought forward by 
the Library Board of Trustees and was one of the Strategic Plan priorities identified by the 
community in the area of “Grow services to low-income patrons.” Staff supports elimination of 
this fee. 



Proposed Changes to Community Services Fee Schedule 
October 9, 2019
Page 3

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Joanna Axelrod, Director of Communications and Community Services
10/2/2019 5:13 p.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Resolution No. 2019-153
2. Resolution No. 2019-153 – Exhibit A – List of Proposed Fee Changes



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-153

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, CALIFORNIA, 
ADOPTING COMMUNITY SERVICES FEES 
FOR CERTAIN SERVICES AND PERMITS 
AND THE REMOVAL OF FEES FOR 
SERVICES NO LONGER USED

WHEREAS, the City of Escondido (“City”) charges fees for services and permits; 

and

WHEREAS, staff recommends increases in certain existing Community Services 

fees, the addition of new fees, and the removal of fees no longer required; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires at this time and deems it to be in the best 

public interest to adopt the changes in certain existing fees for services and permits as 

presented in Exhibit “A,” which is attached to this Resolution and incorporated by this 

reference.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Escondido, California, as follows: 

1. That the above recitations are true.

2. That the City Council approves the changes in certain Community 

Services fees contained in Exhibit “A.” 

3. That the City Fees listed in Exhibit “A” shall be effective October 14, 2019.



Resolution No. 2019-153
Exhibit A

Page 1 of 1
Exhibit A

List of Proposed Fee Inventory Changes

Department Fee Description Current Fee Proposed Fee

COMMUNITY SERVICES
Comm Srv. Afterschool Program  - Paid Sites $10 / day $12 - $15 / day
Comm. Srv. Activenet Credit Card Processing Fee 5.89% 6.1% - 8.0%
Comm. Srv. ACE- Makos Swim Club $480 / season DELETE
Comm. Srv. ACE- Riptides Water Polo $225-$325 / season DELETE
Comm. Srv. Splash Ball $78 / session DELETE
LIBRARY
Library DVD Rental Fee 0.50 / week DELETE
Library Media Checkout/CD Fee 0.25 / 3 weeks DELETE
Library Audio Book Checkout Fee 0.50 / 3 weeks DELETE



Staff Report - Council

Consent Item No. 5 October 9, 2019 File No. 0480-70

SUBJECT: Resolution Authorizing Application for SB 2 Planning Grant 

DEPARTMENT: Community Development Department, Planning Division

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2019-156 authorizing the Director of 
Community Development or his designee to submit an application for SB 2 Planning Grant Program 
Funds to support planning efforts and increase the supply and affordability of homes in Escondido, 
and, if awarded, to accept the grant funds, complete a budget adjustment, and complete grant 
documents on behalf of the City of Escondido. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

Senate Bill 2 (SB 2), otherwise known as the Building Homes and Jobs Act, established a $75 
recording fee on real estate documents to fund a variety of new and existing programs to increase the 
supply of housing statewide.  Fifty percent of the first year of revenues generated through SB 2 have 
been used to set up a State-administered Planning Grants Program. The program is a one-time 
component of SB 2 that, among other provisions, provides financial and technical assistance to local 
governments to update planning documents, with the goal of facilitating residential development, 
reducing constraints, and incentivizing housing production.  If awarded, the $310,000 grant would 
fund important local planning activities and consultant costs.  These grant funds would only partially 
offset the total cost in staffing and consultant services for all of these projects.  The Community 
Development Department’s budget for staff and operations would cover staff time used in connection 
with carrying out planning and program implementation.

BACKGROUND:

The 2017 Legislative Housing Package provided a renewed focus on housing and offered fifteen (15) 
different bills aimed at injecting new regulatory and financial resources to address housing 
construction, the state’s housing shortage, and high housing costs.  Chapter 354, Statutes of 2017 
(SB 2, Atkins) was part of this legislative package.  SB 2 established a new, permanent source of 
funding intended to increase the affordable housing stock in California.  

The State of California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) issued a notice 
of Funding Availability (NOFA) for approximately $123 million dated March 29, 2019, for its SB 2 
Planning Grants Program. Eligible activities must demonstrate a nexus to accelerating housing 
production and may include updates to general plans, community plans, specific plans; updates to 
zoning ordinances; environmental analyses that eliminate the need for project-specific review; and 



SB2 Planning Grant
October 9, 2019
Page 2

local process improvements that improve and expedite local planning.  Funds in this initial allocation 
are available to eligible applicants on a noncompetitive, over-the-counter (OTC) basis.  The City of 
Escondido is eligible for a maximum award amount of $310,000.  The planning activities covered by 
the grant program must directly address ways to accelerate housing production; streamline the 
approval of housing development affordable to owner and renter households at all income levels; 
facilitate housing affordability for all income groups; and/or promote development consistent with the 
State Planning priorities.  

ANALYSIS:

There are a variety of planning activities eligible for program funding, and many of the programs 
proposed in the City's 2013-2020 Housing Element would be possibilities.  Some of the programs 
identified in the element include maintaining an adequate inventory of land for regional housing 
needs, increasing density and affordable housing development, creating a by-right approval process 
for housing development, housing maintenance and conservation, implementation of fair housing 
practices, and streamlining planning and building permitting processes that expedite review.  
Although each is programmed for Housing Element implementation, City staff has compiled the 
following list of the projects that would best translate to affordable housing development and/or 
reduce planning constraints to facilitate additional housing production in Escondido.  These seem like 
good candidates for the funding program, while allowing the City to create a comprehensive housing 
assessment and strategy.  As such, the anticipated scope of projects covered by the City’s SB 2 
Planning Grant submittal are listed below:

1. Updates to the Housing Element (2021-2029) 

 Existing conditions analysis.  Learn of community-wide issues and opportunities related 
to population, employment and household characteristics; overpayment and 
overcrowding; and other housing needs. 

 Regional Housing Needs Assessment:  Expand and protect opportunities for 
households of all income levels to find housing in Escondido and afford a greater choice 
of rental and homeownership opportunities.

 Evaluate and implement new ways to increase affordable housing production for lower 
income and moderate-income households.  

 Reduce governmental constraints on the maintenance, improvement and development 
of housing while maintaining community character.

 Explore continued improvements to the entitlement process to streamline and 
coordinate the processing of development permits, design review and environmental 
clearance.

 Evaluate new ways to promote Fair Housing practices.



SB2 Planning Grant
October 9, 2019
Page 3

 Promote the active participation of citizens, community groups, and governmental 
agencies in housing and community development activities. Explore collaborative 
partnerships with nonprofit organizations, developers, governmental agencies and the 
business community to develop, rehabilitate and preserve affordable housing.

2. New Specific Plan for the East Valley / Hospital Professional Zone  

 Create new residential zoning to allow standalone and mixed-use residential 
development by-right.  Rezoning for additional housing capacity and establishing by-
right zoning to permit residential development, particularly multifamily, without 
discretionary action.

 Incentivizing accessory dwelling unit construction in the East Valley Target Area.  
 Creating objective development and compatibility design standards.  Developing 

objective design standards or pre-approved site and architectural plans that facilitate 
non-discretionary permitting.

 CEQA streamlining: Designating and rezoning for additional housing capacity or 
preparing specific plans and plan-level environmental analysis that can be used to 
streamline future housing projects. 

3. Feasibility Study

 Conduct a housing sector feasibility study to evaluate sector viability to market/brand 
market-rate and/or affordable housing construction opportunities in Escondido.

 Conduct a study of the entitlement and permitting process.  The City could utilize a 
feasibility study to develop a framework for right-sizing code standards to facilitate new 
housing development by understanding the amount of housing development expected 
under the existing regulations and learn if more housing can be achieved through 
various zoning incentives or development standards modifications.  The City could also 
determine how best to speed up approvals and permit processing by understanding the 
timing and cost associated with entitlement and permit processing. 

City staff intends to submit the grant application following City Council approval of the resolution of 
grant authorization.  Staff has met with HCD’s technical assistance consultant to confirm the grant 
eligibility of the project list.  HCD anticipates a 60 to 90-day review and approval period of the grant.  
Staff is estimating 18 months to complete the project list. The grant must be closed out by June 30, 
2022. The grant project list is an ambitious and robust lineup of important and potentially controversial 
projects.  The outcome from the public hearing process and the changes that could occur cannot be 
predicted with certainty.  City Council’s authorization to file the application does not have a legally 
binding effect on any possible future discretionary action.



SB2 Planning Grant
October 9, 2019
Page 4

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:

The action before the City Council is statutorily exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15262, Feasibility and Planning Studies.  This action 
involves only ongoing study in preparing various housing related programs and authorization to 
pursue grant funding.  Public input received and technical information prepared during the proposed 
process would be utilized in preparing environmental documents to analyze their impact on the 
physical environment.

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Bill Martin, Director of Community Development   Mike Strong, Assistant Director of Planning
10/3/2019 9:42 a.m.   10/3/2019 10:21 a.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Resolution No. 2019-156



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-156

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, CALIFORNIA, 
AUTHORIZING APPLICATION FOR, AND 
RECEIPT OF, SB 2 PLANNING GRANTS 
PROGRAM FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the State of California, Department of Housing and Community 

Development (“Department”) has issued a Notice of Funding Availability (“NOFA”) dated 

March 28, 2019, for its Planning Grants Program (“PGP”); and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Escondido desires to submit a project 

application for the PGP program to accelerate the production of housing and will submit 

a 2019 PGP grant application as described in the Planning Grants Program NOFA and 

SB 2 Planning Grants Program Guidelines released by the Department for the PGP 

Program; and

WHEREAS, the Department is authorized to provide up to $123 million under the 

SB 2 Planning Grants Program from the Building Homes and Jobs Trust Fund for 

assistance to Counties (as described in Health and Safety Code section 50470 et seq. 

Chapter 364, Statutes of 2017 (SB 2) related to the PGP Program.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Escondido, California, as follows:

1. That the above recitations are true.

2. The City Council hereby directs and authorizes the Director of Community 

Development or his/her designee to apply for and submit to the Department a 2019 



Planning Grants Program application released March 28, 2019, in the amount of 

$310,000.

3. In connection with the PGP grant, if the application is approved by the 

Department, the Director of Community Development, or his designee, is authorized to 

enter into, execute, and deliver a State of California Agreement (Standard Agreement) 

for the amount of $310,000, and any and all other documents required or deemed 

necessary or appropriate to evidence and secure the PGP grant, the City’s obligations 

related thereto, and all amendments thereto (collectively, the “PGP Grant Documents”).

4. The City shall be subject to the terms and conditions as specified in the 

Standard Agreement, the SB 2 Planning Grants Program Guidelines, and any 

applicable PGP guidelines published by the Department. Funds are to be used for 

allowable expenditures as specifically identified in the Standard Agreement. The 

application in full is incorporated as part of the Standard Agreement. Any and all 

activities funded, information provided, and timelines represented in the application will 

be enforceable through the executed Standard Agreement. The City Council hereby 

agrees to use the funds for eligible uses in the manner presented in the application as 

approved by the Department and in accordance with the Planning Grants NOFA, the 

Planning Grants Program Guidelines, and 2019 Planning Grants Program Application.

5. The Director of Community Development or his designee is authorized to 

execute the City of Escondido Planning Grants Program application, the PGP Grant 

Documents, and any amendments thereto, on behalf of the City as required by the 

Department for receipt of the PGP Grant.



Public Hearing Item No. 6 October 9, 2019

DOWNTOWN SPECIFIC PLAN AMENDMENT AND 
MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
FOR THE QUINCE STREET SENIOR HOUSING 
PROJECT (PHG 17-0028)

 This item is being continued to October 23, 2019.



Staff Report - Council

Public Hearing Item No. 7 October 9, 2019 File No. 0600-15

SUBJECT: Development Agreement and Master and Precise Development Plan for the 
“Aspire” Mixed-Use Development (PHG 19-0014)

DEPARTMENT: Community Development Department, Planning Division

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council introduce Ordinance No. 2019-13 approving a Development 
Agreement to allocate density from the Downtown Density Transfer Program; approving a Master and 
Precise Development Plan including a Density Bonus Application; and adopting a Class 32 exemption 
in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for a proposed 131-unit, mixed 
use development known as “Aspire.”

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

A Master and Precise Development Plan to construct a six-story, mixed-use structure in the Historic 
District of the Downtown Specific Plan containing 131 apartment units, approximately 4,289 square 
feet of commercial space, underground parking, and an outdoor common area with a pool for 
residents.  The site currently is a municipal parking lot containing 118 public parking spaces.  The 
proposed structure would be 67 feet in height with parapet walls and a tower element that extend up 
to 75 feet in height.  The project would provide 30-studios, 46 1-bedroom and 55 2-bedroom units 
ranging in size from 370 square feet to 1,293 square feet.  A two-story garage would contain 212 
parking spaces with 153 spaces for residents (including 19 tandem spaces) primarily in the basement 
and 59 spaces for public parking on the ground level.  An additional 17 public parking spaces would 
be provided along the alley on the southern side of the building.  Zoning provisions allow a density of 
75 units per acre for a maximum of 79 units at the site.  The request includes a density bonus of 35% 
or 28-units (including 9 units for Very Low Income households) and incentives to provide affordable 
housing, and an allocation of 24 units from the Density Transfer Program for the Downtown Specific 
Plan area through a Development Agreement.  The project also includes a request to adopt a Class 
32 Exemption in accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)

LOCATION:

The 1.044-acre property is located on the southern side of West Valley Parkway and the eastern side 
of Maple Street Plaza within Escondido’s downtown urban core.  The site is currently owned by the 
City of Escondido and contains a 118-space public parking lot (Parking Lot No. 1), addressed as 137 
W. Valley Parkway.  



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 2

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

The proposed Development Agreement would freeze building permit fees to the February 6, 2017, 
level in return for the public benefit provided by the project.  Staff has determined this would result in 
a savings of approximately $920,000 from the fees in place today with even greater savings 
anticipated in future years when the project is actually constructed.

Touchstone Communities approached the City several years ago with an unsolicited offer to purchase 
Municipal Parking Lot No. 1 for the purpose of developing a mixed-use development.  In November of 
2018, the City Council entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Touchstone Communities to 
sell for parking lot property for the appraised value of $1.592 million.

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:

On August 27, 2019, the Planning Commission voted 6-1 (Chairman Spann opposed) to recommend 
the City Council approve the Project and Development Agreement based upon the findings and 
conditions of approval.  The Planning Commission supported the project and design features but did 
express some concern over the amount of replacement public parking.  The Commission ultimately 
recognized that a Parking Management Plan required prior to grading permit issuance would control 
usage of the residential and public parking spaces as well as address the need for temporary parking 
for construction workers.  The Commission noted the City would maintain management over the 
public parking spaces.  Additionally, the majority of commissioners concurred the increase in 
residential units would serve to increase the viability and vitality of the downtown area.  Public 
testimony provided during the Planning Commission meeting is summarized in the Public Comment 
section later in this staff report.  The Planning Commission staff report and Planning Commission 
meeting minutes are provided as Attachments 1 and 2, respectively.

BACKGROUND:

Situated within the Historic District of the Downtown Specific Plan (DSP) area, the site is in close 
proximity to a variety of services, theaters, restaurants, grocery and specialty retail shops.  Future 
residents could easily walk to local schools, churches, city library, City Hall, Escondido’s Center of the 
Arts, and Grape Day Park.  The Escondido Transit Station, located a ½ mile distance to the west, 
offers bus service to areas around San Diego County and Sprinter rail transit service to Oceanside for 
transfers to San Diego and Los Angeles. 

The proposed development site is a municipal parking lot located adjacent to Maple Street Plaza and 
across the alley from the retail core area of historic Grand Avenue.  The site is directly across West 
Valley Parkway from City Hall and is bounded to the east by U.S. Bank.  All 118 public parking 
spaces, drive aisles, and associated landscaping would be removed as part of the project.  As 
discussed later in this report, the project would recover the majority of public parking spaces on the 
site.



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 3

The Escondido General Plan and Downtown Specific Plan (DSP) encourage high density residential 
development in urbanized areas that are within close proximity to entertainment, retail, and 
professional offices.  The site is located within an area of the Historic District that allows for up to 75 
dwelling units per acre and a maximum building height of four-stories and 60 feet.  The request is to 
construct 131 apartment units and two commercial suites within a six-story structure that is 67-feet 
high with parapet walls and a tower element that extend up to 75 feet in height.  While the planned 
development process allows this type of deviation from development standards, the applicant has 
also noted the additional height and stories are necessary as an incentive permitted under state 
Density Bonus Law for the provision of affordable housing.

City staff presented the proposed development to several community groups including the Downtown 
Business Association on January 9, 2019, the Chamber of Commerce on January 10, 2019, the 
Historic Preservation Commission on March 21, 2019, and the Old Escondido Neighborhood on 
February 20, 2019.  The Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on August 27, 2019, and 
the Historic Preservation Commission discussed the project during their September 19, 2019 
meeting.  Notices for the City Council hearing were mailed to all interested persons, organizations, 
and business who attended prior workshops and requested to be noticed of upcoming hearings.

ANALYSIS:

Planned Development (Master and Precise Development Plan)

The application requests construction of a six-story, mixed-use building with one subterranean 
parking level that includes the following:

 79 base residential units (75 dwelling units per acre).
 35% Density Bonus or an additional 28 units (78 x .35 = 28) including 11% or nine units 

         for Very Low Income households.
 24 units transferred to the project from the Density Transfer Program.
 Total units – 131 (79 + 28 + 24 = 131).
 4,289 square feet of commercial space facing East Valley Parkway and Maple Street

        Plaza.
 153 resident parking spaces (22% reduction from DSP standard) plus an additional

76 public and guest parking spaces.
 27,688 square feet of private and common open space or 212 square feet per residential

dwelling unit (reduced from DSP standard of 300 square feet/unit).

The Master and Precise Development Plan application includes a six-story building totaling 179,530 
square feet.  The structure would provide 131 residential units for rent (30 studios – ranging in size 
from 370 to 679 square feet (sf), 46 one-bedroom units ranging from 736 sf to 800 sf, and 55 two-
bedroom units ranging from 978 sf to 1,293 sf), a 4,289 square foot commercial space, a two-story 
parking garage (first level – at grade and second level - below grade).  Mechanical equipment 



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 4

including air conditioning units would be located within visual/acoustical enclosures on the roof. 
Specifically, each floor is described below:

The subterranean parking level would contain 144 spaces for residents including 19 tandem spaces.  
The ground floor or first floor would provide 85 total vehicle parking spaces including 17 spaces 
outside the building along the alley.  A total of 76 spaces on the ground level would be available for 
public and guest parking.  The ground floor would also include two commercial suites (1,985 and 
2,304 square feet), bike storage, motorcycle parking, mailroom, common recreation room, leasing 
office, and resident’s entry.  Residential units would be located on the second through sixth floors. 
The second level contains 23 residential units (6 studios, 6 1-bedroom, and 11 2-bedroom units), an 
approximately 3,000 square-foot resident common/recreation room, and a 9,800 square foot outdoor 
deck that features a pool, spa, barbeque, and lounge areas.  The third through six floors contain 27 
residential units each (6 studios, 10 1-bedrooom, and 11 2-bedroom units).  Each unit would be 
provided with a private balcony space and laundry facilities.

Approval of the application would convert the site from a public parking lot to residential/commercial 
use.  In order to assess the potential impacts of the loss of public parking spaces within the 
downtown, Walker Consultants prepared a Parking Analysis, dated January 17, 2019.  The parking 
analysis conducted field research of a study area of the downtown.  The study area selected is 
bordered by Woodward Avenue, Kalmia Street, E. 3rd Avenue and South Escondido Boulevard.  To 
understand the current usage of the parking lot (known as Lot 1) and the potential demand for 
parking, the analysis included an inventory of parking supply, occupancy counts, and length of stay.  
Additionally, Walker Consultants conducted a field inventory of on- and off- street publicly owned 
parking spaces and privately owned off-street spaces that could easily be accessed parking spaces 
within the study area.  Occupancy counts were conducted during a Farmer’s Market, a typical 
weekday, and a typical weekend. 

The study concluded the following:

1. The study area has a total parking supply of 2,750± spaces. Of that total 1,650±, are publicly 
available for general use both in parking lots and on public streets.

2. Peak demand for the study area occurs on weekdays between 10a.m. and 1 p.m. During this 
period, there was a parking surplus in the plan area of 1,190± spaces including a surplus of 700-
850 public spaces.

3. During this peak demand period, there were 45 – 56% of the parking spaces within Parking Lot 1 
utilized by employees of local government or businesses rather than customers or visitors.

4. Employees parking for four hours or longer for the City’s municipal buildings and for local 
businesses should be encouraged to use nearby public lots to reduce the concentrated areas for 
parking and to encourage increased pedestrian activity.



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 5

5. The proposed inventory of 76 public spaces is projected to be adequate to serve the public 
demand for customer/visitor parking on the project site for typical busy days. At peak periods for 
parking in the downtown, the Walker study projects that the actual high turnover public demand for 
Lot 1 is 64±spaces.

Customer parking accounts for approximately one-half the current usage of Parking Lot 1 with the 
balance of spaces occupied most of the day by employees.  Directing employees to more under-
utilized parking in the downtown area would essentially maintain the current customer parking 
availability on the ground level of the proposed development.  The public parking lot (ground floor 
garage) will be equipped with a modern parking detection and management system with display 
showing parking availability both on the street and at the public parking entrance gate.   The project 
will also contribute a fair share toward a Citywide parking management system with real time parking 
availability signage for public parking lots.

Density Bonus Request

The proposed project will provide much needed rental housing including affordable units to the city 
and the community.  The Housing Element, a component of the General Plan, assesses housing 
needs from January 1, 2013, through December 31, 2020, and identifies strategies and programs that 
focus on:

 Conserving and improving existing affordable housing,
 Providing adequate housing sites,
 Assisting in the development of affordable housing,
 Removing governmental and constraints to housing development; and 
 Promoting fair housing opportunities.

The state of California requires all cities adopt a Housing Element that includes goals for providing 
adequate housing for all income levels.  This Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) is 
assigned by income category. (§§ 65584 – 65584.09).  Typically, approximately 40 percent of the 
local housing need is to provide housing for very low income and low income households (collectively 
“lower income housing,” for households generally earning 80 percent or less of the area median 
income or AMI); approximately 20 percent for moderate income housing (those earning between 80 
and 120 percent AMI); and the remaining 40 percent for above-moderate income housing (earnings 
over 120% AMI).  The proposed development would provide an additional 9 units for very low-income 
households (31-50% of the AMI) and 118 market-rate units.

The California Density Bonus Law (California Government Code, Sections 65915–65918) encourages 
the development of affordable and senior housing, by affording applicants/developers with up to a 35 
percent increase in project densities, depending on the amount of affordable housing provided.  The 
amount of the density bonus is based upon the percentage of affordable units provided at each 
income level.  The Downtown Specific Plan allows for 75 dwelling units per acre on the project site.  



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 6

Based on a 1.044-acre site, 79 units could be permitted.  The applicant proposes to reserve 11% of 
its base density units (9-units) for Very Low Income households to qualify for the 35 percent density 
bonus (an additional 28 units) over the base density.

The Density Bonus law is a state mandate.  A developer who meets the requirements of the state law 
is entitled to receive the density bonus and other benefits as a matter of right.  The Density Bonus 
Law allows for an applicant proposing affordable housing units to request incentives or waivers from 
the local development standards where these standards would physically preclude the construction of 
a project at the permitted density.  There is no limit on the number of development standard 
incentives that may be requested or granted for a project.  The project is proposing relief from the 
following development standards in the Downtown Specific Plan: maximum height limit and stories 
and the open space requirement. 

The applicant requests the following incentives as part of the Density Bonus application:

 Open Space - Reduce the amount of required usable open space per unit from 300 square 
feet to 212 square feet per unit since the site does not have the area to provide additional open 
space and common open space is provided for residents.

 Increased Height - Increase the height from four stories to six stories and from 60 feet to 67 
feet with parapets screening HVAC units and architectural tower element ranging up to 75 feet 
to accommodate the additional number of units and provide affordable housing. 

Density Transfer Program Request

The recently approved Density Transfer Program within the Downton Specific Plan area provides 
opportunities where an applicant can request approval to exceed residential densities on a case-by-
case basis subject to approval of a Planned Development and Development Agreement.  The Density 
Transfer Program establishes a density credit pool consisting of density not utilized on City-owned 
properties and/or unused density from undeveloped or underutilized properties.  Available density 
contained in the Density Credit Pool could be transferred to a developing parcel to increase the 
density beyond what is permitted through maximum density allowances in the DSP.  Upon submittal 
of a Planned Development Application and approval by the City Council, an applicant may request to 
have density transferred from the density pool provided there is available density.  

The City has kick-started the density credit pool with unused density from city-owned parcels within 
the DSP.  Specifically, the City would transfer 48 available density units from Municipal Parking Lot 
#4 at the corner of East Second Avenue and Kalmia Street (APN 233-081-26-00) which is zoned for 
75 dwelling units per acre.  These credits were placed in the Density Transfer Program credit pool.  
The Ivy project approved on June 19, 2019, received 24 units.  There are 24 remaining units that are 
proposed to be allocated to the Aspire project.  

While State Density Bonus Law mandates the approval of density bonus projects and related 
developer incentives when a project complies with state requirements, there is no similar city 



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 7

mandate to grant a density transfer request through the Density Transfer Program.  Each project 
request to receive transfer units from the credit pool is reviewed on a case-by-case basis for project 
design, CEQA compliance and consistency with the DSP.  All of these aspects are evaluated in other 
sections of this report or the attached Planning Commission staff report.

Development Agreement Request

The proposed Development Agreement is necessitated by the applicant’s request to receive a density 
transfer from the Density Transfer Program credit pool.  A Development Agreement is a voluntary 
legal agreement between the City and the developer that describes performance obligations for both 
parties.  Generally, a developer receives increased certainty for constructing a project in return for 
providing more public benefit than normally required.  

The proposed Development Agreement would be valid for a period of five years.  The applicant has 
requested a term be included in the Development Agreement that would freeze building permit fees at 
the February 6, 2017 level.  Staff has determined this would result in a savings of approximately 
$920,000 from the fees in place today with even greater savings anticipated in future years when the 
project is actually constructed.  Other notable terms within the proposed development Agreement are 
described below:

Maple Street Plaza - Construction of the project will necessitate removing or relocating 
existing Maple Street Plaza benches, fountain, landscaping, and trellis.  Project public art fees and 
existing public art funding will be used for reconstruction of the fountain and related equipment.  The 
owner will relocate the benches and trellis to a new location within Maple Street Plaza subject to City 
approval.  Cleaning and maintenance of the new Maple Street Plaza fountain and ancillary equipment 
will be the responsibility of the project owner in perpetuity.

The project will be permitted to use a portion of Maple Street Plaza for outdoor café seating.  This 
space will extend approximately sixteen feet from the exterior of the building.  This area will be 
maintained (routine care, cleaning, repair and replacement) by the project owner. 

Public Parking – The project owner will provide 76 public/guest parking spaces on the ground 
floor of the project including 59 spaces within the parking garage and 17 spaces accessed by the 
public alley on the southern side of the project.  Construction will include installation of infrastructure 
to facilitate future improvements within the garage for access gates, signage, security attendant 
station, etc.  The public/guest parking spaces contained in the ground floor level of the garage will be 
maintained by the project owner in perpetuity.  The City retains the right to implement time restrictions 
for all public/guest spaces.

Parking Garage Electronic Display – A Public Parking Management System will be 
implemented as a project feature to reduce vehicle trips.  The public parking spaces will be equipped 
with a modern parking detection and management system with display showing parking availability 
both on the street and at the public parking entrance gate.   The project will also contribute a fair 



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 8

share toward a Citywide parking management system with real time parking availability signage for 
public parking lots.

Parking and Construction Impacts 

Vehicular access to the parking garage would be provided by two 24-foot wide driveways from West 
Valley Parkway.  The easternmost access would provide access to the subterranean parking garage 
for residential parking only.  The western access driveway would lead to the first floor street level 
parking for guests, public parking and disabled access.

The project would provide a total of 229 on-site parking spaces with 153 spaces dedicated to 
residents.  The DSP allows up to 25% of the parking spaces to be tandem spaces and the project 
complies with that standard.  The DSP also allows applicants to request exemptions from the 
standards contained in the DSP when processing a Planned Development application.  The applicant 
proposes an exemption from the required number of residential parking spaces (196 spaces) in return 
for providing a total of 153 parking spaces for residents and 76 on-site parking spaces for the public 
and guests.  As noted in the following table, the State parking requirement for this Density Bonus 
project at 0.5 spaces per bedroom would be 93 total parking spaces.

Parking Summary Table

Parking Summary Proposed
Required per Gov. 
Code 65915(p) for 

Density Bonus

Required per City 
Downtown Specific 

Plan
Unit Type Spaces per unit Spaces per unit Spaces per unit

Studio –       30 units
1 bedrm.–    46 units
2 bedrm –    55 units 

Total Units – 131

0.5per unit –       15
1.2 per unit –       55
1.5 per unit –       83

Total Spaces –  153

0.5 per bedroom – 15
0.5 per bedroom – 23
0.5 per bedroom – 55

Total Spaces -        93      

1.0per unit –        30
1.5 per unit –        69
1.75 per unit –      97

Total Spaces -     196

Public & Guests 
Spaces -             76
Total Proposed - 229

Guest spaces not 
required
Total State Code -  93

Guest spaces
0.25 per unit –       33 
Total City Code  - 229

EhtT
State law limits parking to 0.5 spaces per bedroom for Density Bonus projects within ½ mile of a 
transit station to encourage the use of mass transit.  The Escondido Transit Center is a nine-minute 
walk from the site and bus service currently is available on West Valley Parkway and Grand Avenue.  
Additionally, the City’s DSP encourages a shift in orientation from building streets primarily for 
automobiles and to facilitate the broader vision of directing downtown’s and the City’s circulation 
system toward a truly ‘multimodal’ transportation network.  The new, two-way cycle track on West 
Valley Parkway would provide convenient east-west bicycle access for project residents.  The 



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 9

reduced parking encourages the use of alternate transportation such as bus and rail transit, bicycling, 
and walking.

Construction Impacts - Project site grading would occur over a two-month period exporting 
19,000 cy of soil for construction of the subterranean parking structure with an average of 32 
truckloads per day for soil removal.  During the period of garage construction, construction parking 
likely would utilize the Woodward parking lot until parking can be accommodated on site.  Overall, 
construction is anticipated to take 20-24 months to complete the building and restore public parking.  
This will temporarily eliminate the availability of public parking in this prime location adjacent to Grand 
Avenue businesses.  However, the Parking Analysis prepared by Walker Consultants dated January 
17, 2019, indicates that additional parking is available in the downtown area at all times, within other 
public parking lots, and along multiple streets.

Open Space Common Areas and Private Areas:

The project would provide four open space common areas totaling approximately 16,117 square feet.  
An approximately 9,797 square foot outdoor space would offer residents and guests a community 
pool and spa, lounge area, gas fire pits, artificial turf area, bar with gas fire pit feature and barbeque 
grills. (Figure X, Landscape Concept Plan). Specific components of the project include:

• 9,797 sf outdoor deck area with pool, spa, barbeque and lounge areas
• 3,010 sf recreation room on the second floor
• 474 sf resident common room or flex space and seating along Maple Street Plaza 
• 11,571 sf of private open space for resident including 88 sf of private balconies for each unit
• Overall, the project would provide approximately 27,688 sf of private and common open space 

or 212 sf per residential dwelling unit

The DSP requires 300 square feet of open space per residential dwelling unit. The proposed 
development would provide 212 square feet of open space per unit.  In order for the project to provide 
affordable housing units pursuant to the Density Bonus Law, the project is requesting a reduction to the 
open space standard. The existing development standards would preclude the construction of the 
permitted density under the State Density Bonus Law.  The project site does not have the physical area 
to meet the required amount of open space and therefore would be entitled to relief from the open 
space standard in return for the provision of affordable housing units. 

The proposed reduction in open space can additionally be supported because the site is in close 
proximity to major City park facilities.  The site is located within a block of Grape Day Park and a couple 
blocks from the City library. Grape Day Park is the oldest park in the city with unique historic 
opportunities such as the Santa Fe Railroad depot, blacksmith shop, turn-of-the century working barn, 
museums and monuments.  Other amenities include Heritage Walk, Vinehenge, an interactive pubic art 
project, horseshoe pits, municipal swimming pool, picnicking and restrooms. 



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 10

PUBLIC COMMENT

The Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on August 27, 2019, on the proposed Master 
and Precise Development Plan.  Nineteen community members provided input during the public 
hearing.  Three persons expressed support for the project while 16 people expressed varying 
degrees of opposition.  Supporters noted the existing parking lot is not the highest and best use for 
the site and adding people to downtown will bring more customers and enhance the vibrancy of the 
area.  They also noted the forthcoming Grand Avenue visioning project would add more public 
parking spaces downtown.  Opponents were primarily concerned with potential adverse impacts to 
Grand Avenue businesses during construction, the loss of public parking spaces, height of the 
proposed structure within the downtown area, lack of historic design elements to cohesively connect 
with the Old Escondido Neighborhood and the Historic District, and overall mass and scale of the 
project.  Several downtown business owners noted there is a lack of parking now and suggested a 
parking garage is needed.  They felt residential demand for parking would exceed the number of 
spaces provided for residents.  Interestingly, opponents described the building design as both 
“hideous” and “gorgeous, but not right for downtown.”

The Historic Preservation Commission included a discussion item on their September 19, 2019, 
agenda to allow commissioners an opportunity to meet and share their thoughts on the proposed 
development.  All HPC commissioners present were opposed to the project.  Major concerns were 
expressed regarding size/scale/height, compatibility with Grand Avenue/historic downtown, loss of 
parking, and density.  Other items mentioned were a lack of transparency, particularly with regard to 
the CEQA process, influx of rental units in downtown, lack of an architectural theme for downtown, 
which the project could take inspiration from, reduction in impact fees, and lack of open space. 

ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS

The proposed project qualifies for an exemption from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) under Section 15332, Class 32 In-fill Development Project.  CEQA Guidelines lists classes of 
projects that have been determined to not have a significant effect on the environment and as a result 
are exempt from review under CEQA.  

A Class 32 CEQA Exemption for the Aspire Project was prepared by Harris & Associates in August of 
2019. The document demonstrates that the project or its circumstances would not result in any 
exceptions identified in CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2.  Among the classes of projects that are 
exempt from CEQA review are those projects that are specifically identified as urban in-fill development. 
CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332, defines in-fill development (Class 32 exemptions) as being applicable 
to projects meeting the following conditions:

• The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable general plan 
policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and regulations.

• The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than 5 acres 
substantially surrounded by urban uses.



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 11

• The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened species.
• Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air 

quality, or water quality.
• The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services.

Based on the environmental analysis provided in the Class 32 CEQA Exemption, no circumstances 
previously evaluated in the previously certified Final EIR for the General Plan and Downtown Specific 
Plan (May 23, 2012) and the Addendum to the certified Final EIR (March 21, 2019) have changed 
with respect to the proposed development.  In addition, the proposed project would not create 
substantial changes or bring to light new information of the substantial importance that was not 
previously examined in these Final EIR and Addendum.  As a result, Harris & Associates prepared a 
Class 32 CEQA Exemption pursuant to the CEQA’s requirements for an “in-fill development” within an 
urbanized area.  The analysis presented in the Class 32 CEQA exemption from Harris & Associates, 
dated August 2019, demonstrates that the project qualifies for the exemption and does not have 
significant effect on the environment.

CONCLUSION:

The proposed project is consistent with the General Plan and the Downtown Specific Plan as it 
encourages higher density urban residential growth in the Downtown SPA.  The project site lies within 
the Downtown SPA’s Historic Downtown District, which is “a successful specialty retail shopping and 
office employment area that is comfortable, attractive, and safe for pedestrians and employees.  New 
development, higher densities, residential opportunities and pedestrian places and courtyards are 
encouraged to provide an optimal setting for urban living in close proximity to entertainment, retail 
and professional offices.”

The additional residents downtown would ultimately improve the overall economics of the downtown 
and the business community.  Without adequate residential housing opportunities to generate enough 
pedestrian activity to support restaurants, stores, and businesses, the downtown will not meet its 
goals.  Residential growth requires expanding the existing housing stock by encouraging and 
securing multi-family development. 

Both the Planning Commission and staff recommend the City Council approve the proposed Master 
and Precise Development Plan and Development Agreement for a six-story, mixed-use development 
as outlined below: 

1)  Approve Master and Precise Development Plan, PHG 19-0014, that includes the following 
incentives:

a. Reduction from 196 resident parking spaces to 153 resident parking spaces. An 
additional 76 parking spaces would be provided for the public and guests.

b. Reduction of open space from 300 square feet per unit to 212 square feet per unit.
c. Increase in the maximum height of 60 feet and four stories to 67 feet and six stories.



PHG 19-0014
October 9, 2019
Page 12

2) Approve the 35% Density Bonus request resulting in the provision of nine units for Very Low 
Income households.

3) Approve the proposed Development Agreement to transfer density from Parking Lot #4 to 
Density Transfer Program credit pool and allocate a transfer 24 residential units from the credit 
pool to the project.

4) Adopt the proposed Class 32 CEQA Exemption in compliance with CEQA guidelines.

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Bill Martin, Director of Community Development
10/3/2019 9:42 a.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1 Attachment 1 – Planning Commission staff report (August 27, 2019)
2 Attachment 2 – Planning Commission Minutes (August 27, 2019)
3 Attachment 3 - Public Correspondence
4 Ordinance No. 2019-13
5 Ordinance No. 2019-13 – Exhibits A, B, C, D, E and F



Attachment 1































































Attachment 2







Attachment 3































































































































































ORDINANCE NO. 2019-13

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, CALIFORNIA, 
APPROVING A MASTER AND PRECISE 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR A 131-UNIT, SIX-
STORY MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT, A 
DENSITY BONUS FOR AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING, A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
TO TRANSFER DENSITY, AND 
AUTHORIZING THE FILING OF A NOTICE 
OF EXEMPTION

APPLICANT: Addison Garza, Touchstone Communities
CASE NO.:  PHG 19-0014

The City Council of the City of Escondido (“City”), California, DOES HEREBY 

ORDAIN as follows:

SECTION 1. The City Council makes the following findings: 

a) Addison Garza of Touchstone Communities ("Applicant") submitted a 

verified land use development application on a property located on a 1.044-acre 

property bounded on two sides by public streets including East Valley Parkway to the 

north and Maple Street Plaza on the western boundary.  The site is addressed as 137 

West Valley Parkway, Escondido, California 92025, legally described in Exhibit “A”, 

attached to this Ordinance and incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set 

forth.  Said verified application was submitted to, and processed by, the Planning 

Division of the Community Development Department as Planning Case No. PHG 19-

0014 and seeks approval of a Master and Precise Development Plan including a 

Density Bonus Application and Development Agreement to allocate density from the 

Downtown Density Transfer Program all relating to the Project site.  A site plan for the 



application is attached as Exhibit “D” and incorporated herein by this reference as 

though fully set forth.

b) The Planning Division of the Community Development Department 

completed its review and scheduled a public hearing regarding the application before 

the Planning Commission for August 27, 2019.  Following the public hearing on August 

27, 2019, the Planning Commission adopted Resolution No. 2019-18, which 

recommended that the City Council approve the project’s Master and Precise 

Development Plan and Development Agreement.

SECTION 2. An original copy of the proposed Master and Precise 

Development Plan, Development Agreement and all other related Project materials are 

on file in the Office of the City Clerk, with a copy of each document submitted to the 

City Council for its consideration.  The City Clerk, whose office is located at 201 North 

Broadway, Escondido, California 92025, is hereby designated as the custodian of the 

documents and other materials which constitute the record of proceedings upon which 

the City Council's decision is based, which documents and materials shall be available 

for public inspection and copying in accordance with the provisions of the California 

Public Records Act.

SECTION 3. The City Council did on October 9, 2019, hold a duly noticed 

public hearing as prescribed by law. Evidence was submitted to and considered by the 

City Council, including, without limitation:

a) Written information including all application materials and other written 

and graphical information posted on the project website.

b) Oral testimony from City staff, interested parties, and the public.



c) The City Council staff report, dated October 9, 2019, which along with its 

attachments, is incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein, 

including the Planning Commission's recommendation on the request.

d) Additional information submitted during the public hearing.

SECTION 4. Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, a Class 32 

CEQA Exemption relative to the Project is attached as Exhibit “F” and incorporated 

herein by this reference as though fully set forth, and a Notice of Exemption will be filed 

with the County Clerk.

SECTION 5. That, upon consideration of the Findings of Fact, attached as 

Exhibit “B”, and the Conditions of Approval, attached as Exhibit “C”, the City Council 

desires at this time and deems it to be in the best public interest to approve the Master 

and Precise Development Plan, including a Density Bonus of 35% or 31 units (including 

9 units for Very Low Income households), as specified and depicted in the October 9, 

2019, City Council staff report, and incorporated herein by this reference as though fully 

set forth herein.

SECTION 6. That the Development Agreement inclusive of a 24-unit allocation 

from the Density Transfer Program for the Downtown Specific Plan area, and attached 

as Exhibit "E," is hereby approved as set forth substantially to the same form on file with 

the Office of the City Clerk, and incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set 

forth herein.

SECTION 7.  All references within this Ordinance to "Applicant" or "Developer," 

shall be equally applicable to the current property owner and to any successors-in-

interest or assigns, whether such successors of assigns own, control, or otherwise have 



development authority for all, a portion, or portions of that property included within the 

Project site.

SECTION 8. SEPARABILITY. If any section, subsection sentence, clause, 

phrase or portion of this Ordinance is held invalid or unconstitutional for any reason by 

any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct 

and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining 

portions.

SECTION 9. That as of the effective date of this ordinance, all ordinances or 

parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.

SECTION 10. The City Council authorizes all subsequent action to be taken by 

City Officials consistent with this Ordinance.  

SECTION 11. That the City Clerk is hereby directed to certify to the passage of 

this Ordinance and to cause the same or a summary to be prepared in accordance with 

Government Code Section 36933, to be published one time within 15 days of its 

passage in a newspaper of general circulation, printed and published in the County and 

circulated in the City of Escondido.

SECTION 12. The Ordinance shall become effective 30 days from the date of 

the passage.  



THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW rs SITU A TED IN THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, IN THE COUNTY OF 

SAN DIEGO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL 1: 

LOTS 21 THROUGH 24 INCLUSIVE IN BLOCK 68 OF ESCONDIDO, IN THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, COUNTY OF 

SAN DIEGO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO MAP THEREOF NO. 336, FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE 

COUNTY RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, JULY 10, 1886. 

PARCEL 2: 

LOTS 25 AND 26 IN BLOCK 68 OF ESCONDIDO, IN THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO MAP THEREOF NO. 336 FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE COUNTY 

RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO, JULY l 0, 1886. 

PARCEL 3: 

LOTS 27 AND 28 IN BLOCK 68 OF ESCONDIDO, IN THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, IN THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO MAP THEREOF NO. 336, FILED IN THE 

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, JULY l 0, 1886. 

PARCEL 4: 

LOTS 29 THROUGH 33, INCLUSIVE, BLOCK 68 OF ESCONDIDO IN THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, COUNTY OF 

SAN DIEGO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, ACCORDING TO MAI) THEREOF NO. 336. FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE 

COUNTY RECORDER OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, JULY 10, 1886. 

APN: 229-421-26 

EXHIBIT "A" 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PHG 19-0014

Page 1 of 2

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "A" 

Page 1 of 2



EXHIBIT "A" 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

PHG 19-0014

Page 2 of 2

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "A" 

Page 2 of 2



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “B”
Page 1 of 4

Exhibit “B”

Findings of Fact
PHG 19-0014
The Aspire

137 West Valley Parkway

Master and Precise Development Plan

1. The proposed project is consistent with the maximum density of the downtown specific 
plan with the application for a Density Bonus and allocation of additional units from 
the Density Transfer Program to ensure the viability of the project with nine Very Low 
Income households.

2. The design and improvement of the proposed development is consistent with the 
General Plan and the Downtown Specific Plan since the development is permitted in 
the Historic District of the Downtown Specific Plan Area #9 and the development 
standards established with the Historic District except where noted for the exceptions 
in accordance with the Density Bonus Ordinance. 

3. The site is suitable for a mixed-use multi-family development since the site is within 
the urbanized area of the downtown, which can offer the tenants availability to 
services, restaurants and retail and is within walking distance to the transit center.

4. The site is physically suitable for the proposed density of development since the 
property is within a high-density redevelopment area that was previously a blighted 
property in the central core of downtown. Development of the property will assist in 
the ongoing revitalization of the downtown retail core by establishing a permanent 
residential base in the downtown area.

5. The improvements are not likely to cause substantial environmental concerns since 
the property was previously the site of a paved parking lot, and since there are no 
stream courses or endangered wildlife on the property as determined during 
environmental review.

6. The design of the project and the type of improvements are not likely to cause serious 
public health problems since the project will not degrade the levels of service on the 
adjoining streets or drainage system as the project incorporates street and drainage 
improvements are part of the project and city sewer and water is available to the site.

7. All of the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act have been met 
since it was found that the project will not have a significant effect on the environment 



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “B”
Page 2 of 4

as demonstrated in the Class 32 CEQA Exemption prepared for the Ivy Project by 
Harris Associates, February 2019. Design mitigation measures were incorporated into 
the Conditions of Approval for noise impacts and cultural resources.

Development Agreement

1. The Development Agreement is consistent with the goals and objectives of the Historic 
District of the Downtown Specific Plan since it enables the property owner to construct 
a greater number of units in support a vibrant downtown economy through the Density 
Transfer Program while maintaining the overall limit of 5,275 dwelling units in the 
Downtown Specific Plan area. 

2. The Development Agreement conforms to the need for public convenience, general 
welfare and good land use practices since the project will provide affordable and 
moderate income housing within ½ mile of mass transit and is located in close 
proximity to retail and services, parks, library, and cultural events.

Density Bonus Determinations:

1. A housing development consisting of five (5) or more residential units may propose a 
density bonus in accordance with the State Density Bonus Law (California 
Government Code Section 65915). The project proposes 76 base units, and therefore, 
qualifies for a density bonus under state law. The State Density Bonus Law allows a 
property owner to increase the density (number of new homes) allowed on their 
property above the maximum density set under the City’s General Plan and Downtown 
Specific Plan, in exchange for affordable housing.  According to the acreage 
calculations provided for the project by the applicant, and verified by staff, 79 units 
would be allowed based upon the maximum density provided in the City’s General 
Plan and Specific Plan land use designations.  The project proposes nine (9) 
affordable units at the “very low” income level, which is approximately eleven (11) 
percent of the total lots, prior to the applied density bonus.  The nine (9) affordable 
units, being provided at the “very low” income level, entitles the applicant to a 
maximum 35 percent density bonus yielding 107 units {79 units allowed (maximum 
density) x 35 percent density bonus = 28 units (additional density) = 107 units.  The 
applicant is proposing the maximum number of units allowed under the State Density 
Bonus Law, including nine (9) “very low income” affordable units.  The affordable units 
are conditioned as part of a Conditions of Approval to be reserved for very-low income 
households in accordance with Section 65915.  The condition also requires that an 
Affordable Housing Regulatory Agreement be prepared and recorded for the project.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “B”
Page 3 of 4

2. State Density Bonus Law indicates that the City shall grant the waivers unless one or 
more of the following written findings can be made (Government Code Section 
65915(e)):  

A. Without the waiver, the development standard will “have the effect of 
physically precluding the construction of a development.”  

B. The waiver will have a specific adverse impact upon health, safety, or the 
physical environment and for which there is no feasible method to 
satisfactorily mitigate or avoid the specific adverse impact.  

C. The waiver will have a specific adverse impact on any real property listed in 
California Register of Historical Resources.  

D. The waiver would be contrary to state and federal law.  

It has been determined that without the requested waivers the construction of the 
project allowed under the State Density Bonus Law would be physically precluded.  
Based upon the lot size and maximum height allowance, less density could be yielded.  
The physical constraints of the property with the application of the zoning standards 
have resulted in challenges related to the development of the site at the density 
allowed under the State Density Bonus Law, and warrant the need for the requested 
waivers.  No evidence has been identified to demonstrate that the granting of the 
requested waivers for open space, side yard setbacks, and increase height would 
have an adverse impact to health, safety or physical environment that cannot be 
feasibly mitigated.  Furthermore, the proposed waivers will not impact any historic 
property and would not be contrary to any state or federal law.  The proposed project 
is consistent with all applicable sections of the Escondido Zoning Code, General Plan, 
Downtown Specific Plan and the State Density Bonus Law (Government Code Section 
65915).  The incentives/waiver requests for open space, side yard setbacks, and 
increased height, pursuant to the State Density Bonus Law, are warranted based upon 
the physical characteristics of the site in order to yield the density allotted for this 
project.  Density Bonus standards allow for a certain percentage increase in density, 
which is based on the percentage of “total units” that are designated for very low 
income households. 

 
 Density Transfer Determinations:
 
1. The proposed density transfer of 24 units does not conflict with the spirit, purpose, 

and intent of the Downtown Specific Plan or the Downtown Density Transfer Program.  
The project and development site is suitable for the transfer in question and the project 
is in harmony with the existing or intended zoning and character of the general vicinity: 

A. To encourage an economically viable Downtown



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “B”
Page 4 of 4

B. Encouraging higher residential densities in key locations that support 
Downtown non-residential uses

C. Pedestrian environments that provides connections, convenient access and 
opportunities for alternative modes of transportation

D. A vibrant and exciting environment with land uses that foster an “18-hours” 
atmosphere in addition to areas that provide mixed use, office, employment 
and high-density residential opportunities.

The proposed transfer would not cause deterioration of bordering land uses or create 
special problems for the area because the property is zoned for and encourages multi-
family development and a mix of housing in a dense urban environment. 

  
2. Granting the density transfer would not change the existing zoning or land use as 

specified in the Downtown Specific Plan and would not interfere with State Density 
Bonus Law as discussed here in the determinations of the City Council.  The proposed 
density transfer is in the best interest of the City Council as such transfer increases 
housing production and promotes the public welfare and goals of the Downtown 
Specific Plan.  

 
3. The City Council, in its sole discretion, may determine the number of units that will be 

transferred and the number of transferable development rights that will be created.  
Such determination to transfer 24 units from the Density Transfer Credit Pool to the 
subject property was rendered at a duly noticed public hearing.  The City Council finds 
that the density transfer request is in conformance with all applicable requirements of 
this Downtown Density Transfer Program, adopted by Resolution No. 2019-69.  The 
development rights set forth in said conveyance have not been previously used, nor 
are the development rights restricted or encumbered in any way.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 1 of 20

Page 1 of 20

EXHIBIT “C”
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL

PHG 19-0014
Aspire

The Aspire - 137 West Valley Parkway

PROJECT DESIGN MEASURES

NOISE

1. PDF-NOI 1. The construction contractor shall provide vibration notification to minimize the 
potential nuisance of vibration by allowing surrounding uses time to prepare for construction 
activities. The construction contractor shall provide written notification to all adjacent land uses 
and within 125 feet of the project boundary at least three weeks prior to the start of 
construction activities informing them of the estimated start date and duration of daytime 
vibration-generating construction activities. This notification shall include information warning 
about the potential for impacts related to vibration-sensitive equipment

2. PDF-NOI-2. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall prepare an additional 
exterior-to-interior noise report completed by a qualified acoustical consultant for the proposed 
on-site residential unit that would face West Valley Parkway. The information in this report 
would include wall heights and lengths, room volumes, and window and door tables typical for 
a building plan, as well as information on any other openings in the building shell. The report 
shall also assume a “windows-closed” condition and that vehicles on West Valley Parkway 
are traveling at 35 miles per hour. With this specific building plan information which is not 
currently available, the report would determine the predicted interior noise levels at the plan 
on-site buildings. If predicted noise levels are found to be in excess of 45 CNEL, the report 
would identify architectural materials or techniques that could be included in project design 
plans to reduce noise levels to 45 CNEL in habitable rooms Standard measures such as 
glazing with Sound Transmission Class STC) ratings from a STC 22 to STC 60, as well as 
walls with appropriate STC ratings (34 to 60) shall be considered. The report shall be 
submitted and approved by the City prior to issuance of a building permit.

3. PDF-NOI-3. The HVAC units on the project rooftop shall be installed within enclosures such 
that noise from HVAC operation does not exceed 55 dBA at the nearest off-site receptor. The 
enclosures shall be designed to provide at least 12 dBA noise reduction. Installation of HVAC 
unit inside enclosures providing at least a 12 dBA noise reduction would reduce noises levels 
at the nearest land use to 55 dBA or below.

4. PDF-NOI-4. Trash collection at the project site shall be limited to between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 
pm. Monday through Friday



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 2 of 20

Page 2 of 20

CULTURAL RESOURCES

PDF-CR-1. The City recommends the applicant enter into a Tribal Cultural Resource Treatment 
and Monitoring Agreement (also known as a pre-excavation agreement) with a tribe that is 
traditionally and culturally affiliated with the project location (TCA Tribe) prior to issuance of a 
grading permit. The purposes of the agreement are (1) to provide the applicant with clear 
expectations regarding tribal cultural resources, and (2) to formalize protocols and procedures 
between the applicant/owner and the TCA Tribe for the protection and treatment of, including but 
not limited to, Native American human remains, funerary objects, cultural and religious 
landscapes, ceremonial items, traditional gathering areas and cultural items, located and/or 
discovered through a monitoring program in conjunction with the construction of the project, 
including additional archaeological surveys and/or studies, excavations, geotechnical 
investigations, grading, and all other ground disturbing activities.

PDF-CR-2. Prior to issuance of a grading permit, the applicant shall provide written verification to 
the City that a qualified archaeologist and a Native American monitor associated with a TCA Tribe 
has been retained to implement the monitoring program. The archaeologist shall be responsible 
for coordinating with the Native American monitor. This verification shall be presented to the City 
in a letter from the project archaeologist confirming that the selected Native American monitor is 
associated with a TCA Tribe. Prior to any pre-construction meeting, the City shall approve all 
persons involved in the monitoring program.

PDF-CR-3. The qualified archaeologist and a Native American monitor shall attend the pre-
grading meeting with the grading contractors to explain and coordinate the requirements of the 
monitoring program, in addition to reviewing the grading plan to assist in determining the necessity 
of the Luiseño Native American monitor and archaeological monitor’s presence.

PDF-CR-4. During the initial grubbing, site grading, excavation (including post-demolition 
activities to assess the condition of the subsurface stratigraphy), or disturbance of the ground 
surface, the qualified archaeologist and the Native American monitor shall be on site where 
deemed appropriate and necessary by the archaeologist and Luiseño Native American monitor. 
If imported fill materials, or fill used from other areas of the project site, are to be incorporated at 
the project site, then those fill materials shall be absent of any tribal cultural resources. The 
frequency of inspections shall depend on the rate of excavation, the materials excavated, and any 
discoveries of tribal cultural resources as defined in PRC Section 21074.

PDF-CR-5. In the event that previously unidentified tribal cultural resources are discovered, the 
qualified archaeologist and the Native American monitor shall have the authority to temporarily 
divert or temporarily halt ground disturbance operations in the area of discovery to allow for 
evaluation of potentially significant cultural resources. Isolates and clearly non-significant deposits 



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 3 of 20

Page 3 of 20

shall be minimally documented in the field and collected so that the monitored grading can 
proceed.

PDF-CR-6. If a potentially significant tribal cultural resource is discovered, the archaeologist shall 
notify the City of said discovery. The qualified archaeologist, in consultation with the City, the TCA 
Tribe, and the Native American monitor, shall determine the significance of the discovered 
resource. A recommendation for treatment and disposition of the tribal cultural resource shall be 
made by the qualified archaeologist in consultation with the TCA Tribe and the Native American 
monitor, and shall be submitted to the City for review and approval.

PDF-CR-7. The avoidance and/or preservation of the significant tribal cultural resource and/or 
unique archaeological resource must first be considered and evaluated under CEQA. Where any 
significant tribal cultural resources and/or unique archaeological resources have been discovered 
and avoidance and/or preservation measures are deemed to be infeasible by the City, a research 
design and data recovery program to mitigate impacts shall be prepared by the qualified 
archaeologist (using professional archaeological methods), in consultation with the TCA Tribe 
and the Native American monitor, and shall be subject to approval by the City. The qualified 
archaeologist, in consultation with the Native American monitor, shall determine the amount of 
material to be recovered for an adequate artifact sample for analysis. Before construction 
activities are allowed to resume in the affected area, the research design and data recovery 
program activities must be concluded to the satisfaction of the City.

PDF-CR-8. In accordance with CEQA, all tribal cultural resources shall be treated with culturally 
appropriate dignity. If the qualified archaeologist elects to collect any tribal cultural resources, the 
Native American monitor must be present during the collection and cataloging of those resources. 
Moreover, if the qualified archaeologist does not collect the tribal cultural resources that are 
unearthed during the ground-disturbing activities, the Native American monitor may, at their 
discretion, collect said resources and provide them to the TCA Tribe for respectful and dignified 
treatment in accordance with the tribe’s cultural and spiritual traditions. It is the preference of the 
City that all tribal cultural resources be repatriated to the TCA Tribe, as such preference would be 
the most culturally sensitive, appropriate and dignified. Therefore, any tribal cultural resources 
collected by the qualified archaeologist shall be provided to the TCA Tribe. Evidence that all 
cultural materials collected have been repatriated shall be in the form of a letter from the TCA 
Tribe to whom the tribal cultural resources have been repatriated identifying that the 
archaeological materials have been received.

Or,
Any tribal cultural resources collected by the qualified archaeologist shall be curated with its 
associated records at a San Diego curation facility or a culturally affiliated Tribal curation facility 
that meets federal standards per 36 CFR Part 79, and, therefore, would be professionally curated 
and made available to other archaeologists/researchers for further study. The collections and 



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 4 of 20

Page 4 of 20

associated records, including title, shall be transferred to the San Diego curation facility or 
culturally affiliated Tribal curation facility and shall be accompanied by payment of the fees 
necessary for permanent curation. Evidence that all cultural materials collected have been 
curated shall be in the form of a letter from the curation facility stating that the prehistoric 
archaeological materials have been received and that all fees have been paid.

PDF-CR-9. Prior to the release of the grading bond, a monitoring report and/or evaluation report, 
if appropriate, that describes the results, analysis, and conclusion of the archaeological monitoring 
program and any data recovery program on the project site shall be submitted by the qualified 
archaeologist to the City. The Native American monitor shall be responsible for providing any 
notes or comments to the qualified archaeologist in a timely manner, to be submitted with the 
report. The report will include California Department of Parks and Recreation Primary and 
Archaeological Site Forms for any newly discovered resources.

DENSITY BONUS CONDITIONS

1. The project shall provide a minimum of nine dwelling units for Very Low Income Households.  
Prior to issuance of a building permit, the developer shall sign a binding affordable housing 
agreement with the City, which sets forth the conditions and guidelines to be met in the 
implementation of Density Bonus Law requirements and/or any other applicable requirements. 
The agreement will also establish specific compliance standards and remedies available to 
the city upon failure by the developer to restrict units to target households for the prescribed 
time period.

2. All agreements shall be binding on the developers, their heirs, transferees, assigns, 
successors, administrators, executors and other representatives and recorded on the deed 
for the requisite period of time. 

3. The developer agrees not to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the project or any portion 
thereof, without obtaining the prior written consent of the Director of Community Development. 
Such consent shall be given upon receipt from the developer of reasonable evidence 
satisfactory to the Director of Community Development that the purchaser, or other transferee, 
has or will assume, in writing and in full, the requirements and obligations specified in the 
agreement.  The consent of the Director of Community Development shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed.

4. All residential units proposed to be occupied by very low income households shall be provided 
with the same fixtures, appliances, cabinets/countertops, flooring and amenities provided in 
the corresponding market-rate units.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 5 of 20

Page 5 of 20

PLANNING DIVISIONS CONDITIONS

1. The developer shall be required to pay all development fees of the City in effect at the time of 
building permit issuance unless otherwise specified in the Development Agreement.

2. All construction and grading shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Escondido 
Zoning Code and requirements of the Planning Division, Engineering Division, Building 
Division, and Fire Department as well as those contained in the Development Agreement 
approved for the project.

3. If blasting is required, verification of a San Diego County Explosives Permit and a copy of the 
blaster’s public liability insurance policy shall be filed with the Fire Chief and City Engineer 
prior to any blasting within the City of Escondido.

4. The legal description attached to the application has been provided by the applicant and 
neither the City of Escondido nor any of its employees assume responsibility for the accuracy 
of said legal description.

5. All requirements of the Public Art Partnership Program, Ordinance No. 86-70, shall be 
satisfied prior to building permit issuance, subject to any specific Development Agreement 
terms still in effect when the fee is due. 

6. A minimum of 229 parking spaces shall be provided as part of the development including 153 
garage spaces for residents (including 19 tandem spaces).  Resident parking will include 144 
parking spaces within a subterranean garage and 9 parking spaces at the ground floor of the 
garage.  Public and guest parking will be provided by 59 public parking spaces within the 
ground floor of the garage, and 17 uncovered public parking spaces adjacent to the alley as 
reflected in the Master and Precise Development Plan.  All parking spaces shall be striped in 
accordance with the Zoning Code.  Driveways and fire lanes do not allow for parking and curb 
markings and fire lanes signs are required to the satisfaction of the Fire Marshal.  As indicated 
on the architectural plans, electric vehicle (EV) charging parking spaces will be installed and 
maintained for the life of the project. 

7. Appropriate vehicle backup areas shall be provided at the terminus of drive isles within the 
parking garages as depicted on the Master and Precise Development Plan. 

8. Parking for disabled persons shall be provided (including “Van Accessible” spaces) in full 
compliance with Section 1129B (Accessible Parking Required) of the California Building 
Code, including signage.  All parking stalls shall be provided with six-inch curbing or concrete 



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 6 of 20

Page 6 of 20

wheel stops in areas where a vehicle could reduce minimum required planter, driveway or 
sidewalk widths.

9. An inspection by the Planning Division will be required prior to operation of the project.  Items 
subject to inspection include, but are not limited to parking layout and striping (double-stripe), 
identification of handicap parking stalls and required tow-away signs, lighting, landscaping, as 
well as any outstanding condition(s) of approval.  Everything should be installed prior to calling 
for an inspection, although preliminary inspections may be requested.  Contact the project 
planner at (760) 839-4671 to arrange a final inspection.

10. All rooftop equipment must be fully screened from all public view utilizing materials and colors 
which match the building, to the satisfaction of the Director of Community Development. The 
final building plans shall clearly indicate that any proposed rooftop equipment is properly 
screened. Ground mounted equipment should be located to avoid conflict with pedestrian 
circulation and access, as well as to screen the equipment from view as much as possible. 

11. All habitable buildings shall be noise-insulated to maintain interior noise levels not to exceed 
45 dBA of less.  An Acoustical Analysis shall be submitted with the building plans for the 
project. Any measures recommended in the study shall be incorporated into the building plans 
with appropriate notes/specifications.

12. Any walls (retaining and screen) shall be constructed with split-face decorative block or shall 
be finished with stucco or brick veneer to match the building on site.

13. All exterior lighting shall conform to the requirements of Chapter 33 Article 35 (Outdoor 
Lighting) of the Escondido Zoning Code which provides regulations to minimize glare, light 
trespass, and artificial sky glow.  A copy of the lighting plan shall be included as part of the 
building plans and prepared to the satisfaction of the Planning Division. The plan shall include 
exterior building lighting, walkway lighting and security lighting.  Outdoor lighting would be 
utilized as needed for parking areas, sidewalks and security within the project site. 

14. Animals/pets shall be permitted within the residential units and on site in a manner that is 
consistent with the R-4 zone standards.

15. As proposed, the buildings, architecture, colors, and materials and the conceptual 
landscaping of the proposed development shall be in accordance with the Master and Precise 
Development Plan, staff report, exhibits and the project’s Details of Request, to the 
satisfaction of the Planning Division.  In return for concessions on development standards and 
City fees, the project proposes a high quality, attractive downtown living experience.  Any 
future design modifications that, in the opinion of the Community Development Director, 



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 7 of 20

Page 7 of 20

lessen the quality of the exterior appearance or amenity level shall require approval of the City 
Council.

16. All trash enclosures must be designed and installed per the Master and Precise Development 
Plan, in coordination with the Engineering Department, storm water control requirements, and 
shall be architectural compatible with the building.  Trash collection at the project site would 
be limited to between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  The project proposes 
a central trash collection enclosure located within the parking garage.  The enclosure would 
be accessed through a door along the alley on the southern boundary of the project site.

17. Balconies and patios shall be kept in a neat and orderly manner.  Items stored on balconies 
should be kept out of view and/or properly screened.  Items shall not be hung over railings or 
across balconies or patios (such as towels, clothing, etc.).  This information shall be included 
in the lease agreement with all tenants.

18. No signage is approved as part of this permit.  A separate sign permit shall be required prior 
to the installation of any signs.  Proposed signs are limited to those depicted on the Master 
and Precise Development Plan, or otherwise permitted and consistent with the sign standards 
of the Downtown Specific Plan. 

19. Commercial uses for the 4,289 square foot commercial space on the ground floor shall be 
limited to the uses permitted or conditionally permitted in the Historic District of the Downtown 
Specific Plan. 

20. Private secure bicycle parking facility for residents shall be installed on the main level of the 
parking garage.  Public bicycle parking shall also be provided in the garage or on the exterior 
of the building along one of the project frontages. 

21. A construction noise management plan that describes the measures included on the 
construction plans to ensure compliance with project design features and noise limits must be 
prepared and submitted to the City’s Planning Division for review and approval prior to 
issuance of the grading permit.

22. No amplified equipment will be permitted on the within the public recreation deck without first 
obtaining a temporary use permit from the City of Escondido.

23. This Planned Development shall become null and void unless utilized within 24 months (two 
years) of the effective date of approval unless the Development Agreement provides 
additional terms.  Utilization shall be defined as the start of grading in accordance with an 
approved grading permit.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 8 of 20

Page 8 of 20

24. No exemptions from the Grading Ordinance are approved as part of this project.  All proposed 
grading shall conform with the conceptual grading as shown on the Planned Development.

25. Prior to the issuance of a Grading Permit, the applicant shall provide the City with a temporary 
parking plan for construction worker parking.  The temporary parking plan shall remain in 
effect until construction has been completed or the Building Official determines that the 
parking garage can be used for construction worker parking.  The temporary parking plan 
shall be approved by the Director of Community Development prior to issuance of the Grading 
Permit. 

26. Prior to issuance of a grading permit, the applicant shall provide a Residential Parking 
Management Plan for any proposed use of the parking spaces other than public parking 
spaces (which use shall be regulated by the City to include the possibility of time restrictions).  
The Resident Parking Management Plan shall, at a minimum include provisions for a sticker 
program, restriction on the number of resident vehicles per unit and assignment of parking 
spaces.  No unbundling or additional fees shall be permitted in lease agreements for the use 
of resident parking spaces without prior authorization from the Director of Community 
Development.

27. The Project shall be permitted to use a portion of Maple Street Plaza for outdoor café seating 
subject to the terms of the associated Development Agreement and conditions of an 
encroachment permit.  This space shall extend approximately sixteen (16) feet from the 
exterior of the building as depicted in the Master and Precise Development Plan.

28. Prior to issuance of a grading permit, the applicant shall secure an encroachment permit from 
the Engineering Division for all construction staging areas proposed in the public right-of-way.

LANDSCAPING CONDITIONS

1. Seven copies of a detailed landscape and irrigation plan(s) shall be submitted prior to 
issuance of grading and/or building permits, and shall be equivalent or superior to the concept 
plan approved by the Master and Precise Development Plans to the satisfaction of the 
Planning Division.  The landscape plans shall include screening for all utilities.  A plan check 
fee based on the current fee schedule will be collected at the time of the submittal. The 
required landscape and irrigation plans(s) shall comply with the provisions, requirements, and 
standards outlines in Article 62 (Landscape Standards) of the Escondido Zoning Code, except 
where stricter requirements are imposed by the State of California.  The plans shall be 
prepared by, or under the supervision of a licensed landscape architect.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 9 of 20

Page 9 of 20

2 The installation of the landscaping and irrigation shall be inspected by the project landscape 
architect upon completion. He/she shall complete a Certificate of Landscape Compliance 
certifying that the installation is in substantial compliance with the approved landscape and 
irrigation plans and City and State (if applicable) standards. The applicant shall submit the 
Certificate of Compliance to the Planning Division prior to final landscape inspection.

3. Street trees shall be provided along West Valley Parkway in conformance with the Landscape 
Plan and the City’s Street Tree List.  All street trees and trees installed at Maple Street Plaza 
shall be double staked and if planted within five feet of the pavement, provided with root 
barriers. 

4. The on-site landscaping for the project would consist of trees, shrubs, and groundcovers with 
moderate to low water requirements.  The biofiltration basins described would be planted with 
various sedges (flowering plants) and grasses with consideration for varying soil conditions.  
An automatic irrigation system shall be installed to provide coverage for all planting areas.  
Low precipitation equipment shall provide sufficient water for plant growth with minimum water 
loss due to water run-off.

5. Prior to occupancy, all perimeter, open space landscaping and below ground irrigation shall 
be installed. All vegetation shall be maintained for the life of the project in a. flourishing 
manner, and kept free of all foreign matter, trash, weeds and plant materials not approved as 
part of the approved landscape plan. All irrigation shall be maintained in a fully operational 
condition.

6. The property owner or management company assumes all responsibility for maintaining 
landscaping and irrigation along street frontage of West Valley Parkway, the alley bordering 
the south side of the project, and the project frontage along Maple Street Plaza.

7. Removal of the parking lot will necessitate the removal of mature trees. Removal of the trees 
will occur outside of the bird-breeding season from February 1 through September 15. If the 
trees cannot be removed outside the bird-breeding season, qualified biologist would conduct 
a nest survey within 3 days of the tree removal.

ON-SITE MANAGEMENT PLAN

1. Prior to occupancy, the applicant shall submit a Management Plan that provides for ongoing 
maintenance of lighting, signing and striping, parkway landscaping and irrigation, storm water 
treatment basins, and facilities, sewer laterals, common open spaces, public utilities 
easements areas, public walkways, and alley. These provisions shall be approved by the 
Engineering Department prior to occupancy.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 10 of 20

Page 10 of 20

2. The Management Plan shall reference the recorded Storm Water Control Facility Maintenance 
Agreement and approved Storm Water Quality Management Plan for the project.

3. The Management Plan shall identify responsibility for liability for damage and repair to City 
utilities in the event that damage is caused by tenants, vehicles or personnel servicing the 
property or delivery personnel, and/or operation of maintenance personnel of the project.

4. The Management Plan shall state that if stamped concrete or decorative pavers or used within 
walkways within the City right-of-ways, any damage and repair/replacement shall be the 
responsibility of the management company and/or project owner.

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONDITIONS

1.  All Fire underground line, Fire sprinkler, fire alarm, and standpipe systems shall comply with 
the current additions of NFPA and the California Fire Code.
 

2. A smoke evacuation system is required.

3. The building shall comply with/ provide First responder radio coverage.  A deferred plans and 
system may be required.

4. All Fire protection system plans shall be deferred submittals to the Escondido Fire 
Department. 

5. An approved paved access and approved adequate water supply shall be provided prior to 
any combustibles being brought to the site. 

6. The building may require multiple FDC/ PIV ‘s.  These devices shall not be on the building 
and shall be placed in an approved location. 

7. Fire access shall be paved all-weather surface able to support the weight of the Fire apparatus 
(75,000 lbs.).  The Fire access along Maple street leading into the alley and down Maple 
toward Valley Parkway shall be a paved with an approved surface able to hold the weight of 
the fire apparatus (75,000 lbs.).  A Compaction Report may be required to verify access weight 
capabilities.

 
8. A minimum turning radius of 28ft inside shall be provided on all fire department access 

roadways.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 11 of 20

Page 11 of 20

9. An adequate water supply with minimum fire flow shall be as determined by the Fire Marshal 

10. Fire lanes shall be designated and approved by the Fire Marshal and painted red with white 
letter, marked “no parking fire lane.”  Fire lane shall be maintained by the project management 
company for the duration of the project.

ENGINEERING DIVISION CONDITIONS

GENERAL

1. The Developer shall provide the City Engineer with a current Preliminary Title Report covering 
subject property.

2. The location of all existing on-site and adjacent utilities and storm drain facilities shall be 
determined by the Developer’s engineer.  If a conflict occurs with proposed project or 
improvements, these facilities shall be relocated subject to approval of the owner of the 
utility/facility prior to approval of Grading plans and issuance of Building Permits.

3. Improvement plans prepared by a Civil Engineer are required for all public street and utility 
improvements and a Grading/Private Improvement plan prepared by Civil Engineer is 
required for all grading, drainage and private onsite improvement design. Landscaping Plans 
shall be prepared by a Landscape Architect. 

4. The Developer shall post securities in accordance with the City prepared Bond and Fee Letter 
based on a final Engineer’s Estimate of Grading and Improvements Cost prepared by the 
project engineer.  The Developer is required to provide a Cash Clean Up deposit for all 
grading, landscaping, private Improvements and onsite drainage improvements prior to 
approval of Grading Plans and issuance of Grading Permit. This Cash Clean Up Deposit 
amount shall be 10% of the total cost of the project private improvements, drainage and 
landscaping.  The Developer is required to provide Performance (100% of total public 
improvement cost estimate), Labor and Material (50% of total public improvement cost 
estimate) and Guarantee and Warrantee (10 % of total public improvement cost estimate) 
bonds for all public improvements prior to approval of the Improvement Plans and issuance 
of Building Permits. All improvements shall be completed prior to issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy.

5. As surety for the construction of required off-site and/or on-site improvements, bonds and 
agreements in a form acceptable to the City Attorney shall be posted by the Developer with 
the City of Escondido prior to the approval of any building permit.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 12 of 20

Page 12 of 20

6. If site conditions change adjacent to the proposed development prior to completion of the 
project, the Developer will be responsible to modify his/her improvements to accommodate 
these changes.  The determination and extent of the modification shall be to the satisfaction 
of the City Engineer.

7. All public improvements shall be constructed in a manner that does not damage existing 
public improvements.  Any damage shall be corrected by the Developer to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer.

8. The Developer’s engineer shall submit to the Planning Department 3 copies of the Master 
and Precise Development Plan as presented to the Planning Commission and approved by 
the City Council together with any changes contained in the adopted final conditions of 
approval.  These copies shall be signed by the Planning Department verifying that they are 
an accurate reproduction of the approved Master and Precise Development Plan and one of 
these copies must be included with the first Final Engineering submittal for plan check to the 
Engineering Department.

9. A Continuing Encroachment Permit for this project’s use of the Maple Street Plaza right-of-
way for outdoor restaurant seating and for the Property Owner’s required maintenance of 
storm water facilities, entrance improvements, and landscaping in the surrounding public 
right-of-ways must be applied for, and in conjunction, a perpetual liability insurance policy 
with the City as an additionally insured must be put in place.

STREET IMPROVEMENTS AND TRAFFIC

1. Public street improvements shall be constructed to City Standards in effect at the time of 
Final Engineering approval and shall be submitted on public improvement plans prepared by 
a Civil Engineer.  Specific details, including final concrete driveway apron design for the 
project entrances, concrete curb & gutter and sidewalk replacement, drainage, street lighting, 
etc. shall be resolved to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.

2. The public (level 1) parking entrance from Valley Parkway shall be constructed as a modified 
alley-type driveway apron with a minimum throat width of 24 feet and 14-foot radius side 
transitions and a 4’ minimum ADA path of travel near the R/W line to the satisfaction of the 
City Engineer.

3. The resident (basement level) parking entrance shall be constructed as a modified alley-type 
driveway apron with a minimum throat width of 24 feet.  The westerly side shall be a 14-foot 
radius side transition and the easterly side will require half of the neighboring bank driveway 
apron be replaced as joint driveway apron with a 4’ minimum ADA path of travel maintained 
near the R/W line to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 13 of 20

Page 13 of 20

4. The existing alley type driveway apron off of Valley Parkway shall be completely removed 
and shall be replaced with full height PCC curb and gutter and the new driveway apron 
described above in item 3.     

5. The existing traffic signal pole currently being used as a modified street light just to the west 
of the existing driveway apron off of Valley Parkway shall be removed and salvaged to the 
City Public Works yard and shall be replaced with an LED street light in accordance with 
Escondido Standard Drawing No. E-1-E.

6. The access openings to the project’s parking structure shall have a minimum throat width of 
24 feet and shall be adequately illuminated from the building structure to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer and Building Official.

7. The existing curb & gutter and sidewalk along the project’s (northerly) side of the alley and 
the existing driveway apron off of the alley into the project site shall be completely removed 
and shall be replaced with either full height PCC curb and gutter or new 4-foot-wide PCC 
ribbon gutter across the proposed alley parking spaces.

8. The existing street light in the alley shall be relocated 10 feet to the east and shall be 
retrofitted with an LED light head in accordance with Escondido Standard Drawing No. E-1-
E.

9. The public alley along the parking areas shall be adequately illuminated from the project 
building structure to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and Building Official.  This lighting 
shall be maintained by the property owner.

10. The Developer will be responsible for a minimum 1 ½” grind and 2” asphalt concrete overlay 
of Valley Parkway in full lane widths as necessary due to the required utility and storm drain 
installation.  The determination of the extent of the grind and overlay shall be to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer.  

11. The Developer will be responsible for a minimum 1 ½” grind and 2” asphalt concrete overlay 
of the alley due to the many utility trenches necessary to serve this project, and shall be 
completed prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy.

12. The Developer shall remove and replace all damaged sidewalk, curb and gutter, along all 
project frontages to the satisfaction of the City Engineer prior to issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy.

13. Adequate horizontal sight distance shall be provided at all entrances.  Restrictions on 
landscaping and placement of planter walls may be required at the discretion of the City 
Engineer.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 14 of 20

Page 14 of 20

14. The Developer’s engineer shall prepare and submit for approval by the City Engineer a 
complete final Signing and Striping plan for all improved and modified roadways. The 
developer will be responsible for removal of all existing and the construction of all new signing 
and striping in compliance with the current CA MUTCD standards and to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer.

15. The Developer shall repaint all pavement striping and markings adjacent to the project that 
have been damaged and prematurely faded due to project construction traffic to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

16. Pedestrian access routes meeting current ADA requirements shall be provided into the 
project to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and City Building Official.

17. All gated entrances shall be approved by the City Engineer, Building Official, and the Fire 
Marshal.

18. The public parking lot (Level 1) will be equipped with a modern parking detection and 
management system with display showing parking availability both on the street and at the 
public parking entrance gate.  

19. The project shall contribute a fair share amount toward a Citywide parking management 
system with real time parking availability signage for public parking lots.

20. The Developer will be required to provide a detailed detour and traffic control plan, for all 
construction and staging activities, and any requested materials placement within existing 
rights-of-way to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  This plan shall include any proposed 
sidewalk closures and provide for alternate pedestrian access around the project site. This 
plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of an Encroachment Permit for construction or 
other project activities within the public right-of-way.

21. The Developer will be required to make arrangements for offsite parking including shuttle 
service if necessary for all construction and employee vehicles. A Construction Period 
Parking Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the City Engineer prior to 
work in this Lot 1 Parking Lot.   The City Engineer shall have the ability to monitor and request 
changes to this plan as needed to minimize impact to the public and surrounding businesses.   

22. Due to the amount of grading export from the project site and expected construction material 
deliveries, the Developer’s traffic engineer will be required to provide a detailed haul route 
and truck trip scheduling plan for review and approval by the City Engineer. Material 
deliveries and export operations shall be limited to outside of the peak traffic hours.  This 
scheduling plan shall be approved prior the issuance of an Encroachment Permit.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 15 of 20

Page 15 of 20

GRADING and SITE IMPROVEMENTS

1. A site grading and erosion control plan shall be approved by the Engineering Department 
prior to issuance of Building Permits.  The first submittal of the grading plan shall be 
accompanied by three copies of the preliminary soils and geotechnical report.  The Soils 
Engineer will be required to indicate in the soils report that he/she has reviewed the grading 
and basement/foundation shoring design and found it to be in conformance with his/her 
recommendations.

2. The Developer shall in conjunction with the Grading plans submit structural shoring plans for 
the basement and foundation construction to the Building Department for approval by the 
Building and Engineering Departments.  The Developer will be required to pay for the 
required third party structural engineering review of these shoring plans.

3. Any proposed retaining walls not a part of the building foundations or stem walls shall be 
shown on and permitted as part of the site grading plan.  Profiles and structural details shall 
be shown on the site grading plan and the Soils Engineer shall state on the plans that the 
proposed retaining wall design is in conformance with the recommendations and 
specifications as outlined in the Geotechnical report.  Structural calculations shall be 
submitted for review by a Consulting Engineer for all walls not covered by Regional or City 
Standard Drawings.  Stem walls, foundation structures, or deepened footings that are to be 
constructed as part of a building structure will be permitted as part of the Building Dept. plan 
review and permit process.

4. The developer shall be required to obtain permission from adjoining property owners for any 
off-site grading or work necessary to construct the project and/or the required improvements.

5. Future work on the Maple Street Plaza fountain is planned by the City. Once operational, the 
City will only be responsible for repairs to the fountain caused by willful destruction or acts of 
nature. The Project Owner shall be responsible for all cleaning and maintenance of the 
fountain in perpetuity, at Owner’s sole cost, including the care and servicing by personnel for 
the purpose of maintaining the fountain and all ancillary equipment in satisfactory operating 
condition by providing for systematic inspection, detection, and correction of equipment and 
emerging failures either before they occur, or before they develop into major defects.     

6. Only those street furniture items and architectural features specifically identified for removal 
or relocation shall be disturbed.  All other items shall be protected in place and any damage 
to these items shall be corrected or compensated for to the satisfaction of the City Engineer 
and Director of Community Development.   Before work in this area commences a final review 
and tabulation of the items in the Maple Street Plaza Right-of-way to be disturbed shall be 
approved by the City Engineer.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 16 of 20

Page 16 of 20

7. Street pavers in the Maple Street Plaza shall be replaced and reinstalled in all areas disturbed 
and their installation shall extend into areas where street furniture and architectural features 
have been removed or relocated.  Pavers in areas designated as Fire access shall be 
installed to meet Fire Department vehicle loading requirements to the satisfaction of the Fire 
Marshall and City Engineer.     

8. The existing parking lot light standards and fixtures shall be removed and salvaged to the 
City Public Works yard. 

9. Erosion control, including riprap, interim slope planting, sandbags, or other erosion control 
measures shall be provided to control sediment and silt from the project.  The developer shall 
be responsible for maintaining all erosion control facilities throughout the project.

10. The Developer shall be responsible for the recycling of all excavated materials designated 
as Industrial Recyclables (soil, asphalt, sand, concrete, land clearing brush and rock) at a 
recycling center or other location(s) approved by the City Engineer.

11. A Construction General Permit is required from the State Water Resources Control Board for 
all storm water discharges associated with a construction activity where clearing, grading, 
and excavation results in a land disturbance of one or more acres.

12. All blasting operations performed in connection with the improvement of the project shall 
conform to the City of Escondido Blasting Operations Ordinance.

13. All existing foundations, structures, trees not otherwise noted to remain or be relocated shall 
be removed or demolished from the site. 

14. The parking entrance grades shall conform to current Escondido Design Standards and 
Escondido Standard Drawings for driveways.

DRAINAGE

1. Final on-site and off-site storm drain improvements shall be designed to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer and shall be based on a Drainage Study to be prepared by the Engineer of 
Work.  The drainage study shall be in conformance with the City of Escondido Design 
Standards.

2. A minimum 18” RCP storm drain lateral will be required to serve the new proposed type B 
curb inlet along Valley Parkway curb line.   This lateral and inlet shall be included with profiles 
on the public Improvement plans. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 17 of 20

Page 17 of 20

3. A Storm Water Quality Management Plan (SWQMP) in compliance with the City’s latest 
adopted Storm Water Design Manual shall be prepared for all newly created or replaced 
onsite impervious areas, impervious frontage, and required offsite improvements.  The 
SWQMP shall be submitted for approval with the final improvement and grading plans.  The 
SWQMP shall include treatment calculations, post-construction storm water treatment 
measures, and maintenance requirements and responsibilities both for onsite treatment and 
also any “Green Street” facilities located in the public right-of-way.  The SWQMP shall 
demonstrate how proposed proprietary best management practices meet bio-filtration 
treatment requirements in accordance with the City’s Storm Water Design Manual. 

4. All site drainage including the parking along the alley shall be treated to remove expected 
contaminants using a high efficiency non-mechanical method of treatment.  The City highly 
encourages the use of bio-retention areas as the primary method of storm water retention 
and treatment.  The grading and landscape plans will need to reflect these areas of storm 
water treatment.

5. All drainage associated with the project’s public street improvements other than overlay shall 
be treated to remove expected contaminants using “Green Street” standard facilities. The 
maintenance in perpetuity of these “Green Street” or other storm water treatment facilities in 
the public right-of-way shall be the responsibility of the Property Owner and shall be detailed 
in the Storm Water Quality Management Plan (SWQMP).       

6. The Developer is required to have the current owner of the property sign and notarize for 
recording a Storm Water Control Facility Maintenance Agreement.

7. All on-site storm drains are private.  The responsibility for maintenance of these storm drains 
shall be that of the Property Owner.

8. All storm water treatment and retention facilities and their drains including the bio-retention 
basins and planters, any permeable paver areas shall be considered private.  The 
responsibility for maintenance of these post construction storm water treatment facilities shall 
be that of the Property Owner. 

WATER SUPPLY

1. All water services, detector check assemblies, and other water appurtenances shall be 
designed and installed at locations required and approved by the Director of Utilities. 

2. Fire hydrants together with an adequate water supply shall be installed at locations approved 
by the Fire Marshal.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 18 of 20

Page 18 of 20

3. Where fire hydrants are being relocated, the abandoned fire hydrant laterals shall be 
abandoned at the water main.  All existing gate valves and tees shall be removed and a 
straight run of pipe shall be replaced within the water main to the nearest joints.

4. No trees or deep rooted plants shall be planted within 10 feet of any water service.

5. All on-site water lines not in public easements will be considered a private water system.  The 
Property Owner will be solely responsible for all maintenance of these water lines and 
facilities.

SEWER

1. A minimum 6” polyvinyl chloride (PVC) sewer lateral shall be installed with a standard clean-
out at the property line.  All sewer laterals shall be installed at a right angle to the main in 
conformance with the Design Standards. 8” sewer laterals shall be connected to the public 
sewer at a manhole.

2. All abandoned sewer laterals shall be removed or capped at the property line and so noted 
on the improvement plans to the satisfaction of the Utilities Engineer.

3. No trees or deep rooted bushes shall be planted within 10’ of any sewer lateral, or within 15’ 
of any sewer main.

4. All sewer laterals and grease traps will be considered a private sewer system.  The Property 
Owner will be responsible for all maintenance of sewer lateral(s) and system to the sewer 
main.

5. Any new development whose wastewater discharge may contain pollutants not normally 
found or in concentrations in excess of those normally found in domestic wastewater shall 
require a wastewater discharge permit according to the Escondido Municipal Code, Chapter 
22, Article 8.  New users shall apply at least ninety (90) days prior to connecting to or 
contributing to the City's wastewater system and a permit must be obtained prior to 
commencement of any discharge to the system.

6. A Grease trap if required for the restaurant component of the project shall be installed at an 
approved location to the satisfaction of the Director of Utilities. 

LANDSCAPE

1. A site landscaping and irrigation plan shall be submitted to the Engineering Department with 
the second submittal of the grading plan for review and approval by Engineering and Planning 



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 19 of 20

Page 19 of 20

Departments.  The Landscape plans shall be approved prior to issuance of Building Permits.  
The initial submittal of the landscape plans shall include the required plan check fees.

EASEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS

1. All easements, both private and public, affecting subject property shall be shown and 
delineated on the Grading and Improvement Plans.

2. Public utility easements for sewer, water, storm drain, etc. which are deemed necessary by 
the City Engineer shall be granted to the City.

3. The Developer is responsible for making the arrangements to quitclaim all easements of 
record which conflict with the proposed development prior to approval of the Grading plans 
and Building Permits.  If an easement of record contains an existing utility that must remain 
in service, proof of arrangements to quitclaim the easement once new utilities are constructed 
must be submitted to the City Engineer prior to approval of the Grading plans and Building 
Permits.  Building permits will not be issued for construction which will conflict with existing 
easements or utilities, nor will any securities be released until the existing easements are 
quitclaimed.

Material necessary for processing a dedication or easement shall include: a current grant deed or title 
report, a legal description and plat of the dedication or easement signed and sealed by a person 
authorized to practice land surveying (document size) and traverse closure tapes.  The City will 
prepare all final public documents.

SURVEYING AND MONUMENTATION

1. All property corners shall be monumented by a person authorized to practice land surveying 
and a Record of Survey (or Corner Record if appropriate) shall be recorded.

REPAYMENTS AND FEES

1. A cash security shall be posted to pay any costs incurred by the City to clean-up eroded soils 
and debris, repair damage to public or private property and improvements, install new BMPs, 
and stabilize and/or close-up a non-responsive or abandoned project.  Any moneys used by 
the City for cleanup or damage will be drawn from this security and the grading permit will be 
revoked by written notice to the developer until the required cash security is replaced. The 
cleanup cash security shall be released upon final acceptance of the grading and 
improvements for this project. The amount of the cash security shall be 10% of the total 
estimated cost of the grading, drainage, landscaping, and best management practices items 
of work with a minimum of $5,000 up to a maximum of $60,000, unless a higher amount is 
deemed necessary by the City Engineer.



Ordinance No. 2019-13
Exhibit “C”

Page 20 of 20

Page 20 of 20

2. Unless otherwise specified in the Development Agreement, the Developer shall be required 
to pay all development fees of the City then in effect at the time, and in such amounts as may 
prevail when building permits are issued. 

UTILITY UNDERGROUNDING AND RELOCATION

1. The Developer shall sign a written agreement stating that he has made all such arrangements 
as may be necessary to coordinate and provide utility construction, relocation and 
undergrounding.  All new utilities shall be constructed underground.



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 2

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 3

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 4

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 5

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 6

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 7

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 8

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 9

 o
f 1

7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
 o

f 1
7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

1
 o

f 1
7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

2
 o

f 1
7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
 o

f 1
7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

4
 o

f 1
7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

5
 o

f 1
7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

6
 o

f 1
7



O
rd

in
a
n
c
e
 N

o
. 2

0
1
9
-1

3
 

E
x
h
ib

it "D
" 

P
a
g
e
 1

7
 o

f 1
7



 

  

 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 

 

CITY CLERK, CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

 

WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 

 

CITY CLERK 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

201 N. BROADWAY 

ESCONDIDO, CA 92025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS SPACE FOR RECORDER'S USE ONLY 

 

APN:  229-421-26 

 
 

Recording Fees Exempt Per Government Code Section 27383 

 

 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

for Aspire 
 

between 
 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 
 

and 
 

TOUCHSTONE MF FUND I, LLC 

 
____________, 2019 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 1 of 70



 

  

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This Development Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into by and between the City and Owner.  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Government Code Sections 65864 through 65869.5 and Articles 58 and 68 of the 

City's Zoning Code authorize the City to enter into binding development agreements with persons 

or entities having legal or equitable interests in real property for the purpose of establishing 

certainty in the development process for both the City and the property owner, and to enable 

specific terms regarding property development, to be negotiated and agreed upon; and 

WHEREAS, the purposes of the Agreement are to eliminate uncertainty in the planning and 

development of the Project by assuring Owner that it may develop the Property, in accordance 

with existing laws, subject to the terms and conditions contained in the Agreement; assure the 

orderly installation of necessary improvements and the provision for public services appropriate 

for the development of the Project; and enable the City to obtain substantial public benefits by 

virtue of the Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set forth herein, the 

Parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

Definitions 

1. “Amendment” refers to any written amendment to this Agreement approved by the City 

Council as provided in Article II, Section 3.   

2. “Annual Review” refers to the Owner’s demonstration of compliance with the terms of 

this Agreement every 12 months.  

3. “Assignee” refers to an assignee of this Agreement in accordance with Article II, Section 

2 and approved by the City in writing.  

4. “CEQA” refers to the California Environmental Quality Act, California Public Resources 

Code §§ 21000 et seq.    

5. “City” refers to the City of Escondido, its City Council, its mayors and council members, 

past and present, and employees and agents. 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 2 of 70



 

  

6. “Cure Period” refers to the period of time in which a default may be cured, which will be 

30 days.  

7. “Development Fees” refers to the development related fees as provided in the City’s Fee 

Guide for Development Projects Revised February 6, 2017, attached as Exhibit C.  

8. “Director” refers to the Director of Community Development. 

9. Effective Date.  The effective date of the Agreement shall be the day that is 30 days after 

the City Council’s adoption of an ordinance approving this Agreement.  

10. "Entitlements" refers to all approvals and permits necessary or incidental to the 

development of the Project or any portion thereof, whether discretionary or ministerial, including 

but not limited to, specific plans, tentative or final tract map approvals, whether standard or 

vesting, conditional use permits, variances, project plans, grading permits, building permits, and 

this Agreement and includes all conditions of approval regarding any particular Entitlement. 

11. "Exaction" refers to any fee, tax, requirement, condition, dedication, restriction, or 

limitation imposed by the City upon the development of the Property at any time in accordance 

with the Existing Laws. 

12. "Existing Laws" refers to the ordinances, resolutions, codes, rules, regulations, general 

plan, stormwater regulations and official policies of the City and the State of California governing 

the development of the Property, including, but not limited to, the permitted uses of the Property, 

the density or intensity of use, the design, improvement and construction standards and 

specifications for the Project, including the maximum height and size of proposed buildings, and 

the provisions for reservation and dedication of land for public purposes, in effect on the Effective 

Date of this Agreement. 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 3 of 70



 

  

13. "Future Exaction" refers to Exactions imposed after the Effective Date, whether by 

ordinance, initiative, resolution, rule, regulation, policy, order or otherwise. 

14. "Future Laws" refers to all ordinances, resolutions, codes, rules, regulations, and official 

policies implemented by the City after the Effective Date, whether by ordinance, initiative, 

resolution, rule, regulation, policy, order or otherwise. Future Laws includes changes to the 

Existing Laws. 

15. "General Fees" refers to all general development fees which the City may levy pursuant 

to Government Code Sections 66000 et seq. ("the Mitigation Fee Act"), including, but not limited 

to, application fees, processing fees, utility connection fees, inspection fees, capital facilities fees, 

development impact fees, traffic impact fees, park fees and such other similar fees as may be 

enacted from time to time and generally applied throughout the City, excluding Development Fees. 

16. "General Plan" refers to the City's General Plan in effect on the Effective Date. 

17. “Minor Modifications” refers to minor modifications regarding the performance of this 

Agreement that are consistent with the Entitlements and have minimal impacts to the City’s 

operations in terms of timing, performance,  value.  

18. “Modification” refers to a modification approved by the City Council as provided in 

Article VI, Section 5. 

19.  “Operating Memorandum” refers to addenda to this Agreement to document changes 

or adjustments in the performance of this Agreement as specified in Article III, Section 7. 

20. “Owner” refers to Touchstone MF Fund I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, 

who has legal or equitable interest in the real property which is the subject of this Agreement. 

21. “Party” may refer to City or Owner individually or collectively as Parties. 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 4 of 70



 

  

22. "Project" shall mean and refer to all improvements described in the Entitlements and this 

Agreement. 

23. "Property" shall mean the certain real property located in the County of San Diego, State 

of California as described in the Exhibit A. 

24. "Public Benefits" shall refer to the consideration given by Owner to the City, as described 

in Exhibit B attached hereto, in return for the City's good faith performance of all applicable terms 

and conditions in this Agreement. 

25. “Public Improvements” refers to any public improvements required to be constructed as 

conditions of approval to the Entitlements or as additionally provided in this Agreement.  

26. “Review Letter” refers to a letter from the City regarding a statement of Owner’s 

compliance with this Agreement, following a positive Annual Review by the City.  

27. “Term” shall refer to the term of this Agreement as provided in Article II, Section 1.  

ARTICLE II 

General Provisions 

1. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date 

and shall continue for five (5) years unless terminated, modified, amended or extended as 

permitted by this Agreement. After the expiration of the Term, this Agreement shall be deemed 

terminated and of no further force or effect. This Agreement shall terminate with respect to any 

lot and such lot shall be released and no longer subject to the Agreement, without the execution or 

recordation of any further document, when a certificate of occupancy has been issued for the 

building(s) on the lot. 

2. Assignment.  The rights and obligations of Owner under the Agreement may be assigned 

by Owner as part of an assignment of the Property, only after receiving written approval from the 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 5 of 70



 

  

City. Owner shall provide thirty (30) days advance written notice to the City of any requested 

assignment, which may not be unreasonably conditioned, delayed, or withheld. The City shall have 

the right to ensure that the proposed assignee has the financial capability to complete and fulfill 

any uncompleted requirements relating to the Public Benefits and Public Improvements. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Owner may assign this Agreement in conjunction with a transfer 

of the Property, without any additional consent, to any entity in which Touchstone Communities, 

LLC or Kerry Garza has the majority ownership of, or directly controls its day to day operations. 

Any assignment agreement must be in writing and expressly provide that (a) the assignment shall 

be subject to this Agreement; and (b) the Assignee assumes all of Owner’s rights and obligations 

with respect to the Property, or portion thereof, assigned. 

3. Amendment of Agreement.  The Agreement may be amended in writing by the mutual 

consent of the Parties in accordance with Article 58, Chapter 33 of the Escondido Zoning Code as 

well as any applicable state or federal law. The Agreement shall include any amendment properly 

approved and executed. Minor Modifications in the manner of performance shall not constitute an 

Amendment to the Agreement and may be accomplished through an Operating Memorandum. 

4. Enforcement.  Unless amended or terminated as provided herein, this Agreement is 

enforceable by either Party or its successors and assigns, notwithstanding any Future Laws, which 

alter or amend the Existing Laws. 

5. Defense and Indemnification.  

 a. Owner agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless, City, and provide and pay 

all costs for a defense of and judgment against the City, including any award for attorney’s fees 

and litigation costs, in any legal action filed in a court of competent jurisdiction by a third party 

challenging the Project, or any component thereof, or this Agreement. Upon the Effective Date, or 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 6 of 70



 

  

another date as mutually agreed to by the Parties, the Owner shall deposit security, such as cash, a 

bond, irrevocable letter of credit, or other security to cover the costs of any such defense in a 

reasonable amount as determined by the City of Escondido City Attorney. Initially, the deposit 

shall be $25,000 which may be reasonably adjusted should any lawsuit be filed. Said security may 

be released after all applicable statutes of limitation have expired.  

 b. Owner shall further indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its officers, 

employees and agents from and against any and all liabilities, claims, actions, causes of action, 

proceedings, suits, administrative proceedings, damages, fines, penalties, judgments, orders, liens, 

levies, costs and expenses of whatever nature, including reasonable attorneys' fees and 

disbursements, arising out of any violation, or claim of violation of the San Diego Municipal Storm 

Water Permit (Order No. R9-2015-0001) of the California Regional Water Quality Control Board 

Region 9, San Diego, as amended or extended, which the City might suffer, incur, or become 

subject by reason of or occurring as a result of or allegedly caused by the construction of the 

Project. 

 c. The City shall have no liability to the Owner or any other person for, and Owner 

shall indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless the City from and against, any and all liabilities, 

claims, actions, causes of action, proceedings, suits, damages, judgments, liens, levies, costs and 

expenses of whatever nature, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements, which the 

City may suffer or incur or to which the City may become subject as a result of or allegedly caused 

by the payment of prevailing wages for construction of the Project or any of the Public Benefits or 

Public Improvements.  

 d. If any action or proceeding is brought against the City by reason of any of the 

matters against which Owner has agreed to indemnify the City as provided above, Owner, upon 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 7 of 70



 

  

notice from the City, shall defend the City at Owner’s expense by counsel chosen by the City. The 

City need not have first paid for any of the matters to which the City is entitled to indemnification 

in order to be so indemnified. The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or earlier 

termination of this Agreement. 

6. Third Party Challenges.  In the event the validity, applicability, or implementation of the 

Agreement is challenged by means of legal proceedings by any party other than the City and 

Owner, it shall be the City's option, at its sole and absolute discretion, whether to undertake the 

defense of such challenge. If the City determines not to defend such challenge, it shall be the option 

of Owner, to defend the validity, applicability, or implementation of this Agreement in the 

proceeding at Owner's sole expense.  The City and Owner agree to cooperate in the defense of any 

such challenges.   

7. Notices.  All notices or communication between the City and Owner pursuant to the 

Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by personal delivery, overnight delivery service, 

certified or registered mail, facsimile or telecopy to the addresses set forth below. The addresses 

may be changed by giving (ten) 10 days written notice.  

A. City 

City of Escondido  

Attention: Director of Community Development 

201 N. Broadway  

Escondido, CA 92025 

with a copy to: 

City Attorney 

201 N. Broadway 

Escondido, CA 92025 

 

B. Owner 

Touchstone MF Fund I, LLC 

C/O Touchstone Communities, LLC 

Attention: Kerry Garza and Addison Garza 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 8 of 70



 

  

9909 Mira Mesa Blvd., Suite 150 

San Diego, CA  92131 

Phone: (858) 248-4951 

 

with a copy to: 

 

David W. Ferguson, Esq. 

Lounsbery Ferguson Altona & Peak, LLP 

960 Canterbury Place, Suite 300 

Escondido, CA 92025-3836 

Phone: (760) 743-1201 

 

 

8. Conflict of State or Federal Laws.  If state or federal laws or regulations enacted after 

the Effective Date prevent compliance with any provision of this Agreement or require changes in 

any Entitlements, those laws or regulations shall be controlling and the Parties shall make a good 

faith, reasonable attempt to modify this Agreement to comply both with the intent of the 

Agreement and with the new laws or regulations. 

The City shall timely assist Owner in securing any permits, including permits from other 

public agencies, which may be required as a result of the modifications, suspensions, or alternate 

courses of action. 

ARTICLE III 

Development of the Property 

1. Applicable Rules, Regulations, and Policies.  Owner shall have the vested right, to the 

fullest extent allowed by law, to develop the Property in accordance with the Entitlements, Existing 

Laws and this Agreement. During the Term, the Entitlements, Existing Laws and this Agreement 

shall control the overall design, development and construction of the Project. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall preclude the City from applying changes occurring 

from time to time in the uniform codes published in Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 9 of 70



 

  

and adopted by the City, including local amendments, in effect when the building permits are 

issued.  

2. Future Laws.  Future Laws shall not apply to the Project except as expressly provided in 

this Agreement.  Future Laws may be applied to the Project if they are not in conflict with the 

Existing Laws. Owner may give the City written notice of its election to have any Future Law 

applied to the Property, in which case such Future Law will be considered an Existing Law for 

purposes of this Agreement. 

3. Future Discretionary Reviews.  Except as set forth in this Agreement, the City shall retain 

its discretionary rights in reviewing applications for Entitlements. Owner's applications for 

Entitlements and the City's review thereof, must comply with the Existing Laws and with the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement.  The City shall not impose any conditions upon Entitlements 

that are more restrictive than or inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement or the Existing Laws, 

except as required by state or federal law. The City may conduct, in accordance with CEQA and 

the Existing Laws, an environmental review for Entitlements.  The City may impose, if required 

by CEQA, additional mitigation measures to mitigate significant adverse environmental effects 

that were not previously considered, or were found to be infeasible to mitigate at the time of 

approval of this Agreement. Nothing herein is intended to require or authorize additional CEQA 

environmental review or mitigation measures beyond that otherwise required by CEQA.  

4. Permitted Uses and Density.  The Agreement shall vest the right to develop the Property 

to the fullest extent allowed by law with respect to the permitted uses of land, density and intensity 

of uses, and the rate or timing and phasing of development as described in the Entitlements which 

are hereby incorporated as if fully set forth in this Agreement. The permitted uses, density, and 

intensity of use of the Project, the maximum height and size of proposed buildings and provisions 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 10 of 70



 

  

for reservation or dedication of land for public purposes, shall substantially conform to those 

specified in the Entitlements, Existing Laws and this Agreement. All other aspects of the Project 

that are not specified in the Entitlements shall be determined by the Existing Laws, except as 

expressly provided herein. 

5. Time for Construction and Completion of the Project.  Owner cannot predict when or 

the rate or the order in which the Property or the parcels will be developed, if at all. Such decisions 

depend upon numerous factors that are not within the control of the Owner, such as market 

orientation and demand, interest rates, absorption, completion, and other similar factors. Therefore, 

Owner shall have the right to develop the Property in phases, in such order, at such rate, and at 

such times as Owner deems appropriate in Owner's business judgment, subject only to the 

provisions of this Agreement and the Entitlements. Owner shall be entitled to apply for and receive 

approval of permits, building permits, and other Entitlements for use at any time and for any or all 

portions or phases of the Project, provided that application is made in a manner consistent with 

this Agreement and the Entitlements.The City may require, and will process, all customary plans 

and agreements generally applicable to developers in the City for similar works of onsite or offsite 

improvements.   

6. Moratorium.  No City-imposed moratorium or other limitation (whether relating to the 

rate, timing or sequencing of the development or construction of all or any part of the Property, 

whether imposed by ordinance, initiative, resolution, policy, order or otherwise, and whether 

enacted by the City Council, an agency of the City, the electorate, or otherwise) affecting parcel 

or subdivision maps (whether tentative, vesting tentative, or final), building permits, occupancy 

certificates or other entitlements to use or service (including, without limitation, water and sewer) 

approved, issued or granted within the City, or portions of the City, shall apply to the Property to 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 11 of 70



 

  

the extent such moratorium or other limitation is in conflict with this Agreement; provided, 

however, the provisions of this Section shall not affect the City's compliance with moratoria or 

other limitations mandated by other governmental agencies or court-imposed moratoria, as 

established by the initiative process, or as otherwise established by law. 

7. Operating Memoranda.  The Parties acknowledge that the provisions of this Agreement 

require cooperation between the City and Owner, and that the refinements and further development 

of the Project hereunder may demonstrate that changes are appropriate with respect to the details 

of performance of the Parties hereunder. The Parties desire, therefore, to retain a certain degree of 

flexibility with respect to those items covered in general terms under this Agreement. If and when, 

from time to time during the Term, the Parties find that such Minor Modifications are necessary 

or appropriate, they may effectuate such Minor Modifications through Operating Memoranda 

approved by the Parties, which, after execution, shall be attached hereto as addenda and become a 

part hereof, and may be further changed and amended from time to time as necessary with further 

approval by the City and Owner.  No such Operating Memorandum shall require prior notice or 

hearing, or constitute an amendment or modification to this Agreement; and in the case of the City, 

such Operating Memorandum may be acted upon by the City Manager or his designee. Failure of 

the Parties to enter into any such Operating Memorandum shall not affect or abrogate any of the 

rights, duties or obligations of the Parties hereunder or the provisions of this Agreement. An 

Operating Memorandum may be recorded as an addendum to this Agreement. 

8. Term of Project Approvals.  The term of each of the Entitlements shall be extended for a 

period of time through the Term of the Agreement. Should this Agreement be terminated, the 

Owner shall have thirty (30) days to submit an application for the extension of any of the approved 

Entitlements.  

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 12 of 70



 

  

9. Infrastructure Capacity.  Subject to Owner's proportionate contribution to infrastructure 

and the Public Benefits provided by Owner, in accordance with the requirements of the 

Entitlements, the City hereby acknowledges that it will have sufficient capacity in its infrastructure 

services and utility systems, including, without limitation, traffic circulation, flood control, 

sanitation service and, except for reasons beyond the City's control, sewer collection, sewer 

treatment, water supply, treatment, distribution and service, to accommodate the Project. To the 

extent that the City renders such services or provides such utilities, the City hereby agrees that it 

will serve the Project and that there shall be no restriction on connections or service for the Project 

except for reasons beyond the City's control.  

10. Easements.  Easements dedicated for pedestrian use shall be permitted to include public 

easements for underground improvements, including but not limited to, drainage, water, sewer, 

gas, electricity, telephone, cable and other utilities and facilities, so long as they do not 

unreasonably interfere with pedestrian use. 

11. Public Benefits and Improvements.  Owner agrees to design, construct and maintain the 

improvements as provided in the Entitlements and provide the Public Benefits as described in 

Exhibit B. These requirements shall survive the termination of this Agreement. However, should 

the Project be abandoned and an entirely new project applied for, the foregoing requirements shall 

terminate. This provision shall in no way effect the enforceability of the deed restriction requiring 

public parking spaces on the Property in perpetuity as provided in the City’s Purchase and Sale 

Agreement with the Owner.  

12. Fees. The Owner shall pay the Development Fees and General Fees in the amounts in effect 

at the time Owner submits payment of the fees unless otherwise explicitly provided in this 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 13 of 70



 

  

Agreement. The payment of Development Fees and General Fees may be deferred in accordance 

with City requirements separately from this Agreement.  

ARTICLE IV 

Provision of Public Benefits 

1. Description of Public Benefits.  Owner shall provide the City with the Public Benefits, as 

further described in Exhibit B, as consideration for the City's good faith performance of all 

applicable terms and conditions in this Agreement. 

2. Occupancy Contingent on Construction of Public Improvements.  Owner 

acknowledges that the City shall not grant a certificate of occupancy for the first residential or 

commercial unit on the Property prior to the construction of all improvements described in Exhibit 

B.  This contingency for occupancy shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  

3. Grading Permit Contingent on Security for Public Benefits.  Prior to issuance of a 

grading permit, Owner must enter into an improvement agreement or agreements which will detail 

Owner's construction obligations for Public Improvements and the Public Benefits, and will 

require Owner to provide financial security for completion of construction, in a form or forms as 

approved by the City Attorney. 

4. Processing During Third Party Litigation.  The filing of any third party lawsuit(s) 

against the City or Owner relating to this Agreement, any Entitlements, or to other development 

issues affecting the Property shall not delay or stop the development, processing or construction 

of the Project or approval of Entitlements, unless the third party obtains a court order preventing 

the activity, in which case the term of this Agreement shall be tolled for the duration of the legal 

action and the expiration date of the Agreement shall be extended by the time during which the 

term is tolled.  

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 14 of 70



 

  

ARTICLE V 

Annual Review 

1. Owner Responsibilities.  At least every twelve (12) months during the Term, Owner shall 

demonstrate good faith substantial compliance with the major provisions of the Agreement and 

provide, to the best extent possible, the status and timing of development of the Project and related 

public improvements to the City for an Annual Review. If requested by the City, Owner shall 

provide any additional detail or information necessary to demonstrate good faith compliance with 

any particular provision of this Agreement identified by the City. 

2. Opportunity to be Heard.  Owner shall be permitted an opportunity to be heard orally 

and in writing at any noticed public hearing regarding its performance under this Agreement. 

Owner shall be heard before each appropriate board agency or commission and the City Council 

at any required public hearing concerning a review of performance under this Agreement. 

3. Information to be Provided to Owner.  The City shall mail to Owner a copy of staff 

reports and related exhibits concerning Agreement performance, a minimum of ten (10) calendar 

days prior to consideration and review by the City Council. 

4. Annual Review Letter.  If Owner is found to be in substantial compliance with this 

Agreement after the Annual Review, the City shall issue, upon written request by Owner, a Review 

Letter to Owner stating that, based upon information known or made known to the City Council, 

the City Planning Commission, and/or the City Manager, this Agreement remains in effect and 

Owner is in compliance. Owner may record the Review Letter in the Official Records of the 

County of San Diego. 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 15 of 70



 

  

5. Failure of Annual Review.  The City's failure to perform an Annual Review of Owner's 

substantial compliance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement shall not constitute or be 

asserted as a default by Owner. 

ARTICLE VI 

Delay, Default, Remedies, and Termination 

1. Notice and Cure of Default.  In the event of a material default, the Party alleging a default 

shall give the defaulting Party a notice of default in writing. The notice of default shall specify the 

nature of the alleged material default. During the Cure Period, the Party charged shall not be 

considered in breach. If the default is cured within the Cure Period, then no breach shall be deemed 

to exist. Any notice given pursuant to the preceding sentence shall specify the nature of the alleged 

failure and, where appropriate, the manner in which such alleged failure satisfactorily may be 

cured. 

2. Waiver.  Failure or delay in giving notice of default shall not constitute a waiver of any 

other material default. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, a failure or delay 

in asserting any rights or remedies as to any default shall not operate as a waiver of any default or 

of any rights or remedies otherwise available to a Party or deprive a Party of the right to institute 

and maintain any actions or proceedings which it may deem necessary to protect, assert, or enforce 

any rights or remedies it may have. 

3. Default by Owner.  The Director may recommend the review and termination of this 

Agreement to the City Council upon an occurrence of a material default that is not cured within 

the Cure Period. The foregoing does not limit any of the City’s other remedies upon a material 

breach of this Agreement by the Owner. 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 16 of 70



 

  

4. Default by the City.  Upon a material default by the City, that is not cured within the Cure 

Period, Owner, without limiting any of its other remedies, shall not be obligated to complete any 

of its obligations under this Agreement.  

5. Termination or Modification.  Any termination or modification of this Agreement shall 

be done in accordance with Article 58, Chapter 33 of the Escondido Zoning Code as well as any 

applicable state or federal law.  Owner shall have sixty (60) days from the Effective Date to sign 

the Agreement or the Agreement shall automatically expire. 

ARTICLE VII 

Encumbrances and Releases on Property 

1. Discretion to Encumber.  This Agreement shall not prevent or limit Owner, in any 

manner, from encumbering the Property or any portion of the Property or any improvement on the 

Property by any mortgage. The City acknowledges that lenders providing financing may require 

modifications to this Agreement and the City agrees, upon request, from time to time, to meet with 

Owner and/or representatives of lenders to negotiate in good faith any lender request for 

modification provided any modification does not will not affect the timely completion or 

fulfillment of any requirements in the Entitlements or this Agreement relating to the Public 

Benefits. 

ARTICLE VIII 

Miscellaneous Provisions 

1. Rules of Construction.  The singular includes the plural; the masculine gender includes 

the feminine; "shall" is mandatory; "may" is permissive. 

2. Severability.  If any non-material provision of this Agreement shall be adjudged by a court 

of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or illegal, it shall in no way affect, impair, or 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 17 of 70



 

  

invalidate any other provision of this Agreement. If any material part of the Agreement is adjudged 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or illegal, the Parties shall take all steps 

necessary to modify the Agreement to implement the original intent of the Parties in a valid and 

binding manner. These steps may include the waiver by either of the Parties of their right under 

the unenforceable provision. If, however, this Agreement objectively cannot be modified to 

implement the original intent of the Parties and the Party substantially benefited by the material 

provision does not waive its rights under the unenforceable provision, the executory portions of 

the Agreement shall become void. 

3. Entire Agreement.  Except as expressly referred to herein, this Agreement constitutes the 

entire understanding and agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this 

Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all other negotiations and previous agreements between 

the Parties with respect to that subject matter. 

4. Waivers.  All waivers of the provisions of this Agreement must be in writing and signed 

by the appropriate agents of the City or of Owner. 

5. Recording.  The City Clerk shall cause a copy of this Agreement to be recorded with the 

Office of the County Recorder of San Diego County, California within (ten) 10 days following the 

Effective Date. Upon the completion of performance of this Agreement or its revocation or 

termination, a statement evidencing completion, revocation, or termination signed by the 

appropriate agents of Owner and the City shall be recorded in the Official Records of San Diego 

County, California. 

6. Project as a Private Undertaking.  It is specifically understood by the Parties that the 

Project is a private development and that Owner shall have the full power and exclusive control of 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 18 of 70



 

  

the Property subject to the provisions of this Agreement. Any improvements completed remain the 

property of the Owner unless the City has explicitly accepted any improvement.  

7. Captions.  The captions of the Agreement are for convenience and reference only and shall 

not define, explain, modify, construe, limit, amplify or aid in the interpretation, construction or 

meaning of any of the provisions of the Agreement. 

8. Consent.  Where the consent or approval of a Party is required or necessary under this 

Agreement, the consent or approval shall not be withheld unreasonably. 

9. The City's Ongoing Statutory Authority.  Except as expressly stated, nothing in this 

Agreement shall limit the City's authority and responsibility under the California Constitution and 

applicable California statutes to act in the best interests of the public health, safety, and welfare, 

and nothing in this Agreement is intended to limit in any way the legislative discretion otherwise 

afforded the Escondido City Council under state or federal law. 

10. Covenant of Cooperation.  The Parties shall cooperate with and assist each other in the 

performance of the provisions of the Agreement including assistance in obtaining permits for the 

development of the Property which may be required from public agencies other than the City. The 

covenant of cooperation shall include, to the maximum extent permitted by law, that the City shall 

use its best efforts to prevent any ordinance, measure, moratorium or other limitation from 

invalidating, prevailing over or making impossible any provision of the Agreement, and the City 

shall cooperate with Owner to keep this Agreement in full force and effect.  Owner reserves the 

right to challenge any such ordinance, measure, moratorium, or other limitation in a court of law 

if it becomes necessary to protect the development rights vested in the Property pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 19 of 70



 

  

11. Further Actions and Instruments.  Each of the Parties shall cooperate with and provide 

reasonable assistance to the other in the performance of all obligations under this Agreement and 

the satisfaction of the conditions. Upon the request of either Party, the other Party shall promptly 

execute, with acknowledgment or affidavit if reasonably required, and file or record such required 

instruments and writings and take any actions as may be reasonably necessary under the terms of 

this Agreement to carry out the intent and to fulfill the provisions of the Agreement or to evidence 

or consummate the transactions contemplated herein.  

12. Successors and Assigns.  Subject to Article II Section 2 above, the burdens of this 

Agreement shall be binding upon, and the benefits of this Agreement inure to, all successors-in-

interest and assigns of the Parties. 

13. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement and of each and every 

term and condition hereof. 

14. Applicable Laws.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with 

the laws of the State of California. All statutory references are to California statutes. 

15. No Waiver of Existing Rights or Applicable Laws.  This Agreement shall not constitute 

a waiver of any of Owner's existing rights or applicable laws, nor shall it limit or expand Owner's 

right to challenge any General Fee as being contrary to applicable law or to challenge any existing 

or Future Exaction as being in excess of Exactions permitted by applicable law. 

16. Authorization.  Each person executing this Agreement hereby warrants and represents that 

he/she has the authority to enter into this Agreement and to bind his/her respective entity to the 

provisions hereof. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 

when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original.  

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 20 of 70



 

  

17. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement and each and every provision hereof is 

for the exclusive benefit of the Parties hereto and not for the benefit of any third party. 

 

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 

  

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 21 of 70



 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement: 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO    CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

 

 

 

 

By: _____________________________  By: _____________________________ 

 Paul McNamara     Zachary Beck 

Its:  Mayor      Its:  Clerk 

 

 

By: TOUCHSTONE MF FUND I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

 

By: TOUCHSTONE COMMUNITIES, LLC, a California limited liability company 

Its: Manager 

 

 

By: _____________________________________ 

Its: Manager 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 

MICHAEL R. MCGUINNESS, City Attorney 

 

By:  ______________________________ 

 

 

 

TOUCHSTONE MF FUND I, LLC 

 

 

By: _____________________________ 

David W. Ferguson 

Attorney for Owner   

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 22 of 70



 

  

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

 

Real property in the City of Escondido, County of San Diego, State of California, described as 

follows: 

 

  

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 23 of 70



 

  

EXHIBIT B 

 

I. PUBLIC BENEFITS AND PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 

A. MAPLE STREET PLAZA. Public Art fees for the Project will be combined 

with existing City Public Art funds to replace the existing non-functioning 

fountain in Maple Street Plaza at a later date. The construction of the fountain, 

including design, size, dimensions, materials, style, pumping requirements, and 

installation will be the responsibility of the City. Upon completion, the City will 

only be responsible for repairs to the fountain caused by willful destruction or acts 

of nature. The Owner shall be responsible for all cleaning and maintenance of the 

fountain in perpetuity, at Owner’s sole cost, including the care and servicing by 

personnel for the purpose of maintaining the fountain and all ancillary equipment 

in satisfactory operating condition by providing for systematic inspection, 

detection, and correction of equipment and emerging failures either before they 

occur, or before they develop into major defects.      

B. PUBLIC PARKING. Owner shall design and construct a new parking structure 

that provides  public parking spaces, including the installation of an electronic 

signage system to display available public parking spaces in real time in 

accordance with the traffic impact analysis for the Project and appropriate 

infrastructure (wiring, conduits, physical space, etc.) to facilitate future 

improvements (i.e. access gate(s), signage, security/attendant station, etc.) to be 

performed by others for an independent contractor to manage the public parking 

spaces, as approved by the City in its sole discretion. The Project shall provide a 

total of 76 public parking spaces on the Property in accordance with the Owner’s 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 24 of 70



 

  

Purchase and Sale Agreement with the City. Owner shall also maintain the public 

parking spaces at Owner’s cost when completed and operational. Prior to issuance 

of a grading permit, Owner shall provide a Parking Management Plan for any 

proposed use of the 76 spaces other than public parking, which shall be subject to 

City’s written approval. Owner may allow said public parking spaces to be used 

for overnight parking for Project residents and guests, provided an appropriate 

permit regulated program is implemented by the Owner and approved by the City 

in writing. Prior to construction, the City will maintain the parking lot in 

accordance with its normal operations. The City shall continue to enforce public 

parking regulations after completion of the parking structure.  

C. TRAFFIC CONTRIBUTIONS. Owner shall pay the City $32,155 as 

contributions towards future public signage for public parking lots to facilitiate 

the efficient flow of traffic in the downtown area.      

II. DENSITY TRANSFER FROM CITY DENSITY TRANSFER PROGRAM 

A. DENSITY TRANSFER. The City will transfer 24 units of density from the City 

Density Credit Pool, established by the City’s Density Transfer Program.  

B. CALCULATION OF DENSITY BONUS. Any density bonus awarded pursuant 

to State law shall be calculated based on the 79 units as provided in the 

Downtown Specific Plan and will not include any transferred density in the 

calculation. 

III. TIMING AND COOPERATION 

A. GENERALLY. The City and Owner agree to cooperate towards the requirements 

in this Agreement including a permitting and construction schedule.  

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 25 of 70



 

  

B. USE OF MAPLE STREET PLAZA. The Project shall be permitted to use a 

portion of Maple Street Plaza for outdoor café seating, subject to any terms and 

conditions of an encroachment permit.  This space shall extend approximately 

sixteen (16) feet from the exterior of the building as depicted in the Entitlements. 

Owner shall be permitted to use this space during construction of the Project. 

Owner shall be responsible for maintenance of this space after construction starts. 

Such maintenance shall include routine care and cleaning, repair and replacement 

of existing improvements unless damaged by the City. Owner shall relocate the 

existing improvements being displaced to a new location within Maple Street 

Plaza and in a manner approved by the City at Owner’s cost.  

C. TEMPORARY PARKING MANAGEMENT PLAN. Prior to issuance of 

grading permit, the City will require a temporary parking management plan that 

secures temporary off-site parking accommodations for construction workers. 

Owner may allow onsite parking once the initial garage is constructed subject to 

City approval in accordance with the City’s municipal code and state and federal 

law.  

D. Owner may require the temporary exclusive use of the south side parking lane of 

Valley Parkway to facilitate the construction of the Project.  If Owner determines 

that such use is necessary, then City and Owner agree to cooperate towards this 

requirement, subject to any terms and conditions of an encroachment permit.  

  

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 26 of 70



 

  

EXHIBIT C 
 

 

FEE GUIDE 

 

 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 27 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 28 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 29 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 30 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 31 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 32 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 33 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 34 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 35 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 36 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 37 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 38 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 39 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 40 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 41 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 42 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 43 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 44 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 45 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 46 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 47 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 48 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 49 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 50 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 51 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 52 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 53 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 54 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 55 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 56 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 57 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 58 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 59 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 60 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 61 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 62 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 63 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 64 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 65 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 66 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 67 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 68 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 69 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 

Exhibit "E" 

Page 70 of 70



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit “F” 

Page 1 of 93 

 

 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 

Aspire Project  

August 2019 

Prepared for: 

 

 

 
 
  

 
City of Escondido 
Planning Division 
201 North Broadway  
Escondido California 92025 
Contact: Peggy Chapin 
(760) 717-1300 

Prepared by: 

 
Harris & Associates 
600 B Street, Suite 2000  
San Diego, California 92101 
Contact: Diane Sandman  
(619) 481-5013  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 2 of 93 
 

 

  

This document is printed on recycled paper with 30 percent post-consumer content. 

 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 3 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 3 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table of Contents 

Section 1 Project Description ............................................................................................... 5 

1.1 Project Summary ............................................................................................ 5 

1.2 Existing Setting and Neighboring Land Uses .................................................. 5 

1.3 Description of Project ..................................................................................... 6 

Section 2 Categorical Exemption Criteria .......................................................................... 15 

2.1 Class 32 (In-Fill Development) ..................................................................... 15 

2.2 Exceptions ................................................................................................... 16 

Section 3 CEQA Exemption Checklist ............................................................................... 17 

3.1 Criterion Section 15332(a): General Plan and Zoning Consistency .................... 17 

3.2 Criterion Section 15332(b): Project Location, Size, and Context .................. 24 

3.3 Criterion Section 15332(c): Endangered, Rare, or  Threatened Species ...... 24 

3.4 Criterion Section 15332(d): Traffic ................................................................ 24 

3.5 Criterion Section 15332(d): Noise ................................................................ 30 

3.6 Criterion Section 15332(d): Air Quality ......................................................... 41 

3.7 Criterion Section 15332(d): Water Quality .................................................... 48 

Section 4 Exceptions to Categorical Exemptions Checklist ............................................ 52 

4.1 Criterion Section 15300.2(a): Location ......................................................... 52 

4.2 Criterion Section 15300.2(b): Cumulative Impact ......................................... 52 

4.3 Criterion Section 15300.2(c): Significant Effect ............................................ 53 

4.4 Criterion Section 15300.2(d): Scenic Highway ............................................. 53 

4.5 Criterion Section 15300.2(e): Hazardous Waste Sites .................................. 53 

4.6 Criterion Section 15300.2(f): Historic Resources .......................................... 54 

Section 5 Report Preparation ............................................................................................. 58 

Section 6 References .......................................................................................................... 60 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 4 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 4 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figures 

Figure 1. Regional Location ...................................................................................................... 62 

Figure 2. Project Site................................................................................................................. 64 

Figure 3. Site Plan .................................................................................................................... 66 

Figure 4a. Project Perspective from Corner of West Valley Pkwy & Maple Street Looking 
Southeast ...................................................................................................................... 68 

Figure 4b. Project Perspective from Maple Street Plaza Looking East ...................................... 70 

Figure 4c. Project Perspective from West Valley Parkway Looking Southwest .......................... 72 

Figure 4d. Project Perspective from Pool Deck Looking East .................................................... 74 

Figure 5a. Landscape Conceptual Plan – Ground Floor ............................................................ 76 

Figure 5b. Landscape Conceptual Plan – 2nd Floor .................................................................. 78 

Tables 

Table 1. Consistency with Applicable Downtown Specific Plan Guidelines ................................ 19 

Table 2. Consistency with Applicable Zoning Regulations ......................................................... 23 

Table 3. Project Trip Generation ............................................................................................... 26 

Table 4. Existing Plus Project Street Segment LOS Summary .................................................. 27 

Table 5. Existing Plus Project Intersection LOS Summary ........................................................ 28 

Table 6. Project Trip Generation during Construction ................................................................ 29 

Table 7. Exterior Incremental Noise Impact Standards for Noise-Sensitive Uses (dBA) ............ 33 

Table 8. Vibration Source Levels for Construction Equipment ................................................... 35 

Table 9. Project Traffic Noise Levels – Existing and Existing Plus Project ................................. 37 

Table 10. Project Traffic Noise Levels – Existing Plus Cumulative With and  Without Project ... 38 

Table 11. Screening Level Criteria Thresholds for Air Quality Impacts ...................................... 42 

Table 12. Estimated Maximum Daily Construction Emissions (pounds/day) .............................. 43 

Table 13. Estimated Maximum Daily Operational Emissions (pounds/day) ............................... 44 

Table 14. Estimated Project Related GHG Emissions ............................................................... 48 

Appendices 

Appendix A. Traffic Impact Analysis 

Appendix B. Noise Technical Memorandum 

Appendix C1. Air Quality Technical Memorandum 

Appendix C2. Greenhouse Gas Technical Memorandum 

Appendix D. Drainage Study and  Storm Water Quality Management Plan 

Appendix E. Phase I ESA 

Appendix F. Literature Search and Background Research Report 

 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 5 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 5 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Section 1 Project Description 

1.1 Project Summary 

 Project Title: Aspire 

 

 Lead Agency Name and Address: 

City of Escondido 

Planning Division 

201 North Broadway 

Escondido, California 92025 

 

 Contact Person and Phone Number:  

Peggy Chapin 

(760) 717-1300 

 

 Project Location: 

137 West Valley Parkway  

Escondido, California 92025 

Assessor’s Parcel Number 229-421-26  

 

 Project Sponsor’s Name and Address: 

Touchstone Communities 

9909 Mira Mesa Boulevard, Suite 150 

San Diego, California 92131 

 

 Existing General Plan Designations: 

S-P-9 

 

 Existing Zoning: 

S-P-9 

 

 Requested Permits: The applicant seeks approval of a Planned Development (Master 

and Precise Development Plans) application. 

1.2 Existing Setting and Neighboring Land Uses 

The 1.04-acre site of the Aspire project (project) is a rectangular-shaped site that is located south 

of West Valley Parkway, between South Maple Street and North Broadway, in the City of 

Escondido, California. (Figure 1, Regional Location, and Figure 2, Project Site). 

Topographically, the project site is generally flat-lying with a rough elevation of 652 feet above 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 6 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 6 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

mean seal level (AMSL). The site is currently an asphalt public surface parking lot with some 

landscaped planters and lighting. 

The project site is located in the developed and urban area of downtown Escondido. According 

to the Downtown Specific Plan, the project site lies within the Historic Downtown District. 

Immediately surrounding land uses to the project site consist of primarily commercial and retail 

uses. Directly north of the project site lies West Valley Parkway, a major arterial road that serves 

the City, with City Hall and the California Center for the Arts on the north side of the road. A 

bank with surface parking lot borders the project site to the east and a one-way alley that services 

commercial businesses fronting Grand Avenue borders the site to the south. These commercial 

uses include restaurants, a salon, and bridal shop. Maple Street Plaza, a pedestrian plaza with a 

fountain, landscaping, lighting, benching, and trellises, borders the site to the west. 

1.3 Description of Project 

The project proposes to construct a 6-story mixed-use building that includes 131 residential units 

for rent, including 9 units reserved for Very Low Income Households, 4,289 square feet (sf) of 

commercial space, underground parking, an outdoor common area with pool, and other amenities 

on a 1.04-acre site bounded by West Valley Parkway on the north, a bank building on the east, 

Maple Street Plaza to the west and an alley to the south (Figure 3, Site Plan). The project would 

construct a single 6-story building totaling 179,530 sf, containing a mix of residential and 

commercial uses and underground parking. The proposed building would be 67 feet in height. 

The building would be constructed per the requirements of the California Building Code (CBC) 

that is in effect at the time building plans are submitted for permit approvals (including 

CALGreen requirements). 

The Density Bonus Law (found in California Government Code, Sections 65915–65918) 

encourages the development of affordable and senior housing, by affording 

applicants/developers with up to a 35 percent increase in project densities, depending on the 

amount of affordable housing provided. The amount of the density bonus is based upon the 

percentage of affordable units provided at each income level. The maximum allowable gross 

density as of the date of application is 75 dwelling units per acre, or 79 total units. The project 

would reserve approximately 11 percent of the 79 base units, a total of 9 units, for Very Low 

Income Households. Providing this amount of affordable housing units would qualify the project 

for a density bonus of 35 percent over the maximum allowable gross density, or 28 additional 

units. An additional 24 units would be requested under the City’s Density Transfer Program for a 

total of 131 dwelling units.  

The Density Bonus Law allows for the waiver or reduction of development standards where 

these standards would physically preclude the construction of a density-bonus-qualifying project. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 7 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 7 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

There is no limit on the number of development standard waivers or reductions that may be 

requested or granted for a project.  

The project requests a waiver or reduction of certain development standards identified in Chapter 

III, Section B, of the Downtown Specific Plan. The project requests a waiver of the maximum 

building height and story development standard of 60 feet and 4 stories to allow for an average 

building height of 67 feet and 6 stories. The project also requests a reduction of the minimum 

usable open space development standard of 300 sf per unit to allow 212 sf of open space per unit.  

The identified development standards fall squarely under the definition of “development 

standards” in California Government Code, Section 65915(o)(1). With the waiver of building 

height and reduction of open space development standards, the provisions are no longer applicable 

to the project (Wollmer v. City of Berkeley [2011] 193 Cal.App.4th 1329, 1347–1350.) Therefore, 

the project is consistent with applicable provisions of the Downtown Specific Plan. 

In addition, since the project includes the maximum percentage of Very Low Income Households 

and is located within 0.5 mile of a major transit stop, as identified in the San Diego Association 

of Government’s (SANDAG’s) 2050 Regional Transportation Plan, the project requests that the 

City not impose a vehicular parking ratio that exceeds 0.5 space per bedroom, inclusive of 

handicapped and guest parking, pursuant to California Government Code, Section 65915(p)(2). 

Additionally, pursuant to California Government Code, Section 65915(p)(4), the project may 

provide on-site parking through tandem parking or uncovered parking. The project contains 186 

bedrooms, resulting in a maximum parking requirement of 93 spaces. However, the project 

proposes 229 on-site parking spaces.  

Project Components 

Proposed Residential Units. The project would construct a six-story mixed use building that 

includes 131 residential units for rent, for a total of 109,900 square feet of residential space. The 

residential unit mix would include 30 studios, 46 one-bedroom units and 55 two-bedroom units. 

The residential component would include 9 units reserved for Very Low Income Households. A 

private balcony space would be provided with each unit. All units would provide heat and air 

conditioning. The heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) units would be located on 

the roof. The first floor would consist of a 1,776 sf lobby that includes a resident’s entry, 

mailroom, leasing office, parcel room, and a 474 sf resident common room or flex space. Hearths 

or wood-burning stoves would not be included in the proposed residential units.  

Proposed Commercial Use. The project proposes two separate commercial spaces of 2,304 sf and 

1,985 sf for a combined total of 4,289 sf of commercial space. The retail space would front 

Maple Street Plaza. Two outdoor seating patios enclosed by low metal decorative railings would 

be constructed fronting the project’s retail spaces along Maple Street Plaza. Two outdoor cafes 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 8 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 8 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

with removable railing and gates would be constructed outside of the retail areas fronting Maple 

Street Plaza. Certain equipment and furniture within Maple Street Plaza would be removed 

and/or replaced to accommodate the project. 

Proposed Architectural Design. The proposed building materials would incorporate sand finish 

stucco with thinset brick veneer and hardieplank wood slats. The main body colors of the 

building materials would be white, charcoal, blue, light gray, and burnt orange, with khaki brown 

siding and light gray brick veneer. Dark gray brick veneer would cover the ground floor of the 

proposed building. Other architectural features include aluminum framed roll up garage doors, 

operable glazing, horizontal metal railing, wood corner trellis, and aluminum overhang (Figures 

4a, 4b, 4c, and 4d). 

Resident Open Space Common Areas and Private Areas. The project would provide various 

common open space areas for project residents totaling 16,117 sf. The largest area would be a 

9,797 sf outdoor space that would include a community pool and spa; lounge area with gas fire 

pits; artificial turf game space; barbeque grills; patio decking; and pool furniture (Figure 5a, 

Landscape Conceptual Plan – Ground Floor, and Figure 5b, Landscape Conceptual Plan – 2nd 

Floor). In addition to the outdoor amenities, the common open space area would also include a 

3,010 sf indoor private recreation room, a 474 sf resident common room or flex space, and 

ground floor outdoor areas. In addition to the common open space areas, the project would 

include private balconies for each residential unit with an average size of approximately 88 sf for 

a total of 11,571 sf of private open space. In total, the project would provide approximately 

27,688 sf of open space or 212 sf per residential dwelling unit. 

Vehicular Access and Parking. The project would provide a total of 229 on-site parking spaces on 

2 parking levels. The first floor street level would include 85 parking spaces, 76 of which would 

be allocated for shared use by the public and guests of the project during the daytime and 

resident parking overnight. 

The below-grade basement level would serve project residents only and provide 144 parking 

spaces, 38 of which would be tandem spaces.  

Vehicular access into and out of the project building would be from two 24-foot-wide driveways 

off of West Valley Parkway. The eastern access driveway would lead directly to the basement 

level parking area that is strictly reserved for residents. Residents would be provided key cards 

for access. The western access driveway would lead to the first floor street level parking area. 

The existing one-way eastbound alley would serve the 17 parking spaces provided on first floor 

street level behind the building along the south side. The current sidewalk along the project 

frontage on West Valley Parkway would be removed and reconstructed. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 9 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 9 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Bike Facility and Storage. The project would provide an 878 sf bike storage and repair room on 

the first floor street level along West Valley Parkway. Residential storage lockers (7) and wall-

mounted storage spaces (50) totaling 10,575 cubic feet would be allotted for residential use on 

the basement parking level. 

Stormwater Features. Raised planter boxes would be constructed in the outdoor courtyard and 

street level for treatment of stormwater runoff. The raised planter would be approximately 4.25 

feet in height. In addition, roadside swales would be constructed on West Valley Parkway along 

the project’s frontage. The stormwater features have been designed to meet the pollutant control 

standards required by the City’s Storm Water Design Manual (City of Escondido 2016). Runoff 

from the site discharges directly into concrete-lined Escondido Creek which has obtained 

exemption from Hydromodification Management Requirements in the Carlsbad Watershed 

Management Area Analysis (CWMAA) (Rick Engineering 2014). 

Landscaping. The proposed on-site landscape plan would consist of trees, shrubs, and 

groundcovers with moderate to low water requirements (Figure 5a and Figure 5b). The raised 

biofiltration planters described under the Stormwater Features section would be planted with 

various shrubs and groundcovers. Planters with various shrubs, interior accent trees, and palms 

would be planted on the second level in the community pool and spa area. All plantings and 

irrigation equipment would conform to the City’s Article 62 Landscape Standards as well as the 

water budget requirements. The proposed trees, shrubs, and groundcovers selected have 

moderate to low water requirement.  

The project would also include the installation of six trees along the proposed sidewalk fronting 

the project site on West Valley Parkway.  

Utilities. The project’s sewer and water laterals would connect to the City’s public water and 

sewer pipelines. The project proposes the installation of single water and sewer service lateral 

that would connect to the existing water and sewer mains under the alley. The project would 

provide a fire service connection to the existing 10-inch water main under the alley. In addition, 

the project would install four fire hydrants, two at the project’s frontage on West Valley Parkway 

and two at the adjacent alley. Two separate utility rooms totaling 1,041 sf and a 130 sf riser room 

would be on the first floor street level. Three separate utility rooms totaling 931 sf would be on 

the basement level. 

Recycling and Trash Enclosures. One 655 sf trash and recycling enclosure would be provided on 

the first floor at the south side of the building and would be accessed from the adjacent alley. 

Floor drains and a water source hose bib would be included in the trash enclosure for 

maintenance. The concrete would be sloped, and the floor drains would be tied to the sewer 

system to avoid pollutant runoff. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 10 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 10 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Heating and Ventilation Systems. Heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) units would be 

installed on the building roof on raised mechanical pads and outfitted with visual and acoustical 

enclosures such that noise generated would not exceed 50 dBA at the nearest receptor. Enclosures 

around the HVAC units would be designed to complement the building color, textures, and materials. 

Project Design Features 

The following design features have been incorporated into the project that would minimize the 

potential for impacts associated with these issues. 

Endangered, Threatened, and Rare Species 

PDF-BIO-1. Tree removal shall occur outside the bird-breeding season (February 1 through 

September 15). If the trees cannot be removed outside the bird breeding season, a qualified 

biologist shall conduct a nest survey within three days of the tree removal. 

Noise 

PDF-NOI-1. The construction contractor shall provide construction vibration notification to 

minimize the potential nuisance of vibration by allowing surrounding uses time to prepare for 

construction activities. The construction contractor shall provide written notification to all 

commercial land uses within 175 feet of the property boundary at least three weeks prior to the 

start of construction activities informing them of the estimated start date and duration of daytime 

vibration-generating construction activities. This notification shall include information warning 

about the potential for impacts related to vibration-sensitive equipment. 

PDF-NOI-2. Prior to issuance of a building permit, as a condition of project approval, the 

applicant shall prepare an additional exterior-to-interior noise report completed by a qualified 

acoustical consultant for the proposed on-site residential units that would face West Valley 

Parkway. This report would be submitted with the building plans. The information in this report 

would include wall heights and lengths, room volumes, and window and door tables typical for a 

building plan, as well as information on any other openings in the building shell. The report shall 

also assume a “windows-closed” condition and that vehicles on West Valley Parkway are 

traveling at 35 miles per hour. With this specific building plan information, which is not 

currently available, the report would determine the predicted interior noise levels at the planned 

on-site buildings. If predicted noise levels are found to be in excess of 45 CNEL, the report 

would identify architectural materials or techniques that could be included in project design 

plans to reduce noise levels to 45 CNEL in habitable rooms. Standard measures such as glazing 

with Sound Transmission Class (STC) ratings from a STC 22 to STC 60, as well as walls with 

appropriate STC ratings (34 to 60), shall be considered. The report shall be submitted and 

approved by the City prior to the issuance of a building permit. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 11 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 11 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

PDF-NOI-3. The HVAC units on the project rooftop would be installed within enclosures such 

that noise from HVAC operation does not exceed 55 dBA at the nearest off-site receptor. 

Although the exact specifications of the project HVAC units and selected enclosures are 

unknown at this time, enclosures providing at least a 12 dBA noise reduction would be required. 

Installation of HVAC units inside enclosures providing at least a 12 dBA noise reduction would 

reduce noise levels at the nearest commercial uses to 55 dBA or below. Enclosures around the 

HVAC units would be designed to complement the building color, textures, and materials. 

PDF-NOI-4. Trash collection at the project site would be limited to between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 

p.m., Monday through Friday. 

Cultural Resources 

As a result of consultation under Assembly Bill (AB) 52, the San Luis Rey Band of Mission 

Indians has requested monitoring during construction. Therefore, to comply with AB 52, the 

following project design features would be made a condition of project approval, which is typical 

for projects in the City:  

PDF-CR-1. The City recommends the applicant enter into a Tribal Cultural Resource Treatment 

and Monitoring Agreement (also known as a pre-excavation agreement) with a tribe that is 

traditionally and culturally affiliated with the project location (Tribal Consolidation Area [TCA] 

Tribe) prior to issuance of a grading permit. The purposes of the agreement are (1) to provide the 

applicant with clear expectations regarding tribal cultural resources, and (2) to formalize 

protocols and procedures between the applicant/owner and the TCA Tribe for the protection and 

treatment of, including but not limited to, Native American human remains, funerary objects, 

cultural and religious landscapes, ceremonial items, traditional gathering areas and cultural 

items, located and/or discovered through a monitoring program in conjunction with the 

construction of the project, including additional archaeological surveys and/or studies, 

excavations, geotechnical investigations, grading, and all other ground disturbing activities. 

PDF-CR-2. Prior to issuance of a grading permit, the applicant shall provide written verification 

to the City that a qualified archaeologist and a Native American monitor associated with a TCA 

Tribe has been retained to implement the monitoring program. The archaeologist shall be 

responsible for coordinating with the Native American monitor. This verification shall be 

presented to the City in a letter from the project archaeologist confirming that the selected Native 

American monitor is associated with a TCA Tribe. Prior to any pre-construction meeting, the 

City shall approve all persons involved in the monitoring program. 

PDF-CR-3. The qualified archaeologist and a Native American monitor shall attend the pre-

grading meeting with the grading contractors to explain and coordinate the requirements of the 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 12 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 12 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

monitoring program, in addition to reviewing the grading plan to assist in determining the 

necessity of the Luiseño Native American monitor and archaeological monitor’s presence. 

PDF-CR-4. During the initial grubbing, site grading, excavation (including post-demolition 

activities to assess the condition of the subsurface stratigraphy), or disturbance of the ground 

surface, the qualified archaeologist and the Native American monitor shall be on site where 

deemed appropriate and necessary by the archaeologist and Luiseño Native American monitor. If 

imported fill materials, or fill used from other areas of the project site, are to be incorporated at 

the project site, then those fill materials shall be absent of any tribal cultural resources. The 

frequency of inspections shall depend on the rate of excavation, the materials excavated, and any 

discoveries of tribal cultural resources as defined in PRC Section 21074. 

PDF-CR-5. In the event that previously unidentified tribal cultural resources are discovered, the 

qualified archaeologist and the Native American monitor shall have the authority to temporarily 

divert or temporarily halt ground disturbance operations in the area of discovery to allow for 

evaluation of potentially significant cultural resources. Isolates and clearly non-significant 

deposits shall be minimally documented in the field and collected so that the monitored grading 

can proceed. 

PDF-CR-6. If a potentially significant tribal cultural resource is discovered, the archaeologist shall 

notify the City of said discovery. The qualified archaeologist, in consultation with the City, the 

TCA Tribe, and the Native American monitor, shall determine the significance of the discovered 

resource. A recommendation for treatment and disposition of the tribal cultural resource shall be 

made by the qualified archaeologist in consultation with the TCA Tribe and the Native American 

monitor, and shall be submitted to the City for review and approval. 

PDF-CR-7. The avoidance and/or preservation of the significant tribal cultural resource and/or 

unique archaeological resource must first be considered and evaluated under CEQA. Where any 

significant tribal cultural resources and/or unique archaeological resources have been discovered 

and avoidance and/or preservation measures are deemed to be infeasible by the City, a research 

design and data recovery program to mitigate impacts shall be prepared by the qualified 

archaeologist (using professional archaeological methods), in consultation with the TCA Tribe 

and the Native American monitor, and shall be subject to approval by the City. The qualified 

archaeologist, in consultation with the Native American monitor, shall determine the amount of 

material to be recovered for an adequate artifact sample for analysis. Before construction 

activities are allowed to resume in the affected area, the research design and data recovery 

program activities must be concluded to the satisfaction of the City. 

PDF-CR-8. In accordance with CEQA, all tribal cultural resources shall be treated with culturally 

appropriate dignity. If the qualified archaeologist elects to collect any tribal cultural resources, 

the Native American monitor must be present during the collection and cataloging of those 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 13 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 13 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

resources. Moreover, if the qualified archaeologist does not collect the tribal cultural resources 

that are unearthed during the ground-disturbing activities, the Native American monitor may, at 

their discretion, collect said resources and provide them to the TCA Tribe for respectful and 

dignified treatment in accordance with the tribe’s cultural and spiritual traditions. It is the 

preference of the City that all tribal cultural resources be repatriated to the TCA Tribe, as such 

preference would be the most culturally sensitive, appropriate and dignified. Therefore, any 

tribal cultural resources collected by the qualified archaeologist shall be provided to the TCA 

Tribe. Evidence that all cultural materials collected have been repatriated shall be in the form of 

a letter from the TCA Tribe to whom the tribal cultural resources have been repatriated 

identifying that the archaeological materials have been received. 

Or, 

Any tribal cultural resources collected by the qualified archaeologist shall be curated with its 

associated records at a San Diego curation facility or a culturally affiliated Tribal curation 

facility that meets federal standards per 36 CFR Part 79, and, therefore, would be professionally 

curated and made available to other archaeologists/researchers for further study. The collections 

and associated records, including title, shall be transferred to the San Diego curation facility or 

culturally affiliated Tribal curation facility and shall be accompanied by payment of the fees 

necessary for permanent curation. Evidence that all cultural materials collected have been 

curated shall be in the form of a letter from the curation facility stating that the prehistoric 

archaeological materials have been received and that all fees have been paid. 

PDF-CR-9. Prior to the release of the grading bond, a monitoring report and/or evaluation report, 

if appropriate, that describes the results, analysis, and conclusion of the archaeological 

monitoring program and any data recovery program on the project site shall be submitted by the 

qualified archaeologist to the City. The Native American monitor shall be responsible for 

providing any notes or comments to the qualified archaeologist in a timely manner, to be 

submitted with the report. The report will include California Department of Parks and Recreation 

Primary and Archaeological Site Forms for any newly discovered resources. 

Project Construction 

Construction of the project is anticipated to take approximately 20 months to complete. Grading 

and site preparation would be accomplished first; construction of the buildings, including 

architectural coating, would occur subsequently. Standard equipment expected to be used on the 

site would include a bulldozer, front-end loader, backhoe, grader, forklift, air compressor, 

welders, and generator. The project would involve 19,000 cubic yards (cy) of cut associated with 

demolition of the existing paved parking lot and construction of the proposed below-grade 

parking level. The cut materials would be exported from the project site and disposed of at a 

permitted facility.  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 14 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 14 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

It is anticipated that construction traffic, especially heavy trucks and material deliveries, would use 

the nearest arterial road—the one-way couplet of West Valley Parkway and West 2nd Avenue—to 

gain access to and from the project site. Construction workers would be required to park at the 

City-owned Woodward Avenue parking lot or other off-site location convenient to the project until 

the project’s garage can be used. In addition, as part of the Conditions of Project Approval, the 

Owner and/or Contractor would be required to prepare and implement a Construction Traffic 

Control Plan to the satisfaction of the City Traffic Engineer to avoid construction-related impacts 

to nearby streets and intersections, especially during peak-hour times. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 15 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 15 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Section 2 Categorical Exemption Criteria 

Article 19 of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA Guidelines, Sections 15300–

15333), includes a list of classes of projects that have been determined to not have a significant 

effect on the environment and as a result, are exempt from review under CEQA. The analysis 

contained in this document provides substantial evidence that the project qualifies for an 

exemption pursuant to CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332, as a Class 32 in-fill development 

project, and would not have a significant effect on the environment. 

In summary, this document demonstrates that the project qualifies for an exemption under CEQA 

Guidelines, Section 15332, as an infill development project as it: (1) is consistent with the General 

Plan designation and policies and zoning regulations; (2) is located within the City limits, 

surrounded by urban uses and is less than 5 acres in size; (3) has no value for endangered, rare or 

threatened species; (4) would not result in any significant effects related to traffic, noise, air quality 

or water quality; and (5) can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

Additionally, this document demonstrates that the project or its circumstances would not result in 

any exceptions identified in CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2, and that the project qualifies for 

a CEQA Exemption as a Class 32 in-fill development project. 

2.1 Class 32 (In-Fill Development) 

Among the classes of projects that are exempt from CEQA review are those projects that are 

specifically identified as urban in-fill development. CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332, defines in-fill 

development (Class 32 exemptions) as being applicable to projects meeting the following conditions: 

 The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable 

general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and regulations. 

 The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than 

5 acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. 

 The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened species. 

 Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, 

noise, air quality, or water quality. 

 The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

The analysis presented in the following section provides substantial evidence that the project 

properly qualifies for an exemption under CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332, as a Class 32 in-fill 

development, and would not have a significant effect on the environment. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 16 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 16 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

2.2 Exceptions 

Even if a project is ordinarily exempt under any of the potential categorical exemptions, CEQA 

Guidelines, Section 15300.2, provides specific instances where exceptions to otherwise 

applicable exemptions apply. Exceptions to a categorical exemption apply in the following 

circumstances, effectively nullifying a CEQA categorical exemption: 

 Location. Classes 3, 4, 5, 6, and 11 are qualified by consideration of where the project is 

to be located. A project that is ordinarily insignificant in its impact on the environment 

may, in a particularly sensitive environment, be significant. Therefore, these classes are 

considered to apply in all instances except where the project may impact an 

environmental resource of hazardous or critical concern where designated, precisely 

mapped, and officially adopted pursuant to law by federal, state, or local agencies. 

 Cumulative Impact. All exemptions for these classes are inapplicable when the 

cumulative impact of successive projects of the same type in the same place, over 

time, is significant. 

 Significant Effect. A categorical exemption shall not be used for an activity where 

there is a reasonable possibility that the activity would have a significant effect on the 

environment due to unusual circumstances. 

 Scenic Highways. A categorical exemption shall not be used for a project that may 

result in damage to scenic resources, including but not limited to trees, historic 

buildings, rock outcroppings, or similar resources, within a highway officially 

designated as a state scenic highway. This does not apply to improvements that are 

required as mitigation by an adopted negative declaration or certified EIR. 

 Hazardous Waste Sites. A categorical exemption shall not be used for a project 

located on a site that is included on any list compiled pursuant to Section 65962.5 of 

the California Government Code. 

 Historic Resources. A categorical exemption shall not be used for a project that may 

cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historic resource. 

The following analysis presents substantial evidence that there are no exceptions that apply to the 

project or its site, that the project would not have a significant effect on the environment, and 

that the Class 32 exemption is applicable. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 17 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 17 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Section 3 CEQA Exemption Checklist 

3.1 Criterion Section 15332(a): General Plan and Zoning Consistency 

Yes No  

☒ ☐ The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable 
general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and regulations. 

The current project site land use designation is Specific Plan Area (SPA) #9 and site zoning is 

Specific Plan Area (SPA) #9, which indicates the project site lies within the boundaries of the 

Escondido Downtown Specific Plan and is subject to the policies and regulations of the 

Downtown Specific Plan. The General Plan and the Downtown Specific Plan contain guidelines 

and regulations to promote higher density urban residential growth in the Downtown Specific 

Plan. The project site lies within the Downtown Specific Plan Historic Downtown District, 

which is “a successful specialty retail shopping and office employment area that is comfortable, 

attractive, and safe for pedestrians and employees. Grand Avenue, Escondido’s Civic Center, and 

Grape Day Park are the focus and heart of Downtown. New development, higher densities, 

residential opportunities and pedestrian places and courtyards are encouraged to provide an 

optimal setting for urban living in close proximity to entertainment, retail and professional 

offices” (City of Escondido 2013a).  

The project proposes to construct 131 stacked residential units on the 1.04-acre project site. 

Under the Downtown Specific Plan, the maximum allowable gross density as of the date of 

application is 75 du/ac or a total of 79 units. The project would reserve 11 percent of the 79 base 

units, a total of 9 units, for Very Low Income Households. Providing this amount of affordable 

housing units would qualify the project for a density bonus of 35 percent over the maximum 

allowable gross density, or 28 additional units. An additional 24 units would be requested under 

the City’s Density Transfer Program for a total of 131 dwelling units. The City’s Density 

Transfer Program is an amendment to the Downtown Specific Plan to help facilitate a density 

credit pool, which is an assembly of available, unused density units from undeveloped, 

developed, or developing properties that can be used to increase the density of a developing 

parcel without increasing the total number of dwelling units allowed in the Downtown Specific 

Plan Area.  

The identified development standards fall squarely under the definition of “development 

standards” in California Government Code, Section 65915(o)(1). With the waiver of building 

height and reduction of open space development standards, the provisions are no longer 

applicable to the project (Wollmer v. City of Berkeley [2011] 193 Cal.App.4th 1329, 1347–

1350.) Therefore, the project is consistent with applicable provisions of the Downtown Specific 

Plan. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 18 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 18 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Overall, the project would conform to the development and design regulations outlined in the 

Downtown Specific Plan. The project would be consistent with the following relevant guidelines 

under the Downtown Specific Plan and Zoning Regulations that were adopted for the purpose of 

avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect, as noted in Tables 1 and 2. 

 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 19 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 19 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 1. Consistency with Applicable Downtown Specific Plan Guidelines 

Land Use Guidelines Consistency Evaluation 

A1. Smart Growth Policies, Standards and Guidelines 
Guideline 2) a) Proposed projects should preserve, respect 
and promote the existing character, scale, architecture and 
the patterns of the historically significant downtown. 

Consistent. The project would enhance the visual quality of the 
project site by introducing an aesthetically cohesive 
development with associated landscaping. The proposed 
building materials would incorporate sand finish stucco with 
thinset brick veneer and hardieplank wood slats. The main 
body colors of the building materials would be white, charcoal, 
blue, light gray, and burnt orange, with khaki brown siding and 
light gray brick veneer. The architectural features of the building 
would be consistent with the architectural styles within the 
Downtown Historic District.  

 

The proposed building averages 67 feet in height and would be 
6-stories high. The Downtown Specific Plan has a maximum 
height limit of 60 feet and 4 stories. In order for the project to 
provide affordable housing units pursuant to the Density Bonus 
Law (Section 65915(b), the project is requesting a waiver to the 
building height and stories requirements. The existing 
development standards of 60 feet and 4 stories would 
physically preclude the construction of the project as designed. 
The project site is 1.04 acres; therefore, the project building 
height must be increased by 7 feet and number of stories must 
be increased by two stories to fit all of the project components 
including the affordable housing units.  

A2.Complete Street Policies, Guidelines, and Standards 

Guideline a. 2) e) Bicycling in the downtown areas should 
be promoted as a common mode of transportation and 
recreation to help reduce traffic congestion and improve 
public health. 

Consistent. The project would provide secure bicycle storage for 
residents, which would promote the use of bicycles as a common 
mode of transportation. 

A2.Complete Street Policies, Guidelines, and Standards 

Guideline a. 2) g) Noise and other impacts of truck traffic 
and deliveries in residential and mixed-use neighborhoods 
should be minimized by limiting when these can occur. 

Consistent. The project proposes a central trash collection 
room located within the first floor of the building and adjacent to 
the alley. The enclosure would be accessed from the alley on 
the southern boundary of the project site. Trash service would 
be provided by Escondido Disposal. The schedule for waste 
collection has not yet been established; however, trash 
collection is anticipated be required several times per week for 
solid waste and recyclable materials. The existing commercial 
uses surrounding the project site currently require waste 
disposal services. The existing commercial uses currently use 
dumpsters and have disposal requirements similar to what 
would be required for the project. The dumpsters for adjacent 
commercial uses are located in the same alley that would be 
accessed for project waste pickup. Section 17-232 of the City’s 
Noise Ordinance limits trash collection to the hours between 
6:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. However, as a project feature, trash 
collection at the project site would be limited to between 8:00 
a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday (PDF-NOI-4). 
Given the short duration and relative infrequency of individual 
collection events, scheduling collection during prime activity 
hours, and the existing waste collection service in the adjacent 
alley, the addition of one additional waste collection customer in 
the project site would have little impact on the operation of 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 20 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 20 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 1. Consistency with Applicable Downtown Specific Plan Guidelines 

Land Use Guidelines Consistency Evaluation 

surrounding land uses and would not be noticeably different 
than existing conditions.  

 

In addition, construction of the project would utilize a variety of 
trucks for hauling excavated soil and for worker and material 
delivery trips. However, the project is located in the commercial 
area of Downtown Escondido and surrounded by retail and 
commercial uses. Therefore, the project would minimize 
construction noise between 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Monday 
through Friday and 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Saturday.  

A2.Complete Street Policies, Guidelines, and Standards 

Guideline a. 2) h) Development that supports the use of 
electric vehicles (i.e., battery charging stations, preferred 
parking areas, etc.) are encouraged. 

Consistent. The proposed parking garage would encourage 
electric vehicle (EV) use by designating four EV charging 
parking spaces.  

A2.Complete Street Policies, Guidelines, and Standards 

Guideline c. 2) a) Projects should include narrow turning 
radiuses and corner “bulb-outs‟ where appropriate to slow 
vehicular traffic and enhance pedestrian safety. 

Consistent. The project proposes to remove and reconstruct 
the project frontage sidewalk along West Valley Parkway which 
would improve pedestrian safety.  

A2.Complete Street Policies, Guidelines, and Standards 

Guideline d. 2) b) The safety and efficiency of accessing the 
public street network from private properties should be 
considered by controlling driveway access locations, installing 
medians and access controls, maintaining minimum distances 
from intersections, consolidating driveway access, and 
encouraging interconnected parking lots. 

Consistent. Vehicular access into and out of the project would 
be from two 24-foot-wide driveways off of West Valley Parkway. 
The easterly driveway would lead directly to the basement level 
parking area provided strictly for residents. A second westerly 
driveway would lead to the first floor parking structure where 
the public, residents, and guests would park. Secondary and 
minor access would be provided via the existing one-way 
eastbound alley to the south of the project site, which would 
provide 17 parking spaces adjacent to the alley. 

B. Development Standards Guideline B. 1. Parking. 
On-site parking shall be provided according to Article 39 of 
the Escondido Zoning Code, in conjunction with the 
provisions stipulated in the Downtown Specific Plan. 

Consistent. The project proposes 131 multi-family residential 
units consisting of 30 studios, 46 one-bedroom units, and 55 
two-bedroom units. Based on the requirement of Article 39 of 
the Escondido Zoning Code, the project is required to provide 
196 resident parking spaces and 33 guest spaces for a total of 
229 parking spaces. The project would provide a total of 229 
on-site parking spaces.  

 

The project includes 9 units reserved for Very Low Income 
Households. In addition, the project is located within 0.5 mile of 
a major transit stop, the Escondido Transit Center. A major 
transit stop, as identified in the SANDAG 2050 Regional 
Transportation Plan, is a site containing an existing rail transit 
station, a ferry terminal served by either a bus or rail transit 
service, or the intersection of two or more major bus routes with 
a frequency of service interval of 15 minutes or less during the 
morning and afternoon peak commute periods. The multi-modal 
Escondido Transit Center is located approximately 0.5 mile to 
the southwest of the project site at 700 West Valley Parkway.  

 

Therefore, pursuant to Section 65915, subdivision (p)(2), of the 
California Government Code, the City shall not impose a 
parking ratio that exceeds 0.5 space per bedroom (186 total 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 21 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 21 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 1. Consistency with Applicable Downtown Specific Plan Guidelines 

Land Use Guidelines Consistency Evaluation 

bedrooms), or 93 on-site spaces total, inclusive of handicapped 
and guest parking. The project includes 153 residential on-site 
spaces, which exceeds the required 93 spaces by 60 spaces. 
In addition, the project also provides 76 parking spaces on the 
first floor street level and along the alley that may be used by 
the public, residents, and guests of the project. 

B1. Parking Guideline b) 1) At least one parking space 
for each residential unit shall be covered, or enclosed, 
except for guest parking. 

Consistent. The project would meet this guideline because it 
would include a two floors of parking within the proposed building 
that would provide 153 enclosed spaces reserved for the 131 
residential units.  

B1. Parking Guideline b) 3) Tandem parking proposed 
for residential development shall be processed through the 
Planned Development application. 

Consistent. The project proposes to process a Planned 
Development application to permit 19 tandem parking stalls for 
38 tandem spaces on the below-grade basement level of the 
proposed parking garage. Pursuant to Section 65915, 
subdivision (p)(4), of the California Government Code, a 
development may provide on-site parking through tandem 
parking. 

B1. Parking Guideline b) 5) A maximum 25 percent of 
residential units may be provided with tandem spaces. 

Consistent. The project would include 38 tandem parking spaces 
in the garage for residents. This represents 29 percent of the total 
residential units, which is above the maximum 25 percent allowed. 
However, pursuant to Section 65915, subdivision (p)(4), of the 
California Government Code, a development may provide on-site 
parking through tandem parking. 

Guideline B 4. Refuse Areas. Trash and storage 
enclosures shall be of a size, type, and quantity approved 
by the City. All enclosures shall be attractive in design and 
integrated into the main building’s architecture. They shall 
be shielded from view within a building or within an area 
enclosed by a solid wall not less than six feet in height and 
constructed with a roof structure that screens the 
enclosure from higher elevations. Said storage areas shall 
be located so that they are oriented away from public 
streets, and residential areas, secured from unauthorized 
entry, and easily accessible to collection vehicles as well 
as meet all National Pollution Discharge and Elimination 
System (NPDES) requirements. 

Consistent. The project proposes a central trash collection 
room enclosed within the parking garage. The enclosure would 
be accessed from the alley on the southern boundary of the 
project site.  

Guideline B. 5. Landscaping. Landscaping shall conform 
to Article 62 of the Escondido Zoning Code. Deviations 
from the code may be approved on a case-by-case basis 
through the Planned Development process, providing 
justification is documented to support the request to the 
satisfaction of the City. 

Consistent. The project would cover 84 percent of the lot. Due to 
the limited space the project would include minimal landscaping 
and would consist of trees, shrubs and groundcovers with 
moderate to low water requirements. As stated on the landscape 
concept plan, (Figures 5a and 5b) all planting and irrigation would 
conform to the City’s Article 62 Landscape Standards as well as 
the water budget requirements. 

B6. Usable Open Space Guideline 6 b). A minimum of 
300 square feet of usable open space shall be provided 
per residential unit. Required open space may be reduced 
up to 50% subject to Planned Development and 
Development Agreement approval in exchange for 
alternative open space benefitting the public. 

Consistent. The project would provide various common open 
space areas totaling 16,117 sf. The largest area would include a 
9,797 sf outdoor space that would include a community pool and 
spa; lounge area; gas fire pits; artificial turf game space; 
barbeque grills; patio decking; and pool furniture. The common 
open space area would also include a 3,010 sf indoor private 
recreation room, a 474-resident common room or flex space, and 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 22 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 22 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 1. Consistency with Applicable Downtown Specific Plan Guidelines 

Land Use Guidelines Consistency Evaluation 

ground floor outdoor areas. In addition to the common open 
space areas, the project would include private balconies for each 
residential unit with an average square feet of approximately 88 
sf for a total of 11,571 sf of private balcony space. The project 
would provide a total of 27,688 sf of open space or 212 sf per 
residential dwelling unit. 

 

The project proposes less than the required 300 square feet per 
residential unit. In order for the project to provide affordable 
housing units pursuant to the Density Bonus Law, the project is 
requesting a waiver to the usable open space standard of 300 
square feet per residential unit. The existing development 
standards would physically preclude the construction of the 
permitted density under the Density Bonus Law. The project site 
is 1.04 acres; therefore, the project’s open space requirement 
would need to be decreased to provide all of the project 
components including the affordable housing units. The project 
site does not have the physical area to meet the required amount 
of open space. Therefore, with approval of the waiver, the usable 
open space standard would not apply and the project would be 
consistent. 

 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 23 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 23 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 2. Consistency with Applicable Zoning Regulations 

Zoning Guidelines Consistency Evaluation 

Article 18 Specific Plan  Consistent. See Table 1 for the project’s consistency with 
applicable Downtown Specific Plan Guidelines. 

Article 35. Outdoor Lighting Consistent. Outdoor lighting would be utilized as needed for 
parking areas, sidewalks, roof top deck, and security within the 
project site. All outdoor lighting would be required to comply 
with Chapter 33, Article 35, Outdoor Lighting, of the Escondido 
Municipal Code, which provides regulations to minimize glare, 
light trespass, and artificial sky glow.  

Article 40. Historical Resources. Consistent. The project site is located in the highly developed 
and urban area of downtown Escondido. The project site is 
currently a City public parking lot, with no structures and limited 
landscaping. A records search was conducted at the South 
Coastal Information Center (SCIC) at San Diego State 
University by Richard L. Carrico on April 20, 2018, for the 
project site. The records search did not identify any historic 
resources on the project site.  

Article 47 Environmental Quality Consistent. The project’s Categorical Exemption is being 
prepared pursuant to CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332, as a 
Class 32 in-fill development project. 

Article 55 Grading and Erosion Control Consistent. Construction of the project would require grading 
and excavation of 19,000 cy of materials, which would loosen 
sediment and could result in erosion or siltation. However, 
construction of the project requires City approval of a grading 
and erosion control plan. The grading and erosion control plan 
and Stormwater Pollution Prevention Program are required for 
plan check and approval by the Land Development Engineer, 
as well as the Planning Division, prior to provision of permits for 
the project, and would include construction best management 
practices (BMP) to reduce erosion or siltation. 

Article 62 Water Efficient Landscape Regulations Consistent. The on-site landscaping for the project would consist 
of trees, shrubs, and groundcover with moderate to low water 
requirements (Figure 5a and Figure 5b). The biofiltration basins 
described under the Stormwater Features discussion in Section 
1.3, Description of Project, would be planted with shrubs and 
groundcover. Plants have been selected with consideration for 
varying soil conditions. An automatic irrigation system shall be 
installed to provide coverage for all planting areas. Low 
precipitation equipment shall provide sufficient water for plant 
growth with minimum water loss due to water run-off.  

The design of the project meets the criteria of CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332(a), as being 

consistent with the General Plan and applicable zoning regulations for the project site. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 24 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 24 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

3.2 Criterion Section 15332(b): Project Location, Size, and Context 
Yes No  

☒ ☐ The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than 5 
acres substantially surrounded by urban uses 

The approximately 1.04-acre project site is located in the highly developed and urban area of 

downtown Escondido. The project site is surrounded by parcels developed with urban land uses 

and/or paved public streets. CEQA Section 21072 defines a qualified urban use as “any 

residential, commercial, public institutional, transit, or transportation passenger facility, or retail 

use, or any combination of those uses.” The project is on a site within City limits that is no more 

than 5 acres and substantially surrounded by urban uses. 

3.3 Criterion Section 15332(c): Endangered, Rare, or  
Threatened Species 

Yes No  

☒ ☐ The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened species. 

The project site is located in the highly developed and urban Downtown Specific Plan Area of 

the City. The project site is currently a City public parking lot, with no structures and limited 

landscaping. The project site does not contain habitat suitable for candidate, sensitive, or special 

status species. In addition, no riparian habitat, other sensitive natural community, or potential 

jurisdictional features are located within the project site or within a 100-foot boundary from the 

project site. The project requires the removal of mature trees associated with the parking lot 

landscaping. As project design feature, tree removal would occur outside the bird-breeding 

season (February 1 through September 15). If the trees cannot be removed outside the bird 

breeding season, a qualified biologist would conduct a nest survey within three days of the tree 

removal (PDF-BIO-1). The project site has no value as a habitat or special-status species and, 

therefore, adheres to the criteria of CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332(c). 

3.4 Criterion Section 15332(d): Traffic 

Yes No  

☒ ☐ Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic. 

The project would not result in any significant traffic or transportation-related impacts, as 

discussed below. There is no exception to the Class 32 exemption related to traffic or 

transportation criteria. A Traffic Impact Analysis for the project was prepared by Linscott, Law 

and Greenspan, Engineers (LLG 2019) as provided in Appendix A and is summarized below. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 25 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 25 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Existing Conditions 

The project site is located at 137 West Valley Parkway, bound by West Valley Parkway to the north. 

West Valley Parkway is an east–west roadway that is currently built as a three-lane roadway with one-

way westbound travel and on-street parking provided on both sides of the roadway near the project site. 

The project traffic study area includes the following two existing street segments and eight 

intersections. These locations were selected using the methodology published in the City’s 

Impact Study Guidelines (2013b).  

Street Segments 

 West Valley Parkway between North Escondido Boulevard to North Broadway 

 West Grand Avenue between North Escondido Boulevard to North Broadway 

 South Broadway between Valley Parkway to Grand Avenue 

 South Broadway between Grand Avenue to 2nd Avenue 

Intersections 

 West Valley Parkway/North Escondido Boulevard 

 West Valley Parkway/City Hall Driveway 

 Valley Parkway/North Broadway 

 West Grand Avenue/South Escondido Boulevard 

 West Grand Avenue/South Maple Street 

 West Grand Avenue/South Broadway 

 North Escondido Boulevard/Alley 

 North Broadway/Alley 

Project-Generated Traffic 

Operation 

The project traffic generation calculations were conducted using the trip generation rates 

published in SANDAG’s “Not so Brief Guide of Vehicular Traffic Generation Rates for San 

Diego Region” (April 2002). Based on the type and density of homes proposed by the project, 

SANDAG specifies a residential trip rate of 6 ADT/du. This SANDAG “Apartment” rate applies 

to any multi-family housing in excess of 20 du/acre, which corresponds to the project’s proposed 

131 DU on the 1.04-acre site.  

The “Restaurant (sit down, high turnover)” rate was used for the project’s proposed ground floor 

retail.  This space may include a mix of retail and food service. To be conservative, the higher 

restaurant rate was applied to 100 percent of the commercial square footage. Based on City staff 

guidance, the 5 percent transit reduction and a 2 percent mixed reduction were applied to the 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 26 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 26 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

project’s gross trip generation, taking into account the project’s on-site retail and its proximity to 

other commercial development within the downtown core and the Escondido Transit Center. 

Table 3 shows a summary of the traffic generated by the project. The project would generate 

1,292 daily trips with 103 total AM peak-hour trips (34 inbound/69 outbound) and 106 total PM 

peak-hour trips (70 inbound/36 outbound). 

Table 3. Project Trip Generation  

Land Use Size 

Daily Trip Ends 
(ADT) AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Rate1 Volume 
% of 
ADT 

In:Out Volume % of 
ADT 

In:Out Volume 

Split In Out Total Split In Out Total 

Apartment 131 du 6/du2 786 8 20:80 13 50 63 9 70:30 50 21 71 

Restaurant (sit-
down, high 
turnover) 

4,289 sf 160/sf 1686 8 50:50 27 28 55 8 50:50 33 22 55 

Pass-By __ __ (82) __ __ (3) (3) (6) __ __ (7) (4) (11) 

Primary Trips 
Subtotal 

— — 1,390 — — 37 75 112 — — 76 39 115 

Transit 
Reduction (5%) 

__ __ (70) __ __ (2) (4) (6) __ __ (4) (2) (6) 

Mixed Use (2%) __ __ (28) __ __ (1) (2) (3) __ __ (2) (1) (3) 

Net Trip 
Generation 

__ __ 1,292 __ __ 34 69 103 __ __ 70 36 106 

Source: LLG 2019. 

Notes: 
1  Rate is based on SANDAG’s (Not So) Brief Guide of Vehicular Traffic Generation Rates for the San Diego Region (April 2002).  
2 DU = Dwelling Unit 

Street Level of Service  

The majority of the project traffic is anticipated to access the project site via the proposed 

driveways on West Valley Parkway, which serves the parking garage. Secondary and minor 

access would be provided via the existing one-way eastbound alley, which would provide 17 on 

street parking spaces. The majority of the alley-related traffic is anticipated to enter the alley via 

Maple Street and Grand Avenue. As shown in Table 4, the study segments are currently 

operating at acceptable LOS C or better. With the addition of project traffic, all the study 

segments would continue to operate at acceptable LOS C or better as shown in Table 4. 

Therefore, under the Existing Plus Project condition, project-related street segment impacts 

would be less than significant. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 27 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 27 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 4. Existing Plus Project Street Segment LOS Summary 

Street Segment Capacity1 

Existing Existing Plus Project 

Impact? ADT2 LOS3 V/C4 ADT LOS V/C Δ5 

West Valley 
Parkway 

North Escondido 
Boulevard to North 
Broadway 

30,000  18,026  C  0.601 18,633 C 0.621 0.020 No 

West Grand 
Avenue 

North Escondido 
Boulevard to North 
Broadway 

20,000 8,843  B  0.442 8,985  B  0.449 0.007 No 

North Broadway 

Valley Parkway to 
Grand Avenue 

20,000 7,319 B 0.366 7,700 B 0.385 0.019 No 

North Broadway 

Grand Avenue to 
2nd Avenue 

10,000 5,590 C 0.559 5,861 C 0.586 0.027 No 

Source: LLG 2019. 

Notes:  
1  Capacities based on the City’s Roadway Classification 
2 Average Daily Traffic 
3 Level of Service 
4 Volume to Capacity ratio 
5 Project Attributable increase in V/C. Decreases related to rerouting of traffic due to conversion of Ivy Street to one-way southbound. 

Intersection Level of Service 

As shown in Table 5, all existing study area intersections operate at LOC C or better. With the 

addition of project traffic, all study area intersections would continue to operate at acceptable 

LOS C or better. Therefore, under the Existing Plus Project condition, project-related 

intersection impacts would be less than significant. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 28 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 28 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 5. Existing Plus Project Intersection LOS Summary 

Intersection 
Control 

Type 
Peak 
Hour 

Existing  Existing Plus Project 

Impact? Delay1 LOS2 Delay LOS Δ3 

West Valley Parkway/North 
Escondido Boulevard 

Signal 
AM 

PM 

26.1 

28.8 

C 

C 

 26.4 

28.9 

C 

C 

 0.3 

 0.1 
No 

West Valley Parkway/City Hall 
Driveway 

Signal 
AM 

PM 

2.6 

3.9 

A 

A 

2.6 

3.9 

A 

A 

0.0 

0.0 
No 

Valley Parkway/North Broadway 
Signal 

AM 

PM 

12.7 

17.1 

B 

B 

13.0 

 17.7 

B 

B 

 0.3 

 0.6 
No 

West Grand Avenue/South Escondido 
Boulevard 

Signal 
AM 

PM 

14.3 

15.0 

B 

B 

 14.3 

 15.0 

B 

B 

 0.0 

 0.0 
No 

West Grand Avenue/South Maple 
Street 

AWSC4 
AM 

PM 

8.4 

9.9 

A 

A 

8.4 

10.0 

A 

A 

0.0 

0.1 
No 

West Grand Avenue/South Broadway 
Signal 

AM 

PM 

14.8 

19.3 

B 

B 

14.8 

19.3 

B 

B 

0.0 

0.0 
No 

North Escondido Boulevard/Alley 
MSSC5 

AM 

PM 

9.3 

17.1 

A 

C 

9.4 

17.3 

A 

C 

0.1 

0.2 
No 

North Broadway/Alley 
MSSC 

AM 

PM 

10.2 

10.5 

B 

B 

10.2 

 10.5  

B 

 B  

0.0 

0.0  
No 

Source: LLG 2019. 

Notes: 
1  Average delay expressed in seconds per vehicle. 
2  Level of Service.  
3  Δ denotes an increase in delay due to project. 
4  AWSC: All Way Stop Controlled intersection. 
5  MSSC: Minor street Stop Controlled intersection. Minor street left turn delay is reported. 

Construction 

Construction activities would include demolition, excavation, grading, concrete pours, and 

building of the structures. The project’s construction trip generation is based on the grading 

phase, which is estimated to last 2 months and would require 32 truck trips per day. The grading 

phase would generate the highest number of truck trips for the overall construction period. Table 

6 shows a summary of the traffic generated by the project for the duration of construction. The 

project construction would generate 96 daily trips, with 12 total AM peak-hour trips (6 inbound 

and 6 outbound) and 12 total PM peak-hour trips (6 inbound and 6 outbound).  

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 29 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 29 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 6. Project Trip Generation during Construction 

Construction Trips Vehicles 
Daily Trip 

Rate PCE1 ADT2 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

In Out Total In Out Total 

Trucks3 32 2 1.5 96 6 6 12 6 6 12 

Source: LLG 2019. 

Notes: 
1  Passenger Car Equivalents. Based on the Highway Capacity Manual’s Exhibit 11-10, a Passenger Car Equivalent (PCE) factor of 

1.5 for level terrain was applied. 
2  Average Daily Trips. 
3  Given that heavy vehicle traffic will occur throughout a 9-hour workday, four trucks were conservatively assumed to access the 

site during both the AM and PM peak hours (six with PCE factor of 1.5/vehicle). 

Traffic generated by project construction would be less than the project’s trip generation on both 

an ADT and peak-hour basis. Neither scenario would result in significant impacts (refer to 

Tables 4 and 5). It is anticipated that construction traffic, especially heavy trucks and materials 

deliveries, would use the nearest arterial road—the one-way couplet of West Valley Parkway and 

West 2nd Avenue—to gain access to and from the project site. Therefore, construction-related 

traffic impacts would be less than significant. 

Pedestrian, Bicycle, and Vehicle Safety 

The project would remove and reconstruct a 14-foot sidewalk along the project frontage on West 

Valley Parkway to improve pedestrian safety in the area. The project would provide a private 

secure bicycle parking facility for residents on the first floor of the project. The existing and 

proposed pedestrian and bicycle facilities would provide safe non-vehicular access and 

circulation to public transit to include direct access via West Valley Parkway to the Escondido 

Transit Center located approximately 0.5 mile to the southwest. The existing and proposed 

facilities would also provide safe non-vehicular access to the retail commercial uses that are 

located to the north and east of the project site in the Downtown Specific Plan. 

Vehicular access into and out of the project parking structure would be from two 24-foot-wide 

driveways off of West Valley Parkway. The first driveway located at the northeast side of the 

proposed building would lead directly to the basement level parking area provided strictly for 

residents. A second driveway to the northwest of the building would lead to the first floor 

parking structure where both residents and guests would park. Secondary and minor access 

would be provided via the existing one-way eastbound alley, which would provide 17 on-street 

parking spaces.  

Transit Service 

The project site is served by light rail, standard bus and bus rapid transit options. The Escondido 

Transit Center is located approximately 0.5 mile southwest of the project site and provides 

access to the NCTD’s SPRINTER light rail line and BREEZE bus rapid transit lines. The NCTD 

BREEZE bus line provides stops within 0.25 mile of the project site that service Route 217 (San 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 30 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 30 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Jacinto-Hemet-Temecula-Escondido), 350 (Escondido to Del Lago), 354 (Orange Grove High 

School), 358/359 (North Broadway/Country Club/El Norte Parkway, 371 (Flex), 351/352 

(Escondido Circulator), Route 355/357 (El Norte Parkway and Valley Parkway) and Route 388 

(Escondido to Pala).  

Changes in Air Traffic Patterns 

The nearest airports to the project site are McClellan-Palomar Airport, located 13 miles to the 

west, and Ramona Airport, located 20 miles to the southeast. Project traffic would not cause an 

increase in air traffic levels, or create a physical impediment that would necessitate an alteration 

of flight patterns. The project would not result in any changes in air traffic patterns. 

3.5 Criterion Section 15332(d): Noise 

Yes No  

☒ ☐ Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to noise. 

The project would not result in any significant effects relating to noise, as discussed below. 

There is no exception to the Class 32 exemption related to noise criteria. A Noise Technical 

Memorandum for the project was prepared by Harris and Associates (Harris 2019a) as provided 

in Appendix B and is summarized below. 

General Information on Noise 

The California Department of Transportation defines noise as sound that is loud, unpleasant, 

unexpected, or undesired. Sound pressure levels are quantified using a logarithmic ratio of actual 

sound pressures to a reference pressure squared, called “bels.” A bel is typically divided into 

tenths, or decibels (dB). Sound pressure alone is not a reliable indicator of loudness because 

frequency (or pitch) also affects how receptors respond to the sound. To account for the pitch of 

sounds and the corresponding sensitivity of human hearing to them, the raw sound pressure level 

is adjusted with a frequency-dependent A-weighting scale that is stated in units of decibels 

(dBA) (Caltrans 2013). 

A receptor’s response to a given noise may vary depending on the sound level, duration of 

exposure, character of the noise sources, the time of day during which the noise is experienced, 

and the activity affected by the noise. Activities most affected by noise include rest, relaxation, 

recreation, study, and communications. In consideration of these factors, different measures of 

noise exposure have been developed to quantify the extent of the effects from a variety of noise 

levels. The community noise equivalent level (CNEL) is the average equivalent A-weighted 

sound level over a 24-hour period. This measurement applies weights to noise levels during 

evening and nighttime hours to compensate for the increased disturbance response of people at 

those times. CNEL is the equivalent sound level for a 24-hour period with a +5 dBA weighting 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 31 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 31 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

applied to sound occurring between 7:00 p.m. and 10:00 p.m. and a +10 dBA weighting applied 

to sound occurring between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. (City of Escondido 2012a). 

The dB level of a sound decreases (or attenuates) as the distance from the source of that sound 

increases. For a single point source, such as a piece of mechanical equipment, the sound level 

typically decreases by approximately 6 dBA for each doubling of distance from the source. 

Sound that originates from a linear, or “line” source, such as vehicular traffic, attenuates by 

approximately 3 dBA per doubling of distance. Other contributing factors that affect sound 

reception include ground absorption, natural topography that provides a natural barrier, 

meteorological conditions, and the presence of human-made obstacles such as buildings and 

sound barriers (Caltrans 2013).  

General Information on Vibration 

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) describes groundborne vibration as vibration that can 

cause buildings to shake and rumbling sounds to be heard. In contrast to airborne noise, 

groundborne vibration is not a common environmental problem. It is unusual for vibration from 

sources such as buses and trucks to be perceptible, even in locations close to major roads. 

Common sources of groundborne vibration are trains; buses on rough roads; and construction 

activities such as blasting, pile driving, and operation of heavy earth-moving equipment. The 

effects of groundborne vibration include feel-able movement of the building floors, rattling of 

windows, shaking of items on shelves or hanging on walls, and rumbling sounds. In extreme 

cases, the vibration can cause damage to buildings. Building damage is typically only a factor in 

the case of blasting and pile driving during construction. Groundborne vibration related to 

potential building damage effects is generally related to the peak particle velocity (PPV) in 

inches per second (FTA 2018). 

Ambient Noise Levels 

Noise-sensitive land uses include noise receptors (receivers) where an excessive amount of noise 

would interfere with normal activities. The City’s General Plan Community Protection Element 

lists residential development, care facilities, schools, churches, transient lodging, hospitals, 

healthcare facilities, libraries, museums, cultural facilities, golf courses, and passive recreational 

sites as sensitive receptors. Community noise sources defined as common indoor and outdoor 

noise sources are also identified in the Community Protection Element. Commercial, general 

office, and industrial land uses are not considered noise-sensitive land uses. Specific community 

noise sources of note include the City’s roadway network (including Interstate 15 and State 

Highway 78), the NCTD Sprinter commuter rail service, two firing ranges, and flight operations 

to and from McClellan-Palomar Airport and helicopter travels to and from Palomar-Pomerado 

Hospital (City of Escondido 2012a). 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 32 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 32 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Vehicle noise is the main source of ambient noise in the vicinity of the project site. No project-

specific noise measurements were conducted for the project because noise contours for vehicular 

traffic in the Downtown Specific Plan Area were calculated under existing and horizon year 

conditions for the Escondido General Plan Update, Downtown Specific Plan Update, and 

Climate Action Plan Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR) (City of Escondido 2012b). 

These noise contours are considered adequate and conservative to represent noise conditions on 

the project site because the Future 2030 Noise Contour scenario assumes buildout conditions on 

the project site. Therefore, these contours assume a higher traffic volume than existing 

conditions and demonstrate higher associated traffic noise. According to the General Plan EIR, 

the northern portion of the project site is within the existing 65 dBA CNEL and 60 dBA CNEL 

noise contours for West Valley Parkway (Figure 4.12-1, City of Escondido 2012b). Under the 

Future 2030 Noise Contour scenario, the northern portion of the project site is within the 70, 65, 

and 60 dBA CNEL contours for West Valley Parkway and the western portion of the site is 

within the 60 dBA CNEL contour for West Grand Avenue. The anticipated primary project 

operational noise sources include vehicular traffic; heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) 

systems; trash and recycling removal; and nuisance noise. 

Thresholds of Significance 

The project would result in a significant impact if it violates the Escondido Municipal Code (City 

of Escondido 2018), which restricts the times of day when construction may occur (7:00 a.m. to 

6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday; 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Saturday; and not at all on Sunday or 

public holidays). The City also has a maximum 1-hour average construction noise limit of 75 dB at 

noise-sensitive land uses unless a variance has been obtained from the City Manager in advance. 

Based on the City General Plan Community Protection Element standards (City of Escondido 

2012a), a significant impact would occur if project construction activities would expose 

vibration-sensitive uses to vibration levels that exceed 65 vibration decibels (VdB), residences 

and buildings where people normally sleep to 80 VdB, or institutional land uses with primarily 

daytime uses to 83 VdB. The FTA damage thresholds indicate that, for buildings not extremely 

sensitive to vibration, a damage threshold of between 0.2 inches per second to 0.5 inches per 

second would apply depending on the type of building. 

As stated in the City’s General Plan Community Protection Element (City of Escondido 2012a), 

the noise level goal for multi-family residential uses is 65 dBA CNEL at the exterior use areas. 

In addition, General Plan Noise Policy 5.4 establishes an interior noise standard of 45 dBA 

CNEL. A significant impact would occur if operation of the project would cause noise levels in 

excess of the established standards. 

A significant direct impact would occur from project-generated traffic if buildings where people 

normally sleep and institutional land uses with primarily daytime and evening uses are exposed 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 33 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 33 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

to noise level increases in excess of the incremental noise standards on Figure VI-14 of the 

General Plan Community Protection Element (City of Escondido 2012a) (Table 7). 

Table 7. Exterior Incremental Noise Impact Standards for Noise-Sensitive Uses (dBA) 

Residences and Buildings Where People  
Normally Sleep1 

Institutional Land Uses with  
Primarily Daytime and Evening Uses2 

Existing Ldn Allowable Noise Increment 
Existing Peak Hour 

Leq Allowable Noise Increment 

45 8 45 12 

50 5 50 9 

55 3 55 6 

60 2 60 5 

65 1 65 3 

70 1 70 3 

75 0 75 1 

80 0 80 0 

Source: City of Escondido 2012a. 

Notes: dBA = A-weighted decibel; Ldn = day-night average sound level; Leq = equivalent continuous sound level 

Noise levels are measured at the property line of the noise sensitive land use. 
1 This category includes homes, hospitals, and hotels where a nighttime sensitivity to noise is assumed to be of utmost importance. 
2 This category includes schools, libraries, theaters, and churches where it is important to avoid interference with activities such as 

speech, meditation, and concentration on reading material. 

Project Construction Noise 

Construction would result in a temporary noise increase on and around the project site. 

Construction of the project would take place within the hours specified in Section 17-234 of the 

Escondido Municipal Code. No special construction techniques (i.e., pile driving or blasting) are 

anticipated to be necessary for construction of the project. Noise levels from the anticipated 

construction activities were modeled using the Federal Highway Administration Roadway 

Construction Noise Model to estimate the worst-case project construction noise level at a 

distance of 50 feet from the project site. Equipment used during site preparation and grading 

would include an excavator, concrete saw, graders, rubber tired dozers, and tractors, loaders, or 

backhoes. In addition, a dump truck may be used for hauling excavated soil off site. During 

building construction, equipment would include welders, a generator set, a forklift, a crane, an 

air compressor, and a tractor, loader or backhoe. In addition, construction would involve the use 

of light-duty and heavy-duty trucks for worker and material delivery trips. 

According to the noise modeling results, which assumes simultaneous operation of the three 

nosiest pieces of equipment (dozer, concrete saw, and grader), the worst-case construction 

noise would be approximately 86 A-weighted decibels (dBA) sound level equivalent (Leq) at a 

distance of 50 feet. The results of the RCNM model are included in Attachment A. 

Construction of the project would have the potential to exceed 74 dBA up to approximately 

175 feet from the project site. The project is located in the commercial area of Downtown 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 34 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 34 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Escondido and surrounded by retail and commercial uses. There are no residences or sensitive 

receptors located within 175 feet of the project site. The nearest sensitive receptor to the 

project site is the Escondido Public Library located approximately 700 feet southeast of the 

project site. Therefore, construction noise levels at the nearest noise-sensitive land use would 

not exceed the City’s maximum 1-hour construction noise limit of 75 dB. Impacts during 

construction would be less than significant. 

Groundborne Vibration 

Construction and operation of the project could result in groundborne vibration. 

Construction Vibration. The FTA Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Manual (FTA 

2018) describes equipment typically used in transportation construction projects; however, the 

information can be used to understand possible vibration impacts from other types of 

construction projects as well. The FTA damage thresholds indicate that, for buildings not 

extremely sensitive to vibration, a damage threshold of between 0.2 inches per second to 0.5 

inches per second would apply depending on the type of building. As stated previously, the 

nearest receptors (commercial) are located approximately 20 feet south of the project site, across 

the alley serving the project site. There are no known vibration-sensitive uses within 100 feet of 

the project site. 

Table 8 identifies various vibration velocity levels for typical construction equipment. As shown 

in Table 8, construction equipment has the potential to disturb receptors when they are in close 

proximity to construction activities (i.e., as close as 25 feet away). 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 35 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 35 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 8. Vibration Source Levels for Construction Equipment 

Construction 
Equipment 

At 25 Feet At 60 Feet At 100 Feet 

Approximate 
VdB PPV (in/sec) 

Approximate 
VdB1 PPV (in/sec)2 

Approximate 
VdB1 PPV (in/sec)2 

Large Bulldozer 87 0.089 76 0.024 69 0.011 

Loaded Trucks 86 0.076 75 0.020 68 0.010 

Jackhammer 79 0.035 68 0.009 61 0.004 

Small Bulldozer 58 0.003 47 0.001 40 0 

Caisson Drilling 87 0.089 76 0.024 69 0.011 

Roller 94 0.210 83 0.056 76 0.026 

Pile Driver (impact, 
upper range) 

112 1.518 101 0.408 94 0.190 

Pile Driver (sonic, 
upper range) 

105 0.734 94 0.197 87 0.011 

Source: City of Escondido 2012b. 

Notes: in/sec = inches per second; PPV = peak particle velocity; VdB = vibration decibel 
1  Based on the formula PPVequip = PPVref x (25/d)1.5 provided by the FTA (2018), where d is the distance from the source of 

vibration to the receptor.  
2  Based on the formula VdB = VdB(25 feet) − 30log(d/25) provided by the FTA (2018), where d is the distance from the source of 

vibration to the receptor. 

Equipment used during site preparation and grading would include an excavator, concrete saw, 

graders, small rubber tired dozers, and tractors, loaders, or backhoes. In addition, a dump truck 

may be used for hauling excavated soil off site. During building construction, equipment would 

include welders, a generator set, a forklift, a crane, an air compressor, and a tractor, loader or 

backhoe. In addition, construction would involve the use of light-duty and heavy-duty trucks for 

worker and material delivery trips. Based on the information presented in Table 8, vibration 

levels from project construction activities would not have the potential to exceed the primarily 

daytime uses threshold of 83 VdB or 0.2 PPV at distances of more than 35 feet from construction 

equipment. The closest receptors to the proposed building would be the commercial and retail 

buildings directly south of the project site on West Grand Avenue, located as close as 

approximately 20 feet from the proposed building. Vibration from the project would not exceed 

the building damage threshold as described previously, but would have the potential to result in 

nuisance vibration at adjacent commercial uses. The portions of the adjacent commercial uses 

within 35 feet of the site generally encompass rear alley entrance areas. Beyond the 

approximately 20-foot alley, approximately 15 feet of the building areas adjacent to the alley 

would potentially be exposed to vibration, and only when equipment is operating adjacent to the 

southeast project site boundary. As such, it is unlikely that vibration would interfere with daily 

operation at the adjacent businesses.  

In order to comply with the City’s General Plan Construction Vibration Thresholds the following 

project design feature would be implemented as a condition of project approval:  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 36 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 36 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

PDF-NOI-1. The construction contractor shall provide construction vibration notification to 

minimize the potential nuisance of vibration by allowing surrounding uses time to prepare for 

construction activities. The construction contractor shall provide written notification to all 

commercial land uses within 175 feet of the property boundary at least three weeks prior to the 

start of construction activities informing them of the estimated start date and duration of daytime 

vibration-generating construction activities. This notification shall include information warning 

about the potential for impacts related to vibration-sensitive equipment. 

Operational Vibration. No permanent noise sources that would expose persons to excessive 

groundborne vibration or noise levels would be located within the project site. In addition, long- 

term operational activities associated with the project would not involve the use of any 

equipment or processes that would result in potentially significant levels of ground vibration.  

Operational Noise 

The following sections describe the project’s long-term noise impacts from traffic and stationary 

noise sources. 

Transportation Noise Affecting the Project Site 

This analysis of operational on-site transportation noise used the traffic volumes from the Traffic 

Impact Analysis (LLG 2019) under the Existing Plus Project scenario and standard noise 

modeling equations adapted from the FHWA noise prediction model (FHWA 2008) to 

conservatively estimate on-site exterior noise levels from traffic. Four street segments were 

evaluated for Existing and Existing Plus Project noise levels, as shown in Table 9. The resulting 

noise levels on West Valley Parkway from North Escondido Boulevard to North Broadway are 

estimated to be 68 dBA CNEL, which would exceed the City’s standard of 65 dBA CNEL by 3 

dBA CNEL with and without project traffic. The 68 dBA CNEL noise level is consistent with 

the City’s General Plan EIR, Future 2030 Noise Contour scenario, which shows the northern 

portion of the project site would be within the 70 dBA CNEL contour for West Valley Parkway. 

The project’s contribution would be 1 dBA CNEL and would result in a negligible increase in 

the existing ambient noise level without the project due to the traffic noise on South Broadway 

from West Valley Parkway to West Grand Avenue and West Grand Avenue to West 2nd 

Avenue. The existing ambient noise level is above the noise goal for multi-family residential 

uses identified in the City’s General Plan Community Protection Element. However, the outdoor 

community use area would be shielded from surrounding roadways by the proposed structure 

and existing commercial development along West Grand Avenue. Conservatively assuming a 5 

dBA reduction in noise exposure due to the break the line of sight between the outdoor use area 

and surrounding roadways, exterior noise levels would be reduced to below 65 dBA (FTA 2018). 

Therefore, noise impacts on the project’s exterior use area associated with traffic noise would not 

result in a significant impact.  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 37 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 37 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 9. Project Traffic Noise Levels – Existing and Existing Plus Project 

Segment 

Existing Noise 
Level (dBA 

CNEL) 

Existing Plus 
Project Noise 

Level 

(dBA CNEL) 
Change in 

Noise Level 
Allowable 
Increase1 

Significant 
Impact? 

West Valley Parkway 

North Escondido Boulevard to 
North Broadway 

68 68 0 +1 No 

West Grand Avenue  

North Escondido Boulevard to 
North Broadway 

65 65 0 +1 No 

South Broadway Avenue  

Valley Parkway to Grand 
Avenue 

64 65 +1 +1 No 

South Broadway Avenue  

Grand Avenue to 2nd Avenue 

60 61 +1 +2 No 

Sources: Harris 2019a; LLG 2019.  

Notes: CNEL = community noise equivalent level; dBA = A-weighted decibel 
1 Source: Figure VI-14, City of Escondido 2012a. 

Traditional architectural materials are normally able to reduce exterior to interior noise by up to 15 

dBA (City of Escondido 2012a). Thus, an exterior noise level of 60 dBA would be necessary in 

order to reach the interior noise standard of 45 dBA CNEL. According to the Future 2030 Noise 

Contours in the City’s General Plan EIR, portions of the project site would fall within the 65 or 70 

dBA noise contours. Furthermore, as shown in Table 9, existing exterior noise levels currently 

exceed 60 CNEL along the West Valley Parkway project frontage. Traditional architectural 

materials with a noise reduction of 15 dBA would not be expected to attenuate interior noise of the 

proposed residential units facing West Valley Parkway to a level of 45 CNEL. In order to comply 

with the City’s General Plan Community Protection Element interior noise standard, the following 

project design feature would be included as a condition of project approval:  

PDF-NOI-2. Prior to issuance of a building permit the applicant would prepare an additional 

exterior-to-interior noise report completed by a qualified acoustical consultant for the proposed 

on-site residences that would face West Valley Parkway. This report would be submitted with 

the building plans. The information in this report would include wall heights and lengths, room 

volumes, and window and door tables typical for a building plan, as well as information on any 

other openings in the building shell. The report shall also assume a “windows-closed” condition 

and that vehicles on West Valley Parkway are traveling at 35 miles per hour. With this specific 

building plan information, which is not currently available, the report would determine the 

predicted interior noise levels at the planned on-site buildings. If predicted noise levels are found 

to be in excess of 45 CNEL, the report would identify architectural materials or techniques that 

could be included in project design plans to reduce noise levels to 45 CNEL in habitable rooms. 

Standard measures such as glazing with Sound Transmission Class (STC) ratings from a STC 22 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 38 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 38 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

to STC 60, as well as walls with appropriate STC ratings (34 to 60), should be considered. The 

report would be submitted and approved by the City prior to the issuance of a building permit.  

Note that this would be considered a condition of project approval because this issue concerns the 

impact of the existing ambient noise environment on the project, not the project’s impact on the 

environment. CEQA is intended to protect the existing environment from impacts that would result 

from the project. Generally, CEQA does not consider impacts of the existing environment on a 

proposed land use to be significant (South Orange County Wastewater Authority v. City of Dana 

Point 2011). However, in cases where a project may exacerbate existing conditions, such as noise 

exposure, the CEQA analysis must consider the impact of future residents or users of a project 

(California Building Industry Association v. Bay Area Air Quality Management District 2015).  

Off-Site Transportation Noise 

Traffic noise is the primary source of ambient noise in the project site. Increases in traffic 

volumes as a result of cumulative projects in the study area and the project would have the 

potential to increase traffic noise levels in the project site. A comparison of future noise levels 

with cumulative development, with and without the project, are provided in Table 10. Based on 

data from the traffic impact analysis (LLG 2019) and standard equations from the Federal 

Highway Administration, there would be no change in noise level on study area segments from 

existing conditions with the addition of vehicle trips from the project and cumulative projects.” 

Therefore, impacts from off-site transportation noise would be less than significant. 

Table 10. Project Traffic Noise Levels – Existing Plus Cumulative With and  
Without Project 

Segment 

Existing Plus 
Cumulative Noise 
Level (dBA CNEL) 

Existing Plus 
Cumulative Plus 

Project Noise Level 

(dBA CNEL) 

Change in 
Noise 
Level 

Allowable 
Increase1 

Significant 
Impact? 

West Valley Parkway 

North Escondido Boulevard 
to North Broadway 

68 68 0 +1 No 

West Grand Avenue 

North Escondido Boulevard 
to North Broadway 

65 65 0 +1 No 

South Broadway Avenue  

Valley Parkway to Grand 
Avenue 

65 65 0 +1 No 

South Broadway Avenue  

Grand Avenue to 2nd 
Avenue 

61 61 0 +2 No 

Sources: Harris 2019a; LLG 2019.  

Notes: CNEL = community noise equivalent level; dBA = A-weighted decibel 
1  Source: Figure VI-14, City of Escondido 2012a. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 39 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 39 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

On-Site Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning Systems 

Stationary operational noise sources are regulated by the limits within City Municipal Code, 

Section 17-229, which states that noise in commercial zones shall not exceed 60 dBA LEQ from 

7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. or 55 dBA LEQ from 10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. The HVAC units for the 

project would be installed in four clusters with 24 to 35 units in each cluster, for approximately 131 

units. Clusters would be set back from the edge of the rooftop by 20 feet or more at all locations. 

The specifications and locations of the HVAC systems that would be installed on the project 

rooftop are unknown at this time. Therefore, the specifications for the HVAC systems of a similar 

multi-family residential project are assumed (ABC Acoustics 2018). Individual HVAC units not 

installed within an enclosure would have the potential to generate a noise level of up to 79 dBA 

LEQ at the unit (approximately 3 feet). Combined noise levels from multiple units would be higher 

at the source. Combined noise level from 35 units simultaneously operating at 79 dBA LEQ would 

be approximately 94 dBA at 3 feet. This estimate is conservative because it assumes that noise 

would occur an equal distance from all units, and simultaneous operation of all 35 units. The 

closest receptors to the proposed building would be the commercial and retail buildings directly 

south of the project site on West Grand Avenue, located as close as approximately 20 feet from the 

proposed building. With an additional 20-foot rooftop setback, unenclosed HVAC units would 

generate a noise level of approximately 72 dBA LEQ at the nearest commercial building. 

The proposed residential building would be six stories tall. The surrounding commercial and 

residential uses are two stories tall. This difference in height would likely break the line of sight 

exposure between the HVAC units and receptors, so that the project itself would provide an 

approximately 5 dBA reduction in HVAC noise exposure (FTA 2018). Noise levels at the 

nearest commercial uses would be approximately 67 dBA without installation of noise-reducing 

features. In order to comply with the City’s Municipal Code 17-229 the following project design 

feature would be implemented as a condition of project approval:  

PDF-NOI-3. The HVAC units on the project rooftop would be installed within enclosures such 

that noise from HVAC operation does not exceed 55 dBA at the nearest off-site receptor. 

Although the exact specifications of the project HVAC units and selected enclosures are 

unknown at this time, enclosures providing at least a 12 dBA noise reduction would be required. 

Installation of HVAC units inside enclosures providing at least a 12 dBA noise reduction would 

reduce noise levels at the nearest commercial uses to 55 dBA or below.  

Recycling and Trash Collection Noise 

The project proposes a central trash collection room located adjacent to the first floor parking 

garage. The enclosure would be accessed from the alley on the southern boundary of the project 

site. Trash service would be provided by Escondido Disposal. The schedule for waste collection 

has not yet been established; however, trash collection is anticipated to be required several times 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 40 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 40 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

per week for solid waste and recyclable materials. The existing commercial uses surrounding the 

project site currently require waste disposal services. The existing commercial uses currently use 

dumpsters and have disposal requirements similar to what would be required for the project. The 

dumpsters for adjacent commercial uses are also located in the alley that would be accessed for 

project waste pickup. Section 17-232 of the City’s Noise Ordinance limits trash collection to the 

hours between 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. Given the short duration and relative infrequency of 

individual collection events, scheduling collection during prime activity hours, and the existing 

trash removal service occurring in the adjacent alley from neighboring commercial uses, the 

addition of one new waste collection customer in the project site would have little impact on the 

operation of surrounding land uses and would not be noticeably different than existing conditions. 

In order to comply with the City’s Noise Ordinance the following project design feature will be 

implemented as a condition of approval: 

PDF-NOI-4. Trash collection at the project site would be limited to between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 

p.m., Monday through Friday. 

Landscape Equipment and Nuisance Noise 

Noise from residential land uses is typically limited to nuisance noise, such as yelling or loud 

music. Additionally, the project would provide an outdoor open space area on the second floor 

that would increase human activity in the project site and be a potential source of nuisance noise. 

This area would include a community pool and spa, lounge area, gas fire pits, artificial turf area, 

bar with gas fire pit feature, barbeque grills, and pool furniture. The common area would 

primarily provide gathering spaces and noise would generally be limited to typical conversation 

levels that would not be audible at surrounding properties, with the exception of the pool. The 

pool would potentially result in louder conversational noise levels from more active use, such as 

children playing. As a project feature, lease agreements would include rules related to nuisance 

noise, including music, at the pool to limit noise exposure at nearby uses. 

General residential noise sources such as landscape equipment and other intermittent or 

neighborhood noise such as yelling, amplified music, or barking dogs (often characterized as 

nuisance noise) are regulated by the limits within the Escondido Municipal Code, Sections 17-

237 and 17-240, of the Noise Ordinance. Nuisance noise is difficult to control due to the variety 

of noise sources and intermittent nature of the impact. Additionally, the project site is located in 

a developed urban area that currently experiences ambient traffic noise and nuisance noise. It is 

unlikely that intermittent audible residential noise would be significantly different or excessive 

compared to existing conditions. Intermittent landscaping activities at the project site would be 

similar to the existing landscaping requirements for surrounding commercial properties and City 

Hall. Compliance with the City’s Noise Ordinance would limit exposure to nuisance noise. 

Therefore, a significant impact would not occur. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 41 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 41 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

3.6 Criterion Section 15332(d): Air Quality 

Yes No  

☒ ☐ Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to air quality. 

The project would not result in any significant effects relating to air quality, as discussed below. 

There is no exception to the Class 32 exemption related to air quality. An Air Quality Technical 

Memorandum for the project was prepared by Harris and Associates (Harris 2019b) as provided 

in Appendix C1 and is summarized below. Additionally, a Greenhouse Gas Technical 

Memorandum (Harris 2019c) is included as Appendix C2. 

General Information on Air Quality 

The project site is located within the San Diego Air Basin (SDAB). The San Diego Air Pollution 

Control District (SDAPCD) manages air quality in the SDAB. The SDAPCD operates a network 

of ambient air monitoring stations throughout the SDAB. The purpose of the monitoring stations 

is to measure ambient concentrations of pollutants and determine whether ambient air quality 

meets the California Ambient Air Quality Standards (CAAQS) and the National Ambient Air 

Quality Standards (NAAQS). The City operates the Escondido–East Valley Parkway Monitoring 

Station located on East Valley Parkway, which measures ozone (O3), nitrogen dioxide (NO2), 

particulate matter less than 10 microns (PM10), and particulate matter less than 2.5 microns 

(PM2.5) concentrations. No carbon monoxide (CO) data are available from monitoring sites in the 

SDAB after 2012, and no data are available for sulfur dioxide (SO2) after 2013. However, with 

one exception for CO during the firestorms of October 2003, the SDAB has not violated the state 

or federal standards for CO or SO2 in the last 20 years (SDAPCD 2017). 

Concentrations of 1‐hour O3 exceeded CAAQS in 2017, and 8‐hour O3 CAAQS and NAAQS 

were exceeded in 2015, 2016, and 2017. The NAAQS and CAAQS for PM10 were not exceeded 

in any of the 3 years. The monitored 24‐hour PM2.5 values were not exceeded either. Likewise, 

the 1-hour and annual NAAQS and CAAQS for NO2 were not exceeded.  

The following sections describe the project’s construction- and operation-related air quality 

impacts and CO impacts. 

Significance Thresholds 

The thresholds listed in Table 11 represent screening-level thresholds that can be used to 

evaluate whether project-related emissions could cause a significant impact on air quality.  

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 42 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 42 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 11. Screening Level Criteria Thresholds for Air Quality Impacts 

Pollutant 

Emission Rate 

(pounds/hour) (pounds/day) (tons/year) 

PM10 — 100 15 

PM2.5  — 55 10 

NOX 25 250 40 

SOX 25 250 40 

CO 100 550 100 

Pb — 3.2 0.6 

VOC  — 75 13.7 

Sources: County of San Diego 2007; SDAPCD 2018.  

Notes: CO = carbon monoxide; NOX = oxides of nitrogen; Pb = lead and lead compounds; PM10 = particulate matter less than 10 
microns; PM2.5 = particulate matter less than 2.5 microns; SOX = oxides of sulfur; VOC = volatile organic compounds 

Emissions below the screening-level thresholds would not cause a significant impact. For 

nonattainment pollutants (O3, with O3 precursors NOX and VOCs, and PM10), if emissions exceed 

the thresholds shown in Table 11, the project could result in a cumulatively considerable net 

increase in these pollutants and, thus, could have a significant impact on the ambient air quality. 

Construction-Phase Criteria Pollutant Emissions 

Construction of the project would result in temporary air pollutants associated with soil 

disturbance, dust emissions, employee and material delivery vehicle exhaust, off-gassing from 

paving and coating activities, and combustion pollutants from off-road construction equipment. 

Construction-related air pollution emissions can vary from day to day, depending on the level of 

activity, type of activity, and prevailing weather conditions. The primary air pollutants of 

concern from construction activities are particulate matter (including both PM10 and PM2.5), CO, 

and O3 precursors (including VOCs) and oxides of nitrogen (NOx). 

The project is smaller than the air quality study criteria presented in Table 4.3-12 of the City’s 

General Plan EIR that would trigger the need for an air quality impact assessment (the level for 

apartment land uses with a density of 20 or more dwelling units per acre is 420 dwelling units) 

(City of Escondido 2012b). Nonetheless, anticipated air pollution emissions were quantified to 

further demonstrate consistency with the SDAPCD thresholds. The project’s criteria pollutant 

emissions were calculated using the California Emissions Estimator Model (CalEEMod), version 

2016.3.2, based on information provided by Touchstone Communities. Table 12 shows the 

estimated maximum daily construction emissions associated with construction of the project.  

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 43 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 43 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 12. Estimated Maximum Daily Construction Emissions (pounds/day) 

Construction Year VOC NOx CO PM10 PM2.5 

2019 4.2 52.5 25.9 5.1 2.7 

2020 46.2 33.6 27.3 3.1 1.7 

2021 45.8 30.0 26.2 2.9 1.5 

Maximum Daily Emissions 46.2 52.5 27.3 5.1 2.7 

Significance Threshold 75 250 550 100 55 

Level Exceeded? No No No No No 

Sources: Harris 2019b; County of San Diego 2007; SDAPCD 2018. 

Notes: CO = carbon monoxide; NOx = oxides of nitrogen; PM10 = particulate matter less than 10 microns in diameter; PM2.5 = 
particulate matter less than 2.5 microns in diameter; VOC = volatile organic compound 

Assumes watering of construction site would occur twice daily, use of low-VOC paints, and reduction of construction vehicle speed 
in compliance with Regulation 4, Rule 52, Particulate Matter; Rule 55, Fugitive Dust Rule; and Rule 67, Architectural Coatings, of 
the SDAPCD’s rules and regulations and the City’s General Plan EIR Mitigation Measure Air-1. 

Construction of the project would be short term and temporary lasting approximately 20 months. 

As shown in Table 12, daily construction emissions would not exceed the significance thresholds 

for VOC, NOX, CO, PM10, or PM2.5. This impact would be less than significant. 

Operational-Phase Criteria Pollutant Emissions 

After construction is completed, the project would be associated with ongoing air pollution 

associated with mobile vehicle sources; energy consumption; and “area” sources of emissions, 

which include landscaping, off-gassing from painting, and other consumer products. 

The main operational emissions sources associated with the project would be from traffic. 

Project-specific estimates of daily vehicle trips were obtained from the Transportation Impact 

Analysis (LLG 2019). CalEEMod defaults were used for trip length, distribution, purpose, 

weekday/weekend ratios, vehicle mix, and vehicle emissions factors. Operational energy source 

emissions would result from on-site natural gas use. Emissions associated with area sources, 

such as consumer product use and landscaping, would also be generated. Based on the project 

plans (Summa 2019), it is assumed that the project would not include hearths or wood-burning 

stoves in the proposed residential units.  

As with construction emissions, the project’s criteria pollutant emissions were calculated using 

CalEEMod, version 2016.3.2. Table 13 presents a summary of maximum daily operational 

emissions for the project at full buildout and compares these emissions with the SDAPCD air 

quality impact analysis significance thresholds. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 44 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 44 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 13. Estimated Maximum Daily Operational Emissions (pounds/day) 

Source VOC NOx CO SOx PM10 PM2.5 

Area 4.8 0.1 10.9 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 

Energy <0.1 0.2 0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 

Mobile 2.1 8.1 22.1 <0.1 6.14 1.7 

Maximum Daily Emissions 6.9 8.46 33.0 <0.1 6.14 1.7 

Significance Threshold 75 250 550 250 100 55 

Level Exceeded? No No No No No No 

Sources: Harris 2019b; County of San Diego 2007; SDAPCD 2018. 

Notes: CO = carbon monoxide; NOx = oxides of nitrogen; PM10 = particulate matter less than 10 microns in diameter; PM2.5 = 
particulate matter less than 2.5 microns in diameter; SOx = sulfur oxide; VOC = volatile organic compound 

In compliance with Rule 67, Architectural Coatings, of the SDAPCD’s rules and regulations, assumes use of low-VOC paints. 
Assumes no hearths or wood-burning stoves, per the project plans (Summa 2019). 

As shown in Table 13, operational emissions for the project would be substantially below the 

significance thresholds for criteria pollutants. This impact would be less than significant. 

Consistency with Applicable Air Quality Plans 

The SDAPCD manages air quality in the SDAB. Air quality plans applicable to the SDAB 

include the RAQS, addressing state requirements, and applicable portions of the California State 

Implementation Plan (SIP), addressing federal requirements. The RAQS and SIP outline the 

SDAPCD’s plans and control measures designed to attain state and federal air quality standards. 

The RAQS and SIP were most recently updated in 2016.  

The RAQS and SIP rely on SANDAG’s growth projections, which are based in part on the City 

of Escondido and County of San Diego (County) General Plans. As such, projects that propose 

development consistent with the growth anticipated by the applicable general plans are consistent 

with the RAQS and applicable portions of the SIP. In the event that a project proposes 

development that is less dense than anticipated within the General Plan, the project would be 

consistent. If a project proposes development that is greater than that anticipated in the local plan 

and SANDAG’s growth projections, the project may conflict with the SIP and RAQS and may 

contribute to a potentially significant cumulative impact on air quality. Cumulative projects 

located in the SDAB would have the potential to result in a cumulative impact to air quality if, in 

combination, they would conflict with or obstruct implementation of the RAQS. Individual 

projects that are inconsistent with the regional planning documents upon which the RAQS is 

based would have the potential to result in cumulative operational impacts if they represent 

development and population increases beyond regional projections. 

The SDAB has been designated as a federal nonattainment area for O3 and a state nonattainment 

area for O3, PM10, and PM2.5. Emissions of PM10 and PM2.5 associated with construction 

generally result in short-term impacts. As discussed previously, the emissions of criteria 

pollutants from project construction would be below the significance levels. Construction would 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 45 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 45 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

be short term and temporary in nature. Once construction is complete, construction-related 

emissions would cease. Long-term operation of the facility would include customers and 

employees of the commercial space; residents of 131 units living in the building; and associated 

services to serve and maintain the building, such as mail delivery, trash removal, and landscape 

and pool maintenance. Projected ongoing operational emissions generated by the project from 

area, mobile, and energy sources would not exceed the significance thresholds for criteria 

pollutants VOC, NOx, CO, SOx, PM10, and PM2.5 as shown in Table 13. As such, the project 

would result in less than significant impacts related to criteria pollutant emissions from 

construction and operation. 

Regarding long-term cumulative operational emissions in relation to consistency with local air 

quality plans, the applicable general plan for the City is the May 2012 General Plan (City of 

Escondido 2012a). The project proposes to construct housing at a density of 131 dwelling units 

per acre on a site with a land use designation that anticipates 79 dwelling units per acre. 

However, by relying on the State Density Bonus Law and the City’s Density Transfer Program, 

the level of development proposed by the project would not conflict with the overall growth 

forecasted in the General Plan for the Downtown Specific Plan Area. Therefore, the project 

would be consistent with SANDAG and the City’s General Plan growth projections and would 

not conflict with or obstruct implementation of the SIP or RAQS. Therefore, the project’s 

contribution to cumulative air quality impacts would be less than significant. 

Carbon Monoxide 

A Carbon Monoxide (CO) hotspot is an area of localized CO pollution caused by high vehicle 

intensity, such as congested intersections and parking garages. If a project increases average 

delay at signalized intersections operating at level of service E or F or causes an intersection that 

would operate at level of service D or better without the project to operate at level of service E or 

F with the project, a quantitative screening is required. The intersections relevant to the analysis 

of the project’s potential for CO hotspots are those included in the study area for the 

Transportation Impact Analysis (LLG 2019), which are the intersections with the potential to 

accommodate the most project traffic. According to the Transportation Impact Analysis (LLG 

2019), the study area intersections are forecasted to continue to operate at an acceptable level of 

service with the project. There would be no potential for a CO hotspot or exposure of sensitive 

receptors to substantial, project-generated, local CO emissions. Impacts related to CO hotspots 

would be less than significant.  

Toxic Air Contaminants 

According to the County Guidelines for Determining Significance – Air Quality (County of San 

Diego 2007), diesel particulate matter is the primary Toxic Air Contaminates (TAC) of concern 

for typical land use projects that do not propose stationary sources of emissions regulated by the 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 46 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 46 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

SDAPCD. The dose to which receptors are exposed is the primary factor used to determine 

health risk. Dose is a function of the concentration of a substance or substances in the 

environment and the duration of exposure to the substance. Thus, the risks estimated for a 

maximally exposed individual are higher if a fixed exposure occurs over a longer time period. 

Health risk assessments, which determine the exposure of sensitive receptors to TAC emissions, 

are typically based on a 70-year exposure period; however, such assessments should be limited 

to the period or duration of activities associated with a project.  

Project construction would result in short-term emissions of diesel particulate matter from the 

exhaust of off-road, heavy-duty diesel equipment. As presented in Table 12, maximum daily 

particulate emissions, which include diesel particulate matter, would be relatively low compared 

to the significance thresholds. Additionally, the construction period would be relatively short (20 

months) compared to the typical 70-year analysis considered for potential health risk 

assessments. Combined with the dispersive properties of diesel particulate matter, construction-

related emissions of TACs would not expose sensitive receptors to substantial emissions of 

TACs. Therefore, impacts would be less than significant.  

As the project would involve the development of multi-family residential uses, project operation 

would not introduce any new stationary sources of TACs such as diesel-fueled backup generators 

that are more commonly associated with large commercial and industrial uses. In addition, the 

project is sited more than 1 mile from the nearest freeway (Interstate 15), which is well over the 

500-foot threshold set by the CARB (CARB 2005) to avoid exposure of residents to TACs. The 

site is not within buffer distances included in the City’s General Plan EIR that would require 

preparation of a health risk assessment (within 500 feet of a waste transfer facility or 1 mile of 

operating industrial land uses, medical facilities, or research and development facilities that 

generate a substantial source of TACs). As discussed previously, the project would not have the 

potential to expose sensitive receptors to TACs from hotspots resulting from mobile sources to 

an extent that health risks could result, and associated impacts would be less than significant. 

Odors 

Typical odor sources are generally associated with municipal, industrial, or agricultural land 

uses, such as wastewater treatment plants, landfills, confined animal facilities, composting 

stations, food manufacturing plants, refineries, and chemical plants. The occurrence and severity 

of odor impacts depend on the nature, frequency, and intensity of the source, the wind speed and 

direction, and the sensitivity of receptors. The project would not involve land uses typically 

associated with odor complaints. Odors may be generated from vehicles and equipment exhaust 

emissions during construction of the project. Odors produced during construction would be 

attributable to emissions from tailpipes of construction equipment and architectural coatings. 

Such odors are temporary and generally occur at magnitudes that would not affect substantial 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 47 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 47 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

numbers of people. Therefore, odor impacts resulting from project construction and operation 

would be less than significant. 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

The total amount of project-related Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions from construction and 

operation were estimated using the CalEEMod2 using the same inputs as the air quality analysis. 

CalEEMod quantifies direct emissions from construction and operation activities (including 

vehicle use), as well as indirect emissions, such as GHG emissions from energy use, solid waste 

disposal, and water use.  

Construction Impacts. Construction GHG emissions include emissions from site preparation, 

heavy construction equipment, and worker trips. The project includes GHG emissions from 

construction activities amortized over a 30-year project lifetime and added to operation 

emissions, as outlined in the City’s Climate Action Plan (E-CAP), to determine the significance 

of project emissions (City of Escondido 2013c). As shown in Table 14, the total GHG emissions 

that are anticipated from construction of the project would be approximately 1,391.9 metric tons 

(MT) CO2e or 46.4 MT CO2e annually for 30 years. 

Operational Impacts. During operation, area and indirect emissions sources associated with the 

project would primarily result from electricity and natural gas consumption, water and wastewater 

transport, and solid waste generation. GHG emissions from electricity consumed on site by the 

project would be generated off site by fuel combustion at the electricity provider. GHG emissions 

from water and wastewater transport are also indirect emissions resulting from the energy required 

to transport water from its source, and the energy required to treat wastewater and transport it to its 

treated discharge point. Residential uses at the project site would also generate mobile source 

emissions from motor vehicle trips generated by residents and visitors. The various operational 

GHG emissions associated with the project are shown in Table 14. The total GHG emissions that 

are anticipated from operation of the project would be approximately 1,700.9 MT CO2e per year. 

Overall, the project’s total annual GHG emissions resulting from construction and operational 

activities would be 1,747.3 MT CO2e per year and would not exceed the City’s threshold of 2,500 

MT CO2e per year. Impacts would be less than significant. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 48 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 48 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Table 14. Estimated Project Related GHG Emissions 

Emission Source 

Emissions 

(MT CO2e) 

Construction 

Construction Subtotal 1,391.9 

Annual Construction Emissions (Total Emissions Amortized over 30 years) 46.4 

Operations (Annual) 

 Area 1.6 

 Electricity 365.8 

 Natural Gas 52.8 

 Mobile 1,171.2 

 Waste  32.6 

 Water 76.9 

Operational Subtotal 1,700.9 

Total Annual Project Emissions 1,747.3 

City Screening Threshold 2,500 

Significant Impact? No 

Sources: Harris 2019; CalEEMod, version 2016.3.2; City of Escondido 2013c. 

Notes: According to project plans, assumes the residential units do not include hearths or woodstoves. Mobile sources based on 
the Traffic Impact Analysis prepared for the project by LLG 2019. 

3.7 Criterion Section 15332(d): Water Quality 

Yes No  

☒ ☐ Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to water quality. 

The project would not result in any significant effects relating to water quality, as discussed below. 

There is no exception to the Class 32 exemption related to Water Quality criteria. A Storm Water 

Quality Management Plan (SWQMP) prepared for the project by Touchstone Development, Inc. 

(Touchstone Development, Inc. 2019) is provided in Appendix D and summarized below. 

The project is located within the Escondido Hydrologic Sub-Area (HSA 904.62), which is part of 

the Escondido Creek Hydrologic Area (HA 904.60) and Carlsbad Hydrologic Unit (HU 904.00). 

The site is relatively flat and slopes gently to the north. 

The project site is located within the jurisdiction of the San Diego Regional Water Quality Control 

Board (RWQCB). The San Diego RWQCB requires a permit for municipalities to discharge 

stormwater into local waterways. The City is subject to the requirements of the San Diego Region 

Municipal Regional Stormwater National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 

Permit, Order No. No. R9-2013-0001 as amended by R9-2015-0001 and R9-2015- 0100 (San 

Diego MS4 Permit). City compliance with the San Diego MS4 Permit is required by state and 

federal law. Compliance with these existing stormwater regulations and the City’s SCAs would 

ensure that the project would not result in significant effects relating to water quality, consistent 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 49 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 49 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

with the requirement of the Class 32 exemption under CEQA Guidelines, Section 153332(d). 

Potential water quality concerns associated with the project are discussed below. 

Groundwater Conservation 

The project would connect to the existing municipal water system and would not use groundwater on 

the site. The project would result in a 3 percent change in amount of impervious groundcover on the 

project site. Thus, the site does not currently provide much groundwater recharge potential under the 

existing condition and would provide even less under the project condition. However, per the City’s 

Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP), the City does not depend on groundwater sources in its 

water supplies (City of Escondido 2011). Therefore, the project would not substantially deplete or 

interfere with groundwater supplies and impacts would be less than significant. 

Stormwater Runoff 

Construction Impacts. Construction of the project would require grading and excavation of soils, 

which would loosen sediment, and then have the potential to mix with surface water runoff and 

degrade water quality. Additionally, construction would require the use of heavy equipment and 

construction-related chemicals, such as concrete, cement, asphalt, fuels, oils, antifreeze, 

transmission fluid, grease, solvents and paints. These potentially harmful materials could be 

accidentally spilled or improperly disposed of during construction and, if mixed with surface 

water runoff, could wash into and pollute receiving waters. 

These types of water quality impacts during construction of the project would be prevented 

through implementation of a grading and erosion control plan that is required by the City’s 

Grading and Erosion Control Ordinance (Article 55 of the Municipal Code) and the State 

General Permit to Discharge Stormwater Associated with Construction Activities (NPDES No. 

CAS000002), which requires preparation of a SWPPP by a Qualified SWPPP Developer. The 

grading and erosion control plan and SWPPP are required for plan check and approval by the 

Land Development Engineer, as well as the Planning Division, prior to provision of permits for 

the project, and would include construction BMPs such as: 

 Silt Fence, Fiber Rolls, or Gravel Bag  

 Street Sweeping and Vacuuming 

 Sedimentation Basin 

 Storm Drain Inlet Protection 

 Stabilized Construction Entrance/Exit 

 Vehicle and Equipment Maintenance, Cleaning, and Fueling 

 Hydroseeding 

 Material Washout 

 Stockpile Management 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 50 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 50 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 Spill Prevention and Control 

 Solid Waste Management 

 Concrete Waste Management  

Adherence to applicable requirements and implementation of the appropriate BMPs would 

ensure that potential water quality degradation associated with construction activities would be 

minimized, and impacts would be less than significant.  

Operational Impacts. The on-site runoff currently sheet flows northerly onto West Valley 

Parkway and then via street curb and gutter into the City’s stormwater drainage system and 

ultimately into Escondido Creek. Post construction, runoff from the west portion of building roof 

and outdoor deck would be directed to raised planters located in the outdoor deck and street level 

for treatment prior to discharging to a curb inlet at the southeast intersection of West Valley 

Parkway and Maple Street. Runoff from the eastern portion of the roof and outdoor deck would 

discharge to a proposed curb inlet on West Valley Parkway that discharges into an existing 36-

inch reinforced concrete pipe that flows west on West Valley Parkway. The pavement associated 

with the parking stalls in the alley and newly constructed sidewalk would be treated in roadside 

swales on West Valley Parkway. Runoff from the site and surrounding areas would discharge 

into the concrete-lined Escondido Creek located 0.2 mile north of the site.  

The proposed raised planters and roadside swales would treat runoff before it leaves the project 

site to remove any coarse sediment before it enters the off-site drainage area. The project’s 

landscaped areas would also minimize the erosion of surficial soils. With implementation of the 

operational treatment control biofiltration basin BMPs that would be required pursuant to the 

City’s Storm Water Design Manual (City of Escondido 2016), potential pollutants would be 

reduced to the maximum extent feasible. Therefore, development of the project would not violate 

any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements, including but not limited to 

increasing pollutant discharges to receiving waters. Impacts would be less than significant.  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 51 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 51 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 52 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 52 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Section 4 Exceptions to Categorical Exemptions Checklist 

In addition to investigating the applicability of CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332 (Class 32), this 

CEQA document also assesses whether any of the exceptions to qualifying for the Class 32 

categorical exemption for an in-fill project are present. The following analysis compares the 

criteria of CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2 (Exceptions), to the project. 

4.1 Criterion Section 15300.2(a): Location 

Yes No  

☐ ☒ Is there an exception to the Class 32 exemption for the project due to its location in a 
particularly sensitive environment, such that the project may impact an environmental 
resource of hazardous or critical concern where designated, precisely mapped, and 
officially adopted pursuant to law by federal, state, or local agencies? 

This exception applies to CEQA exemptions under Classes 3, 4, 5, 6, and 11. The project 

qualifies as a Class 32 urban in-fill exemption, and therefore this criterion section is not 

applicable. The project site is located within a developed urban area and there are no 

environmental resources of hazardous or critical concern that are designated, precisely mapped, 

or officially adopted in the vicinity of the project site, or that could be adversely affected by the 

project. Therefore, the exception under CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2(d), does not apply to 

the project. 

4.2 Criterion Section 15300.2(b): Cumulative Impact 

Yes No  

☐ ☒ Is there an exception to the Class 32 exemption for the project due to significant cumulative 
impacts of successive projects of the same type and in the same place, over time? 

In general, the geographic context for cumulative impacts is the Downtown Specific Plan Area. 

Future growth and development projects within the Downtown Specific Plan Area have the 

potential to impact a variety of resources discussed in the CEQA Guidelines. It is anticipated that 

development of future cumulative projects would undergo CEQA review. Future development 

would be subject to federal, state, and local regulations and would be required to comply with the 

goals and policies in the City’s Downtown Specific Plan. All resource topics associated with the 

project have been analyzed in accordance with CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines and were found 

to pose no impacts, less than significant impacts. Therefore, the project would not make a 

cumulatively considerable contribution to a significant cumulative impact. Therefore, the 

exception under CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2(d), does not apply to the project. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 53 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 53 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

4.3 Criterion Section 15300.2(c): Significant Effect 

Yes No  

☐ ☒ Is there an exception to the Class 32 exemption for the project because there is a 
reasonable possibility that the project will have a significant effect on the environment due 
to unusual circumstances? 

There are no known unusual circumstances applicable to the project or project site that could result 

in a significant effect on the environment. The project site is currently used as a surface parking lot 

in a highly developed and urban area and no unusual circumstances are present. Therefore, the 

exception under CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2(c), does not apply to the project. 

4.4 Criterion Section 15300.2(d): Scenic Highway 

Yes No  

☐ ☒ Is there an exception to the Class 32 exemption for the project because the project may 
result in damage to scenic resources including but not limited to, trees, historic buildings, 
rock outcroppings or similar resources, within a highway officially designated as a state 
scenic highway? 

The project site is not located in the vicinity of any designated or eligible state scenic highway. 

The project site is not located within the Interstate 15 scenic corridor as defined in the City’s 

General Plan Resource Conservation Element (City of Escondido 2012a). Additionally, the 

Resource Conservation Element does not identify any local scenic roadways (City of Escondido 

2012a). Therefore, the exception under CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2(d), does not apply to 

the project. 

4.5 Criterion Section 15300.2(e): Hazardous Waste Sites 

Yes No  

☐ ☒ Is there an exception to the Class 32 exemption for the project because the project is 
located on a site which is included on any list compiled pursuant to Section 65962.5 of the 
Government Code? 

The project site is currently used as a City public parking lot, with no structures and limited 

landscaping. A Phase I ESA was conducted in 2018 and is provided in Appendix E. As part of 

the Phase I ESA (Christian Wheeler 2018), a computerized record search was performed by 

Environmental Data Resources, Inc. (EDR), in May 2018. The search included all documented 

environmental incidents and operating permits within a 0.25-mile to 1-mile radius of the subject 

property. Based on the results of this search, which were negative, it was confirmed that the 

project site is not located on a hazardous materials site pursuant to California Government Code, 

Section 65962.5. Therefore, the project would not result in a significant hazard to the public or 

the environment due to the presence of hazardous materials sites identified pursuant to California 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 54 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 54 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Government Code, Section 65962.5. Therefore, the exception under CEQA Guidelines, Section 

15300.2(e), does not apply to the project. 

4.6 Criterion Section 15300.2(f): Historic Resources 

Yes No  

☐ ☒ Is there an exception to the Class 32 exemption for the project because the project may 
cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historic resource? 

Historic Resources 

The project site is within the urban area of the Historic Downtown District in the Escondido 

Downtown Specific Plan Area. The City’s history began on the land that composed the Rancho 

Rincon del Diablo. In 1886, the ranch was purchased by the Escondido Land & Town Company 

(Escondido History Center 2019). Escondido was one of many Southern California towns that was 

established during the 1880s land boom, which included free land being offered to anyone who 

would build a church or school. Two years after the Escondido Land & Town Company was 

formed, the City was incorporated on October 8, 1888 (Escondido History Center 2019). The City 

grew slowly over time, first as an agricultural center for grapes and citrus and later for avocados 

before eventually becoming a commercial center serving North San Diego County. 

The project site is currently a public parking lot, with no structures and limited landscaping. A 

Literature Search and Background Research Report was prepared by Recuerdos Research on 

April 20, 2018 (Recuerdos Research 2018), and is provided in Appendix F. As part of the report, 

a records search was conducted at the South Coastal Information Center (SCIC) at San Diego 

State University by Richard L. Carrico on March 22, 2018, for the project site. The record search 

did not identify any historic resources within the project site as defined by Section 15064.5 

(Recuerdos Research 2018).  

The adjacent buildings may be more than 45 years old and could meet the eligibility 

requirements for designation as historic resources. However, development of the project site 

would not impact any surrounding buildings and therefore would not necessitate the evaluation 

of off-site structures. The architectural features of the proposed building would be consistent 

with the architectural styles within the Downtown Historic District. The project would provide a 

benefit to the viability of the downtown district by providing social, cultural, economic, and 

residential focus to the area. The project would not result in a substantial adverse change to a 

historic resource. Therefore, the exception under CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2(f), does not 

apply to the project. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 55 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 55 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Archaeological Resources 

A records search was conducted at the SCIC at San Diego State University by Richard L. Carrico 

of Recuerdos Research on March 22, 2018, for the project site. One archaeological site (SDI-

5209) was identified during the records search that is located approximately 4,000 feet southeast 

of the project site on a slight rise above the Escondido Valley floor. Site SDI-5209 is recorded as 

a dense set of bedrock milling features containing more than 70 milling slicks and 1 shallow 

mortar (Recuerdos Research 2018). Due to the distance of this recorded site to the project site, 

the project would have no impact on this site.  

The lack of recorded resources within or in proximity to the project site is consistent with the 

general settlement pattern for the Escondido Valley and with previous archaeological studies in 

the immediate area. Precontact native populations used the area extensively but the focus of their 

settlement was on the hills above the flat valley and near water sources (Recuerdos Research 

2018). Therefore, it is unlikely that any evidence of pre-contact or historic-period archaeological 

cultural resources exists at the project site and no further testing or monitoring is required. 

However, the San Luis Rey Band of Mission Indians has requested monitoring during 

construction as a result of consultation under AB 52. Therefore, in order to comply with AB 52, 

the following project design features would be made a condition of project approval:  

PDF-CR-1. The City Planning Division recommends the applicant enter into a Tribal Cultural 

Resource Treatment and Monitoring Agreement (also known as a pre-excavation agreement) 

with a tribe that is traditionally and culturally affiliated with the project location (TCA Tribe) 

prior to issuance of a grading permit. The purposes of the agreement are (1) to provide the 

applicant with clear expectations regarding tribal cultural resources, and (2) to formalize 

protocols and procedures between the applicant/owner and the TCA Tribe for the protection and 

treatment of, including but not limited to, Native American human remains, funerary objects, 

cultural and religious landscapes, ceremonial items, traditional gathering areas and cultural 

items, located and/or discovered through a monitoring program in conjunction with the 

construction of the project, including additional archaeological surveys and/or studies, 

excavations, geotechnical investigations, grading, and all other ground disturbing activities. 

PDF-CR-2. Prior to issuance of a grading permit, the applicant shall provide written verification 

to the City that a qualified archaeologist and a Native American monitor associated with a TCA 

Tribe has been retained to implement the monitoring program. The archaeologist shall be 

responsible for coordinating with the Native American monitor. This verification shall be 

presented to the City in a letter from the project archaeologist confirming that the selected Native 

American monitor is associated with a TCA Tribe. Prior to any pre-construction meeting, the 

City shall approve all persons involved in the monitoring program. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 56 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 56 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

PDF-CR-3. The qualified archaeologist and a Native American monitor shall attend the pre-

grading meeting with the grading contractors to explain and coordinate the requirements of the 

monitoring program, in addition to reviewing the grading plan to assist in determining the 

necessity of the Luiseño Native American monitor and archaeological monitor’s presence. 

PDF-CR-4. During the initial grubbing, site grading, excavation (including post-demolition 

activities to assess the condition of the subsurface stratigraphy), or disturbance of the ground 

surface, the qualified archaeologist and the Native American monitor shall be on site where 

deemed appropriate and necessary by the archaeologist and Luiseño Native American monitor. If 

imported fill materials, or fill used from other areas of the project site, are to be incorporated at 

the project site, then those fill materials shall be absent of any tribal cultural resources. The 

frequency of inspections shall depend on the rate of excavation, the materials excavated, and any 

discoveries of tribal cultural resources as defined in PRC Section 21074. 

PDF-CR-5. In the event that previously unidentified tribal cultural resources are discovered, the 

qualified archaeologist and the Native American monitor shall have the authority to temporarily 

divert or temporarily halt ground disturbance operations in the area of discovery to allow for 

evaluation of potentially significant cultural resources. Isolates and clearly non-significant 

deposits shall be minimally documented in the field and collected so that the monitored grading 

can proceed. 

PDF-CR-6. If a potentially significant tribal cultural resource is discovered, the archaeologist shall 

notify the City of said discovery. The qualified archaeologist, in consultation with the City, the 

TCA Tribe, and the Native American monitor, shall determine the significance of the discovered 

resource. A recommendation for treatment and disposition of the tribal cultural resource shall be 

made by the qualified archaeologist in consultation with the TCA Tribe and the Native American 

monitor, and shall be submitted to the City for review and approval. 

PDF-CR-7. The avoidance and/or preservation of the significant tribal cultural resource and/or 

unique archaeological resource must first be considered and evaluated under CEQA. Where any 

significant tribal cultural resources and/or unique archaeological resources have been discovered 

and avoidance and/or preservation measures are deemed to be infeasible by the City, a research 

design and data recovery program to mitigate impacts shall be prepared by the qualified 

archaeologist (using professional archaeological methods), in consultation with the TCA Tribe 

and the Native American monitor, and shall be subject to approval by the City. The qualified 

archaeologist, in consultation with the Native American monitor, shall determine the amount of 

material to be recovered for an adequate artifact sample for analysis. Before construction 

activities are allowed to resume in the affected area, the research design and data recovery 

program activities must be concluded to the satisfaction of the City. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 57 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 57 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

PDF-CR-8. In accordance with CEQA, all tribal cultural resources shall be treated with culturally 

appropriate dignity. If the qualified archaeologist elects to collect any tribal cultural resources, 

the Native American monitor must be present during the collection and cataloging of those 

resources. Moreover, if the qualified archaeologist does not collect the tribal cultural resources 

that are unearthed during the ground-disturbing activities, the Native American monitor may, at 

their discretion, collect said resources and provide them to the TCA Tribe for respectful and 

dignified treatment in accordance with the tribe’s cultural and spiritual traditions. It is the 

preference of the City that all tribal cultural resources be repatriated to the TCA Tribe, as such 

preference would be the most culturally sensitive, appropriate and dignified. Therefore, any 

tribal cultural resources collected by the qualified archaeologist shall be provided to the TCA 

Tribe. Evidence that all cultural materials collected have been repatriated shall be in the form of 

a letter from the TCA Tribe to whom the tribal cultural resources have been repatriated 

identifying that the archaeological materials have been received. 

Or, 

Any tribal cultural resources collected by the qualified archaeologist shall be curated with its 

associated records at a San Diego curation facility or a culturally affiliated Tribal curation 

facility that meets federal standards per 36 CFR Part 79, and, therefore, would be professionally 

curated and made available to other archaeologists/researchers for further study. The collections 

and associated records, including title, shall be transferred to the San Diego curation facility or 

culturally affiliated Tribal curation facility and shall be accompanied by payment of the fees 

necessary for permanent curation. Evidence that all cultural materials collected have been 

curated shall be in the form of a letter from the curation facility stating that the prehistoric 

archaeological materials have been received and that all fees have been paid. 

PDF-CR-9. Prior to the release of the grading bond, a monitoring report and/or evaluation report, 

if appropriate, that describes the results, analysis, and conclusion of the archaeological 

monitoring program and any data recovery program on the project site shall be submitted by the 

qualified archaeologist to the City. The Native American monitor shall be responsible for 

providing any notes or comments to the qualified archaeologist in a timely manner, to be 

submitted with the report. The report will include California Department of Parks and Recreation 

Primary and Archaeological Site Forms for any newly discovered resources. 

With implementation of the project design features, the exception under CEQA Guidelines, 

Section 15300.2(f), does not apply to the project. 

 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 58 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 58 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Section 5 Report Preparation 

Harris & Associates (Categorical Exemption Report, Air Quality, 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Noise Studies) 

Diane Sandman, AICP, Project Director 

Sharon Toland, Senior Air Quality, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, and Noise Specialist 

Esther Daigneault, Senior Environmental Analyst 

Kelsey Hawkins, Environmental Analyst 

Andrew Turpin, GIS/Graphics 

Lindsey Messner, Technical Editor 

Christian Wheeler Associates (Phase I ESA) 

Shawn Caya, RGE, Registered Professional Engineer 

Troy S. Wilson, CEG, Certified Engineering Geologist 

David R. Russell, CEG, Certified Engineering Geologist 

KTU+A (Visual Simulations) 

Mike Singleton, Principal 

Stephen Nunez, Senior Designer/Planner 

Linscott, Law & Greenspan Engineers (Traffic Impact Analysis) 

John Keating, Principal 

Roman Lopez, Transportation Planner II  

Recuerdos Research (Cultural Resources) 

Richard Carrico, Principal/Owner 

Touchstone Development, Inc. (Drainage and Stormwater) 

Alberto Sandoval, Registered Professional Engineer 

 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 59 of 93 
 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 59 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 60 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 60 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Section 6 References 

ABC (ABC Acoustics, Inc.). 2018. Acoustical Analysis Report: 101 Coast Mixed Use Solana 

Beach, California. April 13.  

California Building Industry Association v. Bay Area Air Quality Management District. 2015. 

Cal.4th. December 17. 

Caltrans (California Department of Transportation). 2013. Technical Noise Supplement to the 

Traffic Noise Analysis Protocol. September. 

CARB (California Air Resources Board). 2005. Air Quality and Land Use Handbook: A 

Community Health Perspective. April. 

Christian Wheeler Engineers. 2018. Report of Preliminary Environmental Site Assessment 

(Phase I ESA) Proposed Mixed Use Development 137 W. Valley Parkway, Escondido, 

California. September 9. 

City of Escondido. 2011. City of Escondido Urban Water Management Plan. July. Accessed 

January 30, 2019. https://www.escondido.org/Data/Sites/1/media/pdfs 

/Utilities/2010UrbanWaterManagementPlan.pdf.  

City of Escondido. 2012a. City of Escondido General Plan. May. 

City of Escondido. 2012b. Escondido General Plan Update, Downtown Specific Plan Update, 

and Climate Action Plan Environmental Impact Report. April 23. 

City of Escondido. 2013a. Escondido Downtown Specific Plan. Adopted August 7. 

City of Escondido. 2013b. Transportation Impact Analysis Guidelines. October 10.  

City of Escondido. 2013c. City of Escondido Greenhouse Gas Emissions Adopted CEQA 

Thresholds and Screening Tables. Prepared by Atkins. December 4, 2013. Accessed 

February 12, 2019. https://www.escondido.org/Data/Sites/1/media/PDFs/Planning 

/ClimateActionPlan/CEQAThresholdsAndScreeningTables.pdf. 

City of Escondido. 2016. Escondido Stormwater Design Manual. Adopted January 13. 

City of Escondido. 2018. Escondido Municipal Code. Current through April 2018. 

County of San Diego. 2007. Guidelines for Determining Significance – Air Quality. March 19. 

Escondido History Center. 2019. “Escondido – A Timeline.” Accessed on July 31, 2019. 

https://www.escondidohistory.org/escondido-history. 

FHWA (Federal Highway Authority). 2008. Federal Highway Administration’s Roadway 

Construction Noise Model (RCNM). Version 1.1. December 8. 

FTA (Federal Transit Administration). 2018. Transit Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment 

Manual. FTA Report No. 0123. Prepared by John A. Volpe National Transportation Systems 

Center. September. Accessed January 8, 2019. https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta 

.dot.gov/files/docs/research-innovation/118131/transit-noise-and-vibration-impact-

assessment-manual-fta-report-no-0123_0.pdf. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 61 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 61 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Harris (Harris and Associates). 2019a. Noise Technical Memorandum. July 31. 

Harris. 2019b. Air Quality Technical Memorandum. July 31. 

Harris. 2019c. Greenhouse Gas Technical Memorandum. July 31. 

LLG (Linscott, Law and Greenspan). 2019. Transportation Impact Analysis for Aspire Project. 

July 17.  

Recuerdos Research. 2018. Literature Search and Background Research for the Aspire Project. 

April 20. 

Rick Engineering. 2014. Carlsbad Watershed Management Area Analysis Report. October 3. 

Accessed on March 21, 2019. http://www.projectcleanwater.org/download/carlsbad-car-

watershed-management-area-analysis-wmaa-draft-report-october-3-2014/.  

SDAPCD (San Diego Air Pollution Control District). 2017. San Diego Air Pollution Control 

District Annual Network Plan 2013. Submitted for U.S. Environmental Protection 

Agency review on June 30, 2017. 

SDAPCD. 2018. “Rule 20.2: New Source Review – Non-Major Stationary Sources.” In 

Regulation II, Permits. Revision adopted April 27, 2016, effective November 5, 2018. 

Accessed January 8, 2019. https://www.sdapcd.org/content/dam/sdc/apcd/PDF 

/Rules_and_Regulations/Permits/APCD_20.2-2016.pdf. 

South Orange County Wastewater Authority v. City of Dana Point. 2011. 196 Cal. App. 4th 

1604; 127 Cal Rptr. 3d 636; 2011 Cal. App. LEXIS 859. June 30. 

Summa (Summa Architecture). 2019. Design Plans for the Aspire Project. February 12.  

Touchstone Development, Inc. 2019. City of Escondido Priority Development Project SWQMP 

for Aspire. March 11. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 62 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 62 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 1. Regional Location 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 63 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 63 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 64 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 64 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 2. Project Site 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 65 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 65 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 66 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 66 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 67 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 67 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 68 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 68 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 4a. Project Perspective from Corner of West Valley Parkway & Maple Street Looking Southeast 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 69 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 69 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 70 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 70 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 4b. Project Perspective from Maple Street Plaza Looking East 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 71 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 71 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 72 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 72 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 4c. Project Perspective from West Valley Parkway Looking Southwest 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 73 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 73 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 74 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 74 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 4d. Project Perspective from Pool Deck Looking East 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 75 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 75 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 76 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 76 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 5a. Landscape Conceptual Plan – Ground Floor 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 77 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 77 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 78 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 78 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Figure 5b. Landscape Conceptual Plan – 2nd Floor 
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 79 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption 79 August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 80 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

Appendix A. Traffic Impact Analysis 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 81 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 82 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

Appendix B. Noise Technical Memorandum  

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 83 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank.  
  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 84 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

Appendix C1. Air Quality Technical Memorandum  

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 85 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 86 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

Appendix C2. Greenhouse Gas Technical Memorandum  

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 87 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 88 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

Appendix D. Drainage Study and  
Storm Water Quality Management Plan 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 89 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 90 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

Appendix E. Phase I ESA 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 91 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 92 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

Appendix F. Literature Search and Background Research Report 

  



Ordinance No. 2019-13 
Exhibit F 

Page 93 of 93 

 

Class 32 CEQA Exemption  August 2019 
Aspire Project 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Staff Report - Council

Public Hearing Item No. 8 October 9, 2019 File No. 0800-10

SUBJECT: Tentative Subdivision Map, Master and Precise Development Plan, and a 
Development Agreement for 555 W. Grand Avenue Project (SUB 18-0008 and 
PHG 18-0021)

DEPARTMENT: Community Development Department, Planning Division

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council introduce Ordinance No. 2019-15 and adopt Resolution No. 2019-
143 approving the Tentative Subdivision Map, Master and Precise Development Plan and the 
Development Agreement.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

A Master and Precise Development Plan to construct a four (4) story, mixed-use development within 
the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific Plan consisting of thirty-two (32) condominium units, 
300 square feet (“SF”) of flex office space and a ground floor parking garage that would 
accommodate forty-three (43) parking spaces (“Project”).  The Project contains a mix of one (1) and 
two (2) bedroom units ranging from 700 SF to 1,123 SF; podium and roof deck level common outdoor 
spaces, and individual private balconies.  The building is approximately fifty-seven (57) feet in height 
at its tallest point, and incorporates an art deco/moderne style of architectures with a mix of muted 
colors and stone/tile facade elements, as well as landscaped wall “living wall” features.   Zoning 
provisions require a minimum of sixty-one (61) parking spaces and the project is requesting a 
reduction in the parking requirement to provide forty-three (43) standard and four (4) motorcycle 
spaces within the parking garage, along with three (3) new on-street spaces along Grand Avenue.  
The Project includes the purchase of an approximately 2,275 SF City-owned parcel fronting onto 
Second Avenue and vacation of a portion of the adjacent alley that would be used for access, utilities, 
storm water quality improvements, loading and landscaping.  Purchase of the City-owned property 
will be considered by the City Council as a separate hearing item and Resolution at a subsequent 
Council date.

A Development Agreement is requested to allow a reduction in open space (approximately sixteen 
[16] percent reduction) where the zoning provisions currently require 300 SF per unit; and a credit for 
Art Fees in exchange for the development of a dynamic construction/art feature incorporated into the 
building design.  The Project also includes a request to adopt a Class 32 Exemption in accordance 
with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).

LOCATION:

The approximately 0.45-acre site is located at the southeastern corner of W. Grand Avenue and 
Quince Street, north of Second Avenue, addressed as 555 W. Grand Avenue (APNs. 233-022-01, 



555 W. Grand Planned Development, Tentative Map and Development Agreement
October 9, 2019
Page 2

-02, -21 and portion of -23) and is depicted as an attachment to the Planning Commission staff report, 
which itself is attached hereto as Attachment “1.”

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

The proposed Project is a private development project that will require the payment of fees in effect at 
the time permits are requested.  The proposed Development Agreement requires the payment of a 
per-square-foot in-lieu fee of $20,000 to offset the reduction in open space and to receive a 
contractual vested rights to develop the project at a later time.  The applicant also is proposing to 
incorporate a dynamic type of art feature into the exterior façade of the building.  Staff has 
recommended a reduction in the public art fee (up to $0.30 per SF of building area per the 2019 
Citywide Fee Schedule) to offset the ultimate cost of the art feature and to ensure that it is included in 
the final design.

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION:

On September 10, 2019, the Planning Commission voted 5-0 (Commissioners McNair and Garcia 
absent) to recommend the City Council approve the Project and Development Agreement based 
upon the findings and conditions of approval.  Overall, the Planning Commission spoke in support of 
the project and design features, but did express some preliminary concerns over the amount of 
parking provided.  The September 10, 2019 Planning Commission staff report proposed a parking 
management program as a condition of approval.  The condition would require the owner or property 
management to monitor on-site parking provisions and supplement on-site parking if necessary.  One 
proposed measure is to bond and install future mechanical vehicle parking lifts.  The Commissioners 
agreed the required parking management program would alleviate parking concerns.  However, the 
Commission modified the parking requirement to require a minimum of five (5) mechanical vehicle 
parking lifts be installed within the garage upon initial occupancy of the structure.  This effectively 
adds an additional five (5) parking spaces to the site.  The Commissioners also recommended the 
applicant work with staff on the final design of the eastern facade of the building to include some 
additional material/color and relief type features to further address the mass and scale of this 
elevation.  Public testimony provided during the Planning Commission meeting is summarized in the 
Public Input section later in this staff report.  The September 10, 2019 Planning Commission staff 
report and Planning Commission meeting minutes are provided as Attachments 1 and 2, respectively.

BACKGROUND:

The proposed project site is located towards the western end of Escondido’s downtown urban core, 
on the southeastern corner of West Grand Avenue and Quince Street, north of Second Avenue.  The 
property previously was the site of a gasoline station and auto repair business that have been 
removed.  A twenty (20) foot alley borders the southern side of the project site with an approximately 
2,275 SF triangle shaped City-owned property that is proposed to be purchased by the applicant and 
incorporated into the project.  Surrounding land uses include a mix of commercial development to the 
north, east and west, and commercial development and a single-family residence to the south.   
Situated within the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific Plan (DSP) area, the site is in close 
proximity to a variety of services, theaters, restaurants, and retail shops.  The Escondido Transit 



555 W. Grand Planned Development, Tentative Map and Development Agreement
October 9, 2019
Page 3

Center is located approximately one (1) block north of the site, which offers bus and Sprinter rail 
transit services to areas around San Diego County. 

Project Design

The building utilizes an art deco/moderne style of architecture that would be compatible with other 
buildings along the Grand Avenue corridor with similar art deco/moderne designs.  The building would 
incorporate varying rooflines and wall planes, with square and rounded corner and tower elements.  
The building primarily utilizes a stucco exterior finish with decorative stone, block and tile accents.  
The main body colors of the building would be white and light sand/tans, as shown on the 
architectural color scheme included with Exhibit “D” to draft Planning Commission Resolution 2019-20 
and attached to draft City Council Ordinance No. 2019-15 as Exhibit “D.”  The project’s commercial 
tenant space and primary pedestrian entry (that contains a lobby, mailboxes, elevator, stairway to 
podium level and restroom) fronts onto Grand Avenue and utilizes a glass storefront design.  Other 
design features include individual unit balconies and metal balcony railings, as well various building 
eyebrows elements and a second story trellis feature located towards the southwestern corner of the 
building facing Second Avenue/Quince Street, along with a landscaped podium deck and roof deck 
that orient towards Grand Avenue.  Some of the upper-level eyebrow type features will project over 
the right-of-way, but would not affect use of the right-of-way or pedestrian movement.  A small 
encroachment into the front setback also is proposed to accommodate the curved 
architectural/stairway features towards the northwestern corner of the building.  Modifications to 
setback provisions are permitted through the Planned Development process.  

Access to the ground-level garage would be provided from a new driveway from Second Avenue, and 
would be gated.  Residents would be provided with remotes to activate the gate.  Second Avenue is a 
one (1) way street and access is restricted to left-in and left-out only.  The project would close off the 
existing driveways along Quince Street and Grand Avenue.  The Grand Avenue driveway entrance 
would be redesigned to provide three (3) new on-street parking spaces which will be signed for short-
term parking during peak morning/afternoon hours, and then unlimited open parking during the 
evening and early morning hours.  The project would be responsible for upsizing the existing six (6) 
inch water main in Quince Street (from W. Valley Parkway to Second Avenue) to a twelve (12) inch 
main.  

The parking garage would provide a total of forty-three (43) on-site parking spaces for residents 
including two (2) accessible spaces and up to seven (7) compact spaces.  The garage also will 
provide space for four (4) motorcycles.  The parking garage would provide any necessary 
infrastructure to support electric vehicle (EV) charging, as required by the building code.  The 
proposed parking garage also would provide individual secure storage space (min. 80 cubic feet per 
unit).   Appropriate ventilation is required for the garage that would be provided by wire mesh grills 
along the Grand Avenue, Quince Street and Second Avenue facades. The ventilation features along 
Grand Avenue have been designed with heavier metal vertical and horizontal supports to mimic a 
store-front window design.  A raised planter will be installed along the Grand Avenue building 
frontage (within the right-of-way) to provide appropriate landscaping to help break up the mesh 
design and screen pedestrian views into the garage. The DSP allows for project-related landscaping 
and landscape elements within the public right-of-way provided a minimum sidewalk width of six (6) 



555 W. Grand Planned Development, Tentative Map and Development Agreement
October 9, 2019
Page 4

feet is maintained.  The screens along the Quince Street frontage will incorporate hanging planters 
(living wall) to break up the mass and scale of the screens.  A raised planter that also serves as a 
biofiltration/storm water feature also will be installed along the Quince Street frontage, which will 
provide appropriate screening of the ventilation screens and incorporate required street trees.  Two 
(2) of the garage vents/screens along the Second Avenue frontage also will incorporate the living wall 
elements, but there are certain landscape limitations along the southern elevation of the building 
facade due to existing utilities/utility easement and paved alley.  Mechanical equipment located on the 
roof would be screened from public viewing and street level areas.  

The project would provide common open space areas totaling approximately 8,118 SF, which 
consists of a podium level landscaped courtyard (2,300 SF), a roof deck landscape area (1,809 SF), 
ground-level landscape area fronting Second Avenue, and individual unit balconies (approximately 
2,369 SF).  The podium and rooftop common areas would contain various seating areas, raised 
landscape planters, trellis structures, and BBQs.  The podium level (second floor) landscape area is 
open to the sky.  The rooftop landscape area is provided on the fourth floor and a bridge provides a 
pedestrian connection to portions of the fourth floor units and rooftop landscape area.  The ground-
level landscape area is conditioned to provide an upgraded landscape design and street trees along 
the Second Avenue frontage, as well as appropriate shrubs to help separate and screen the lower 
areas of the vehicle loading space from the landscape green space.  A project monument sign will be 
incorporated into the Second Avenue landscaping.

ANALYSIS:

1. General Plan / Zoning

The City’s General Plan and the DSP encourage high-density residential development in urbanized 
areas that are within close proximity to commercial uses, offer recreational opportunities, and provide 
convenient access to public transit. The subject property is located approximately one block south of 
the Escondido Transit Center, within the Mercado District of the DSP, which makes it a prime 
candidate for this type of high-density development. The existing residential land use density 
permitted is 100 units per acre.  Based on the property size of approximately 0.45 acres (0.40-acre 
site plus purchase of 0.05 city-owned triangle parcel), current zoning would allow up to forty-five (45) 
units and a four (4) story structure up to sixty (60) feet in height. The request associated with the 
proposed project is to construct 32 units and a four (4) story structure up to approximately fifty-seven 
(57) feet in height, with a proposed density of 71.1 units per acre.  Therefore, the proposed project is 
consistent with the land use density and height standards envisioned for this area.  The project has a 
density/yield that falls short of the maximum density allowed on the subject property.  As conditioned, 
the unused balance of residential density would be transferred to the Density Transfer Program.  

2. Planned Development (Master and Precise Development Plan)

The DSP contains provisions enabling an applicant to request modifications to standards contained in 
the DSP pursuant to approval of a Planned Development Application (DSP pp. III-19 and III-27).  A 
description of the proposed modifications to the development standards are described below.  



555 W. Grand Planned Development, Tentative Map and Development Agreement
October 9, 2019
Page 5

Parking Requirements for Multi-Family Housing Projects

The applicant proposes a reduction in the required number of parking spaces (sixty-one [61] spaces 
required in accordance with the DSP parking requirements) to provide a total forty-three (43) spaces 
on-site for residents within the ground-floor parking garage, along with four (4) motorcycle spaces.  
This results in a 29.5 percent reduction from the parking standard.  The existing driveway entrance to 
the site from Grand Avenue would be converted/modified to provide three (3) on-street spaces.  
However, these spaces would not be dedicated to the project, but would be open public spaces.  

The City’s DSP encourages a shift in orientation from building streets primarily for automobiles and to 
facilitate the broader vision of directing downtown’s and the City’s circulation system toward a truly 
‘multimodal’ transportation network. The reduced parking encourages the use of alternate 
transportation such as bus and rail transit, bicycling, and walking.  The project is located within 1/4 
mile (approx. 1,000 linear feet or 4.5-minute walk) to the Escondido Transit Center.  The Escondido 
Transit Center is a multi-modal station that is serviced by North County Transit District (NCTD) 
various bus lines/services and the Sprinter light rail.  Within the vicinity of the site, Class II bicycle 
lanes are provided on Centre City Parkway, and there are Class I bicycle paths that connect the 
Escondido Creek Trail at the transit center to the Inland Rail Trail regional bikeway system.  Section 
III.B.1 “Parking” of the DSP allows for modifications to the parking requirements through the Planned 
Development application project, with appropriate justification.  

A Parking Assessment was prepared for the project by Michael Baker (Attachment 3 to Planning 
Commission Staff Report) to evaluate alternate parking rates based on SANDAGs Smart Growth 
parking rates/strategies that specifies various parking demand rates for higher density developments 
in close proximity to transit.  According to the SANDAG Smart Growth Concept Map, the project site 
is located within the Town Center Smart Growth Opportunity Area, which features numerous civic and 
cultural features anchored by the Escondido Transit Center.  The study indicates that Smart Growth 
development which feature dense, mixed land uses with pedestrian and bicycle amenities, especially 
areas within 1/3 mile of a light rail station generate a lower parking demand than elsewhere in the 
San Diego region with a number of owned vehicles (between 1.0 – 1.3) substantially lower than the 
national average of 2.0 vehicles per household. Therefore, the study recommended a parking supply 
rate of 1.25 spaces per unit or a minimum of forty (40) spaces, and the project would provide forty-
three (43) on-site spaces.

Based on the parking analysis and proximity to transit services, staff supports the requested reduction 
in parking.  However, the project would implement additional measures to ensure sufficient parking is 
provided to include the following:

Parking Management Plan (to include):

• Parking Assignment Plan for all residents for the one (1) and two (2) bedroom units (at 
least one space for each unit, with limited spaces for the two-bed units.

• Potential flex spaces for guest parking during certain timeframes
• Secure bicycle parking (short and long term)



555 W. Grand Planned Development, Tentative Map and Development Agreement
October 9, 2019
Page 6

• Parking Monitoring Plan to adjust the parking management plan as needed.
• Transit Pass Assistance Program where the developer provides incentives for residents 

and employees who utilize monthly transit passes.
• Vehicle Lifts.  In order to support two (2) bedroom units, mechanical vehicle lifts (e.g. 

automotive stackers or vertical tandem spaces) could be installed in the parking garage 
where feasible.  The lifts would provide two (2) parking stalls within the floor area of a 
single stall and would be assigned to the same unit (similar to tandem parking).  This could 
potentially increase the parking supply by up to twenty (20) additional spaces if a lift is 
provided for every two (2) bedroom unit.  As conditioned by the Planning Commission, the 
applicant is required to install five (5) of these mechanical vehicle parking lifts, prior to 
occupancy. 

The project has been conditioned to provide a final Parking Management Plan, as well as provide 
security (e.g. surety bond) for the installation of the lifts.  The project has been conditioned to ensure 
the plans include the appropriate infrastructure as part of the project initial construction in order to 
install any future vehicle lifts (e.g. pads/foundations, electrical conduit, power source, etc.).  The 
Planning Commission also recommended that at least five (5) vehicle lift be installed in order to 
monitor the effectiveness of its use, which has been incorporated into the project conditions of 
approval as presented in draft Ordinance No. 2019-15.

Open Space Requirements

The DSP currently requires a minimum of 300 SF of open space per dwelling unit.  At thirty-two (32) 
units, a minimum of 9,600 SF of open space is required to meet this open space standard.  In order to 
accommodate the proposed project’s site design and achieve the desired density, the project 
proposes approximately 8,118 SF of open space consisting of a podium level landscaped courtyard 
(2,300 SF), a roof deck landscape area (1,809 SF), ground-level landscape area fronting Second 
Avenue, and individual unit balconies (approximately 2,369 SF).  Collectively, the project provides 
functional common and private open space areas that enhance the quality of life for the occupants.  
However, due to the density, the project has a deficiency of up to 1,482 SF of open space (sixteen 
[16] percent of the total required).  As of this writing, the DSP allows for a reduction in required open 
space (up to fifty [50] percent of common open space) to be considered on a case-by-case basis 
through the entitlement process in exchange for alternative open space benefiting the public such as 
paying a per-square-foot in-lieu that contributes toward the cost of installing, improving and/or 
expanding parkland or facilities in the downtown area or providing on-site publically accessible 
outdoor, street-level open space.   

In order to satisfy the DSP open space reduction requirements, the project has been conditioned to 
provide enhanced landscape features along the Second Avenue frontage, which would not be fenced.  
However, the extent of the landscaping/features that could be provided is somewhat limited due to 
potential conflicts with existing underground utilities and necessary storm water/drainage 
improvements.  In addition, the applicant will be required to pay an in-lieu fee of $12.50 per square 
foot reduction of open space for the total amount of open space deficiency.  The proposed reduction 
of 1,482 SF of open space amount to an in-lieu fee of $18,525.  Because the amount of open space 



555 W. Grand Planned Development, Tentative Map and Development Agreement
October 9, 2019
Page 7

provided at project implementation will likely change due to a project condition to expand the 
driveway’s turn radius along Second Avenue, the fee included in the draft Development Agreement is 
$20,000.  In staff’s opinion, the project’s proposed site design (and in consideration of the in-lieu 
contribution amount of $20,000) meets the spirit of the open space provisions contained in the DSP 
and contributes a reasonable amount of open space on a per-unit basis that contributes to a cleaner 
environment and a healthier, more livable project setting.

The City currently is processing an amendment to the Downtown Specific Plan to modify the open 
space requirements so that less open space is required for higher density projects. The amendment 
is being processed as a companion to a 145-unit senior housing project (City File No. PHG17-0028; 
“Quince Street Senior Housing Project”) located at the northeastern corner of Quince Street and West 
Valley Parkway. The Amendment to the Specific Plan was recommended for approval by the 
Planning Commission on August 13, 2019 (vote 7-0), and considered by the City Council on 
September 25, 2019.  The Council continued the item, which is tentatively scheduled for the October 
23, 2019 Council hearing.  Although the requested amendment might change the open space 
requirement for future projects within the DSP; rather than waiting for the effective date, the project 
applicant elected to move forward with the project and the in-lieu fee recommendation of $20,000.  
Because the applicant obtains specific development rights under the Development Agreement 
request, the fee assignment of $20,000 would be recommended regardless of the status of the code 
amendment.  

3. Development Agreement Request

Development Agreements are administered pursuant to Article 58 of the Zoning Code.  A 
Development Agreement is a voluntary legal agreement between the City and the developer. 
Generally, a developer receives increased certainty for constructing a project in return for providing 
more public benefit than normally required.  The proposed Development Agreement is necessitated 
by the applicant’s request to receive a reduction in open space per Section III.B.6 of the DSP and to 
receive a Public Art Fee waiver and vesting rights.  The DSP requires a 9,600 SF total of open space 
and the applicant is requesting a reduction of 1,482 SF.  The project would pay a per-square-foot in-
lieu fee of $20,000 to offset the reduction in open space.  The applicant is also proposing to 
incorporate a dynamic type of art feature into the exterior facade of the building.  Staff has 
recommended a reduction in the public art fee (up to $0.30 per SF of building area per the 2019 
Citywide Fee Schedule) to offset the ultimate cost of the feature and to ensure the final design 
includes the feature.  

The Development Agreement Terms identified above set forth the individual points in the proposed 
agreement as recommended by the City Attorney, City Manager’s Office, Engineering Division and 
Community Development Department, and negotiated with the project applicant.  Staff supports the 
proposed terms of the agreement and believes the terms provide for a public benefit through a cash 
payment of $20,000 towards the cost of installing, improving and/or expanding parkland or facilities 
within the downtown area.  The Development Agreement also provides other benefits to the applicant 
including contractual vested rights by providing a “freeze period” during which conflicting laws and 



555 W. Grand Planned Development, Tentative Map and Development Agreement
October 9, 2019
Page 8

regulations enacted after project approval will not affect the approved development.   The full draft 
Development Agreement document is provided as Exhibit “F” of Council Ordinance No. 2019-15.

PUBLIC INPUT:

Several public speakers addressed the Planning Commission during the September 10, 2019 hearing 
on this item. Staff also received three (3) letters/emails, including one from the Mercado District 
(Maria Bowman) expressing support for the project (Attachment 2 of Planning Commission staff 
report).  The majority of the speakers at the hearing supported the project, but some expressed 
concerns with the requested reduction in parking and potential impacts any overflow parking needs 
would have to their nearby businesses and parking lots.  The project applicant (Ed McCoy) in 
response to questions from commissioners and concerns from business owners noted that in order to 
provide the higher densities envisioned throughout the downtown area, current open space 
requirements at 300 SF per unit were not realistic for this high-density urban type of development, 
and that providing additional parking (such as underground parking) would be cost prohibitive without 
allowing additional stories/units (above the Mercado District limit of four [4]) to offset the additional 
construction costs.  The applicant also felt the project’s parking management provisions ensure 
adequate parking would be provided for the project, and that five (5) vehicle lifts could be installed 
with the initial occupancy of the building.  He also felt the project would provide those needed 
residents to continue to support the Downtown and Mercado District and could spur additional 
development.

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:

CEQA Guidelines lists classes of projects that have been determined not to have a significant effect 
on the environment and as a result are exempt from review under CEQA.  The project site is located 
within a developed urban area of the City, is currently vacant, previously disturbed by past 
development, and has been cleared of all structures.  The proposed project qualifies for an exemption 
from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under Section 15332, Class 32, In-fill 
Development Project. The CEQA Notice of Exemption prepared for the “in-fill development” 
demonstrates the project qualifies for the exemption and does not have significant effect on the 
environment.  

CONCLUSION:

The proposed project is consistent with the General Plan and the DSP as it encourages higher 
density urban residential growth in the DSP area.  The project site lies within the DSP’s Mercado 
District, which envisions high-density residential uses that benefit from the proximity to the transit 
center.  The project would further the Land Use and Community Form goals in Chapter II of the 
Escondido General Plan, including those related to community character and smart growth, as well as 
the Housing goals in Chapter IV of the General Plan, which include planning for sustainable growth 
and providing housing opportunities for all income groups and household types, in addition to others. 
The additional residents downtown ultimately would improve the overall economics of the downtown 
and the business community.  Without adequate residential housing opportunities to generate enough 



555 W. Grand Planned Development, Tentative Map and Development Agreement
October 9, 2019
Page 9

pedestrian activity to support restaurants, stores, and businesses, the downtown will not meet its 
goals.  Residential growth requires expanding the existing housing stock by encouraging and 
securing multi-family development.

Both the Planning Commission and staff recommend the City Council approve the proposed 
Tentative Subdivision Map, Master and Precise Development Plan and Development Agreement for a 
four (4) story, thirty-two (32) unit mixed-use development.  The proposed project is consistent with the 
guiding principles for the Specific Plan Area (SPA 9) identified in the Land Use and Community Form 
Element of the Escondido General Plan because they accommodate the type of high-density urban 
development envisioned for the area. Furthermore, the proposed Planned Development (Master and 
Precise Development Plan) provides for a well-designed project that will be beneficial to its future 
residents and provide visual appeal in an area that is currently undergoing significant revitalization.  

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Bill Martin, Director of Community Development Jay Paul, Senior Planner
10/3/2019 9:42 a.m. 10/3/2019 9:46 a.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Attachment 1 – Planning Commission staff report (September 10, 2019)
2. Attachment 2 – Planning Commission Minutes (September 10, 2019)
3. Resolution No. 2019-143
4. Resolution No. 2019-143 – Exhibits A, B, C and D
5. Ordinance No. 2019-15
6. Ordinance No. 2019-15 – Exhibits A, B, C, D, E and F

























































































































































































ATTACHMENT 2





RESOLUTION NO. 2019-143

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, CALIFORNIA, 
APPROVING A ONE-LOT TENTATIVE 
SUBDIVISION MAP FOR A 32-LOT MIXED-
USE CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT

APPLICANT: 555 W. GRAND, LLC
CASE NO.: SUB 18-0008

WHEREAS, 555 W. Grand, LLC (“Applicant”) submitted a land use development 

application to construct a 32-unit mixed-use condominium development on 

approximately 0.45 acres of land within the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific 

Plan, generally located on the southeastern corner of W. Grand Avenue and Quince 

Street, north of Second Avenue, addressed at 555 W. Grand Avenue (APNs 233-022-

01, -02, -21 and portion of -23), more particularly described as shown on Exhibit “A” 

(the “Property Description”) attached to this Resolution and incorporated herein by this 

reference as though fully set forth herein.  The Applicant seeks approval of a Tentative 

Subdivision Map to facilitate the construction of the mixed-use condominium 

development, as shown on Exhibits “D” (Tentative Subdivision Map), and on file in the 

office of the City Clerk, and incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set 

forth; and

WHEREAS, said verified application was submitted to, and processed by, the 

Planning Division of the Community Development Department as Planning Case No. 

SUB 18-0008, in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Escondido Municipal 

and Zoning Codes, and the applicable procedures and time limits specified by the 

Permit Streamlining Act (Government Code Section 65920 et seq.) and CEQA (Public 

Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.); and



WHEREAS, the Planning Division of the Community Development Department 

completed its review and scheduled a public hearing regarding the application before 

the Planning Commission for September 10, 2019, at which interested persons were 

given the opportunity to appear and present their views with respect to said proposed 

Project actions.  Following the public hearing on September 10, 2019, the Planning 

Commission adopted Resolution No. 2019-20, which recommended that the City 

Council, among other things, approve the Tentative Subdivision Map, and associated 

Master and Precise Development Plan and Development Agreement (City File Nos. 

SUB18-0008 and PHG18-0021); and

WHEREAS, an original copy of the proposed Tentative Subdivision Map, Master 

and Precise Development Plan, and Development Agreement and all other related 

Project materials are on file in the Office of the City Clerk, with a copy of each 

document submitted to the City Council for its consideration.  The City Clerk, whose 

office is located at 201 North Broadway, Escondido, California 92025, is hereby 

designated as the custodian of the documents and other materials which constitute the 

record of proceedings upon which the City Council's decision is based, which 

documents and materials shall be available for public inspection and copying in 

accordance with the provisions of the California Public Records Act; and

WHEREAS, the City Council did on October 9, 2019, hold a duly noticed public 

hearing as prescribed by law. Evidence was submitted to and considered by the City 

Council, including, without limitation:

a) Written information including all application materials and other written 

and graphical information posted on the project website.



b) Oral testimony from City staff, interested parties, and the public.

c) The City Council staff report, dated October 9, 2019, which along with its 

attachments, is incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein, 

including the Planning Commission's recommendation on the request.

d) Additional information submitted during the public hearing; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the request for the Tentative 

Subdivision Map, and reviewed and considered the recommendation from the Planning 

Commission; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, a Class 32 

Exemption relative to the Project was prepared and the City Council has adopted it, per 

Ordinance No. 2019-15; and

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 78-2 enacted pursuant to Section 65974 of the 

California Government Code and pertaining to the dedication of land and fees for 

school facilities has been adopted by the City of Escondido; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Government Code Section 66473.5, no local 

agency shall approve a tentative map, unless there is a finding that the proposed 

subdivision, together with the provisions for its design and improvement, is consistent 

with the general plan required by Article 5 (commencing with Section 65300 of the 

Government Code), or any specific plan adopted pursuant to Article 8 (commencing 

with Section 65450 of the Government Code); and

WHEREAS, on October 9, 2019, the City Council introduced Ordinance No. 

2019-15 and intends to approve a Master and Precise Development Plan, and a 



Development Agreement to enable potential adoption of the proposed Tentative 

Subdivision Map on the subject site; and

WHEREAS, this City Council hereby approves said Tentative Subdivision Map  

as reflected in the staff report(s), and on plans and documents on file in the Office of 

the City Clerk.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of 

Escondido, in its independent judgment and after fully considering the totality of the 

record and evidence described and referenced in this Resolution hereby declares that:

1. That the foregoing recitations are true and correct and are incorporated 

herein by this reference as though set forth in full.

2. That the Findings of Fact/Factors to be Considered, attached as Exhibit 

“B” and incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein, are 

hereby made by this City Council, and represent the City Council’s careful consideration 

of the record.  The findings of this City Council on Exhibit "B" shall be the final and 

determinative Findings of Fact/Factors to be Considered on this matter.

3. That upon consideration of the Findings/Factors, all material in the 

October 9, 2019, City Council staff report (a copy of which is on file with the Office of 

the City Clerk), public testimony presented at the hearing, and all other oral and written 

evidence on this Project, this City Council approves the Tentative Subdivision Map, 

subject to the Conditions of Approval in Exhibit “C,” which is incorporated by this 

reference to City Council Resolution No. 2019-143.  Copies of said Resolution are on 

file with the Office of the City Clerk and are incorporated herein by this reference.  



4. That this Tentative Subdivision Map shall be null and void unless a Final 

Map, conforming to the Tentative Subdivision Map and all required conditions, is filed 

within the date that Ordinance No. 2019-15 specifies by Development Agreement.  

Copies of said Ordinance are on file with the Office of the City Clerk and are 

incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

5. That concurrently with this Resolution, the City Council is taking a number 

of actions in furtherance of the Project, as generally described by the October 9, 2019, 

City Council staff report.  No single component of the series of actions made in 

connection with the Project shall be effective unless and until it is approved by an 

Ordinance or Resolution and is procedurally effective within its corporate limits as a 

statute in the manner provided by state law.  Therefore, this Resolution shall become 

effective and operative only if City Council Ordinance No. 2019-15 is approved; and 

effective and operative on the day immediately subsequent to the date that Ordinance 

2019-15 becomes effective.

  BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that, pursuant to Government Code Section 

66020(d)(1):

1. NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the project is subject to certain fees 

described in the City of Escondido’s Development Fee Inventory on file in both the 

Community Development Department and Public Works Department.  The project is 

also subject to dedications, reservations, and exactions, as specified in the Conditions 

of Approval.

2. NOTICE IS FURTHER GIVEN that the 90-day period during which to 

protest the imposition of any fee, dedication, reservation, or other exaction described in 



this resolution begins on the effective date of this resolution and any such protest must 

be in a manner that complies with Section 66020.



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Property Description 

SUB18-0008; PHG 18-0021 

 

APN 233-022-0100 and 233-022-0200 
 
Lots 20 through 24 inclusive, Block 75 of Escondido, in the City of Escondido, County of 
San Diego, according to Map No. 336, filed in the Office of the County Recorder of San 
Diego County, July 10, 1886. 
 
Also including approximately 2,275 square feet (gross) of land that includes a portion of 
Lots 1 and 2, Block 75 of Map 336, City of Escondido, County of San Diego (APN 233-
022-2100 and portion of 233-022-23, and portion of the public alley) as depicted below: 

 

 

Area to be included in project 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

          Exhibit “A” 

Page 1 of 1



EXHIBIT “B” 

Findings of Fact/Factors to be Considered 

SUB18-0008; PHG 18-0021 
555 W. Grand Avenue 

 
 

Environmental Determination(s): 

 

1. Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, (CEQA, Public Resources Code Section 

21000 et. seq.), and its implementing regulations (the State CEQA Guidelines), Article 14 of 

the California Code of Regulations Section 15000 et. seq., the City of Escondido is the Lead 

Agency for the project (“Project”), as the public agency with the principal responsibility for 

approving the Project. 

  

2. All of the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act have been met because it 

was found that the project will not have a significant effect on the environment as 

demonstrated in the Class 32 CEQA Exemption prepared for the Project, dated September 4, 

2019.  Design measures were incorporated into the Conditions of Approval for to address 

noise and hazardous site impacts.  

 

Tentative Subdivision Map Determination(s): 

 

1. The location, design, and residential density of the proposed planned development are 

consistent with the goals and policies of the Escondido General Plan because high-density 

residential and mixed-use development is permitted and encouraged in Specific Plan Area 

#9.  The proposed infill residential project would be in conformance with General Plan Housing 

Goals and Policies to plan for quality managed and sustainable growth and provide a range 

of housing opportunities for all income groups and populations with special needs, and which 

encourage a compact, efficient urban form the promotes transit, supports nearby commercial 

establishments and takes advantage of infrastructure improvements installed to 

accommodate their intended intensities.  The site is physically suitable for the proposed 

density of development because the property is within a high-density redevelopment area that 

was previously a blighted property in the Mercado District. Development of the property will 

assist in the ongoing revitalization of the downtown retail core by establishing a permanent 

residential base in the downtown area. The subject site is located within the Mercado District 

of the DSP, which allows multi-family mixed-use development up to 100 du/ac.  Based on the 

property size of 0.45 acres, the Mercado District would allow up to 45 units and a four-story 

structure up to 60 feet in height. The request to construct 32 units and a four- story structure 

ranging in height from up to approximately 57 feet in height is consistent with the land use 

density and development requirements envisioned for this area.  The project density of 71.1 

du/ac is consistent with the allowable density of the DSP. 

 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 1 of 6



2. The approval of the proposed project would be based on sound principles of land use and is 

well-integrated with its surroundings near residentially and commercially developed properties 

because adequate parking, access, on-site circulation, utilities, landscaping and open space 

would be provided (as detailed in the staff report). The residential project also would not be 

out of character for the area which contains other multi-story residential developments.  The 

design of the project would be in conformance with the Mercado District because the project 

would provide residential units with varying number of rooms and sizes to accommodate a 

wide range of housing needs (with ownership opportunities).  The project includes a variety 

of amenities such as individual balconies units and various common areas and features.  All 

vehicular traffic generated by the project will be accommodated safely and without degrading 

the level of service on the adjoining streets or intersections. 

 
3. The project would not result in the destruction of desirable natural features, nor be visually 

obstructive or disharmonious with surrounding areas because the site is not located on a 

skyline or intermediate ridge, and the site does not contain any significant topographical 

features.  The proposed grading design would not result in any manufactured slopes or pad 

elevations that would create any significant adverse visual or compatibility impacts with 

adjacent lots, nor block any significant views.   

 

4. The site is suitable for this residential type of mixed-use development and density because 

the General Plan and Mercado District allows for multi-story high density residential 

development.  The site is relatively flat and extensive grading is not proposed.  The project 

would be compatible with the surrounding uses because the subject site within an urban 

commercial area developed with a variety of commercial and multi-story residential 

developments of varying density and design.  Adequate access and public utilities can be 

provided to the site.  All vehicular traffic generated by the project will be accommodated safely 

and without degrading the level of service on the adjoining streets or intersections.  

Appropriate noise attenuation would be provided for the new units.  The proposed project also 

would not result in a significant impact to biological or natural resources.  

 

5. The design of the residential map and the type of improvements are not likely to cause serious 

public health problems because the project would not degrade the levels of service on the 

adjoining streets or drainage systems.  Adequate water and sewer could be provided to the 

site.  The project would not cause substantial environmental damage and avoidably injure fish 

or wildlife or their habitat because the site is located within an urban setting and previously 

has been developed with a commercial use.   

 
6. The design of the map and the type of improvements will not conflict with easements of record, 

or easements established through court judgments, or acquired by the population at large, for 

access through, or use of property within the proposed map because any existing easements 

and improvements will either be accommodated within the project design; be quitclaimed prior 

to recordation of the map; or alternate provisions provided. 

 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 2 of 6



7. The design of the map has provided, to the extent feasible, for future passive or natural 

heating or cooling opportunities in the subdivision.  The lot sizes and the subdivision 

configuration provides opportunities for passive/solar heating. 

 

8. All permits and approvals applicable to the proposed map pursuant to the Escondido Zoning 

Code (Chapter 33 Zoning) will have been obtained prior to the recordation of the map. 

 

9. The proposed map and associated planned development will not conflict with regional or local 

housing because the proposed infill residential mixed-use project would be in conformance 

with General Plan Housing Goals and Policies to expand the stock of all housing; increase 

homeownership; plan for quality managed and sustainable growth; and encourage a compact, 

efficient urban form that promotes transit, supports nearby commercial establishments and 

takes advantage of infrastructure improvements installed to accommodate their intended 

intensities.  The proposed project would not diminish the Quality-of-Life Standards of the 

General Plan as the project would not materially degrade the level of service on adjacent 

streets or public facilities, create excessive noise, and adequate on-site parking, circulation 

and public services could be provided to the site.  All lots would maintain all development 

standards of the applicable zone (in accordance with Article 19, Planned Development) and 

observe the density of the General Plan and area plans, as noted in the sections above. 

 

10. The proposed map meets all of the requirements or conditions imposed by the Map Act and 

the Escondido Zoning Code, as detailed in the staff reports, the Escondido General Plan and 

above findings. 

 
Master and Precise Development Plan Determination(s): 

 

1. The location, design, and residential density of the proposed planned development are 

consistent with the goals and policies of the Escondido General Plan because high-density 

residential and mixed-use development is permitted and encouraged in Specific Plan Area 

#9.  The proposed infill residential project would be in conformance with General Plan Housing 

Goals and Policies to plan for quality managed and sustainable growth and provide a range 

of housing opportunities for all income groups and populations with special needs, and which 

encourage a compact, efficient urban form the promotes transit, supports nearby commercial 

establishments and takes advantage of infrastructure improvements installed to 

accommodate their intended intensities.  The site is physically suitable for the proposed 

density of development because the property is within a high-density redevelopment area that 

was previously a blighted property in the Mercado District. Development of the property will 

assist in the ongoing revitalization of the downtown retail core by establishing a permanent 

residential base in the downtown area. The subject site is located within the Mercado District 

of the DSP, which allows multi-family mixed-use development up to 100 du/ac.  Based on the 

property size of 0.45 acres, the Mercado District would allow up to 45 units and a four-story 

structure up to 60 feet in height. The request to construct 32 units and a four- story structure 

ranging in height from up to approximately 57 feet in height is consistent with the land use 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 3 of 6



density and development requirements envisioned for this area.  The project density of 71.1 

du/ac is consistent with the allowable density of the DSP. 

 
2. The proposed location of the development allows the planned development to be well 

integrated with its surroundings by providing a high-density mixed-use residential housing 

project in close proximity to transit, and near retail and other commercially developed 

properties. Adequate parking, circulation, utilities and access would be provided for the 

development (as detailed in the staff report).  The project also would not be out of character 

for the area because the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific Plan envisions an upscale 

urban area with a mix of high-density residential and commercial development, and the 

proximity to the Escondido Transit Center makes the density appropriate.  The overall mass 

and scale of the buildings is appropriate for the proposed location due to the street-oriented 

appeal and urban design characteristics, along with the quality of the architectural design and 

use of a variety of building materials and colors. 

 

3. All vehicular traffic generated by the proposed development would be accommodated safely 

and without causing undue congestion upon adjoining streets, as determined by the 

Engineering Division and detailed in the preliminary Traffic Assessment that was prepared for 

the project by Michael Baker International (dated February 12, 2019, and amended April 22, 

2019).   

 

4. The overall design of the proposed residential mixed-use development would produce an 

attractive, efficient and stable environment for living, because adequate residential amenities, 

parking, and landscaping would be provided, and the design of the development is consistent 

with a high quality, urban infill project that will provide housing opportunities within walking 

distance of downtown commercial and retail services consistent with the City’s vision for the 

downtown area.  The project includes sufficient on-site open space amenities appropriate for 

this high-density urban development, including a podium and roof-deck common open areas 

with view decks and outdoor seating areas, and private balconies for each unit. 

 

5. The proposed development would be well integrated into its surroundings, because the new 

structure would incorporate compatible and integrated architecture, materials and colors, and 

the project would not be visually obstructive or disharmonious with surrounding areas, or harm 

major views from adjacent properties.  The proposed grading design would not result in any 

manufactured slopes or pad that would create any significant adverse visual or compatibility 

impacts with adjacent lots, nor block any significant views.  Extensive grading is not required 

to support the project, and the project would not result in the destruction of desirable natural 

features, nor be visually obstructive or disharmonious with surrounding areas because the 

site is not located on a skyline or intermediate ridge, and the site does not contain any 

significant topographical features. 

 

6. Utilizing the Planned Development process allows flexibility from the Specific Plan 

requirements to achieve a high-density residential project in the urban core.  The project would 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 4 of 6



provide residential opportunities integrated into a comprehensive and self-contained 

development, which creates an environment of sustained desirability and stability through the 

controls offered and regulated through the Planned Development process. 

 

7. The project would provide an environment of sustained desirability and stability because   city 

services and adequate access would be provided; adequate parking would be provided; the 

proposed architecture would be integrated into its surroundings; and the project could serve 

as a catalyst for further revitalization efforts in the area. 

 

8. The improvements are not likely to cause substantial environmental concerns because the 

property was previously developed as a gas station that has since been demolished.  The site 

does not contain any sensitive or protected habitat or other environmental concerns as 

determined during the environmental review.  The design of the project and the type of 

improvements are not likely to cause serious public health problems because the project will 

not degrade the levels of service on the adjoining streets or drainage system as the project 

incorporates street and drainage improvements are part of the project and city sewer and 

water is available to the site. 

 
Development Agreement Determination(s): 

 

1. The Development Agreement is consistent with the goals and objectives of the Mercado 

District of the Downtown Specific Plan because it enables the property owner to construct a 

higher-density mixed-use development in support a vibrant downtown economy while 

maintaining the overall limit of 5,275 dwelling units in the Downtown Specific Plan area.  

 
2. The Development Agreement conforms to the need for public convenience, general welfare 

and good land use practices because the project will provide additional housing opportunities 

within 1/3 mile of mass transit and is located in close proximity to retail and services, parks, 

library, and cultural events. 

 
3. The Development Agreement will not be detrimental to the health, safety and general welfare 

as the project as detailed in the findings/factors above and staff report prepared for the project 

dated September 10, 2019.   

 

4. The proposed project and Development Agreement will not adversely affect the orderly 

development of property or the preservation of property values because the project would 

provide residential opportunities integrated into a comprehensive and self-contained 

development, which creates an environment of sustained desirability and stability through the 

controls offered and regulated through the Planned Development process. 

 

5. The proposed project and associated Development Agreement is consistent with the 

provisions of Government Code Section 65864 et seq. (Zoning Code, Ch. 93, § 9309; Ord. 

No. 2018-07R, § 7, 4-18-18) 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 5 of 6



 

Density Transfer Determination(s): 

 

1. The City’s Density Transfer Program allows the transfer of unused residential density from the 

developing properties to another, future project in the downtown area.  Through the program, 

residential units that are transferred from undeveloped or underutilized properties (i.e. sending 

areas) are placed in a density credit pool and are held until there are developing properties 

(i.e. receiving areas) acquire the density.  Through the application of Planning Case File No. 

PHG17-0026, the subject property has been deemed a candidate to be a "sending area" and 

13 units have been identified for transfer into the density credit pool.  There are currently no 

units in the credit pool.  If transferred, the new credit pool balance would be 13 units, as of 

this writing.  

 

2. The transfer of said units would help incentivize future development - and keep it in the 

downtown area to support nearby retailers, services, entertainment, and attract other new 

businesses that are part of a desirable downtown economy.  The overall amount of new 

development within the downtown would remain the same; however, implementation of the 

program creates a flexible way to still achieve the ultimate build-out of the downtown and 

create a future sustainable center of activity.  Adopting the project and approving the transfer 

of units would help accommodate the city's share of future regional housing needs with greater 

mix of housing types and choices, which benefits everyone in the community. 

 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 6 of 6



EXHIBIT “C” 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
SUB18-0008, PHG18-0021 

555 West Grand Avenue 
 

 
PLANNING CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
A. General 

 

1. This project is conditionally approved as set forth on the application/plans received by the City 

of Escondido, dated August 30, 2019, and designated as recommended for approval by the 

Planning Commission on September 10, 2019, and shall not be altered without express 

authorization by the Community Development Department. 

 

2. Approval of this request shall not waive compliance with any sections of the Municipal Code 

and all other applicable City regulations in effect at the time of Building Permit issuance unless 

specifically waived herein and shown on the project plans.  Nothing in this permit shall relieve 

the Applicant from complying with conditions and regulations generally imposed upon 

activities similar in nature to the activity authorized by this permit.  This action does not relieve 

the applicant of the obligation to comply with all ordinances, statutes, regulations, and 

procedures. 

 

 Exceptions granted by the Planned Development Permit to the development standards 

identified in the Downtown Specific Plan are as follows: 

 

 a. Allow up to 29.5 percent reduction in the number of parking spaces which will require the 

project to provide a minimum of 43 parking spaces within the garage to include up to 7 

compact spaces. 

  

 b. Allow reduction in open space of 1,482 SF as detailed in the September 10, 2019 Planning 

Commission staff report.  Said amount of open space is based on the project set plans, 

dated August 30, 2019 on file with the Planning Division.  Implementation of certain project 

conditions may require additional reductions of open space.  Any modification to open 

space provision effecting the total number of SF provided as a result of condition 

compliance shall be deemed to substantially conform with scope of the details of the 

project request, conditions imposed by the Planning Commission and/or City Council, and 

satisfy the terms of the Development Agreement.   

 

 c. Minor encroachment into the front setback for a ground-floor design feature (curved stairs 

at northwestern corner to podium level), as shown on the development plans, dated 

August 30, 2019. 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 1 of 16



 d. Allow upper story architectural features to encroach into the public right-of-way, as shown 

on the development plans, dated August 30, 2019. 

 

3. Prior to any use of the project site pursuant to this permit, all conditions of approval contained 

herein shall be completed or secured to the satisfaction of the Community Development 

Department. 

 

4. The developer shall be required to pay all development fees of the City prior to building permit 

issuance, including any applicable City-Wide Facilities fees at the established rate. Such fees 

may include, but not be limited to: Permit and Plan Checking Fees, Water and Sewer Service 

Fees, School Fees, Traffic Mitigation Fees, Flood Control Mitigation Fees, Park Mitigation 

Fees, Fire Mitigation/Cost Recovery Fees, and other fees listed in the Fee Schedule, which 

may be amended.  Arrangements to pay these fees shall be made prior to building permit 

issuance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Department. 

 

5. All construction shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Escondido Zoning Code 

and requirements of the Planning Department, Building Official, and the Fire Chief. 

6. The property description, attached as Exhibit “A” to this Resolution, has been provided by the 

applicant and neither the City of Escondido nor any of its employees assume responsibility for 

the accuracy of said legal description. 

7. All requirements of the Public Partnership Program, Ordinance No. 86-70 shall be satisfied 

prior to building permit issuance.  The ordinance requires that a public art fee be added at the 

time of the building permit issuance for the purpose of participating in the City Public Art 

Program, unless otherwise specified in the Development Agreement. 

8. Three (3) copies of revised plan sets and tentative map, reflecting any modifications identified 

in these conditions of approval, shall be submitted to the Planning Division for certification.  

Said plans must be certified by the Planning Division prior to submittal of grading, public 

improvement and landscape plans for the project.  

9. This Planned Development Permit shall expire three (3) years after the date of final approval 

of this project, that date being the effective date of the ordinance approving the Permit, unless 

otherwise specified in the Development Agreement. Extensions of time may be requested in 

the same manner as would be permitted for a tentative map. 

10. An inspection by the Planning Division will be required prior to occupancy of the project.  Items 

subject to inspection include, but are not limited to, parking layout and striping, identification 

of handicap parking stalls and required signage, landscaping, trash enclosures, and 

architecture, as well as any other conditions of approval.  Everything shall be installed prior to 

calling for an inspection, although preliminary inspections may be requested. Contact the 

project planner at (760) 839-4671 to arrange a final inspection. 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 2 of 16



11. In the event that any of the conditions of this permit are not satisfied, the Community 

Development Department shall cause a noticed hearing to be set before the authorized 

agency to determine whether the City of Escondido should, acting through the authorized 

agency, add, amend, or delete conditions and regulations contained in this permit. 

12. Nothing in this permit shall authorize the applicant to intensify the authorized activity beyond 

that which is specifically described in this permit.  Any future modifications to the approved 

project will be reviewed relative to the findings for substantial conformance.  Modifications 

beyond the scope described therein will require submittal of an amendment to the project 

plans and approval by the authorized agency. 

13. The City of Escondido hereby notifies the applicant that the County Clerk’s Office requires a 

documentary handling fee of $50.00 in order to file a Notice of Exemption for the project 

(environmental determination for the project).  In conformance with California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) Section 15062, the applicant should remit to the City of Escondido 

Planning Division, within two working days of the final approval of the project (the final 

approval being the date of this letter) a check payable to the “County Clerk” in the amount of 

$50.00.  The filing of a Notice of Exemption and the posting with the County Clerk starts a 35-

day statute of limitations period on legal challenges to the agency’s decision that the project 

is exempt from CEQA.  Failure to submit the required fee within the specified time noted above 

will result in the Notice of Exemption not being filed with the County Clerk, and a 180-day 

statute of limitations will apply. 

14. The project shall participate in the Density Transfer Program as a “sending area,” as described 

in Exhibit “B” to City Council Resolution No. 2019-69.  A deed restriction shall be recorded 

prior to building permit issuance, transferring thirteen (13) units into the Transfer Density 

Credit Pool. 

 

15. Implementation of the project requires the City to sell and dispose of a .05 city-owned triangle 

parcel, as described in the September 10, 2019 Planning Commission staff report and as 

shown in the project plans.  Escrow of said city-owned triangle parcel must close prior to Final 

Map approval by the City. 

B. Architecture and Design 

1. All signs are to be approved by a separate sign permit. All signs must be consistent with the 

sign standards in the Downtown Specific Plan, unless otherwise authorized by this Planned 

Development. 

2. A minimum of 80 cubic feet of private storage shall be provided for each residential unit as 

depicted on the development plans.  Said storage shall be in addition to typical cabinets and 

closets. 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 3 of 16



3. Any retaining walls and raised planters along the project frontages shall be constructed with 

split-face block, stucco-finished or other appropriate decorative materials/finish to match the 

color(s) used on the building.  

4. All exterior lighting shall conform to the requirements of Article 35 (Outdoor Lighting 

Ordinance) of the Escondido Zoning Code.  Prior to building permit issuance, proposed 

outdoor lighting fixtures shall be submitted to the Planning Division for review and approval.  

Site lighting and photometric plans shall be included with the building plans. 

5. The building, architecture, colors and materials, and conceptual landscaping shall be in 

substantial conformance with the Master and Precise Development Plan attached as Exhibit 

“D” to Ordinance No. 2019-15 and on-file with the Planning Division, except as modified by 

these conditions of approval.  Any major modifications to the exterior architectural building 

elements or lessening of the quality of the exterior design shall require the processing of a 

Precise Plan modification, as described in Article 19 of the Escondido Zoning Code. Minor 

modifications may be approved through the design review process described in Article 64 of 

the Escondido Zoning Code.  

 

6. An art feature shall be incorporated into the project (similar or equal to the concept kinetic art 

feature) identified on the plans and maintained throughout the life of the project.  The final 

design shall be submitted to the Staff Design Review Board prior to approval of the building 

plans for the project.   

 

7. The final designs for the garage vent features along Grand Avenue shall be submitted 

Planning Division design review.  The venting/screening features shall incorporate additional 

vertical architectural elements (while still allowing for adequate ventilation) consistent with the 

building design to help further break overall horizontal screen area into separate distinct 

elements.   

8. All mechanical equipment shall be screened from view in accordance with Section 33-1085 of 

the Escondido Zoning Code. 

9. All new utilities shall be underground. 

10. Exterior drainage downspouts shall be appropriately integrated into the architecture of the 

building and/or placed in appropriate exterior locations to help blend it into the design of the 

building.  They shall be painted/textured to blend with the building background.  This shall be 

clearly identified on the building plans.   

11. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall prepare exterior-to-interior noise 

report completed by a qualified acoustical consultant for the proposed on-site residential units 

and the common podium-level open space areas.  The report shall also assume a “windows-

closed” condition with vehicles traveling along the adjacent roadways in accordance with the 

identified speed limit.  The report would determine the predicted interior noise levels for the 

units.  If predicted noise levels are found to be in excess of 45 CNEL, the report would identify 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 4 of 16



architectural materials or techniques that could be included in project design plans to reduce 

noise levels to 45 CNEL in habitable rooms.   The report also shall identify any architectural 

techniques that would be included in the final project design to conform to the General Plan 

noise level goal for multi-family residential use of 65 dBA CNEL at the exterior common 

podium use areas.  The report shall be submitted and approved by the City prior to issuance 

of a building permit. 

12. The HVAC units on the project rooftop shall be installed with appropriate enclosures such that 

noise from HVAC operation does not exceed 55 dBA at the nearest off-site receptor.  A final 

acoustical analysis shall be submitted with the building plans to determine whether any final 

design measures are necessary to conform to the City’s Noise Ordinance.   

13. Prior to approval of the grading plans and grading permit for the site, a Health and Safety Plan 

for construction workers (including PPE and testing equipment when working in areas of 

known residual petroleum impact soils) and a soil and groundwater management plan for soil 

and groundwater that may be hauled from the site shall be prepared and approved by the San 

Diego Water Board.   

C. Operational 

1. Trash and recycling shall be picked up as frequently as necessary to prevent overflow.  The 

property owner/manager shall be responsible for placing/staging the trash bins in an 

appropriate area for pickup by the local trash hauler (that does not interfere with access to the 

facility or emergency vehicles).  Bins shall be returned to the designed trash room as soon as 

they have been emptied by the hauler. 

2. Provisions shall be made so that trash and recycling materials are not placed in the trash 

chute(s) while the bins are not in place. This may be accomplished by providing other 

receptacles in the trash room when the bins are not in place, by locking the chutes, or by other 

means that will accomplish this provision.  

3. Permitted animals/pets shall be allowed in conformance with those identified in the Escondido 

Zoning Code for R-5 zoned properties, unless more restrictive standards are applied by the 

property owner. 

4. All project generated noise shall conform to the City’s Noise Ordinance (Ordinance 90-08). 

5. Security cameras shall be provided if deemed necessary by the Police Chief. 

6. Balconies and patios shall be kept in a neat and orderly manner.  Items stored on balconies 

should be kept out of view or properly screened.  Items shall not be hung over, across or on 

balconies or patios (such a towels, clothing, etc.). 

7. Any decorative pavement, driveways and sidewalks shall be indicated on the building and 

landscape plans, including appropriate notes regarding type and color of materials. Any 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 5 of 16



decorative paving damaged or removed by the City or other utility provider in order to perform 

maintenance of public utility lines shall be replaced at the sole expense of the property owner. 

8. Commercial uses for the 300 square foot flex/office space on the ground floor shall be limited 

to the uses permitted or conditionally permitted in the Mercado District of the Downtown 

Specific Plan. 

D. Parking, Access and Circulation  

1. In accordance with the approved Planned Development Permit, a minimum of 43 parking 

spaces shall be provided on-site within the parking garage in addition to an area designated 

for up to 4 motorcycles.  The 43 parking spaces shall accommodate at least two accessible 

parking spaces.  No more than 30 percent of the parking spaces shall be designated as 

compact spaces.  All interior parking aisles shall be a minimum of 24 feet wide with appropriate 

turning radius at the end of the parking aisles, to the satisfaction of the Engineering Division. 

2. The parking garage shall be equipped with appropriate infrastructure for the future installation 

of the eighteen (18) mechanical vehicle lifts (e.g., appropriate pad/foundations, electrical 

conduit/connections, power source, clearance height, etc.).  At least five (5) vehicle lifts shall 

be installed upon initial occupancy of the facility to monitor the effectiveness of its use. 

 After occupancy, the applicant shall monitor the site’s overall parking provisions on an on-

going basis.  The on-going assessment shall be used to help determine if additional parking 

facilities are necessary to meet the project’s parking demand.  The applicant shall post a duly 

authorized surety bond, to the satisfaction of the Director of Community Development, to pay 

the City of Escondido up to a stated amount of money to install the balance of the mechanical 

parking lifts, tender options to do the same, and/or other benefits to ensure the completion of 

this bonded obligation. 

 The Director of Community Development has the authority to create/terminate the bonded 

contract and call upon or cancel the surety at any time prior to the expiration of the 

Development Agreement.  The bond shall spell out the options and make them part of the 

agreement. 

3. Future electric vehicle designated charging stations shall be provided in accordance with 2016 

California Green Building Code, Section 4.106.4.2. 

4. All parking spaces shall be striped in conformance with Article 39 of the Escondido Zoning 

Code, and shown on the improvements plans. 

5. The gated access to the proposed parking garage shall be electric.  All residents with assigned 

parking spaces shall be provided with remote access for entrance into the garage. An 

electric/magnetic loop shall be installed on the interior of the garage so that the gate 

automatically opens for exiting vehicles. 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 6 of 16



6. Prior to building permit issuance, a parking and garage management plan shall be submitted 

to the City for review, and approved by the Director of Community Development. Said plan 

shall address parking lot access, space assignment(s), gate hours (if left open) general 

maintenance, signage and striping, delivery and other short-term parking 

allowances/requirements, guest parking, utility access and trash/recycling staging, and any 

other issues which affect the use and maintenance of the parking garage.  The parking and 

garage management plan shall specify that the surety bond amount, as required in Condition 

No. 2 of this subsection, meets the minimum capital requirements to remedy a performance 

default.  The applicant also shall provide 30-day transit passes to all tenants during the initial 

lease up period. 

7. Private secure bicycle parking facility for residents (such as bike racks) shall be installed within 

the parking garage, or other appropriate areas on site, as approved by the Planning Division.   

E. Landscaping 

1. All landscaping shall be installed prior to final occupancy.  

2. All vegetation shall be maintained in a flourishing manner, and kept free of all foreign matter, 

weeds and plant materials not approved as part of the landscape plan.   

3. All irrigation shall be maintained in fully operational condition.   

4. The property owner assumes all responsibility for maintaining all on-site landscaping and any 

landscaping in the public right-of-way adjacent to the property installed as part of the project, 

including the raised planters adjacent to the building along Grand Avenue and Quince Street, 

and any potted plants. 

5. The raised landscape planter along Grand Avenue shall contain a mix or taller vertical 

materials at appropriate intervals and medium height shrubs to help screen pedestrian views 

into the parking garage.  The raised planter along the Quince Street frontage also shall include 

the mix of taller and medium height planting materials, as the bio-filter design will 

accommodate.  A metal trellis type feature also may be required to be installed in front of the 

garage ventilation screens to allow vines provide additional screening of the parking garage 

if vines attached to the ventilation screens will affect the effectiveness of the metal screens. 

6. The landscaping on the triangular parcel (fronting 2nd Avenue) shall include an upgraded 

design to include specimen sized trees and a combination of appropriate shrubs, ground cover 

and other hardscape type features.  Appropriate shrubs shall be installed along portions of 

the public utility easement (driveway and loading area) to help screen these areas.  The storm 

drain basin shall incorporate an appropriate design to be a visual amenity for the project.  The 

driveway entrance from 2nd Avenue shall incorporate decorative type elements into the final 

design (such as color concrete elements with additional scoring pattern, stamped concrete 

elements, or pavers).  

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 7 of 16



7. Street trees shall be provided along each of the site’s street frontages, in conformance with 

the Landscape Ordinance and the City of Escondido Street Tree List.   

8. Five copies of detailed landscape and irrigation plans shall be submitted to the Engineering 

Services Department with the second submittal of the grading plan. The initial submittal of the 

landscape plans shall include the required plan check fees. 

9. The landscape and irrigation plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Division 

and Engineering Services Department prior to approval of the grading plans, and shall be 

equivalent or superior to the conceptual landscape plans included as part of the Master and 

Precise Development Plans, to the satisfaction of the Planning Division. The required 

landscape and irrigation plans(s) shall comply with the provisions, requirements and 

standards outlined in Article 62 (Landscape Standards) of the Escondido Zoning Code, except 

where stricter requirements are imposed by the State of California. The plans shall be 

prepared by, or under the supervision of, a licensed landscape architect.   

10. The installation of the landscaping and irrigation shall be inspected by the project landscape 

architect upon completion. He/she shall complete a Certificate of Landscape Compliance 

certifying that the installation is in substantial compliance with the approved landscape and 

irrigation plans and City standards.  The applicant shall submit the Certificate of Compliance 

to the Planning Division and request a final inspection. 

F. On-Site Management Plan 
 

1. Prior to occupancy, the applicant shall submit a Management Plan that provides for ongoing 

maintenance of lighting, signing and striping, parkway landscaping and irrigation, storm water 

treatment basins, and facilities, common open spaces, public utilities easements areas, public 

walkways, and alley, etc. These provisions shall be approved by the Engineering Department 

prior to occupancy. 

 
2. The Management Plan shall reference the recorded Storm Water Control Facility Maintenance 

Agreement and approved Storm Water Quality Management Plan for the project. 

 

3. The Management Plan shall identify responsibility for liability for damage and repair to City 

utilities in the event that damage is caused by tenants, vehicles or personnel servicing the 

property or delivery personnel, and/or operation of maintenance personnel of the project. 

 

4. The Management Plan shall state that if stamped concrete or decorative pavers or used within 

walkways within the City right-of-ways, any damage and repair/replacement shall be the 

responsibility of the management company and/or project owner. 

 

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 8 of 16



ENGINEERING CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

GENERAL 

1. The applicant shall provide the City Engineer with a Subdivision Guarantee and Title Report 
covering subject property. 

2. The location of all existing on-site and adjacent utilities and storm drain facilities shall be 
determined by the Developer’s engineer.  If a conflict occurs with the proposed project or 
improvements, arrangements for relocation of the conflicting utilities/facilities shall be made 
with the owner of the utility/facility prior to approval of the Grading plans and Final Map.  This 
utility/facility relocation work shall be completed prior to issuance of Building Permits. 

3. Improvement plans prepared by a Civil Engineer are required for all public street and utility 
improvements and a Grading/Private Improvement plan prepared by Civil Engineer is 
required for all grading, drainage and private onsite improvement design.   Landscaping Plans 
shall be prepared by a Landscape Architect for the project. 

4. The Developer shall post securities in accordance with the City prepared Bond and Fee Letter 
based on a final Engineer’s Estimate of Grading and Improvements Cost prepared by the 
project engineer.  The Developer is required to provide a Cash Clean Up deposit for all 
grading, landscaping, private Improvements and onsite drainage improvements prior to 
approval of Grading Plans and issuance of Grading Permit. This Cash Clean Up Deposit 
amount shall be 10% of the total cost of the project private improvements, drainage and 
landscaping.  The Developer is required to provide Performance (100% of total public 
improvement cost estimate), Labor and Material (50% of total public improvement cost 
estimate) and Guarantee and Warrantee (10 % of total public improvement cost estimate) 
bonds for all public improvements prior to approval of the Improvement Plans and issuance 
of Building Permits. All improvements shall be completed prior to issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy. 

5. No Building Permits shall be issued for any construction within this Subdivision until the Final 
Subdivision Map is recorded and either: 

a) All conditions of the Tentative Subdivision Map have been fulfilled: or 

b) Those conditions unfulfilled at the time of an application for Building Permits shall be 
secured and agreements executed in a form and manner satisfactory to the City Attorney 
and City Engineer. 

6. If site conditions change adjacent to the proposed development prior to completion of the 
project, the developer will be responsible to modify his/her improvements to accommodate 
these changes.  The determination and extent of the modification shall be to the satisfaction 
of the City Engineer. 

7. All public improvements shall be constructed in a manner that does not damage existing 
public improvements.  Any damage shall be determined by and corrected to the satisfaction 
of the City Engineer. 

8. The engineer shall submit to the Planning Department a copy of the Tentative Map as 
presented to the Planning Commission and the City Council together with any changes 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 9 of 16



contained in the adopted final conditions of approval.  The Tentative Map will be certified by 
the Planning Department verifying that it is an accurate reproduction of the approved 
Tentative Map and must be included in the first submittal for Final Map and grading plan 
check to the Engineering Department. 

STREET IMPROVEMENTS AND TRAFFIC 

1. Public street improvements shall be constructed to City Standards as required by the 
Subdivision Ordinance in effect at the time of the Tentative Map approval and to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer.  Specific details, including final concrete driveway apron 
design for the project entrances, concrete curb & gutter and sidewalk replacement, drainage, 
street lighting, etc. shall be resolved to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

2. The Developer shall remove and replace all damaged sidewalk, curb and gutter, along all 
project frontages to the satisfaction of the City Engineer prior to issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy. 

3. Access to this project shall be provided from W. 2nd Avenue and improved with an alley-type 
driveway apron in accordance with Escondido Standard Drawing No. G-5-E with a minimum 
throat width of 24 feet.   The final location and design of this driveway apron and paved 
access into the project shall be approved by the City Engineer and City Fire Marshal as part 
of the Grading plans. 

4. The project’s access drive and unloading area shall be adequately illuminated from the 
project building structure to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and Building Official.    This 
lighting shall be maintained by the Home Owner’s Association. 

5. All on-site driveways, and parking areas will be private.  Typical sections and design details 
shall be to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and Community Development Director.  

6. The Developer’s engineer shall prepare and submit for approval by the City Engineer a 
complete final Signing and Striping plan for all improved and modified roadways. The 
developer will be responsible for removal of all existing and the construction of all new signing 
and striping in compliance with the current CA MUTCD standards and to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer. 

7. The developer will be required to install “No Parking – Bike Lanes” signs along the project’s 
Quince Street frontage at 150-foot spacing.  The signs shall be mounted on the street light 
poles where possible. 

8. The Developer shall repaint all pavement striping and markings adjacent to the project that 
have been damaged and prematurely faded due to project construction traffic to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer.  

9. The developer will be required to provide a detailed detour and traffic control plan, for all 
construction within existing rights-of-way, to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  This plan 
shall be approved prior to the issuance of an Encroachment Permit for construction within 
the public right-of-way. 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 10 of 16



10. The developer may be responsible for an overlay of S. Quince Street due to the many utility 
trenches necessary to serve this project.  The determination of the extent of the overlay shall 
be to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

11. Adequate horizontal sight distance shall be provided at all driveways.  Increased parkway 
widths, open space easements, and restrictions on landscaping may be required at the 
discretion of the City Engineer. 

12. Pedestrian access routes shall be provided into the project to the satisfaction of the City 
Engineer and City Building Official. 

13. All gated entrances shall be designed and improved to the satisfaction of the City Engineer 
and Fire Marshal. 

14. The developer shall install trash capture devices on existing storm drain inlets along the 
project’s frontage to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

15. Existing driveways along the project’s W. Grand Avenue and S. Quince Street frontages shall 
be completely removed and shall be replaced with full height curb, gutter, and sidewalk in 
accordance with City standards.  curb, gutter, and sidewalk shall be replaced in-kind to match 
existing color and patterns. 

16. Short-term parking spaces shall be installed along the project’s W. Grand Avenue frontage 
to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  The parking spaces shall be installed to match the 
existing paving, color, patterns and striping along Grand Avenue. 

17. Only those Mercado street furniture items, lighting fixtures, and architectural features 
specifically identified for removal or relocation shall be disturbed.  All other items shall be 
protected in place and any damage to these items shall be corrected or compensated for to 
the satisfaction of the City Engineer and Director of Community Development.   Before work 
in this area commences a final review and tabulation of the items in the Mercado right-of-way 
to be disturbed shall be approved by the City Engineer. 

GRADING 

1. A site grading and erosion control plan prepared by a registered Civil Engineer shall be 
approved by the Engineering Department.  The first submittal of the grading plan shall be 
accompanied by 3 copies of the preliminary soils and geotechnical report.  The soils engineer 
will be required to indicate in the soils report that he/she has reviewed the grading design 
and found it to be in conformance with his/her recommendations. 

2. Any proposed retaining walls not a part of the building foundations or stem walls shall be 
shown on and permitted as part of the site grading plan.   Profiles and structural details shall 
be shown on the site grading plan and the Soils Engineer shall state on the plans that the 
proposed retaining wall design is in conformance with the recommendations and 
specifications as outlined in the Geotechnical report.    Structural calculations shall be 
submitted for review by a Consulting Engineer for all walls not covered by Regional or City 
Standard Drawings.  Stem walls, foundation structures, or deepened footings that are to be 
constructed as part of a building structure will be permitted as part of the Building Dept. plan 
review and permit process. 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 11 of 16



3. Erosion control, including riprap, interim slope planting, sandbags, or other erosion control 
measures shall be provided to control sediment and silt from the project.  The developer shall 
be responsible for maintaining all erosion control facilities throughout the project. 

4. The developer shall be responsible for the recycling of all excavated materials designated as 
Industrial Recyclables (soil, asphalt, sand, concrete, land clearing brush and rock) at a 
recycling center or other location(s) approved by the City Engineer. 

5. A Construction General Permit is required from the State Water Resources Control Board for 
all storm water discharges associated with a construction activity where clearing, grading, 
and excavation results in a land disturbance of one or more acres. 

6. All blasting operations performed in connection with the improvement of the project shall 
conform to the City of Escondido Blasting Operations Ordinance. 

7. All existing foundations and structures, other than those designated “to remain” on the 
Tentative Map, shall be removed or demolished from the site.  

8. The developer will be required to obtain permission from adjoining property owners for any 
off-site grading necessary to construct the project and/or the required improvements. 

9. All driveway grades shall conform to current Escondido Design Standards and Escondido 
Standard Drawings. 

DRAINAGE 

1. Final on-site and off-site storm drain improvements shall be determined to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer and shall be based on a drainage study to be prepared by the Engineer of 
Work.  The drainage study shall be in conformance with the City of Escondido Design 
Standards. 

2. All on-site storm drains not in public easements are private.  The responsibility for 
maintenance of these storm drains shall be that of the Home Owner’s Association.  Provisions 
stating this shall be included in the CC&Rs. 

3. The project shall limit drainage flows to their pre-construction rates.  Details and calculations 
for the detention basins shall be submitted and approved as part of the grading plan check. 

4. A Storm Water Quality Management Plan (SWQMP) in compliance with the City’s latest 
adopted Storm Water Design Manual shall be prepared for all newly created or replaced 
onsite impervious areas, impervious frontage, and required offsite improvements.  The 
SWQMP shall be submitted for approval with the final improvement and grading plans.  The 
SWQMP shall include hydro-modification calculations, treatment calculations, post-
construction storm water treatment measures, and maintenance requirements. 

5. All site drainage with emphasis on the parking and driveway areas shall be treated to remove 
expected contaminants using a high efficiency non-mechanical method of treatment.   The 
City highly encourages the use of bio-retention areas as the primary method of storm water 
retention and treatment.   The landscape plans will need to reflect these areas of storm water 
treatment. 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 12 of 16



6. The developer will be required to have the current owner of the property sign, notarize, and 
record a Storm Water Control Facility Maintenance Agreement.  

WATER SUPPLY 

1. All new water main locations and sizing shall be to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  
Required water main improvements for the project shall include the design and construction 
of a 12-inch public water line in S. Quince Street, from 2nd Avenue to W. Valley Parkway, in 
accordance with the current City of Escondido Design Standards and Standard Drawings 
and to the satisfaction of the Utilities Engineer.  

2. Fire hydrants together with an adequate water supply shall be installed at locations approved 
by the Fire Marshal.  Fire hydrants shall connect to a minimum 8-inch water main. 

3. A fire suppression sprinkler system shall be designed and constructed per current City of 
Escondido Design Standards and Standard Drawings and per the requirements of the Fire 
Marshal. 

4. Water meters and back flow prevention devices shall not be installed within a driveway apron 
or private drive areas. 

5. All on-site water lines and backflow prevention devices beyond the City water meter shall be 
considered a private water system.  The property owner shall be responsible for all 
maintenance of these water lines and appurtenances. 

6. No trees or deep rooted plants shall be planted within 10-feet of any water mains. 

7. There shall be no permanent structures located within the City’s Public Utilities Easements. 

SEWER 

1. A private 6-inch minimum PVC sewer lateral with a standard clean-out within 18-inches of 
the Public Utilities Easement or right-of-way shall be constructed for the project and shown 
on the Improvement and Grading plans. The private sewer lateral shall connect to the existing 
18-inch sewer main in S. Quince Street. Sewer laterals less than 8-inches in diameter shall 
connect to the sewer main with a wye fitting or Inserta-Tee. 

2. All sewer laterals shall be constructed per current City of Escondido Design Standards and 
Standard Drawings and per the current Uniform Plumbing Code.   

3. No trees or deep rooted bushes shall be planted within 15-feet of any sewer main or within 
10-feet of any sewer lateral. Sewer laterals shall be 5-feet horizontally clear from other 
utilities. 

4. All sewer lateral(s) shall be considered a private sewer system.  The Home Owners 
Association will be responsible for all maintenance of the sewer lateral(s) to the sewer main.  
Provisions stating this shall be included in the CC&Rs. 

5. There shall be no permanent structures located within the City’s Public Utilities Easements. 

 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 13 of 16



FINAL MAP - EASEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS 

1. All easements, both private and public, affecting subject property shall be shown and 
delineated on the Final Map. 

2. Public utility easements for sewer, water, storm drain, etc. which are deemed necessary by 
the City Engineer shall be granted to the City. 

3. The project includes a street vacation of the public alley right-of-way within or adjoining the 
project boundary.  Specific areas to be vacated shall be determined to the satisfaction of the 
City Engineer.  A public utility easement shall be reserved over the portion of the alley to be 
vacated.   The street vacation with the reservation of a public utility easement must be 
approved by the City Council prior to recordation of the Final Map.  

4. The following public utility easements shall be granted to the City on the Final Map: 2-feet 
along S. Quince Street and 2-feet northerly of and in addition to the public utility easement 
reserved from the alley street vacation.   

5. The developer is responsible for making the arrangements to vacate all streets or quitclaim 
all easements of record which conflict with the proposed development prior to approval of the 
final map.  All street vacations shall be accomplished by means of a separate public hearing.  
If an easement of record contains an existing utility that must remain in service, proof of 
arrangements to quitclaim the easement once new utilities are constructed must be submitted 
to the City Engineer prior to approval of the Final Map.  Building permits will not be issued for 
lots in which construction will conflict with existing easements, nor will any securities be 
released until the existing easements are quitclaimed. 

REPAYMENTS AND FEES 

1. A cash security shall be posted to pay any costs incurred by the City to clean-up eroded soils 
and debris, repair damage to public or private property and improvements, install new BMPs, 
and stabilize and/or close-up a non-responsive or abandoned project.  Any moneys used by 
the City for cleanup or damage will be drawn from this security and the grading permit will be 
revoked by written notice to the developer until the required cash security is replaced. The 
cleanup cash security shall be released upon final acceptance of the grading and 
improvements for this project. The amount of the cash security shall be 10% of the total 
estimated cost of the grading, drainage, landscaping, and best management practices items 
of work with a minimum of $5,000 up to a maximum of $50,000, unless a higher amount is 
deemed necessary by the City Engineer. 

2. The developer shall be required to pay all development fees of the City then in effect at the 
time, and in such amounts as may prevail when building permits are issued. 

CC&Rs 

1. Copies of the CC&Rs shall be submitted to the Engineering Department and Planning 
Department for approval prior to approval of the Final Map. 

2. The developer shall make provisions in the CC&Rs for maintenance by the Home Owners’ 
Association of private driveways, parking areas, private utilities (including sewer and water), 
storm water and drainage facilities, private street lighting, landscaping both onsite and within 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 14 of 16



fronting public right-of-ways.  These provisions must be approved by the Engineering 
Department prior to approval of the Final Map. 

3. The CC&Rs must state that the Home Owners’ Association assumes liability for damage and 
repair to City utilities in the event that damage is caused by the property owners’ association 
when repair or replacement of private utilities is done. 

4. The CC&Rs must state that (if stamped concrete is used in the private driveway) the 
homeowners’ association is responsible for replacing the stamped concrete in kind if the City 
has to trench the street for repair or replacement of an existing utility. 

 
UTILITY UNDERGROUNDING AND RELOCATION 

1. All existing overhead utilities within the subdivision boundary or along fronting streets shall 
be relocated underground as required by the Subdivision Ordinance.  The developer may 
request a waiver of this condition by writing a letter to the City Engineer explaining his/her 
reasons for requesting the waiver.  The developer will be required to pay a waiver fee as 
adopted by City Council resolution. 

2. The developer shall sign a written agreement stating that he has made all such arrangements 
as may be necessary to coordinate and provide utility construction, relocation and 
undergrounding.  All new utilities shall be constructed underground.  

 
FIRE DEPARTMENT CONDITIONS 

 
1.  All fire underground line, fire sprinkler, fire alarm, and any standpipe systems shall comply 

with the current additions of NFPA and the California Fire Code. 

  

2. All Fire protection system plans shall be deferred submittals to the Escondido Fire 

Department.  

 

3. An approved paved access and approved adequate water supply shall be provided prior to 

any combustibles being brought to the site.  

 

4. The number and location of FDC/ PIV ‘s shall be determined by the Fire Marshall.  These 

devices shall not be on the building and shall be placed in an approved location.  

 

5. Fire access shall be paved all-weather surface able to support the weight of the Fire apparatus 

(75,000 lbs.).   

  

6. A minimum turning radius of 28ft inside shall be provided on all fire department access 

roadways, to the satisfaction of the Fire Marshal. 

 

7. An adequate water supply with minimum fire flow shall be as determined by the Fire Marshal.  

 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 15 of 16



8. Fire lanes shall be designated and approved by the Fire Marshal and painted red with white 

letter, marked “no parking fire lane.”  Fire lane shall be maintained by the project management 

company for the duration of the project. 

 

9. Bollards may be required for fire hydrants in close proximity to vehicular traffic aisles. 

 
 

Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 16 of 16



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 1 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 2 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 3 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 4 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 5 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 6 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 7 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 8 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 9 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 10 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 11 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 12 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 13 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 14 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 15 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 16 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 17 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 18 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 19 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 20 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 21 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 22 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 23 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 24 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 25 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 26 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 27 of 28



Resolution No. 2019-143 

Exhibit “D” 

Page 28 of 28



ORDINANCE NO. 2019-15

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ESCONDIDO, CALIFORNIA, APPROVING A 
MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR A 32-UNIT 
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT AND AUTHORIZING 
THE FILING OF A NOTICE OF EXEMPTION

APPLICANT: 555 W. Grand, LLC
CASE NO.: PHG19-0021

The City Council of the City of Escondido (“City”), California, DOES HEREBY 

ORDAIN as follows:

SECTION 1. The City Council makes the following findings: 

a) 555 W. Grand, LLC ("Applicant") submitted a verified land use 

development application on approximately 0.45-acres of land generally located on the 

southeastern corner of W. Grand Avenue and Quince Street, north of Second Avenue, 

addressed at 555 W. Grand Avenue (APNs 233-022-01, -02, -21 and portion of -23), in 

the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific Plan, more particularly described as 

shown on Exhibit “A” (the “Property Description”), attached to this Ordinance and 

incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth. Said verified application 

was submitted to, and processed by, the Planning Division of the Community 

Development Department as Planning Case Nos. PHG19-0021 and SUB19-0008.  The 

Applicant seeks approval of a Master and Precise Development Plan, and Development 

Agreement to construct a 32-unit mixed-use condominium project, as shown on Exhibits 

“D” (Master and Precise Development Plan), and on file in the Planning Division, and 

incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth. 

b) The Planning Division of the Community Development Department 

completed its review and scheduled a public hearing regarding the application before 



the Planning Commission for September 10, 2019.  Following the public hearing on 

September 10, 2019, the Planning Commission adopted Resolution No. 2019-20, which 

recommended that the City Council approve the project’s Master and Precise 

Development Plan, Development Agreement, and associated Tentative Subdivision 

Map.

SECTION 2. An original copy of the proposed Master and Precise 

Development Plan, Development Agreement, and associated Tentative Subdivision 

Map and all other related Project materials are on file in the Office of the City Clerk, with 

a copy of each document submitted to the City Council for its consideration.  The City 

Clerk, whose office is located at 201 North Broadway, Escondido, California 92025, is 

hereby designated as the custodian of the documents and other materials which 

constitute the record of proceedings upon which the City Council's decision is based, 

which documents and materials shall be available for public inspection and copying in 

accordance with the provisions of the California Public Records Act.

SECTION 3. The City Council did on October 9, 2019, hold a duly noticed 

public hearing as prescribed by law. Evidence was submitted to and considered by the 

City Council, including, without limitation:

a) Written information including all application materials and other written 

and graphical information posted on the project website.

b) Oral testimony from City staff, interested parties, and the public.

c) The City Council staff report, dated October 9, 2019, which along with its 

attachments, is incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein, 

including the Planning Commission's recommendation on the request.

d) Additional information submitted during the public hearing.



SECTION 4. Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, a Class 32 

CEQA Exemption relative to the Project is attached as Exhibit “E” and incorporated 

herein by this reference as though fully set forth, and a Notice of Exemption will be filed 

with the County Clerk.

SECTION 5. That, upon consideration of the Findings of Fact/Factors to be 

Considered, attached as Exhibit “B”, and the Conditions of Approval, attached as 

Exhibit “C”, the City Council desires at this time and deems it to be in the best public 

interest to approve the Master and Precise Development Plan, and Development 

Agreement, as specified and depicted in the October 9, 2019, City Council staff report, 

and incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

SECTION 6. That the Development Agreement, attached as Exhibit "F," is 

hereby approved as set forth substantially to the same form on file with the Office of the 

City Clerk, and incorporated herein by this reference as though fully set forth herein.

SECTION 7.  All references within this Ordinance to "Applicant" or "Developer," 

shall be equally applicable to the current property owner and to any successors-in-

interest or assigns, whether such successors of assigns own, control, or otherwise have 

development authority for all, a portion, or portions of that property included within the 

Project site.

SECTION 8. SEPARABILITY. If any section, subsection sentence, clause, 

phrase or portion of this Ordinance is held invalid or unconstitutional for any reason by 

any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct 

and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining 

portions.



SECTION 9. That as of the effective date of this ordinance, all ordinances or 

parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.

SECTION 10. The City Council authorizes all subsequent action to be taken by 

City Officials consistent with this Ordinance.  

SECTION 11. That the City Clerk is hereby directed to certify to the passage of 

this Ordinance and to cause the same or a summary to be prepared in accordance with 

Government Code Section 36933, to be published one time within 15 days of its 

passage in a newspaper of general circulation, printed and published in the County and 

circulated in the City of Escondido.

SECTION 12. The Ordinance shall become effective 30 days from the date of 

the passage.  



EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Property Description 

SUB18-0008; PHG 18-0021 

 

APN 233-022-0100 and 233-022-0200 
 
Lots 20 through 24 inclusive, Block 75 of Escondido, in the City of Escondido, County of 
San Diego, according to Map No. 336, filed in the Office of the County Recorder of San 
Diego County, July 10, 1886. 
 
Also including approximately 2,275 square feet (gross) of land that includes a portion of 
Lots 1 and 2, Block 75 of Map 336, City of Escondido, County of San Diego (APN 233-
022-2100 and portion of 233-022-23, and portion of the public alley) as depicted below: 

 

 

Area to be included in project 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "A" 

Page 1 of 1

kperaino
Typewritten Text

kperaino
Typewritten Text

kperaino
Typewritten Text



EXHIBIT “B” 

Findings of Fact/Factors to be Considered 

SUB18-0008; PHG 18-0021 
555 W. Grand Avenue 

 
 

Environmental Determination(s): 

 

1. Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, (CEQA, Public Resources Code Section 

21000 et. seq.), and its implementing regulations (the State CEQA Guidelines), Article 14 of 

the California Code of Regulations Section 15000 et. seq., the City of Escondido is the Lead 

Agency for the project (“Project”), as the public agency with the principal responsibility for 

approving the Project. 

  

2. All of the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act have been met because it 

was found that the project will not have a significant effect on the environment as 

demonstrated in the Class 32 CEQA Exemption prepared for the Project, dated September 4, 

2019.  Design measures were incorporated into the Conditions of Approval for to address 

noise and hazardous site impacts.  

 

Tentative Subdivision Map Determination(s): 

 

1. The location, design, and residential density of the proposed planned development are 

consistent with the goals and policies of the Escondido General Plan because high-density 

residential and mixed-use development is permitted and encouraged in Specific Plan Area 

#9.  The proposed infill residential project would be in conformance with General Plan Housing 

Goals and Policies to plan for quality managed and sustainable growth and provide a range 

of housing opportunities for all income groups and populations with special needs, and which 

encourage a compact, efficient urban form the promotes transit, supports nearby commercial 

establishments and takes advantage of infrastructure improvements installed to 

accommodate their intended intensities.  The site is physically suitable for the proposed 

density of development because the property is within a high-density redevelopment area that 

was previously a blighted property in the Mercado District. Development of the property will 

assist in the ongoing revitalization of the downtown retail core by establishing a permanent 

residential base in the downtown area. The subject site is located within the Mercado District 

of the DSP, which allows multi-family mixed-use development up to 100 du/ac.  Based on the 

property size of 0.45 acres, the Mercado District would allow up to 45 units and a four-story 

structure up to 60 feet in height. The request to construct 32 units and a four- story structure 

ranging in height from up to approximately 57 feet in height is consistent with the land use 

density and development requirements envisioned for this area.  The project density of 71.1 

du/ac is consistent with the allowable density of the DSP. 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 1 of 6



2. The approval of the proposed project would be based on sound principles of land use and is 

well-integrated with its surroundings near residentially and commercially developed properties 

because adequate parking, access, on-site circulation, utilities, landscaping and open space 

would be provided (as detailed in the staff report). The residential project also would not be 

out of character for the area which contains other multi-story residential developments.  The 

design of the project would be in conformance with the Mercado District because the project 

would provide residential units with varying number of rooms and sizes to accommodate a 

wide range of housing needs (with ownership opportunities).  The project includes a variety 

of amenities such as individual balconies units and various common areas and features.  All 

vehicular traffic generated by the project will be accommodated safely and without degrading 

the level of service on the adjoining streets or intersections. 

 
3. The project would not result in the destruction of desirable natural features, nor be visually 

obstructive or disharmonious with surrounding areas because the site is not located on a 

skyline or intermediate ridge, and the site does not contain any significant topographical 

features.  The proposed grading design would not result in any manufactured slopes or pad 

elevations that would create any significant adverse visual or compatibility impacts with 

adjacent lots, nor block any significant views.   

 

4. The site is suitable for this residential type of mixed-use development and density because 

the General Plan and Mercado District allows for multi-story high density residential 

development.  The site is relatively flat and extensive grading is not proposed.  The project 

would be compatible with the surrounding uses because the subject site within an urban 

commercial area developed with a variety of commercial and multi-story residential 

developments of varying density and design.  Adequate access and public utilities can be 

provided to the site.  All vehicular traffic generated by the project will be accommodated safely 

and without degrading the level of service on the adjoining streets or intersections.  

Appropriate noise attenuation would be provided for the new units.  The proposed project also 

would not result in a significant impact to biological or natural resources.  

 

5. The design of the residential map and the type of improvements are not likely to cause serious 

public health problems because the project would not degrade the levels of service on the 

adjoining streets or drainage systems.  Adequate water and sewer could be provided to the 

site.  The project would not cause substantial environmental damage and avoidably injure fish 

or wildlife or their habitat because the site is located within an urban setting and previously 

has been developed with a commercial use.   

 
6. The design of the map and the type of improvements will not conflict with easements of record, 

or easements established through court judgments, or acquired by the population at large, for 

access through, or use of property within the proposed map because any existing easements 

and improvements will either be accommodated within the project design; be quitclaimed prior 

to recordation of the map; or alternate provisions provided. 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 2 of 6



7. The design of the map has provided, to the extent feasible, for future passive or natural 

heating or cooling opportunities in the subdivision.  The lot sizes and the subdivision 

configuration provides opportunities for passive/solar heating. 

 

8. All permits and approvals applicable to the proposed map pursuant to the Escondido Zoning 

Code (Chapter 33 Zoning) will have been obtained prior to the recordation of the map. 

 

9. The proposed map and associated planned development will not conflict with regional or local 

housing because the proposed infill residential mixed-use project would be in conformance 

with General Plan Housing Goals and Policies to expand the stock of all housing; increase 

homeownership; plan for quality managed and sustainable growth; and encourage a compact, 

efficient urban form that promotes transit, supports nearby commercial establishments and 

takes advantage of infrastructure improvements installed to accommodate their intended 

intensities.  The proposed project would not diminish the Quality-of-Life Standards of the 

General Plan as the project would not materially degrade the level of service on adjacent 

streets or public facilities, create excessive noise, and adequate on-site parking, circulation 

and public services could be provided to the site.  All lots would maintain all development 

standards of the applicable zone (in accordance with Article 19, Planned Development) and 

observe the density of the General Plan and area plans, as noted in the sections above. 

 

10. The proposed map meets all of the requirements or conditions imposed by the Map Act and 

the Escondido Zoning Code, as detailed in the staff reports, the Escondido General Plan and 

above findings. 

 
Master and Precise Development Plan Determination(s): 

 

1. The location, design, and residential density of the proposed planned development are 

consistent with the goals and policies of the Escondido General Plan because high-density 

residential and mixed-use development is permitted and encouraged in Specific Plan Area 

#9.  The proposed infill residential project would be in conformance with General Plan Housing 

Goals and Policies to plan for quality managed and sustainable growth and provide a range 

of housing opportunities for all income groups and populations with special needs, and which 

encourage a compact, efficient urban form the promotes transit, supports nearby commercial 

establishments and takes advantage of infrastructure improvements installed to 

accommodate their intended intensities.  The site is physically suitable for the proposed 

density of development because the property is within a high-density redevelopment area that 

was previously a blighted property in the Mercado District. Development of the property will 

assist in the ongoing revitalization of the downtown retail core by establishing a permanent 

residential base in the downtown area. The subject site is located within the Mercado District 

of the DSP, which allows multi-family mixed-use development up to 100 du/ac.  Based on the 

property size of 0.45 acres, the Mercado District would allow up to 45 units and a four-story 

structure up to 60 feet in height. The request to construct 32 units and a four- story structure 

ranging in height from up to approximately 57 feet in height is consistent with the land use 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 3 of 6



density and development requirements envisioned for this area.  The project density of 71.1 

du/ac is consistent with the allowable density of the DSP. 

 
2. The proposed location of the development allows the planned development to be well 

integrated with its surroundings by providing a high-density mixed-use residential housing 

project in close proximity to transit, and near retail and other commercially developed 

properties. Adequate parking, circulation, utilities and access would be provided for the 

development (as detailed in the staff report).  The project also would not be out of character 

for the area because the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific Plan envisions an upscale 

urban area with a mix of high-density residential and commercial development, and the 

proximity to the Escondido Transit Center makes the density appropriate.  The overall mass 

and scale of the buildings is appropriate for the proposed location due to the street-oriented 

appeal and urban design characteristics, along with the quality of the architectural design and 

use of a variety of building materials and colors. 

 

3. All vehicular traffic generated by the proposed development would be accommodated safely 

and without causing undue congestion upon adjoining streets, as determined by the 

Engineering Division and detailed in the preliminary Traffic Assessment that was prepared for 

the project by Michael Baker International (dated February 12, 2019, and amended April 22, 

2019).   

 

4. The overall design of the proposed residential mixed-use development would produce an 

attractive, efficient and stable environment for living, because adequate residential amenities, 

parking, and landscaping would be provided, and the design of the development is consistent 

with a high quality, urban infill project that will provide housing opportunities within walking 

distance of downtown commercial and retail services consistent with the City’s vision for the 

downtown area.  The project includes sufficient on-site open space amenities appropriate for 

this high-density urban development, including a podium and roof-deck common open areas 

with view decks and outdoor seating areas, and private balconies for each unit. 

 

5. The proposed development would be well integrated into its surroundings, because the new 

structure would incorporate compatible and integrated architecture, materials and colors, and 

the project would not be visually obstructive or disharmonious with surrounding areas, or harm 

major views from adjacent properties.  The proposed grading design would not result in any 

manufactured slopes or pad that would create any significant adverse visual or compatibility 

impacts with adjacent lots, nor block any significant views.  Extensive grading is not required 

to support the project, and the project would not result in the destruction of desirable natural 

features, nor be visually obstructive or disharmonious with surrounding areas because the 

site is not located on a skyline or intermediate ridge, and the site does not contain any 

significant topographical features. 

 

6. Utilizing the Planned Development process allows flexibility from the Specific Plan 

requirements to achieve a high-density residential project in the urban core.  The project would 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 4 of 6



provide residential opportunities integrated into a comprehensive and self-contained 

development, which creates an environment of sustained desirability and stability through the 

controls offered and regulated through the Planned Development process. 

 

7. The project would provide an environment of sustained desirability and stability because   city 

services and adequate access would be provided; adequate parking would be provided; the 

proposed architecture would be integrated into its surroundings; and the project could serve 

as a catalyst for further revitalization efforts in the area. 

 

8. The improvements are not likely to cause substantial environmental concerns because the 

property was previously developed as a gas station that has since been demolished.  The site 

does not contain any sensitive or protected habitat or other environmental concerns as 

determined during the environmental review.  The design of the project and the type of 

improvements are not likely to cause serious public health problems because the project will 

not degrade the levels of service on the adjoining streets or drainage system as the project 

incorporates street and drainage improvements are part of the project and city sewer and 

water is available to the site. 

 
Development Agreement Determination(s): 

 

1. The Development Agreement is consistent with the goals and objectives of the Mercado 

District of the Downtown Specific Plan because it enables the property owner to construct a 

higher-density mixed-use development in support a vibrant downtown economy while 

maintaining the overall limit of 5,275 dwelling units in the Downtown Specific Plan area.  

 
2. The Development Agreement conforms to the need for public convenience, general welfare 

and good land use practices because the project will provide additional housing opportunities 

within 1/3 mile of mass transit and is located in close proximity to retail and services, parks, 

library, and cultural events. 

 
3. The Development Agreement will not be detrimental to the health, safety and general welfare 

as the project as detailed in the findings/factors above and staff report prepared for the project 

dated September 10, 2019.   

 

4. The proposed project and Development Agreement will not adversely affect the orderly 

development of property or the preservation of property values because the project would 

provide residential opportunities integrated into a comprehensive and self-contained 

development, which creates an environment of sustained desirability and stability through the 

controls offered and regulated through the Planned Development process. 

 

5. The proposed project and associated Development Agreement is consistent with the 

provisions of Government Code Section 65864 et seq. (Zoning Code, Ch. 93, § 9309; Ord. 

No. 2018-07R, § 7, 4-18-18) 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 5 of 6



 

Density Transfer Determination(s): 

 

1. The City’s Density Transfer Program allows the transfer of unused residential density from the 

developing properties to another, future project in the downtown area.  Through the program, 

residential units that are transferred from undeveloped or underutilized properties (i.e. sending 

areas) are placed in a density credit pool and are held until there are developing properties 

(i.e. receiving areas) acquire the density.  Through the application of Planning Case File No. 

PHG17-0026, the subject property has been deemed a candidate to be a "sending area" and 

13 units have been identified for transfer into the density credit pool.  There are currently no 

units in the credit pool.  If transferred, the new credit pool balance would be 13 units, as of 

this writing.  

 

2. The transfer of said units would help incentivize future development - and keep it in the 

downtown area to support nearby retailers, services, entertainment, and attract other new 

businesses that are part of a desirable downtown economy.  The overall amount of new 

development within the downtown would remain the same; however, implementation of the 

program creates a flexible way to still achieve the ultimate build-out of the downtown and 

create a future sustainable center of activity.  Adopting the project and approving the transfer 

of units would help accommodate the city's share of future regional housing needs with greater 

mix of housing types and choices, which benefits everyone in the community. 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “B” 

Page 6 of 6



EXHIBIT “C” 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
SUB18-0008, PHG18-0021 

555 West Grand Avenue 
 

 
PLANNING CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 
A. General 

 

1. This project is conditionally approved as set forth on the application/plans received by the City 

of Escondido, dated August 30, 2019, and designated as recommended for approval by the 

Planning Commission on September 10, 2019, and shall not be altered without express 

authorization by the Community Development Department. 

 

2. Approval of this request shall not waive compliance with any sections of the Municipal Code 

and all other applicable City regulations in effect at the time of Building Permit issuance unless 

specifically waived herein and shown on the project plans.  Nothing in this permit shall relieve 

the Applicant from complying with conditions and regulations generally imposed upon 

activities similar in nature to the activity authorized by this permit.  This action does not relieve 

the applicant of the obligation to comply with all ordinances, statutes, regulations, and 

procedures. 

 

 Exceptions granted by the Planned Development Permit to the development standards 

identified in the Downtown Specific Plan are as follows: 

 

 a. Allow up to 29.5 percent reduction in the number of parking spaces which will require the 

project to provide a minimum of 43 parking spaces within the garage to include up to 7 

compact spaces. 

  

 b. Allow reduction in open space of 1,482 SF as detailed in the September 10, 2019 Planning 

Commission staff report.  Said amount of open space is based on the project set plans, 

dated August 30, 2019 on file with the Planning Division.  Implementation of certain project 

conditions may require additional reductions of open space.  Any modification to open 

space provision effecting the total number of SF provided as a result of condition 

compliance shall be deemed to substantially conform with scope of the details of the 

project request, conditions imposed by the Planning Commission and/or City Council, and 

satisfy the terms of the Development Agreement.   

 

 c. Minor encroachment into the front setback for a ground-floor design feature (curved stairs 

at northwestern corner to podium level), as shown on the development plans, dated 

August 30, 2019. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 1 of 16



 

 d. Allow upper story architectural features to encroach into the public right-of-way, as shown 

on the development plans, dated August 30, 2019. 

 

3. Prior to any use of the project site pursuant to this permit, all conditions of approval contained 

herein shall be completed or secured to the satisfaction of the Community Development 

Department. 

 

4. The developer shall be required to pay all development fees of the City prior to building permit 

issuance, including any applicable City-Wide Facilities fees at the established rate. Such fees 

may include, but not be limited to: Permit and Plan Checking Fees, Water and Sewer Service 

Fees, School Fees, Traffic Mitigation Fees, Flood Control Mitigation Fees, Park Mitigation 

Fees, Fire Mitigation/Cost Recovery Fees, and other fees listed in the Fee Schedule, which 

may be amended.  Arrangements to pay these fees shall be made prior to building permit 

issuance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Department. 

 

5. All construction shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Escondido Zoning Code 

and requirements of the Planning Department, Building Official, and the Fire Chief. 

6. The property description, attached as Exhibit “A” to this Ordinance, has been provided by the 

applicant and neither the City of Escondido nor any of its employees assume responsibility for 

the accuracy of said legal description. 

7. All requirements of the Public Partnership Program, Ordinance No. 86-70 shall be satisfied 

prior to building permit issuance.  The ordinance requires that a public art fee be added at the 

time of the building permit issuance for the purpose of participating in the City Public Art 

Program, unless otherwise specified in the Development Agreement. 

8. Three (3) copies of revised plan sets and tentative map, reflecting any modifications identified 

in these conditions of approval, shall be submitted to the Planning Division for certification.  

Said plans must be certified by the Planning Division prior to submittal of grading, public 

improvement and landscape plans for the project.  

9. This Planned Development Permit shall expire three (3) years after the date of final approval 

of this project, that date being the effective date of the ordinance approving the Permit, unless 

otherwise specified in the Development Agreement. Extensions of time may be requested in 

the same manner as would be permitted for a tentative map. 

10. An inspection by the Planning Division will be required prior to occupancy of the project.  Items 

subject to inspection include, but are not limited to, parking layout and striping, identification 

of handicap parking stalls and required signage, landscaping, trash enclosures, and 

architecture, as well as any other conditions of approval.  Everything shall be installed prior to 

calling for an inspection, although preliminary inspections may be requested. Contact the 

project planner at (760) 839-4671 to arrange a final inspection. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 2 of 16



11. In the event that any of the conditions of this permit are not satisfied, the Community 

Development Department shall cause a noticed hearing to be set before the authorized 

agency to determine whether the City of Escondido should, acting through the authorized 

agency, add, amend, or delete conditions and regulations contained in this permit. 

12. Nothing in this permit shall authorize the applicant to intensify the authorized activity beyond 

that which is specifically described in this permit.  Any future modifications to the approved 

project will be reviewed relative to the findings for substantial conformance.  Modifications 

beyond the scope described therein will require submittal of an amendment to the project 

plans and approval by the authorized agency. 

13. The City of Escondido hereby notifies the applicant that the County Clerk’s Office requires a 

documentary handling fee of $50.00 in order to file a Notice of Exemption for the project 

(environmental determination for the project).  In conformance with California Environmental 

Quality Act (CEQA) Section 15062, the applicant should remit to the City of Escondido 

Planning Division, within two working days of the final approval of the project (the final 

approval being the date of this letter) a check payable to the “County Clerk” in the amount of 

$50.00.  The filing of a Notice of Exemption and the posting with the County Clerk starts a 35-

day statute of limitations period on legal challenges to the agency’s decision that the project 

is exempt from CEQA.  Failure to submit the required fee within the specified time noted above 

will result in the Notice of Exemption not being filed with the County Clerk, and a 180-day 

statute of limitations will apply. 

14. The project shall participate in the Density Transfer Program as a “sending area,” as described 

in Exhibit “B” to City Council Resolution No. 2019-69.  A deed restriction shall be recorded 

prior to building permit issuance, transferring thirteen (13) units into the Transfer Density 

Credit Pool. 

 

15. Implementation of the project requires the City to sell and dispose of a .05 city-owned triangle 

parcel, as described in the September 10, 2019 Planning Commission staff report and as 

shown in the project plans.  Escrow of said city-owned triangle parcel must close prior to Final 

Map approval by the City. 

 

B. Architecture and Design 

1. All signs are to be approved by a separate sign permit. All signs must be consistent with the 

sign standards in the Downtown Specific Plan, unless otherwise authorized by this Planned 

Development. 

2. A minimum of 80 cubic feet of private storage shall be provided for each residential unit as 

depicted on the development plans.  Said storage shall be in addition to typical cabinets and 

closets. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 3 of 16



3. Any retaining walls and raised planters along the project frontages shall be constructed with 

split-face block, stucco-finished or other appropriate decorative materials/finish to match the 

color(s) used on the building.  

4. All exterior lighting shall conform to the requirements of Article 35 (Outdoor Lighting 

Ordinance) of the Escondido Zoning Code.  Prior to building permit issuance, proposed 

outdoor lighting fixtures shall be submitted to the Planning Division for review and approval.  

Site lighting and photometric plans shall be included with the building plans. 

5. The building, architecture, colors and materials, and conceptual landscaping shall be in 

substantial conformance with the Master and Precise Development Plan attached as Exhibit 

“D” to the Ordinance and on-file with the Planning Division, except as modified by these 

conditions of approval.  Any major modifications to the exterior architectural building elements 

or lessening of the quality of the exterior design shall require the processing of a Precise Plan 

modification, as described in Article 19 of the Escondido Zoning Code. Minor modifications 

may be approved through the design review process described in Article 64 of the Escondido 

Zoning Code.  

 

6. An art feature shall be incorporated into the project (similar or equal to the concept kinetic art 

feature) identified on the plans and maintained throughout the life of the project.  The final 

design shall be submitted to the Staff Design Review Board prior to approval of the building 

plans for the project.   

 

7. The final designs for the garage vent features along Grand Avenue shall be submitted 

Planning Division design review.  The venting/screening features shall incorporate additional 

vertical architectural elements (while still allowing for adequate ventilation) consistent with the 

building design to help further break overall horizontal screen area into separate distinct 

elements.   

8. All mechanical equipment shall be screened from view in accordance with Section 33-1085 of 

the Escondido Zoning Code. 

9. All new utilities shall be underground. 

10. Exterior drainage downspouts shall be appropriately integrated into the architecture of the 

building and/or placed in appropriate exterior locations to help blend it into the design of the 

building.  They shall be painted/textured to blend with the building background.  This shall be 

clearly identified on the building plans.   

11. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall prepare exterior-to-interior noise 

report completed by a qualified acoustical consultant for the proposed on-site residential units 

and the common podium-level open space areas.  The report shall also assume a “windows-

closed” condition with vehicles traveling along the adjacent roadways in accordance with the 

identified speed limit.  The report would determine the predicted interior noise levels for the 

units.  If predicted noise levels are found to be in excess of 45 CNEL, the report would identify 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 4 of 16



architectural materials or techniques that could be included in project design plans to reduce 

noise levels to 45 CNEL in habitable rooms.   The report also shall identify any architectural 

techniques that would be included in the final project design to conform to the General Plan 

noise level goal for multi-family residential use of 65 dBA CNEL at the exterior common 

podium use areas.  The report shall be submitted and approved by the City prior to issuance 

of a building permit. 

12. The HVAC units on the project rooftop shall be installed with appropriate enclosures such that 

noise from HVAC operation does not exceed 55 dBA at the nearest off-site receptor.  A final 

acoustical analysis shall be submitted with the building plans to determine whether any final 

design measures are necessary to conform to the City’s Noise Ordinance.   

13. Prior to approval of the grading plans and grading permit for the site, a Health and Safety Plan 

for construction workers (including PPE and testing equipment when working in areas of 

known residual petroleum impact soils) and a soil and groundwater management plan for soil 

and groundwater that may be hauled from the site shall be prepared and approved by the San 

Diego Water Board.   

C. Operational 

1. Trash and recycling shall be picked up as frequently as necessary to prevent overflow.  The 

property owner/manager shall be responsible for placing/staging the trash bins in an 

appropriate area for pickup by the local trash hauler (that does not interfere with access to the 

facility or emergency vehicles).  Bins shall be returned to the designed trash room as soon as 

they have been emptied by the hauler. 

2. Provisions shall be made so that trash and recycling materials are not placed in the trash 

chute(s) while the bins are not in place. This may be accomplished by providing other 

receptacles in the trash room when the bins are not in place, by locking the chutes, or by other 

means that will accomplish this provision.  

3. Permitted animals/pets shall be allowed in conformance with those identified in the Escondido 

Zoning Code for R-5 zoned properties, unless more restrictive standards are applied by the 

property owner. 

4. All project generated noise shall conform to the City’s Noise Ordinance (Ordinance 90-08). 

5. Security cameras shall be provided if deemed necessary by the Police Chief. 

6. Balconies and patios shall be kept in a neat and orderly manner.  Items stored on balconies 

should be kept out of view or properly screened.  Items shall not be hung over, across or on 

balconies or patios (such a towels, clothing, etc.). 

7. Any decorative pavement, driveways and sidewalks shall be indicated on the building and 

landscape plans, including appropriate notes regarding type and color of materials. Any 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 5 of 16



decorative paving damaged or removed by the City or other utility provider in order to perform 

maintenance of public utility lines shall be replaced at the sole expense of the property owner. 

8. Commercial uses for the 300 square foot flex/office space on the ground floor shall be limited 

to the uses permitted or conditionally permitted in the Mercado District of the Downtown 

Specific Plan. 

D. Parking, Access and Circulation  

1. In accordance with the approved Planned Development Permit, a minimum of 43 parking 

spaces shall be provided on-site within the parking garage in addition to an area designated 

for up to 4 motorcycles.  The 43 parking spaces shall accommodate at least two accessible 

parking spaces.  No more than 30 percent of the parking spaces shall be designated as 

compact spaces.  All interior parking aisles shall be a minimum of 24 feet wide with appropriate 

turning radius at the end of the parking aisles, to the satisfaction of the Engineering Division. 

2. The parking garage shall be equipped with appropriate infrastructure for the future installation 

of the eighteen (18) mechanical vehicle lifts (e.g., appropriate pad/foundations, electrical 

conduit/connections, power source, clearance height, etc.).  At least five (5) vehicle lifts shall 

be installed upon initial occupancy of the facility to monitor the effectiveness of its use. 

 After occupancy, the applicant shall monitor the site’s overall parking provisions on an on-

going basis.  The on-going assessment shall be used to help determine if additional parking 

facilities are necessary to meet the project’s parking demand.  The applicant shall post a duly 

authorized surety bond, to the satisfaction of the Director of Community Development, to pay 

the City of Escondido up to a stated amount of money to install the balance of the mechanical 

parking lifts, tender options to do the same, and/or other benefits to ensure the completion of 

this bonded obligation. 

 The Director of Community Development has the authority to create/terminate the bonded 

contract and call upon or cancel the surety at any time prior to the expiration of the 

Development Agreement.  The bond shall spell out the options and make them part of the 

agreement. 

3. Future electric vehicle designated charging stations shall be provided in accordance with 2016 

California Green Building Code, Section 4.106.4.2. 

4. All parking spaces shall be striped in conformance with Article 39 of the Escondido Zoning 

Code, and shown on the improvements plans. 

5. The gated access to the proposed parking garage shall be electric.  All residents with assigned 

parking spaces shall be provided with remote access for entrance into the garage. An 

electric/magnetic loop shall be installed on the interior of the garage so that the gate 

automatically opens for exiting vehicles. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 6 of 16



6. Prior to building permit issuance, a parking and garage management plan shall be submitted 

to the City for review, and approved by the Director of Community Development. Said plan 

shall address parking lot access, space assignment(s), gate hours (if left open) general 

maintenance, signage and striping, delivery and other short-term parking 

allowances/requirements, guest parking, utility access and trash/recycling staging, and any 

other issues which affect the use and maintenance of the parking garage.  The parking and 

garage management plan shall specify that the surety bond amount, as required in Condition 

No. 2 of this subsection, meets the minimum capital requirements to remedy a performance 

default.  The applicant also shall provide 30-day transit passes to all tenants during the initial 

lease up period. 

7. Private secure bicycle parking facility for residents (such as bike racks) shall be installed within 

the parking garage, or other appropriate areas on site, as approved by the Planning Division.   

E. Landscaping 

1. All landscaping shall be installed prior to final occupancy.  

2. All vegetation shall be maintained in a flourishing manner, and kept free of all foreign matter, 

weeds and plant materials not approved as part of the landscape plan.   

3. All irrigation shall be maintained in fully operational condition.   

4. The property owner assumes all responsibility for maintaining all on-site landscaping and any 

landscaping in the public right-of-way adjacent to the property installed as part of the project, 

including the raised planters adjacent to the building along Grand Avenue and Quince Street, 

and any potted plants. 

5. The raised landscape planter along Grand Avenue shall contain a mix or taller vertical 

materials at appropriate intervals and medium height shrubs to help screen pedestrian views 

into the parking garage.  The raised planter along the Quince Street frontage also shall include 

the mix of taller and medium height planting materials, as the bio-filter design will 

accommodate.  A metal trellis type feature also may be required to be installed in front of the 

garage ventilation screens to allow vines provide additional screening of the parking garage 

if vines attached to the ventilation screens will affect the effectiveness of the metal screens. 

6. The landscaping on the triangular parcel (fronting 2nd Avenue) shall include an upgraded 

design to include specimen sized trees and a combination of appropriate shrubs, ground cover 

and other hardscape type features.  Appropriate shrubs shall be installed along portions of 

the public utility easement (driveway and loading area) to help screen these areas.  The storm 

drain basin shall incorporate an appropriate design to be a visual amenity for the project.  The 

driveway entrance from 2nd Avenue shall incorporate decorative type elements into the final 

design (such as color concrete elements with additional scoring pattern, stamped concrete 

elements, or pavers).  

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 7 of 16



7. Street trees shall be provided along each of the site’s street frontages, in conformance with 

the Landscape Ordinance and the City of Escondido Street Tree List.   

8. Five copies of detailed landscape and irrigation plans shall be submitted to the Engineering 

Services Department with the second submittal of the grading plan. The initial submittal of the 

landscape plans shall include the required plan check fees. 

9. The landscape and irrigation plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Division 

and Engineering Services Department prior to approval of the grading plans, and shall be 

equivalent or superior to the conceptual landscape plans included as part of the Master and 

Precise Development Plans, to the satisfaction of the Planning Division. The required 

landscape and irrigation plans(s) shall comply with the provisions, requirements and 

standards outlined in Article 62 (Landscape Standards) of the Escondido Zoning Code, except 

where stricter requirements are imposed by the State of California. The plans shall be 

prepared by, or under the supervision of, a licensed landscape architect.   

10. The installation of the landscaping and irrigation shall be inspected by the project landscape 

architect upon completion. He/she shall complete a Certificate of Landscape Compliance 

certifying that the installation is in substantial compliance with the approved landscape and 

irrigation plans and City standards.  The applicant shall submit the Certificate of Compliance 

to the Planning Division and request a final inspection. 

F. On-Site Management Plan 
 

1. Prior to occupancy, the applicant shall submit a Management Plan that provides for ongoing 

maintenance of lighting, signing and striping, parkway landscaping and irrigation, storm water 

treatment basins, and facilities, common open spaces, public utilities easements areas, public 

walkways, and alley, etc. These provisions shall be approved by the Engineering Department 

prior to occupancy. 

 
2. The Management Plan shall reference the recorded Storm Water Control Facility Maintenance 

Agreement and approved Storm Water Quality Management Plan for the project. 

 

3. The Management Plan shall identify responsibility for liability for damage and repair to City 

utilities in the event that damage is caused by tenants, vehicles or personnel servicing the 

property or delivery personnel, and/or operation of maintenance personnel of the project. 

 

4. The Management Plan shall state that if stamped concrete or decorative pavers or used within 

walkways within the City right-of-ways, any damage and repair/replacement shall be the 

responsibility of the management company and/or project owner. 

 

 

 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 8 of 16



ENGINEERING CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

GENERAL 

1. The applicant shall provide the City Engineer with a Subdivision Guarantee and Title Report 
covering subject property. 

2. The location of all existing on-site and adjacent utilities and storm drain facilities shall be 
determined by the Developer’s engineer.  If a conflict occurs with the proposed project or 
improvements, arrangements for relocation of the conflicting utilities/facilities shall be made 
with the owner of the utility/facility prior to approval of the Grading plans and Final Map.  This 
utility/facility relocation work shall be completed prior to issuance of Building Permits. 

3. Improvement plans prepared by a Civil Engineer are required for all public street and utility 
improvements and a Grading/Private Improvement plan prepared by Civil Engineer is 
required for all grading, drainage and private onsite improvement design.   Landscaping Plans 
shall be prepared by a Landscape Architect for the project. 

4. The Developer shall post securities in accordance with the City prepared Bond and Fee Letter 
based on a final Engineer’s Estimate of Grading and Improvements Cost prepared by the 
project engineer.  The Developer is required to provide a Cash Clean Up deposit for all 
grading, landscaping, private Improvements and onsite drainage improvements prior to 
approval of Grading Plans and issuance of Grading Permit. This Cash Clean Up Deposit 
amount shall be 10% of the total cost of the project private improvements, drainage and 
landscaping.  The Developer is required to provide Performance (100% of total public 
improvement cost estimate), Labor and Material (50% of total public improvement cost 
estimate) and Guarantee and Warrantee (10 % of total public improvement cost estimate) 
bonds for all public improvements prior to approval of the Improvement Plans and issuance 
of Building Permits. All improvements shall be completed prior to issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy. 

5. No Building Permits shall be issued for any construction within this Subdivision until the Final 
Subdivision Map is recorded and either: 

a) All conditions of the Tentative Subdivision Map have been fulfilled: or 

b) Those conditions unfulfilled at the time of an application for Building Permits shall be 
secured and agreements executed in a form and manner satisfactory to the City Attorney 
and City Engineer. 

6. If site conditions change adjacent to the proposed development prior to completion of the 
project, the developer will be responsible to modify his/her improvements to accommodate 
these changes.  The determination and extent of the modification shall be to the satisfaction 
of the City Engineer. 

7. All public improvements shall be constructed in a manner that does not damage existing 
public improvements.  Any damage shall be determined by and corrected to the satisfaction 
of the City Engineer. 

8. The engineer shall submit to the Planning Department a copy of the Tentative Map as 
presented to the Planning Commission and the City Council together with any changes 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 9 of 16



contained in the adopted final conditions of approval.  The Tentative Map will be certified by 
the Planning Department verifying that it is an accurate reproduction of the approved 
Tentative Map and must be included in the first submittal for Final Map and grading plan 
check to the Engineering Department. 

STREET IMPROVEMENTS AND TRAFFIC 

1. Public street improvements shall be constructed to City Standards as required by the 
Subdivision Ordinance in effect at the time of the Tentative Map approval and to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer.  Specific details, including final concrete driveway apron 
design for the project entrances, concrete curb & gutter and sidewalk replacement, drainage, 
street lighting, etc. shall be resolved to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

2. The Developer shall remove and replace all damaged sidewalk, curb and gutter, along all 
project frontages to the satisfaction of the City Engineer prior to issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy. 

3. Access to this project shall be provided from W. 2nd Avenue and improved with an alley-type 
driveway apron in accordance with Escondido Standard Drawing No. G-5-E with a minimum 
throat width of 24 feet.   The final location and design of this driveway apron and paved 
access into the project shall be approved by the City Engineer and City Fire Marshal as part 
of the Grading plans. 

4. The project’s access drive and unloading area shall be adequately illuminated from the 
project building structure to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and Building Official.    This 
lighting shall be maintained by the Home Owner’s Association. 

5. All on-site driveways, and parking areas will be private.  Typical sections and design details 
shall be to the satisfaction of the City Engineer and Community Development Director.  

6. The Developer’s engineer shall prepare and submit for approval by the City Engineer a 
complete final Signing and Striping plan for all improved and modified roadways. The 
developer will be responsible for removal of all existing and the construction of all new signing 
and striping in compliance with the current CA MUTCD standards and to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer. 

7. The developer will be required to install “No Parking – Bike Lanes” signs along the project’s 
Quince Street frontage at 150-foot spacing.  The signs shall be mounted on the street light 
poles where possible. 

8. The Developer shall repaint all pavement striping and markings adjacent to the project that 
have been damaged and prematurely faded due to project construction traffic to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer.  

9. The developer will be required to provide a detailed detour and traffic control plan, for all 
construction within existing rights-of-way, to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  This plan 
shall be approved prior to the issuance of an Encroachment Permit for construction within 
the public right-of-way. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 10 of 16



10. The developer may be responsible for an overlay of S. Quince Street due to the many utility 
trenches necessary to serve this project.  The determination of the extent of the overlay shall 
be to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

11. Adequate horizontal sight distance shall be provided at all driveways.  Increased parkway 
widths, open space easements, and restrictions on landscaping may be required at the 
discretion of the City Engineer. 

12. Pedestrian access routes shall be provided into the project to the satisfaction of the City 
Engineer and City Building Official. 

13. All gated entrances shall be designed and improved to the satisfaction of the City Engineer 
and Fire Marshal. 

14. The developer shall install trash capture devices on existing storm drain inlets along the 
project’s frontage to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

15. Existing driveways along the project’s W. Grand Avenue and S. Quince Street frontages shall 
be completely removed and shall be replaced with full height curb, gutter, and sidewalk in 
accordance with City standards.  curb, gutter, and sidewalk shall be replaced in-kind to match 
existing color and patterns. 

16. Short-term parking spaces shall be installed along the project’s W. Grand Avenue frontage 
to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  The parking spaces shall be installed to match the 
existing paving, color, patterns and striping along Grand Avenue. 

17. Only those Mercado street furniture items, lighting fixtures, and architectural features 
specifically identified for removal or relocation shall be disturbed.  All other items shall be 
protected in place and any damage to these items shall be corrected or compensated for to 
the satisfaction of the City Engineer and Director of Community Development.   Before work 
in this area commences a final review and tabulation of the items in the Mercado right-of-way 
to be disturbed shall be approved by the City Engineer. 

GRADING 

1. A site grading and erosion control plan prepared by a registered Civil Engineer shall be 
approved by the Engineering Department.  The first submittal of the grading plan shall be 
accompanied by 3 copies of the preliminary soils and geotechnical report.  The soils engineer 
will be required to indicate in the soils report that he/she has reviewed the grading design 
and found it to be in conformance with his/her recommendations. 

2. Any proposed retaining walls not a part of the building foundations or stem walls shall be 
shown on and permitted as part of the site grading plan.   Profiles and structural details shall 
be shown on the site grading plan and the Soils Engineer shall state on the plans that the 
proposed retaining wall design is in conformance with the recommendations and 
specifications as outlined in the Geotechnical report.    Structural calculations shall be 
submitted for review by a Consulting Engineer for all walls not covered by Regional or City 
Standard Drawings.  Stem walls, foundation structures, or deepened footings that are to be 
constructed as part of a building structure will be permitted as part of the Building Dept. plan 
review and permit process. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 11 of 16



3. Erosion control, including riprap, interim slope planting, sandbags, or other erosion control 
measures shall be provided to control sediment and silt from the project.  The developer shall 
be responsible for maintaining all erosion control facilities throughout the project. 

4. The developer shall be responsible for the recycling of all excavated materials designated as 
Industrial Recyclables (soil, asphalt, sand, concrete, land clearing brush and rock) at a 
recycling center or other location(s) approved by the City Engineer. 

5. A Construction General Permit is required from the State Water Resources Control Board for 
all storm water discharges associated with a construction activity where clearing, grading, 
and excavation results in a land disturbance of one or more acres. 

6. All blasting operations performed in connection with the improvement of the project shall 
conform to the City of Escondido Blasting Operations Ordinance. 

7. All existing foundations and structures, other than those designated “to remain” on the 
Tentative Map, shall be removed or demolished from the site.  

8. The developer will be required to obtain permission from adjoining property owners for any 
off-site grading necessary to construct the project and/or the required improvements. 

9. All driveway grades shall conform to current Escondido Design Standards and Escondido 
Standard Drawings. 

DRAINAGE 

1. Final on-site and off-site storm drain improvements shall be determined to the satisfaction of 
the City Engineer and shall be based on a drainage study to be prepared by the Engineer of 
Work.  The drainage study shall be in conformance with the City of Escondido Design 
Standards. 

2. All on-site storm drains not in public easements are private.  The responsibility for 
maintenance of these storm drains shall be that of the Home Owner’s Association.  Provisions 
stating this shall be included in the CC&Rs. 

3. The project shall limit drainage flows to their pre-construction rates.  Details and calculations 
for the detention basins shall be submitted and approved as part of the grading plan check. 

4. A Storm Water Quality Management Plan (SWQMP) in compliance with the City’s latest 
adopted Storm Water Design Manual shall be prepared for all newly created or replaced 
onsite impervious areas, impervious frontage, and required offsite improvements.  The 
SWQMP shall be submitted for approval with the final improvement and grading plans.  The 
SWQMP shall include hydro-modification calculations, treatment calculations, post-
construction storm water treatment measures, and maintenance requirements. 

5. All site drainage with emphasis on the parking and driveway areas shall be treated to remove 
expected contaminants using a high efficiency non-mechanical method of treatment.   The 
City highly encourages the use of bio-retention areas as the primary method of storm water 
retention and treatment.   The landscape plans will need to reflect these areas of storm water 
treatment. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 12 of 16



6. The developer will be required to have the current owner of the property sign, notarize, and 
record a Storm Water Control Facility Maintenance Agreement.  

WATER SUPPLY 

1. All new water main locations and sizing shall be to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  
Required water main improvements for the project shall include the design and construction 
of a 12-inch public water line in S. Quince Street, from 2nd Avenue to W. Valley Parkway, in 
accordance with the current City of Escondido Design Standards and Standard Drawings 
and to the satisfaction of the Utilities Engineer.  

2. Fire hydrants together with an adequate water supply shall be installed at locations approved 
by the Fire Marshal.  Fire hydrants shall connect to a minimum 8-inch water main. 

3. A fire suppression sprinkler system shall be designed and constructed per current City of 
Escondido Design Standards and Standard Drawings and per the requirements of the Fire 
Marshal. 

4. Water meters and back flow prevention devices shall not be installed within a driveway apron 
or private drive areas. 

5. All on-site water lines and backflow prevention devices beyond the City water meter shall be 
considered a private water system.  The property owner shall be responsible for all 
maintenance of these water lines and appurtenances. 

6. No trees or deep rooted plants shall be planted within 10-feet of any water mains. 

7. There shall be no permanent structures located within the City’s Public Utilities Easements. 

SEWER 

1. A private 6-inch minimum PVC sewer lateral with a standard clean-out within 18-inches of 
the Public Utilities Easement or right-of-way shall be constructed for the project and shown 
on the Improvement and Grading plans. The private sewer lateral shall connect to the existing 
18-inch sewer main in S. Quince Street. Sewer laterals less than 8-inches in diameter shall 
connect to the sewer main with a wye fitting or Inserta-Tee. 

2. All sewer laterals shall be constructed per current City of Escondido Design Standards and 
Standard Drawings and per the current Uniform Plumbing Code.   

3. No trees or deep rooted bushes shall be planted within 15-feet of any sewer main or within 
10-feet of any sewer lateral. Sewer laterals shall be 5-feet horizontally clear from other 
utilities. 

4. All sewer lateral(s) shall be considered a private sewer system.  The Home Owners 
Association will be responsible for all maintenance of the sewer lateral(s) to the sewer main.  
Provisions stating this shall be included in the CC&Rs. 

5. There shall be no permanent structures located within the City’s Public Utilities Easements. 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 13 of 16



FINAL MAP - EASEMENTS AND DEDICATIONS 

1. All easements, both private and public, affecting subject property shall be shown and 
delineated on the Final Map. 

2. Public utility easements for sewer, water, storm drain, etc. which are deemed necessary by 
the City Engineer shall be granted to the City. 

3. The project includes a street vacation of the public alley right-of-way within or adjoining the 
project boundary.  Specific areas to be vacated shall be determined to the satisfaction of the 
City Engineer.  A public utility easement shall be reserved over the portion of the alley to be 
vacated.   The street vacation with the reservation of a public utility easement must be 
approved by the City Council prior to recordation of the Final Map.  

4. The following public utility easements shall be granted to the City on the Final Map: 2-feet 
along S. Quince Street and 2-feet northerly of and in addition to the public utility easement 
reserved from the alley street vacation.   

5. The developer is responsible for making the arrangements to vacate all streets or quitclaim 
all easements of record which conflict with the proposed development prior to approval of the 
final map.  All street vacations shall be accomplished by means of a separate public hearing.  
If an easement of record contains an existing utility that must remain in service, proof of 
arrangements to quitclaim the easement once new utilities are constructed must be submitted 
to the City Engineer prior to approval of the Final Map.  Building permits will not be issued for 
lots in which construction will conflict with existing easements, nor will any securities be 
released until the existing easements are quitclaimed. 

REPAYMENTS AND FEES 

1. A cash security shall be posted to pay any costs incurred by the City to clean-up eroded soils 
and debris, repair damage to public or private property and improvements, install new BMPs, 
and stabilize and/or close-up a non-responsive or abandoned project.  Any moneys used by 
the City for cleanup or damage will be drawn from this security and the grading permit will be 
revoked by written notice to the developer until the required cash security is replaced. The 
cleanup cash security shall be released upon final acceptance of the grading and 
improvements for this project. The amount of the cash security shall be 10% of the total 
estimated cost of the grading, drainage, landscaping, and best management practices items 
of work with a minimum of $5,000 up to a maximum of $50,000, unless a higher amount is 
deemed necessary by the City Engineer. 

2. The developer shall be required to pay all development fees of the City then in effect at the 
time, and in such amounts as may prevail when building permits are issued. 

CC&Rs 

1. Copies of the CC&Rs shall be submitted to the Engineering Department and Planning 
Department for approval prior to approval of the Final Map. 

2. The developer shall make provisions in the CC&Rs for maintenance by the Home Owners’ 
Association of private driveways, parking areas, private utilities (including sewer and water), 
storm water and drainage facilities, private street lighting, landscaping both onsite and within 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 14 of 16



fronting public right-of-ways.  These provisions must be approved by the Engineering 
Department prior to approval of the Final Map. 

3. The CC&Rs must state that the Home Owners’ Association assumes liability for damage and 
repair to City utilities in the event that damage is caused by the property owners’ association 
when repair or replacement of private utilities is done. 

4. The CC&Rs must state that (if stamped concrete is used in the private driveway) the 
homeowners’ association is responsible for replacing the stamped concrete in kind if the City 
has to trench the street for repair or replacement of an existing utility. 

 

UTILITY UNDERGROUNDING AND RELOCATION 

1. All existing overhead utilities within the subdivision boundary or along fronting streets shall 
be relocated underground as required by the Subdivision Ordinance.  The developer may 
request a waiver of this condition by writing a letter to the City Engineer explaining his/her 
reasons for requesting the waiver.  The developer will be required to pay a waiver fee as 
adopted by City Council resolution. 

2. The developer shall sign a written agreement stating that he has made all such arrangements 
as may be necessary to coordinate and provide utility construction, relocation and 
undergrounding.  All new utilities shall be constructed underground.  

 
FIRE DEPARTMENT CONDITIONS 

 

1.  All fire underground line, fire sprinkler, fire alarm, and any standpipe systems shall comply 

with the current additions of NFPA and the California Fire Code. 

  

2. All Fire protection system plans shall be deferred submittals to the Escondido Fire 

Department.  

 

3. An approved paved access and approved adequate water supply shall be provided prior to 

any combustibles being brought to the site.  

 

4. The number and location of FDC/ PIV ‘s shall be determined by the Fire Marshall.  These 

devices shall not be on the building and shall be placed in an approved location.  

 

5. Fire access shall be paved all-weather surface able to support the weight of the Fire apparatus 

(75,000 lbs.).   

  

6. A minimum turning radius of 28ft inside shall be provided on all fire department access 

roadways, to the satisfaction of the Fire Marshal. 

 

7. An adequate water supply with minimum fire flow shall be as determined by the Fire Marshal.  

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 15 of 16



 

8. Fire lanes shall be designated and approved by the Fire Marshal and painted red with white 

letter, marked “no parking fire lane.”  Fire lane shall be maintained by the project management 

company for the duration of the project. 

 

9. Bollards may be required for fire hydrants in close proximity to vehicular traffic aisles. 

 
 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “C” 

Page 16 of 16



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 1 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 2 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 3 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 4 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 5 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 6 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 7 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 8 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 9 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 10 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 11 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 12 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 13 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 14 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 15 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 16 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 17 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 18 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 19 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 20 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 21 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 22 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 23 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 24 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 25 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 26 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 27 of 28



Ordinance No. 2019-15 

          Exhibit “D” 

Page 28 of 28



 

EXHIBIT “E” 
    

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

PLANNING DIVISION 

201 NORTH BROADWAY 

ESCONDIDO, CA 92025-2798 

(760) 839-4671 

 
 

 

Notice of Exemption 
 

To: San Diego Assessor/Recorder/County Clerk 
Attn: Fish and Wildlife Notices 
1600 Pacific Highway, Room 260 
San Diego, CA  92101 
MS A-33 

From: City of Escondido 
201 North Broadway 
Escondido, CA  92025 

 

Project Title/Case No.:  TENTATIVE SUBDIVISON MAP, MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN, AND 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT – SUB 18-0008 and PHG 18-0021: 
 

Project Location - Specific: The approximately 0.40-acre site (0.45 acres with approximately 0.05 of city-owned 
property to be included/purchased) generally is located on the southern side of W. Grand Avenue, east of Quince 
Street, north of 2nd Avenue and addressed at 555 W. Grand Avenue (APNs 233-022-01, -02, -21 and portion of -
23). 
 

Project Location - City:  Escondido,     Project Location - County:  San Diego 
 

Description of Project: A one-lot Tentative Subdivision Map and a Master and Precise Development Plan to 
construct a four-story, 32-unit air-space condominium development with 300 SF of flex office space and a ground 
floor parking garage within the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific Plan.  The project contains a mix of one- 
and two-bedroom units ranging from 700 SF to 1,123 SF; a ground-floor garage that would accommodate 43 
parking spaces; podium level common outdoor spaces and individual private balconies.  The overall height of the 
approximately 57-foot high building is within the allowable limits of the Downtown Specific Plan.  Zoning provisions 
require a minimum of 61 parking spaces and the project is requesting a reduction in the parking requirement to 
provide 43 standard and 4 motorcycle spaces within the parking garage, along with three new on-street spaces 
along Grand Avenue.  The project includes the purchase of an approximately 2,275 sf City-owned property fronting 
onto 2nd Avenue and vacation of a portion of the alley that would be used for access, utilities, storm water quality 
improvements, and landscaping.  A Development Agreement also is requested to allow a reduction in open space 
(up to approximately 16 percent or 253 SF per unit) where the zoning provisions currently require 300 SF per unit; 
and a credit for Art Fees in exchange for the development of a dynamic construction/art feature incorporated into 
the building design.  

 

Name of Public Agency Approving Project:  City of Escondido 
 

Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project: 
 
Name:  555 W. Grand LLC   (Ed McCoy)                 Telephone:  (858) 752-4121   

Address:  3305 Jasmine Place  Escondido, CA  92025  
 

 Private entity  School district  Local public agency  State agency  Other special district 
 

Exempt Status:  Categorical Exemption.  CEQA Sections 15332 “In-fill Development Projects.”  

 

 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “E” 

Page 1 of 6



 

Reasons why project is exempt: 

The proposed project qualifies for an exemption from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under 
Section 15332, Class 32 In-fill Development Project.  CEQA Guidelines lists classes of projects that have been 
determined to not have a significant effect on the environment and as a result are exempt from review under CEQA. 
The approximately 0.40-acre site (0.45 total acres with approximately 0.05 with city property included) is currently 
vacant, disturbed, and cleared of all structures, except for the previous foundations and asphalt paving.  Vegetation 
primarily consists of ornamental landscaping, mature palm trees, various weeds and grasses from the previous 
development/activities. 

The proposed project or its circumstances would not result in any exceptions identified in CEQA Guidelines, Section 
15300.2.  Among the classes of projects that are exempt from CEQA review are those projects that are specifically 
identified as urban in-fill development. CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332, defines in-fill development (Class 32 
exemptions) as being applicable to projects meeting the following conditions: 

• The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable general plan policies as 
well as with applicable zoning designation and regulations. 

• The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more than five (5) acres substantially 
surrounded by urban uses. 

• The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened species. 

• Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water 
quality. 

• The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

No circumstances previously evaluated in the previously certified Final EIR for the General Plan and Downtown 
Specific Plan (May 23, 2012) and the Addendum to the certified Final EIR (March 21, 2019) have changed with 
respect to the proposed development.  In addition, the proposed project would not create substantial changes or 
bring to light new information of the substantial importance that was not previously examined in these Final EIR and 
Addendum.  As a result, the project qualifies for a Categorical Exemption pursuant to the CEQA’s requirements for 
an “in-fill development” within an urbanized area as detailed below:  

 

General Plan and Zoning Consistency 

The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable general plan policies as well 
as with applicable zoning designation and regulations.  The General Plan land-use designation for the project site is 
Specific Plan (SPA 9 - Downtown Specific Plan) and located within the Mercado District.  The General Plan and the 
Downtown Specific Plan (DSP) contain guidelines and regulations to promote higher density urban residential 
growth in the Downtown SPA.  Permitted uses within the Mercado District include multi-family units with residential 
on the ground floor and mixed-use multi-family development with densities up to 100 du/ac, up to four (4) stories 
and 60 feet in height.  The Mercado Residential Land-Use Matrix for this specific area requires ground-floor 
commercial to be incorporated into the project, and ground-floor residential may be permitted subject to Permit 
authorized subject to approval of a Planned Development pursuant to Article 19. 

The project proposes 32 residential units and up to 300 sf of flex office space fronting onto Grand Avenue, on 
approximately 0.4 acres.  The density of the project is 80 du/ac (only factoring in the two subject parcels of 0.401 
acres) with an overall density of 71.1 du/ac (which includes the adjacent 0.05-acre city-owned parcel for a total of 
0.45 acres) which is in conformance with the density provisions of the Mercado District that allows up to 100 du/ac.  
Overall, the project would conform to the development and design regulations outlined in the Downtown Specific 
Plan, as allowed through the Planned Development and Development Agreement process for site development 
flexibility (DSP Section III.C.1 and 9).  The project requests up to a 29.5 percent reduction in on-site parking, and 25 
percent reduction in open space.  Modifications to parking are allowed through the Planned Development Process 
(Section III.B.1) and reductions to required common open space up to 50 percent are allowed subject to a 
Development Agreement (DSP Section III.B.6).  The proposed project would be four stories in height and up to 
approximately 57 feet in height, which is consistent with the Mercado Development Standards.  The design of the 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “E” 

Page 2 of 6



project meets the criteria of CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332(a), as being consistent with the General Plan and 
applicable zoning for the project site. 

 

Project Location, Size and Context 

The approximately 0.45-acre site is located within the highly developed and urban Downtown Specific Plan area of 
the City.  The site is adjacent to Grand Avenue (Local Collector Road) on the north, Quince Street (Collector Road) 
on the west, and Second Avenue (Collector Road) on the south. A mix of commercial and limited residential uses 
are located to the east and southeast.  CEQA, Section 21072, defines a qualified urban use as “any residential, 
commercial, public institutional, transit, or transportation passenger facility, or retail use, or any combination of those 
uses.”  The project is on a site within City limits that is no more than five (5) acres and substantially surrounded by 
urban uses.  

 

Endangered, Rare or Threatened Species 

The project site is located within the highly developed and urban Downtown Specific Plan area of the City. The 
project site currently is vacant, disturbed and has been clear of all structures, except for the previous concrete 
foundations/pads and asphalt paving.  Vegetation primarily consists of ornamental landscaping, mature palm trees, 
various weeds and grasses from the previous development/activities. The project site does not contain habitat 
suitable for candidate, sensitive or special status species.  In addition, no riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 
community, or potential jurisdictional features were observed within the project site or within a 100-foot boundary 
from the project site.  The project site has no value as a habitat or special-status species and, therefore, adheres to 
the criteria of CEQA Guidelines, Section 15332(c).   

 

Traffic 

The Engineering Division concluded the project would not result in any significant traffic or transportation-related 
impacts.  A preliminary Traffic Assessment was prepared for the project by Michael Baker International (dated 
February 12, 2019, and amended April 22, 2019).  The preliminary traffic assessment includes a review of the 
proposed project trip generation as well as estimated project trip distribution and vehicle trip assignment onto the 
surrounding street system. The evaluation of project traffic generation and estimated traffic assignment onto the 
area roadways was then compared to the City’s guidelines for determining if the traffic that would be added by the 
project is at a level that is considered potentially significant.  The proposed project would generate a total of 194 
average daily trips (ADT), with 14 AM peak hour trips and 18 PM peak hour trips.  The net project trip generation 
includes the standard 5 percent reduction in vehicle trips suggested by SANDAG due to the project’s proximity to 
transit.  The nearby Escondido Transit Center is a multi-modal facility offering access to both the Breeze bus 
service, as well as the Sprinter rail service.   

Primary access to the site (parking garage) would be from a new driveway fronting onto 2nd Avenue.  Access also 
could be provided from Pine Street via the existing alley.  The traffic assessment indicated the project does not 
meet any of the trigger categories to conduct a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) as the number of daily trips on the 
surrounding street segments would be below the threshold guidelines.  The project also does not trigger TIA 
thresholds for project traffic added to a leg of an intersection during AM or PM peak hour.  Based on the City’s 
roadway and intersection project contributions threshold guidelines, the project would not add a significant amount 
of traffic to the surrounding street network.  The project would not require alterations to the roadways or 
intersections such that the project would conflict with SANDAG’s Congestion Management Program. 

 

Noise 

The residential nature of the project and less than significant traffic impacts (as detailed above) is such that the 
project is not anticipated to generate any significant increases to the existing ambient noise level.  Vehicle noise is 
the main source of ambient noise in the vicinity of the project site.  Grand Avenue (Local Collector), Second Avenue 
(Collector) and Quince Street (Collector) are identified in the Escondido General Plan as circulation element streets.  
The project site is within existing noise contour areas of 65 dBA CNEL from the adjacent roadways (City of 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “E” 

Page 3 of 6



Escondido General Plan EIR Appendices, Noise Figure 2) and future noise contours of 65 dBA CNEL along Quince 
Street and Grand Avenue, and 70 dBA CNEL along Second Avenue (Noise Figure 3).   As stated in the City’s 
General Plan Community Protection Element (City of Escondido 2012) the noise level goal for multi-family 
residential uses is 65 dBA CNEL at the exterior use areas.  In addition, the General Plan Noise Policy 5.4 
establishes an interior noise standard of 45 dBA CNEL.  In order to comply with the City’s General Plan Community 
Protection Element interior noise standard, the following project design features would be included as conditions of 
project approval: 

PDF-NOI-1 Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall prepare an exterior-to-interior noise report 
completed by a qualified acoustical consultant for the proposed on-site residential units and the common podium-
level and roof-level open space areas.  The report shall also assume a “windows-closed” condition with vehicles 
traveling along the adjacent roadways in accordance with the identified speed limit.  The report would determine the 
predicted interior noise levels for the units.  If predicted noise levels are found to be in excess of 45 CNEL, the 
report would identify architectural materials or techniques that could be included in project design plans to reduce 
noise levels to 45 CNEL in habitable rooms.   The report also shall identify any architectural techniques that would 
be included in the final project design to conform to the General Plan noise level goal for multi-family residential use 
of 65 dBA CNEL at the exterior common podium and roof-level use areas (private balconies exempted).  The report 
shall be submitted and approved by the City prior to issuance of a building permit. 

Stationary operational noise sources are regulated by the limits outlined in the Escondido Municipal Code, Section 
17-229, which states that multi-family residential zones shall not exceed 55 dBA Leq from 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m., 
or 50 dBA Lea from 10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.  For commercial zones, noise shall not exceed 60 dBA Leq from 7:00 
a.m. to 19:00 p.m. or 55 dBA Leq from 10:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m.  The City’s Nosie Ordinance also states that if the 
ambient noise level exceeds that permissible standard, the allowable noise exposure standard shall be the ambient 
noise level.   

The HVAC units for the project would be installed in three clusters ranging from 4 to 19 units per cluster for a total of 
32 units.  Clusters would be situated on the roof of the four-story building and set back from the edge of the rooftop 
by approximately 17 feet or more at all locations.  Individual HVAC units not installed within an enclosure may have 
the potential to generate noise levels of up to 79 dBA Leq at the unit (approximately 3 feet).  Combined noise level 
from 32 up to 29 units simultaneously operating at 79 dBA Leq would be approximately 94 dBA at 3 feet.  The 
closest residence to the proposed building would be one single-family structure towards the southeast of the site 
fronting onto Second Avenue, and second-story multi-family units located east of the site along Grand Avenue.  
Unenclosed HVAC units could generate a noise level in excess of the noise standard at the nearest residence. The 
proposed project is four stories and the surrounding commercial and residential units are one- and two-stories in 
height.  This difference in height and proposed screens around the HVAC units would likely break the line of sight 
between the HVAC units and receptors.  However, as a project feature, the HVAC units on the project rooftop will be 
required to install appropriate noise attenuation barriers/enclosures such that the noise from HVAC operations 
would not exceed 50 dBA at the nearest off-site residential receptor.  Specific screening design and materials would 
be included with the building plans and the following project design features would be included as conditions of 
project approval: 

PDF-NOI-2 The HVAC units on the project rooftop shall be installed with appropriate noise attenuation 
screens/enclosures such that noise from HVAC operation does not exceed 50 dBA at the nearest off-site residential 
receptor and 55 dBA for adjacent commercial structures.  A final acoustical analysis shall be submitted with the 
building plans to determine whether any final design measures are necessary to conform to the City’s Noise 
Ordinance.   
 
Construction would result in a temporary noise increase on and around the project site. Construction-related 
impacts are short term and would cease once the project is completed.  No special construction techniques (i.e. pile 
driving or blasting) are anticipated to be necessary for construction of the project.  The City also has a maximum 1-
hour average construction noise limit of 75 dB at noise-sensitive land uses.   Contractors are required to comply 
with the Noise Ordinance for noise levels from project-related grading and construction activities set forth in the 
Escondido Municipal Code.  The Escondido Municipal Code also restricts the times of day when construction may 
occur (7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday; 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Saturday; and not at all on Sunday 
or public holidays).  Construction of the project would take place within the hours specified in Section 17,234 of the 
Escondido Municipal Code.   
 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “E” 

Page 4 of 6



Air Quality 

Based on technical studies prepared for similar type multi-family residential project of similar size/land area and 
construction requirements (The Ivy Project – Class 32 CEQA Exemption prepared by Harris & Associates, 2019), 
the project is not anticipated to exceed screening-level criteria thresholds for construction or operational level 
impacts. The project is smaller than the air-quality study trigger criteria presented in Table 4.3-12 of the City’s 
General Plan EIR that would trigger the need for an air-quality impact assessment (the level for apartment land-uses 
with a density of 20 or more dwelling units per acres is 420 dwelling units).   

Water Quality 

The project would not result in any significant effects related to water quality.  A preliminary drainage study and 
Storm Water Quality Management Plan (SWQMP) was prepared for the project.  Storm water quality impacts during 
construction would be prevented through implementation of a grading and erosion control plan that is required by 
the City’s Grading and Erosion Control Ordinance (Article 55 of the Municipal Code) and the State General Permit to 
Discharge Stormwater Associated with Construction Activities (NPDES No. CA2000002), which requires preparation 
of a SWPPP by a Qualified SWPPP Developer.  Adherence to applicable requirements and implementation of the 
appropriate BMPs would ensure that potential water quality degradation associated with construction related 
activities would be minimized and impacts less than significant.  

The Project would mimic the existing drainage patter, and runoff from the roof, outdoor area decks would be 
discharged from roof drains into a raised planter/biofiltration planter BMP located along Quince Street.  A separate 
storm drain basin also would be installed along the Second Avenue frontage to treat pollutants and meet flow control 
requirements for the project.  With the implementation of the operational treatment control biofiltration basin BMPs 
that would be required by the City pursuant to the SUSMP, potential pollutants would be reduced to the maximum 
extent possible.  Therefore, development would not violate any water quality standards or water discharge 
requirements.   

Utilities and Public Services: 

The Fire Department indicated that appropriate fire protection can be provided with the implementation of the 
required building/site design features.  Appropriate fire flow will be provided to the project site with the installation of 
the required fire hydrants and 12-inch upgrade to the water line in Quince Street. 

The Engineering Division indicated that appropriate utilities will be provided to the project with existing facilities 
located within adjacent Quince Street and Second Avenue, and the public alley/utility easement along the southern 
boundary of the site. 

 

Section 15300.2 (Exceptions) 

Location:  Not applicable to Class 32 exemption 

Cumulative Impact:  All resource topics associated with the project have been analyzed and were found to pose no 
significant impact.  Therefore, the project would not make a cumulatively considerable contribution to a significant 
cumulative impact. 

Significant Effect:  There are no known unusual circumstances applicable to the project or project site that could 
result in a significant effect on the environment. 

Scenic Highway:  The project is not located in the vicinity of any designated or eligible state scenic highway. 

Hazardous Waste Site: The site previously was used as a gas station that has since been removed.  The previous 
owners processed a corrective action for the underground storage tanks formally located on the site.  In August 
2013, the Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) San Diego Region issued a closure letter for the site. On 
May 2, 2019, the RWQCB issued a concurrence letter stating that "the Site is suitable for its proposed use with 
commercial uses on the ground level and residential unit above."  Additionally, the letter states that a Health and 
Safety Plan for construction workers and a soil and groundwater management plan for soil and groundwater that 
may be hauled from the site are required prior to site work.  The following project design features would be included 
as conditions of project approval: 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “E” 

Page 5 of 6



PDF-HW-1  Prior to approval of the grading plans and grading permit for the site, a Health and Safety Plan for 
construction workers (including PPE and testing equipment when working in areas of known residual petroleum 
impact soils) and a soil and groundwater management plan for soil and groundwater that may be hauled from the 
site shall be prepared and approved by the San Diego Water Board.   

Historic Resource: The project site is vacant and disturbed from previous development.  The existing commercial 
development/buildings that were located on the site were previously demolished.  These structures were not listed 
as a historic resource pursuant to City Municipal Code Article 40 (Historic Resources) and the site does not contain 
any historic resources or know cultural resources. 

Lead Agency Contact Person: Jay Paul, Planning Division Area Code/Telephone/Extension (760) 839-4537  

Signature:                              JPaul                     September 4, 2019  

 Jay Paul, Senior Planner Date 
 

 Signed by Lead Agency  Date received for filing at OPR:             N/A  

 Signed by Applicant 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit “E” 

Page 6 of 6



 
 
 

 Page 1 of 24 

EXHIBIT “F” 
 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 

 

CITY CLERK, CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

 

WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 

 

CITY CLERK 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

201 N. BROADWAY 

ESCONDIDO, CA 92025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS SPACE FOR RECORDER'S USE ONLY 

 

APNs: 233-022-0100 and 233-022-0200  
 

Recording Fees Exempt Per Government Code Section 27383 

 

 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

for 555 W. Grand Avenue 
 

between 
 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 
 

and 
 

555 W. GRAND AVENUE, LLC 

 
____________, 2019 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 1 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 2 of 24 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This Development Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into by and between the City and Owner.  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Government Code Sections 65864 through 65869.5 and Articles 58 and 68 of the 

City's Zoning Code authorize the City to enter into binding development agreements with persons 

or entities having legal or equitable interests in real property for the purpose of establishing 

certainty in the development process for both the City and the property owner, and to enable 

specific terms regarding property development, to be negotiated and agreed upon; and 

WHEREAS, the purposes of the Agreement are to eliminate uncertainty in the planning and 

development of the Project by assuring Owner that it may develop the Property, in accordance 

with existing laws, subject to the terms and conditions contained in the Agreement; assure the 

orderly installation of necessary improvements and the provision for public services appropriate 

for the development of the Project; and enable the City to obtain substantial public benefits by 

virtue of the Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set forth herein, the 

Parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

Definitions 

1. “Amendment” refers to any written amendment to this Agreement approved by the City 

Council as provided in Article II, Section 3.   

2. “Annual Review” refers to the Owner’s demonstration of compliance with the terms of 

this Agreement every 12 months.  

3. “Assignee” refers to an assignee of this Agreement in accordance with Article II, Section 

2 and approved by the City in writing.  

4. “CEQA” refers to the California Environmental Quality Act, California Public Resources 

Code §§21000 et seq.  

5. “City” refers to the City of Escondido, its City Council, its mayors and council members, 

past and present, and employees and agents. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 2 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 3 of 24 

6. “Cure Period” refers to the period of time in which a default may be cured, which will be 

30 days.  

7. “Development Fees” refers to the development related fees as provided in the City’s Fee 

Guide for Development Projects applicable at the time of issuance of building permits.  

8. “Director” refers to the Director of Community Development. 

9. “Effective Date” The effective date of the Agreement shall be the day that is 30 days after 

the City Council’s adoption of an ordinance approving this Agreement.  

10. "Entitlements" refers to all approvals and permits necessary or incidental to the 

development of the Project or any portion thereof, whether discretionary or ministerial, including 

but not limited to, specific plans, tentative or final tract map approvals, whether standard or 

vesting, conditional use permits, variances, project plans, grading permits, building permits, and 

this Agreement and includes all conditions of approval regarding any particular Entitlement. 

11. "Exaction" refers to any fee, tax, requirement, condition, dedication, restriction, or 

limitation imposed by the City upon the development of the Property at any time in accordance 

with the Existing Laws. 

12. "Existing Laws" refers to the ordinances, resolutions, codes, rules, regulations, general 

plan, stormwater regulations and official policies of the City and the State of California governing 

the development of the Property, including, but not limited to, the permitted uses of the Property, 

the density or intensity of use, the design, improvement and construction standards and 

specifications for the Project, including the maximum height and size of proposed buildings, and 

the provisions for reservation and dedication of land for public purposes, in effect on the Effective 

Date of this Agreement. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 3 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 4 of 24 

13. "Future Exaction" refers to Exactions imposed after the Effective Date, whether by 

ordinance, initiative, resolution, rule, regulation, policy, order or otherwise. 

14. "Future Laws" refers to all ordinances, resolutions, codes, rules, regulations, and official 

policies implemented by the City after the Effective Date, whether by ordinance, initiative, 

resolution, rule, regulation, policy, order or otherwise. Future Laws includes changes to the 

Existing Laws. 

15. "General Fees" refers to all general development fees which the City may levy pursuant 

to Government Code Sections 66000 et seq. ("the Mitigation Fee Act"), including, but not limited 

to, application fees, processing fees, utility connection fees, inspection fees, capital facilities fees, 

development impact fees, traffic impact fees, park fees and such other similar fees as may be 

enacted from time to time and generally applied throughout the City, excluding Development Fees. 

16. "General Plan" refers to the City's General Plan in effect on the Effective Date. 

17. “Minor Modifications” refers to minor modifications regarding the performance of this 

Agreement that are consistent with the Entitlements and have minimal impacts to the City’s 

operations in terms of timing, performance, or value.  

18. “Modification” refers to a modification approved by the City Council as provided in 

Article VI, Section 5. 

19.  “Operating Memorandum” refers to addenda to this Agreement to document changes 

or adjustments in the performance of this Agreement as specified in Article III, Section 7. 

20. “Owner” refers to 555 W. GRAND AVENUE, LLC, a California limited liability 

company, who has legal or equitable interest in the real property which is the subject of this 

Agreement. 

21. “Party” City or Owner may be referred to individually as Party or collectively as Parties. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 4 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 5 of 24 

22. "Project" shall mean and refer to the improvement and development of the Property as 

described in the Entitlements and this Agreement. 

23. "Property" shall mean the certain real property located in the County of San Diego, State 

of California as described in the Exhibit A. 

24. "Public Benefits" shall refer to the consideration given by Owner to the City, as described 

in Exhibit B attached hereto, in return for the City's good faith performance of all applicable terms 

and conditions in this Agreement. 

25. “Public Improvements” refers to any public improvements required to be constructed as 

conditions of approval to the Entitlements or as additionally provided in this Agreement.  

26. “Review Letter” refers to a letter from the City regarding a statement of Owner’s 

compliance with this Agreement, following a positive Annual Review by the City.  

27. “Term” shall refer to the term of this Agreement as provided in Article II, Section 1.  

ARTICLE II 

General Provisions 

1. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date 

and shall continue for five (5) years unless terminated, modified, amended or extended as 

permitted by this Agreement. After the expiration of the Term, this Agreement shall be deemed 

terminated and of no further force or effect. This Agreement shall terminate with respect to any 

lot and such lot shall be released and no longer subject to the Agreement, without the execution or 

recordation of any further document, when a certificate of occupancy has been issued for the 

building(s) on the lot. 

2. Assignment.  The rights and obligations of Owner under the Agreement may be assigned 

by Owner as part of an assignment of the Property, only after receiving written approval from the 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 5 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 6 of 24 

City. Owner shall provide thirty (30) days advance written notice to the City of any requested 

assignment, which may not be unreasonably conditioned, delayed, or withheld. The City shall have 

the right to ensure that the proposed assignee has the financial capability to complete and fulfill 

any uncompleted requirements relating to the Public Benefits and Public Improvements. Any 

assignment agreement must be in writing and expressly provide that (a) the assignment shall be 

subject to this Agreement; and (b) the Assignee assumes all of Owner’s rights and obligations with 

respect to the Property assigned. 

3. Amendment of Agreement.  The Agreement may be amended in writing by the mutual 

consent of the Parties in accordance with Article 58, Chapter 33 of the Escondido Zoning Code as 

well as any applicable state or federal law The Agreement shall include any amendment properly 

approved and executed. Minor Modifications in the manner of performance shall not constitute an 

Amendment to the Agreement and may be accomplished through an Operating Memorandum. 

4. Enforcement.  Unless amended or terminated as provided herein, this Agreement is 

enforceable by either Party or its successors and assigns, notwithstanding any Future Laws, which 

alter or amend the Existing Laws. 

5. Defense and Indemnification.  

 a. Owner agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless, City, and provide and pay 

all costs for a defense of and judgment against the City, including any award for attorney’s fees 

and litigation costs, in any legal action filed in a court of competent jurisdiction by a third party 

challenging the Project, or any component thereof, or this Agreement. Upon the Effective Date, 

the Owner shall deposit security, such as a bond, letter of credit, or other security to cover the costs 

of any such defense in a reasonable amount as determined by the City of Escondido City Attorney. 

Said security may be released after all applicable statutes of limitation have expired.  

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 6 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 7 of 24 

 b. Owner shall further indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its officers, 

employees and agents from and against any and all liabilities, claims, actions, causes of action, 

proceedings, suits, administrative proceedings, damages, fines, penalties, judgments, orders, liens, 

levies, costs and expenses of whatever nature, including reasonable attorneys' fees and 

disbursements, arising out of any violation, or claim of violation of the San Diego Municipal Storm 

Water Permit (Order No. R9-2015-0001) of the California Regional Water Quality Control Board 

Region 9, San Diego, as amended or extended, which the City might suffer, incur, or become 

subject by reason of or occurring as a result of or allegedly caused by the construction of the 

Project. 

 c. The City shall have no liability to the Owner or any other person for, and Owner 

shall indemnify, defend, protect and hold harmless the City from and against, any and all liabilities, 

claims, actions, causes of action, proceedings, suits, damages, judgments, liens, levies, costs and 

expenses of whatever nature, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements, which the 

City may suffer or incur or to which the City may become subject as a result of or allegedly caused 

by the payment of prevailing wages for construction of the Project or any of the Public Benefits or 

Public Improvements.  

 d. If any action or proceeding is brought against the City by reason of any of the 

matters against which Owner has agreed to indemnify the City as provided above, Owner, upon 

notice from the City, shall defend the City at Owner’s expense by counsel chosen by the City. The 

City need not have first paid for any of the matters to which the City is entitled to indemnification 

in order to be so indemnified. The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or earlier 

termination of this Agreement. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 7 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 8 of 24 

6. Third Party Challenges.  In the event the validity, applicability, or implementation of the 

Agreement is challenged by means of legal proceedings by any party other than the City and 

Owner, it shall be the City's option, at its sole and absolute discretion, whether to undertake the 

defense of such challenge. If the City determines not to defend such challenge, it shall be the option 

of Owner, to defend the validity, applicability, or implementation of this Agreement in the 

proceeding at Owner's sole expense.  The City and Owner agree to cooperate in the defense of any 

such challenges. 

7. Notices.  All notices or communication between the City and Owner pursuant to the 

Agreement shall be in writing and shall be given by personal delivery, overnight delivery service, 

certified or registered mail, facsimile or telecopy to the addresses set forth below. The addresses 

may be changed by giving (ten) 10 days written notice.  

A. City 

City of Escondido  

Attention: Director of Community Development 

201 N. Broadway  

Escondido, CA 92025 

with a copy to: 

City Attorney 

201 N. Broadway 

Escondido, CA 92025 

 

B. Owner 

555 W. GRAND AVENUE, LLC 

Attention: Ed McCoy 

3305 Jasmine Place 

Escondido, CA 92025 

(858) 752-4121 

 

 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 8 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 9 of 24 

8. Conflict of State or Federal Laws.  If state or federal laws or regulations enacted after 

the Effective Date prevent compliance with any provision of this Agreement or require changes in 

any Entitlements, those laws or regulations shall be controlling and the Parties shall make a good 

faith, reasonable attempt to modify this Agreement to comply both with the intent of the 

Agreement and with the new laws or regulations. 

The City shall timely assist Owner in securing any permits, including permits from other 

public agencies, which may be required as a result of the modifications, suspensions, or alternate 

courses of action. 

ARTICLE III 

Development of the Property 

1. Applicable Rules, Regulations, and Policies.  Owner shall have the vested right, to the 

fullest extent allowed by law, to develop the Property in accordance with the Entitlements, Existing 

Laws and this Agreement. During the Term, the Entitlements, Existing Laws and this Agreement 

shall control the overall design, development and construction of the Project. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall preclude the City from applying changes occurring 

from time to time in the uniform codes published in Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations 

and adopted by the City, including local amendments, in effect when the building permits are 

issued.  

2. Future Laws.  Future Laws shall not apply to the Project except as expressly provided in 

this Agreement.  Future Laws may be applied to the Project if they are not in conflict with the 

Existing Laws. Owner may give the City written notice of its election to have any Future Law 

applied to the Property, in which case such Future Law will be considered an Existing Law for 

purposes of this Agreement. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 9 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 10 of 24 

3. Future Discretionary Reviews.  Except as set forth in this Agreement, the City shall retain 

its discretionary rights in reviewing applications for Entitlements. Owner's applications for 

Entitlements and the City's review thereof, must comply with the Existing Laws and with the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement.  The City shall not impose any conditions upon Entitlements 

that are more restrictive than or inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement or the Existing Laws, 

except as required by state or federal law. The City may conduct, in accordance with CEQA and 

the Existing Laws, an environmental review for Entitlements.  The City may impose, if required 

by CEQA, additional mitigation measures to mitigate significant adverse environmental effects 

that were not previously considered, or were found to be infeasible to mitigate at the time of 

approval of this Agreement. Nothing herein is intended to require or authorize additional CEQA 

environmental review or mitigation measures beyond that otherwise required by CEQA.  

4. Permitted Uses and Density.  The Agreement shall vest the right to develop the Property 

to the fullest extent allowed by law with respect to the permitted uses of land, density and intensity 

of uses, and the rate or timing and phasing of development as described in the Entitlements which 

are hereby incorporated as if fully set forth in this Agreement. The permitted uses, density, and 

intensity of use of the Project, the maximum height and size of proposed buildings and provisions 

for reservation or dedication of land for public purposes, shall substantially conform to those 

specified in the Entitlements, Existing Laws and this Agreement. All other aspects of the Project 

that are not specified in the Entitlements shall be determined by the Existing Laws, except as 

expressly provided herein. 

5. Time for Construction and Completion of the Project.  Owner cannot predict when or 

the rate or the order in which the Property or the parcels will be developed, if at all. Such decisions 

depend upon numerous factors that are not within the control of the Owner, such as market 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 10 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 11 of 24 

orientation and demand, interest rates, absorption, completion, and other similar factors. Therefore, 

Owner shall have the right to develop the Property in phases, in such order, at such rate, and at 

such times as Owner deems appropriate in Owner's business judgment, subject only to the 

provisions of this Agreement and the Entitlements. Owner shall be entitled to apply for and receive 

approval of permits, building permits, and other Entitlements for use at any time and for any or all 

portions or phases of the Project, provided that application is made in a manner consistent with 

this Agreement and the Entitlements. 

 The City may require, and will process, all customary plans and agreements generally 

applicable to developers in the City for similar works of onsite or offsite improvements.   

6. Moratorium.  No City-imposed moratorium or other limitation (whether relating to the 

rate, timing or sequencing of the development or construction of all or any part of the Property, 

whether imposed by ordinance, initiative, resolution, policy, order or otherwise, and whether 

enacted by the City Council, an agency of the City, the electorate, or otherwise) affecting parcel 

or subdivision maps (whether tentative, vesting tentative, or final), building permits, occupancy 

certificates or other entitlements to use or service (including, without limitation, water and sewer) 

approved, issued or granted within the City, or portions of the City, shall apply to the Property to 

the extent such moratorium or other limitation is in conflict with this Agreement; provided, 

however, the provisions of this Section shall not affect the City's compliance with moratoria or 

other limitations mandated by other governmental agencies or court-imposed moratoria, as 

established by the initiative process, or as otherwise established by law. 

7. Operating Memoranda.  The Parties acknowledge that the provisions of this Agreement 

require cooperation between the City and Owner, and that the refinements and further development 

of the Project hereunder may demonstrate that changes are appropriate with respect to the details 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 11 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 12 of 24 

of performance of the Parties hereunder. The Parties desire, therefore, to retain a certain degree of 

flexibility with respect to those items covered in general terms under this Agreement. If and when, 

from time to time during the Term, the Parties find that such Minor Modifications are necessary 

or appropriate, they may effectuate such Minor Modifications through Operating Memoranda 

approved by the Parties, which, after execution, shall be attached hereto as addenda and become a 

part hereof, and may be further changed and amended from time to time as necessary with further 

approval by the City and Owner.  No such Operating Memorandum shall require prior notice or 

hearing, or constitute an amendment or modification to this Agreement; and in the case of the City, 

such Operating Memorandum may be acted upon by the City Manager or his designee. Failure of 

the Parties to enter into any such Operating Memorandum shall not affect or abrogate any of the 

rights, duties or obligations of the Parties hereunder or the provisions of this Agreement. An 

Operating Memorandum may be recorded as an addendum to this Agreement. 

8. Term of Project Approvals.  The term of each of the Entitlements shall be extended for a 

period of time through the Term of the Agreement. Should this Agreement be terminated, the 

Owner shall have thirty (30) days to submit an application for the extension of any of the approved 

Entitlements.  

9. Infrastructure Capacity.  Subject to Owner's proportionate contribution to infrastructure 

and the Public Benefits provided by Owner, in accordance with the requirements of the 

Entitlements, the City hereby acknowledges that it will have sufficient capacity in its infrastructure 

services and utility systems, including, without limitation, traffic circulation, flood control, 

sanitation service and, except for reasons beyond the City's control, sewer collection, sewer 

treatment, water supply, treatment, distribution and service, to accommodate the Project. To the 

extent that the City renders such services or provides such utilities, the City hereby agrees that it 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 12 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 13 of 24 

will serve the Project and that there shall be no restriction on connections or service for the Project 

except for reasons beyond the City's control. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City 

acknowledges that sufficient capacity for sewer collection and treatment for the Project exists as 

of the Effective Date. 

10. Easements.  Easements dedicated for pedestrian use shall be permitted to include public 

easements for underground improvements, including but not limited to, drainage, water, sewer, 

gas, electricity, telephone, cable and other utilities and facilities, so long as they do not 

unreasonably interfere with pedestrian use. 

11. Public Benefits and Improvements.  Owner agrees to design and construct the 

improvements as provided in the Entitlements and provide the Public Benefits as described in 

Exhibit B. These requirements shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  

12. Fees. The Owner shall pay the Development Fees and General Fees in the amounts 

applicable at the time of building permit issuance. The payment of Development Fees and General 

Fees may be deferred in accordance with City requirements separately from this Agreement.  

ARTICLE IV 

Provision of Public Benefits 

1. Description of Public Benefits.  Owner shall provide the City with the Public Benefits, as 

further described in Exhibit B, as consideration for the City's good faith performance of all 

applicable terms and conditions in this Agreement and Exhibit B. 

2. Occupancy Contingent on Construction of Public Improvements.  Owner 

acknowledges that the City shall not grant a certificate of occupancy for any building constructed 

on the Property prior to the construction of all Public Improvements and provision of all Public 

Benefits.  This contingency for occupancy shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 13 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 14 of 24 

3. Grading Permit Contingent on Security for Public Benefits.  Prior to issuance of a 

grading permit, Owner must enter into an improvement agreement or agreements which will detail 

Owner's construction obligations for Public Improvements and the Public Benefits, and will 

require Owner to provide financial security for completion of construction, in a form or forms as 

approved by the City Attorney. 

4. Processing During Third Party Litigation.  The filing of any third party lawsuit(s) 

against the City or Owner relating to this Agreement, any Entitlements, or to other development 

issues affecting the Property shall not delay or stop the development, processing or construction 

of the Project or approval of Entitlements, unless the third party obtains a court order preventing 

the activity, in which case the term of this Agreement shall be tolled for the duration of the legal 

action and the expiration date of the Agreement shall be extended by the time during which the 

term is tolled.  

ARTICLE V 

Annual Review 

1. Owner Responsibilities.  At least every twelve (12) months during the Term, Owner shall 

demonstrate good faith substantial compliance with the major provisions of the Agreement and 

provide, to the best extent possible, the status and timing of development of the Project and related 

public improvements to the City for an Annual Review. If requested by the City, Owner shall 

provide any additional detail or information necessary to demonstrate good faith compliance with 

any particular provision of this Agreement identified by the City. 

2. Opportunity to be Heard.  Owner shall be permitted an opportunity to be heard orally 

and in writing at any noticed public hearing regarding its performance under this Agreement. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 14 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 15 of 24 

Owner shall be heard before each appropriate board agency or commission and the City Council 

at any required public hearing concerning a review of performance under this Agreement. 

3. Information to be Provided to Owner.  The City shall mail to Owner a copy of staff 

reports and related exhibits concerning Agreement performance, a minimum of ten (10) calendar 

days prior to consideration and review by the City Council. 

4. Annual Review Letter.  If Owner is found to be in substantial compliance with this 

Agreement after the Annual Review, the City shall issue, upon written request by Owner, a Review 

Letter to Owner stating that, based upon information known or made known to the City Council, 

the City Planning Commission, and/or the City Manager, this Agreement remains in effect and 

Owner is in compliance. Owner may record the Review Letter in the Official Records of the 

County of San Diego. 

5. Failure of Annual Review.  The City's failure to perform an Annual Review of Owner's 

substantial compliance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement shall not constitute or be 

asserted as a default by Owner. 

ARTICLE VI 

Delay, Default, Remedies, and Termination 

1. Notice and Cure of Default.  In the event of a material default, the Party alleging a default 

shall give the defaulting Party a notice of default in writing. The notice of default shall specify the 

nature of the alleged material default. During the Cure Period, the Party charged shall not be 

considered in breach. If the default is cured within the Cure Period, then no breach shall be deemed 

to exist. Any notice given pursuant to the preceding sentence shall specify the nature of the alleged 

failure and, where appropriate, the manner in which such alleged failure satisfactorily may be 

cured. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 15 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 16 of 24 

2. Waiver.  Failure or delay in giving notice of default shall not constitute a waiver of any 

other material default. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, a failure or delay 

in asserting any rights or remedies as to any default shall not operate as a waiver of any default or 

of any rights or remedies otherwise available to a Party or deprive a Party of the right to institute 

and maintain any actions or proceedings which it may deem necessary to protect, assert, or enforce 

any rights or remedies it may have. 

3. Default by Owner.  The Director may recommend the review and termination of this 

Agreement to the City Council upon an occurrence of a material default that is not cured within 

the Cure Period. The foregoing does not limit any of the City’s other remedies upon a material 

breach of this Agreement by the Owner. 

4. Default by the City.  Upon a material default by the City, that is not cured within the Cure 

Period, Owner, without limiting any of its other remedies, shall not be obligated to complete any 

of its obligations under this Agreement.  

5. Termination or Modification.  Any termination or modification of this Agreement shall 

be done in accordance with Article 58, Chapter 33 of the Escondido Zoning Code as well as any 

applicable state or federal law.  Owner shall have sixty (60) days from the Effective Date to sign 

the Agreement or the Agreement shall automatically expire. 

ARTICLE VII 

Encumbrances and Releases on Property 

1. Discretion to Encumber.  This Agreement shall not prevent or limit Owner, in any 

manner, from encumbering the Property or any portion of the Property or any improvement on the 

Property by any mortgage. The City acknowledges that lenders providing financing may require 

modifications to this Agreement and the City agrees, upon request, from time to time, to meet with 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 16 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 17 of 24 

Owner and/or representatives of lenders to negotiate in good faith any lender request for 

modification provided any modification does not will not affect the timely completion or 

fulfillment of any requirements in the Entitlements or this Agreement relating to the Public 

Benefits. 

ARTICLE VIII 

Miscellaneous Provisions 

1. Rules of Construction.  The singular includes the plural; the masculine gender includes 

the feminine; "shall" is mandatory; "may" is permissive. 

2. Severability.  If any non-material provision of this Agreement shall be adjudged by a court 

of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or illegal, it shall in no way affect, impair, or 

invalidate any other provision of this Agreement. If any material part of the Agreement is adjudged 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or illegal, the Parties shall take all steps 

necessary to modify the Agreement to implement the original intent of the Parties in a valid and 

binding manner. These steps may include the waiver by either of the Parties of their right under 

the unenforceable provision. If, however, this Agreement objectively cannot be modified to 

implement the original intent of the Parties and the Party substantially benefited by the material 

provision does not waive its rights under the unenforceable provision, the executory portions of 

the Agreement shall become void. 

3. Entire Agreement.  Except as expressly referred to herein, this Agreement constitutes the 

entire understanding and agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this 

Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all other negotiations and previous agreements between 

the Parties with respect to that subject matter. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 17 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 18 of 24 

4. Waivers.  All waivers of the provisions of this Agreement must be in writing and signed 

by the appropriate agents of the City or of Owner. 

5. Recording.  The City Clerk shall cause a copy of this Agreement to be recorded with the 

Office of the County Recorder of San Diego County, California within (ten) 10 days following the 

Effective Date. Upon the completion of performance of this Agreement or its revocation or 

termination, a statement evidencing completion, revocation, or termination signed by the 

appropriate agents of Owner and the City shall be recorded in the Official Records of San Diego 

County, California. 

6. Project as a Private Undertaking.  It is specifically understood by the Parties that the 

Project is a private development and that Owner shall have the full power and exclusive control of 

the Property subject to the provisions of this Agreement. Any improvements completed remain the 

property of the Owner unless the City has explicitly accepted any improvement.  

7. Captions.  The captions of the Agreement are for convenience and reference only and shall 

not define, explain, modify, construe, limit, amplify or aid in the interpretation, construction or 

meaning of any of the provisions of the Agreement. 

8. Consent.  Where the consent or approval of a Party is required or necessary under this 

Agreement, the consent or approval shall not be withheld unreasonably. 

9. The City's Ongoing Statutory Authority.  Except as expressly stated, nothing in this 

Agreement shall limit the City's authority and responsibility under the California Constitution and 

applicable California statutes to act in the best interests of the public health, safety, and welfare, 

and nothing in this Agreement is intended to limit in any way the legislative discretion otherwise 

afforded the Escondido City Council under state or federal law. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 18 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 19 of 24 

10. Covenant of Cooperation.  The Parties shall cooperate with and assist each other in the 

performance of the provisions of the Agreement including assistance in obtaining permits for the 

development of the Property which may be required from public agencies other than the City. The 

covenant of cooperation shall include, to the maximum extent permitted by law, that the City shall 

use its best efforts to prevent any ordinance, measure, moratorium or other limitation from 

invalidating, prevailing over or making impossible any provision of the Agreement, and the City 

shall cooperate with Owner to keep this Agreement in full force and effect.  Owner reserves the 

right to challenge any such ordinance, measure, moratorium, or other limitation in a court of law 

if it becomes necessary to protect the development rights vested in the Property pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

11. Further Actions and Instruments.  Each of the Parties shall cooperate with and provide 

reasonable assistance to the other in the performance of all obligations under this Agreement and 

the satisfaction of the conditions. Upon the request of either Party, the other Party shall promptly 

execute, with acknowledgment or affidavit if reasonably required, and file or record such required 

instruments and writings and take any actions as may be reasonably necessary under the terms of 

this Agreement to carry out the intent and to fulfill the provisions of the Agreement or to evidence 

or consummate the transactions contemplated herein.  

12. Successors and Assigns.  Subject to Article II Section 2 above, the burdens of this 

Agreement shall be binding upon, and the benefits of this Agreement inure to, all successors-in-

interest and assigns of the Parties. 

13. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement and of each and every 

term and condition hereof. 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 19 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 20 of 24 

14. Applicable Laws.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with 

the laws of the State of California. All statutory references are to California statutes. 

15. No Waiver of Existing Rights or Applicable Laws.  This Agreement shall not constitute 

a waiver of any of Owner's existing rights or applicable laws, nor shall it limit or expand Owner's 

right to challenge any General Fee as being contrary to applicable law or to challenge any existing 

or Future Exaction as being in excess of Exactions permitted by applicable law. 

16. Authorization.  Each person executing this Agreement hereby warrants and represents that 

he/she has the authority to enter into this Agreement and to bind his/her respective entity to the 

provisions hereof. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which 

when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original.  

17. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement and each and every provision hereof is 

for the exclusive benefit of the Parties hereto and not for the benefit of any third party. 

 

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 20 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 21 of 24 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement: 

 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO    CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

 

 

 

 

By: _____________________________  By: _____________________________ 

 Paul McNamara     Zack Beck 

Its:  Mayor      Its:  City Clerk 

 

 

555 W. GRAND AVENUE, LLC, A CALIFORNIA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

 

 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

 Ed McCoy 

 Its: Authorized Member 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

 

 

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 

MICHAEL R. MCGUINNESS, City Attorney 

 

By:  ______________________________ 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 
 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 21 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 22 of 24 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

 

Real property in the City of Escondido, County of San Diego, State of California, described as 

follows: 

 

(On file with the City’s Department of Community Development) 

 

  

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 22 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 23 of 24 

Exhibit B 

 

I. PUBLIC BENEFITS AND PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 

A. DYNAMIC ART FEATURE. Owner shall design, construct and maintain a 

public art piece on the Project site that includes a dynamic and kinetic feature.  

The size shall be a minimum of 234 square feet and should be featured on the 

northwest corner of the Project. The final design, including but not limited to the 

location, colors and materials, shall be subject to the approval of the City staff 

design review committee. The final design shall be approved before a building 

permit shall issue for the Project.  The Owner shall maintain the dynamic art 

feature in perpetuity and any assignment of this Agreement or the Property shall 

be subject to this maintenance obligation.  

B. PARKING LIFTS. Owner shall design, construct and maintain five (5) parking 

lifts, each capable of stacking two vehicles in one parking space for the use of the 

residents of the Project. The Owner shall maintain the lifts in perpetuity and any 

assignment of this Agreement or the Property shall be subject to this maintenance 

obligation. 

C. CONTRIBUTIONS TO OPEN SPACE. Owner shall contribute $20,000 towards 

open space improvements elsewhere in the City as a public benefit and to offset 

any impact from the Project. To the extent a reduction in the required open space 

is necessary as provided in the Downtown Specific Plan, the open space shall be 

allowed at 225 square feet per unit for the Project. 

 

  

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 23 of 24



 
 
 

 Page 24 of 24 

II. FEE CREDITS 

A. PUBLIC ART FEE CREDITS. In recognition of the dynamic art feature the 

Project is providing, the Owner shall receive a fee credit towards the Public Art 

Fees required of the Project in an amount of $0.30 per square foot, not to exceed 

$30,000. 

 

Ordinance No. 2019-15 

Exhibit "F" 

Page 24 of 24



- 1 -

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS
Updated October 3, 2019

October 16, 2019
NO MEETING (League of California Cities) 

October 23, 2019
6:00 p.m.

PRESENTATIONS
Fire Explorer Program
California Center for Arts, Escondido Annual Report

PROCLAMATIONS
Breast Cancer Awareness

CONSENT CALENDAR
Sale of APN 233-022-21 and APN 233-022-23 (Portion) to 555 W. Grand Avenue, 
LLC
(J. Procopio)

555 W. Grand Avenue, LLC has submitted an offer to purchase the subject property to include in the 
development of rental condominium units and a flex office/retail space on the ground floor of a four-story 
building. City and Buyer agree to a purchase price of fair market value as determined by an independent 
appraiser. The Developer will provide an initial deposit to escrow in the amount of ten thousand dollars to be 
held during the feasibility period.
Bid Award for the 2019 Street Rehabilitation and Maintenance Project Rebid
(J. Procopio)

This Project will complete both rehabilitation and maintenance work as part of the City’s Annual Street 
Maintenance Program and will focus on residential streets located in Maintenance Zone W, which is the area 
west of Interstate 15 between State Route 78 and Felicita Avenue. Substantial work is also expected on several 
local collector and above classified streets
Amendment to the Utility Fund Fiscal Year 2020 Operating Budget Adding Two 
Full-Time Positions to the Wastewater Budget and One Full-Time Position to the 
Water Budget
(C. McKinney)

The proposed new positions are a Control System Supervisor (Water), two Wastewater Treatment Plant 
Operators (Wastewater), and a Utilities Safety Coordinator (Wastewater).

AGENDA ITEMS AND CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATES ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE.
CHECK WITH THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT 839-4617



- 2 -

October 23, 2019
Continued

CONSENT CALENDAR Continued
Consulting Agreement to Assist the City in its Efforts to Comply with America’s 
Water Infrastructure Act
(C. McKinney)

On October 23, 2018, Congress signed into law the America’s Water Infrastructure Act (AWIA).  A section of 
the Act requires utilities to conduct a risk and resilience assessment of their community water systems and 
develop a corresponding emergency response plan.  The San Diego County Water Authority (SDCWA) 
partnered with member agencies (including Escondido) to obtain proposals from firms to prepare the AWIA.

PUBLIC HEARINGS
Master and Precise Development Plan Modification for City Plaza (PHG 17-
0026)
(B. Martin)

The Master and Precise Development Plan modification would allow the conversion of an existing residents-
only gym into an additional dwelling unit. The gym would be relocated to a portion of the commercial space, 
but would remain a resident-only amenity. The additional dwelling unit would change the project density from 
68.75 dwelling units per acre to 70 dwelling units per acre. The modification would also remove a specific list 
of permitted/conditionally permitted commercial land uses and instead rely upon the matrix contained in the 
Downtown Specific Plan. The proposal also includes the adoption of the environmental determination 
prepared for the project.
Short-Form Rent Increase Application for Imperial Escondido Mobile Estates 
(B. Martin)

The application meets all the eligibility criteria for submittal of a short-form rent increase application. The 
amount requested covers a 24-month period of consideration from December 31, 2016, to December 31, 
2018. Seventy-five percent of the change in the CPI for the period is 4.926 percent. The average space rent 
for the 200 spaces subject to rent control is $540.43. The average requested increase per space is 
approximately $26.62.
Downtown Specific Plan Amendment and Master and Precise Development
Plan for the Quince Street Senior Housing Project (PHG 17-0028)
(B. Martin)

The Downtown Specific Plan Amendment would modify parking and open space requirements, and allow 
ground-floor residential uses through a Planned Development Permit at a property located at 220 N. Quince 
Street. The Master and Precise Development Plan (Planned Development Permit) would allow the subject 
property to be developed with a 145-unit age-restricted senior housing project. The proposal also includes 
the adoption of the environmental determination prepared for the project. *This item will be continued 
from the October 9, 2019 City Council Meeting.
East Grove Specific Plan Amendment (PHG 19-0023)
(B. Martin)

The applicant, acting on behalf of the Hidden Trails homeowner’s association, would like to re-designate or 
change a portion of a small section of trail that was installed by the developer when the subdivision was 
created, immediately adjacent to Hidden Trails Road within the parkway portion of the public right-of-way  
The local homeowner’s association has allocated a significant amount of their resources for its upkeep and 
ongoing maintenance, but the association is unlikely to be able to continually service this financial obligation.  



- 3 -

October 23, 2019
Continued

CURRENT BUSINESS
Issuance of the 2019 Water System Revenue Refunding Bonds – Financing 
Plan and Legal Documents
(J. Ryan)

The 2007 Water Revenue Certificates of Participation provided financing for the City’s Water System capital 
improvements. Refunding this bond issue will allow the City to realize net present value savings which will be 
passed on to the City’s Water system users. 
Year-End Financial Status Report for Fiscal Year 2018/19 and Budget 
Adjustment
(J. Ryan)

Quarterly financial reports present written financial updates to Council concerning certain funds of the City 
based on the most recent financial information available. These quarterly financial reports include budgetary 
information along with the actual resources received to date and the use of these resources in fulfilling each 
fund's financial plan.  The report provides information for the General Fund, Reidy Creek Golf Course 
Operations, and Water, and Wastewater Funds.

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS



 

1 
 

October 3, 2019 
 
Business News: Escondido Insight 
Did you know that the City’s Economic Development department’s produces a monthly 
newsletter that features business spotlights, City related news articles, and events? Subscribe 
to get updates here. You can read this month’s issue by clicking the image below.  

 
CCAE Presents the World of Hip Hop with Grandmaster Flash 
This Saturday, October 5, the Center for the Arts will be hosting an immersive evening of hip 
hop culture with Grandmaster Flash. He will be at the Center for a Master Class (live lecture and 
demonstration) followed by a performance in the Concert Hall at 8:00 p.m. Separate tickets are 
required for each part of the evening. More information can be found here.   
 
You can read more about Grandmaster Flash and his night in Escondido in the Coast News 
article below.  

 



 

 2 

BY THE NUMBERS 
 
Public Works 
 

 

 
 

 

2361

3126

3207

3389

3071

2107

2027

1990

1906

1410

1851

2637

3182

August

June

April

February

December

October

August

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 3500 4000

Number of Graffiti Tags Removed 2018 - 2019

Voice Mail, 63

Report It!, 
167

Eradication 
Team, 554

Email, 3
Phone, 12

How Graffiti Was Reported - August 2019

Voice Mail Report It! Eradication Team Email Phone

0

100

200

300

400

500

600
NUMBER OF SHOPPING CARTS REMOVED

2018

2019



 

 3 

Code Enforcement 
 

 
 

Total Code Cases (Year To Date) 2,074 

 
Business Licenses 
 

 
 
Graffiti Restitution 
 

Collected This Week Collected Year to Date 

 $106.57 $4717.32 

 
  

273 Total Active Cases

65 New Cases 

72 Voluntary 
Compliance

24 Notices 
Issued

73 Cases 
Closed

1 Citations 
Issued

0

50

100

150

200

250

Monthly New Business License Applications by Year

2019 2018 2017 2016



 

 4 

Fire 
 

 
 

 
 

Total Emergency Responses (Year To Date)  12,794 

 
  

5

23

234

67

Fires

Vehicle Accidents

EMS Responses

Other

0 50 100 150 200 250

Fire Emergency Responses
September 22-28

5

51

Construction Inspections

Annual Inspections

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

Fire Inspections
September 22 -28



 

 5 

Police: 
 

 

 
 
September Abandoned Vehicle Data 

 
  

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

Monthly Police Calls for Service by Year 

2016 2017 2018 2019

Emergency, 43,719, 
23%

Non-Emergency, 
111,024, 59%

Outgoing , 34,582, 
18%

2019 YTD Police/Fire Communication Center Call 
Volume 

Emergency Non-Emergency Outgoing

320
Warnings issued to 
remove suspected 
abandoned vehicles 
within 72 hours

55
Abandoned vehicles 
impounded (removal 
of vehicles found 
littering city streets)

168
Total abandoned 
vehicles impounded 
(since July 1, 2019)



 

 6 

Building Division: 
*Data reflects activity through September 28 of each year. 
 

 
 

 
 

  

64,803,868

25,165,523

0 10,000,000 20,000,000 30,000,000 40,000,000 50,000,000 60,000,000 70,000,000

2018

2019

Permit Values

2,814

933

3,146

1105

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000 3,500

Permit Application

Solar Permits

Building Permits

2019 2018



 

 7 

VOLUNTEER PROGRAM 

 
 
Events: 
On Saturday, September 28, Boy Scout Troop 654 volunteered their time at Dixon Lake cleaning 
up the park and surrounding areas. Thanks Boy Scouts for your time and effort! 
 

 
 
Get Involved: 
If you would like to get involved with future projects and volunteer in Escondido, visit: 
https://www.escondido.org/volunteer-intern-program.aspx 
 
 
POLICE DEPARTMENT 
  
Incidents: 
 
Windows at Two Businesses Destroyed, Man Arrested  
On September 23 at 11:30 p.m., witnesses called 911 to report seeing an unknown male throw 
a rock through a window of Five Guys Burgers at 1348 W. Valley Pkwy.  The male was then 
seen approaching an adjacent BevMo where he threw a trash can lid at a window.  The window 
shattered, the man entered the business, and was seen leaving with a case of water.  Officers 
found the man suspected of these crimes in a neighboring business complex.  Mitchell Huntley 



 

 8 

(30-year-old homeless resident of Escondido) was arrested on charges of vandalism, burglary, 
public intoxication, and parole violation.   
 
COPPS Officers Make Drug Sales Arrest 
On September 25, officers assigned to the Community Policing and Problem Solving (COPPS) 
Unit responded to a trespassing call in the 600 block of N. Broadway.  Officers contacted a male 
who was later determined to be selling Methamphetamine.  Officers seized over three grams of 
Methamphetamine and arrested Melvin Jones (61-year-old homeless resident of Escondido) on 
a charge of possession of a controlled substance for sales. 
 
Attempt to Tag Police Car Ends in Arrest 
On September 28 at about 11:45 p.m., officers were on-scene of a disturbance call in the 1100 
block of E. Lincoln Ave.  As the officers were managing the disturbance incident, they saw two 
males appearing to write graffiti on one of their marked police vehicles.  Both males tried to run 
away as officers approached, but were quickly arrested after a brief foot pursuit.  Johnathan 
Naranjo (21-year-old resident of Fallbrook) was arrested along with a 17-year-old juvenile on 
charges of vandalism and resisting arrest. 
 
COPPS: 
The COPPS (Community Oriented Policing and Problem-Solving) Unit is dedicated to increasing 
the quality of life for the residents of Escondido through pro-active responses to crime trends, 
quality of life issues, and addressing crime and public nuisance in Grape Day Park and at Maple 
Plaza.      

 3 arrests  

 7 citations 

 39 extra patrols 
 
Events: 
 
At all hours of the day and night, Escondido Police Officers 
can be seen helping members of our community.  We 
received a photo recently that demonstrates our kindness.  
During the early morning hours of September 27, officers 
assisted an elderly resident in returning to her home.  As you 
will see in the picture, Officer Omar Mondragon reassured 
this member of our community by holding her hand and 
walking her back home to be reunited with her worried 
husband. 
 

 
Tip of the Week: 
 
Child Safety: At Home Alone 

1. Make sure your child can reach you by telephone, wherever you are. Have your child 
check in with you at work or with a neighbor when he or she gets home.  

2. Save important phone numbers in your child’s cell phone: Police Non-Emergency is 760-
839-4722; Emergency is 9-1-1; Fire Department (to report a fire) is 9-1-1; Poison Control 
Center is 800-876-4766; trusted neighbor. 



 

 9 

3. Tell your child to always let you know if they are going to visit a friend, or are going to be 
late coming home from school. Agree on rules for having friends over or going to someone 
else's house when no adult is present. 

4. Work out an escape plan in case of fire. If a fire does start while your child is home alone, 
advise them to out of the house as quickly as possible and to always call 9-1-1 from 
outside of the home.  If they do not have access to a cell phone, instruct them to call from 
a neighbor's house. 

Tell your child to never open the door to a stranger. Tell your child to call 9-1-1 if someone tries 
to get into the house, or seems to be hanging around. Teach your child how to work door and 
window locks, and to always keep the garage door closed. 
 
FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 
News: 
 
On Monday, September 23, the Escondido Fire 
Department Prevention Personnel joined The Burn 
Institute at Juniper Elementary School for their "Fire Safe 
Kids Program".  This presentation included a 30-minute 
assembly with a slide show, and interaction with the 
children on fire safety in the home.  Escondido firefighters 
also provided a 30-minute demonstration of fire and 
rescue equipment and a tour of the fire engine. This is a 
very informative program and will be provided to all K-6 
classes throughout Escondido. 
 

 
 
On Tuesday, September 24, several fire department personnel, including support volunteers, 
attended the Park Avenue Senior Center Wellness Expo. The crews spent time providing fire 
safety information to senior citizens in attendance and the Support Volunteers performed a 
demonstration on how to use portable fire extinguishers.  

 



 

 10 

On Thursday, September 25 the Escondido Police Crime Unit held a community presentation 
for Escondido apartment managers.  Escondido Fire Prevention Specialist II, Sandra Bauer, 
gave a 30-minute presentation on mandatory annual apartment inspections, fire code violations 
often found and safety tips.  Group managers had the opportunity to ask questions and address 
specific issues of concern.  
 

 
 
On Friday, September 26 at approximately 4:56 a.m., the Escondido Police and Fire 
Communications Center received a report of a residential structure fire in the 500 block of 7th 
Ave.  The first arriving fire engine found all the residents evacuated because they were made 
aware of the fire by a smoke detector.  The fire was contained and controlled to the room of 
origin in 33 minutes.  There were no injuries to firefighters or civilians. The cause of the fire is 
under investigation.   
 
On Saturday, September 28, Engine 134 (Captain Ferris, Engineer Good, and FFPM Cowell) 
participated in the Westfield Shopping Center Safety Fair. The crew set up a Kids Safety Station 
inside the Old Navy store and they provided educational materials to attendees and discussed 
fire safety with children and shoppers. 
 

 



 

 11 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
Major Projects Update 
 
The following major projects are being reviewed and coordinated by Planning, Engineering, Fire, 
Building and Utilities.  The list of projects below encompasses recent project updates and/or 
milestones from last week.   
 
Commercial / Office: 
 
1. Escondido Research and Technology Center (ERTC) – West (Developer: James McCann) 

2181 Citracado Parkway – A plan for a new two-story, 57,000 SF, 52-bed Palomar 
Rehabilitation Institute (PRI) was submitted as a Plot Plan on July 31, 2017. The Plot Plan 
approval letter was issued on February 7, 2018.  An MOU explaining the phasing and proposed 
parking improvements for the hospital has been signed by all parties and was completed on 
July 15, 2019.  The state OSHPD will issue building permits and oversee construction 
inspections.  Site preparation and grading activities for the PRI building has commenced.  A 
grading permit has been issued for the parking lot expansion on the Lot 1 property. 

 
2. Escondido Research and Technology Center (ERTC) – East (Developer: James McCann) 

2130 Citracado Parkway – Building plans for a 71,656 SF medical office building in this 
approved medical complex area across from Palomar Hospital were submitted into plan check 
on October 9, 2018.  A subsequent plan submittal increased the size of the building to 
approximately 80,000 SF, which exceeds the specific plan allowance for that planning area.  A 
plot plan application for the modified building design has been submitted by the applicant.  A 
fee deferral agreement has been signed by all parties in anticipation of building permit 
issuance.   

 
Industrial 

 
1. Escondido Self-Storage Facility (Developer: Brandywine Homes, Inc.) 2319 Cranston Dr. – 

Updated building plans were resubmitted into plan check on July 24, 2018.  Esgil, Engineering 
and Fire approved the plans several months ago.  Planning met with the architect on July 18, 
2019, to finalize design for the screening of rooftop mechanical equipment and then approved 
the building plans the same day.  The grading permit has been approved and grading has 
commenced on the site.  Issuance of the building permit is imminent. 

 
2. Citracado Business Park (Developer: Dentt Properties) 2207 Harmony Grove Road – A 

proposed specific plan for two industrial warehouse/office buildings (145,930 SF and 125,930 
SF) with the buildings to be separated by the future extension of Citracado Parkway.  The 
application was submitted on August 14, 2018.  All departments have completed their initial 
review and comments were sent to the applicant on September 17, 2018.  SDG&E also has 
provided comments regarding the high voltage power lines that traverse the site.  The 
applicant’s traffic consultant submitted revised methodology and distribution to Engineering on 
October 19, 2018.  A meeting with the applicant to review the various departmental comments 
occurred on October 29, 2018.  The developer team met with several departments on April 4, 
2019, primarily to discuss traffic-related issues.  Planning and Building are awaiting submittal 
of a demo permit for the two abandoned residences on the site.  A revised Traffic Impact 
Analysis was submitted to Engineering on August 8, 2019.  The developer and consultant team 
met with Engineering and Planning on August 20, 2019, to discuss proposed traffic mitigation 



 

 12 

measures.  Caltrans has recently responded favorably to the Engineering Division’s suggestion 
of adaptive signal timing as feasible mitigation for the Nordahl/Hwy 78 area. 
 

City Projects 
 
1. Membrane-Filtration Reverse Osmosis (Developer: City of Escondido Utilities Department) SE 

corner Ash/Washington – On January 16, 2019, the City Council expressed continued support 
for the MFRO, but directed staff to investigate moving the facility from Ash/Washington to 
another location.  A city-owned property located at 901 W. Washington Avenue has been 
selected as the new MFRO site.  An on-site meeting with the selected design-build and 
environmental contractors occurred on January 28, 2019.  Preliminary geotechnical and survey 
work is underway.  Helix Environmental Planning will be preparing the draft environmental 
documents.  A Design Build Agreement was approved by the City Council on April 3, 2019.  
The Design Build Agreement with Filanc+BC Joint Venture provides for design and pre-
construction services.  The Design Build team met with Utilities and Planning on May 15, 2019 
and June 5, 2019 to discuss design and timeline issues.  A revised draft site plan was submitted 
to Planning on July 10, 2019.  A draft environmental review document is in preparation.  Tribal 
consultation letters (i.e. AB 52 notification) to interested tribal groups were sent August 2, 2019.  
City staff met with the Design Build team to review site plan comments on August 14, 2019, 
and again on September 3, 2019.  A storm drain issue identified on the site is currently being 
investigated by staff.  The design team is working to put the Plot Plan application together for 
review by all departments.  

 
2. Lake Wohlford Replacement Dam (Developer: City of Escondido Utilities Department) – A 

Draft EIR was prepared and issued for a 45-day public review period that began on October 4, 
2016 and closed on November 17, 2016.  A field visit with staff from the state and federal 
wildlife agencies took place on May 11, 2017, to review biological mitigation requirements 
including an agency request for full mitigation for emergent vegetation at the eastern end of 
the lake that came into existence since the lake level was reduced for safety reasons.  Staff 
sent a follow-up letter to the wildlife agencies on June 29, 2017, seeking clarification on the 
proposed biological mitigation requirements. Additional information has been compiled and 
analyzed by the City’s biological consultants based on recent conversations with the agencies.  
The biological consultant and staff met with the wildlife agencies on November 28, 2018 to 
discuss a modified approach to fulfilling mitigation requirements.  Written information 
summarizing what was discussed at the meeting was transmitted to the agencies on December 
4, 2018.  City staff concluded a revised assessment of potential biological impacts and met 
with the agencies to present the findings.  Additional information requested by the agencies 
was prepared and submitted as requested.  The agencies responded they do not concur with 
the alternative mitigation proposal and the issue remains unresolved. 

 
Residential 

 
1. Harvest Hills (aka Safari Highlands Ranch) (Developer: Jeb Hall, Concordia Homes) 550 lots 

east of Rancho San Pasqual – A Notice of Availability for the Draft EIR was issued on October 
16, 2017 for public review and comment.  The comment period ended on January 2, 2018.  
Staff transmitted all the comment letters and emails to the Draft EIR consultant for review 
and to prepare a response to each comment.  The Draft EIR and appendices have been 
posted on the City’s website at the following link:   

 
https://www.escondido.org/safari-highlands-ranch-specific-plan.aspx 
 



 

 13 

The responses to comments have generated related revisions to the project design. The 
applicant’s engineer submitted a revised tentative map on October 26, 2018.  Generally, the 
amount of grading and the area of disturbance has decreased, while the overall number of 550 
residential lots has remained the same.  Engineering met with the project engineer and 
applicant on January 31, 2019, to discuss their comments on the revised tentative map.  The 
revised tentative map and exhibits have been posted on-line at the link above.  The applicant 
met with Traffic Engineering during the week of February 25th to discuss off-site improvements.  
Staff, applicant and biological consultant met with the wildlife agencies on April 23, 2019, to 
discuss the revisions to the project design mentioned above.  The applicant and staff met on 
June 20, 2019, to refine the list of outstanding issues remaining to be resolved prior to 
advancing to public hearings for the project.  The applicant met with Traffic Engineering staff 
on August 15, 2019, and agreement was reached on several of the off-site mitigation locations. 
Additional information regarding biological resources was submitted on August 29, 2019. 
 

2. 18 lots at 701 San Pasqual Valley Rd (Developer: Bob Stewart) – Staff comments on the 
revised tentative map were issued the last week of July 2017.  The applicant has occasionally 
engaged in discussions with various departments since that time, but has declined a staff offer 
to schedule a comprehensive meeting with all city departments.  Another set of revised plans 
were submitted the week of November 26, 2018.  Planning, Engineering and Utilities 
comments on the revised plans were issued on February 25, 2019.  In response to a follow-up 
discussion with the applicant, Planning provided additional comments on April 29, 2019.  
Additional discussions between the applicant and the City to resolve project issues occurred 
on June 20, 2019. 

 
3. The Villages at Escondido Country Club (Developer: Jason Han, New Urban West, Inc.) 380 

residences – The City Council voted 3-2 to approve the project on November 15, 2017. The 
applicant submitted rough grading plans, drainage improvement plans and utility relocation 
plans for all three villages on May 7, 2018.  Most of the plans are in third or fourth plan check.  
Engineering comments were returned on March 12, 2019; and the developer team met with 
Engineering on April 1, 2019, to discuss the comments.  The homebuilder met with Building, 
Engineering and Planning on April 24, 2019 to discuss the building plan check and precise 
grading plan processes.  A revised Certified Tentative Map for substantial conformance review 
was submitted on May 23, 2019 and included a proposal to relocate approximately 10 
residential lots within the development.  These changes in Villages 2 and 3 resulted from 
comments provided by the Regional Water Quality Control Board and that agency now has 
issued a permit.  The revised Certified Tentative Map was approved on September 3, 2019.  A 
resubmittal of Village 1 plans including grading, storm drain and the specific alignment plan for 
Country Club Lane was received on June 18, 2019.  A rough grading permit for Village 1 was 
issued on September 16, 2019.  A resubmittal of final engineering for Villages 2 and 3 is 
expected this week. 

 
The approved tentative subdivision map, Final EIR and appendices, Specific Plan and other 
related information can be accessed on the City’s website at the following link:  

 
https://www.escondido.org/ecc.aspx 

 
4. North Avenue Estates (Developer: Casey Johnson) 34 lots at North Ave./Conway Dr. –The 

City Council approved the project on January 10, 2018.  LAFCO approved the annexation 
application on October 1, 2018, and the annexation has recorded.  The new homebuilder, 
Taylor Morrison Homes submitted a Precise Development Plan to Planning on December 14, 
2018.  Grading plans, final map and improvement plans were submitted for review on 



 

 14 

December 7, 2018.  Engineering met with the applicant’s engineer on January 31, 2019 to 
discuss drainage issues.  A revised Certified TM was approved on March 14, 2019.  Final 
engineering plans were resubmitted on March 21, 2019.  The project engineer, Engineering 
and County Water Authority staff met on April 2, 2019, to discuss the street and utility crossings 
over the CWA aqueduct.  The applicant’s engineer submitted a revised design to address the 
CWA issues the week of June 3rd.  Building plans for four model homes were submitted into 
plan check on July 15, 2019, and comments were returned by Planning.  Revised grading and 
landscape plans and final map were submitted on July 30, 2019.  The Precise Development 
Plan was approved by the Planning Commission on August 13, 2019.  The project engineer 
has notified Engineering that revised plans will be submitted soon. 

 
5. Aspire (131 apartment units on Municipal Lot 1) (Developer: Addison Garza, Touchstone 

Communities) – The proposal consists of a six-story mixed-use development across from City 
Hall on Parking Lot 1. The project was initially submitted for entitlement processing for a 106-
unit development on June 23, 2017.  On March 14, 2019, the applicant submitted a revised 
project under state and city density bonus law that increases the number of dwelling units in 
return for the provision of 11 Very Low Income housing units.  The increased density (now 131 
units) has been accommodated by eliminating all 3-bedroom units to allow additional studio, 
one- and two-bedroom units within the same building structure.  The project includes 4,289 
square feet of commercial space on the ground floor, primarily fronting on Maple Street Plaza.  
A purchase and sale agreement for the project site (Parking Lot 1) was approved by the City 
Council on September 19, 2018.  Concerns regarding parking have been expressed; and the 
applicant’s parking consultant submitted a parking study on January 17, 2019.  A proposed 
Development Agreement was submitted for staff review on April 24, 2019.  Engineering 
completed final review of the traffic study and storm water plans, asking for modifications to 
complete the reports.  The Planning Commission voted 6-1 to recommend approval of the 
project on August 27, 2019.  The City Council hearing occurred on October 9, 2019. 

 
6. Quince Street Senior Housing (Developer: Matt Jumper, 220 Quince, L.P.) 145 apartment units 

at 220 N. Quince St. – The five-story affordable senior housing apartment project was 
submitted on November 21, 2017.  The applicant submitted revised plans on May 3, 2019.  
Public review of the Draft Mitigated Negative Declaration resulted in two comment letters.  A 
Final MND was prepared and included in the staff report, which was presented to the Planning 
Commission.  The project was reviewed by the Planning Commission on August 13, 2019 and 
the commission unanimously supported the project.  The City Council considered this item at 
their September 25, 2019, meeting and requested additional information.  A continued public 
hearing has been set for October 23, 2019. 

 
7. Sager Ranch/Daley Ranch Resort Specific Plan (Developer: J. Whalen Associates, Inc., Sager 

Ranch Partners) 203 housing units and 225-room resort hotel on 1,783-acres, just north and 
east of Daley Ranch – This proposed residential and resort hotel annexation and specific plan 
project was received on March 2, 2018. The project submittal has been deemed incomplete 
and a letter from staff requesting additional project related information was sent to the applicant 
on April 4, 2018. Requested information includes annexation exhibits, proposed general plan 
amendment text, a proposed Transfer of Development Rights Program, environmental initial 
study, and a fiscal impact analysis. Planning met with the applicant on May 17, 2018 to discuss 
items listed in the letter. A follow-up meeting to discuss engineering issues occurred on June 
27, 2018. The applicant met with Escondido Fire and Valley Center Fire on August 1, 2018 to 
discuss fire protection issues. Significant fire-related issues to be addressed include the 
steepness of the project entry road, secondary emergency access and Fire Department 
response times.  A follow-up meeting with the applicant to discuss these issues occurred on 



 

 15 

October 11, 2018.  On April 5, 2019, the applicant provided a letter response with alternative 
compliance proposals to address some of the fire-related issues.  On May 14, 2019 the 
applicant provided additional fire-related information requested by Fire and Planning.  Fire, 
Planning, and Engineering staff met with the applicant team on May 29, 2019 to discuss the 
fire-related information.  A financial feasibility study for the proposed resort was submitted on 
July 8, 2019. 

 
 A project webpage containing draft documents and plans has been added to the Planning 

Division’s website at the following link:  
 
 Sager Ranch Resort Specific Plan - City of Escondido 
 
8. Nutmeg Condo General Plan Amendment (Developer: Jim Simmons, CCI) 137 townhome 

condo units on 7.7 acres on both sides of Nutmeg between I-15 and Centre City Parkway – 
This proposed multi-family residential development includes a GPA from Office to Urban III (up 
to 18 du/acre) as well as a specific alignment plan for Nutmeg and a vacation of approximately 
one acre of public right-of-way for use in the project. The project application was received on 
June 15, 2018. Initial comments from Planning, Fire, Engineering, Utilities and Traffic 
Engineering were provided to the applicant on July 13, 2018.  A Notice of Availability for the 
Draft EIR was issued May 7, 2019, announcing a 45-day public review period from May 10, 
2019 to June 24, 2019.  Caltrans expressed a concern for having encroachment into their right 
of way.  As a result, project revisions are necessary for the southern portion of the property to 
accommodate grading and fuel modification zone planning on-site.  The applicant met with 
Planning and Engineering on August 14, 2019 to discuss potential changes to the project.  The 
project applicant is splitting the project into northern and southern pieces with the Final EIR 
and northern piece progressing to public hearing with Planning Commission on October 22, 
2019. 

 
9. Oak Creek (Builder: KB Homes) 65 single-family residential lots on approximately 44 acres at 

Felicita Road and Hamilton Lane – The Zoning Administrator approved a modification to the 
Precise Development Plan to revise the architecture on October 25, 2018.  On-site remediation 
of hazardous materials has been completed and DTSC has issued a clearance letter.  On-site 
improvement plans have been approved.  The rough grading permit was issued on April 18, 
2019, and grading has commenced on the site.  The Precise Grading Plan for the model homes 
has been approved and building permits for two model homes were issued the week of July 8.  
A Model Home Permit was approved by Planning on July 10, 2019, for the sales office and 
temporary improvements.  A second plan check submittal for the final map was received the 
week of May 13.  Second plan check for the off-site improvement plans was received on June 
3, 2019.  Engineering comments have been returned and Engineering has approved all 
improvements, excepting those provided for on Felicita, which additional changes are 
expected.  County of San Diego staff from the Parks and Public Works Divisions have met with 
the applicant to discuss ways to evaluate floodplain and drainage issues occurring at the 
Felicita Park.  A follow up meeting with Engineering occurred on August 28, 2019.  In response 
the applicant submitted a hydraulics study to DPW on September 9, 2019. 

 
10. 555 West Grand Mixed-Use Building (Developer: Ed McCoy) 32 condo units in three floors 

over a parking garage – This 32-unit mixed-use development with 610 SF of office/flex space 
was submitted as a planned development application on August 27, 2018.  The project is 
seeking a reduction in parking and open space standards.  Initial multi-department comments 
were sent to the applicant on September 26, 2018.  The applicant met with Fire, Engineering, 
Planning and Utilities staff on October 16, 2018 to discuss the staff comments.  It is anticipated 



 

 16 

that water lines will need to be upsized on Quince and Grand.  The applicant submitted a 
parking study on May 13, 2019, to support the proposed reduction in the number of parking 
spaces.  The applicant met with Engineering and Planning staff on May 22, 2019 to discuss 
the driveway location and Development Agreement terms.  Project plans were resubmitted to 
the City on June 24, 2019.  The project was recommended for approval by the Planning 
Commission on September 10, 2019.  The City Council discussed the project on October 9, 
2019. 

 
11. Villa Portofino (Developer: Chris Post, ATC Design Group) 15 apartment units in a three-story 

building with parking garage at 2690 S. Escondido Blvd. – This 15-unit multi-family residential 
project on a 0.52-acre parcel between S. Escondido Blvd and Cranston Drive was submitted 
as a Plot Plan application on November 28, 2018.  A comment letter was issued on December 
20, 2018.  Comments included the need to evaluate the building construction type for fire 
purposes and consider the design standards in the South Centre City Specific Plan.  Planning, 
Fire and Engineering met with the applicant on June 10, 2019, to discuss revisions to the plans 
intended to address the previous comments.  Utilities has requested a sewer study to assess 
potential impacts to the nearby Lift Station 2.  A revised project design was routed to all 
departments on August 23, 2019.  A Development Agreement will be required to reduce open 
space. 

 
12. Palomar Heights (Developer: Ninia Hammond, Integral Communities) Demolition and 

redevelopment of the old Palomar Hospital site with 510 multi-family units – A proposed 
Tentative Map, Planned Development, Specific Plan Amendment and EIR to redevelop the 
13.8-acre former hospital site.  Up to 5,500 square feet of recreation or commercial space 
could be included.  A partial project application was submitted on December 24, 2018.  
Engineering and Planning comments on the initial project submittal were sent to the applicant 
on February 12, 2019.  A contract for a developer-funded planning consultant to work on this 
project as an extension of Planning staff was approved by the City Council on February 13, 
2019. Planning Engineering and Fire met with the applicant team on February 27, 2019 and 
again on April 24, 2019 to go through proposed revisions to the site plan and building designs.  
The applicant revised the plans to increase the unit count from 424 units to 510 units.  A Notice 
of Preparation (NOP) for the Draft EIR was issued on May 3, 2019 and a public scoping 
meeting took place on May 20, 2019.  The public comment period for the NOP closed on June 
3, 2019, and approximately 28 comment letters and written forms from the scoping meeting 
were received.  Resubmittal of the redesign package was filed on June 25, 2019.  Design and 
site plan information was submitted on July 1, 2019 and a screen check EIR was submitted on 
July 29, 2019.  City comments on the design package was transmitted on August 2, 2019.  
Comments on the screen check EIR were issued on August 27, 2019.  It is anticipated that the 
draft EIR will be released for public review and comment in mid to late fall.  Revised project 
plans were submitted to Planning on September 11, 2019.  A Planning Commission work 
session focused on project design occurred on October 8, 2019.   

 
The development proposal and other related information can be accessed on the City’s website 
at the following link:  
 
https://www.escondido.org/palomarheights.aspx 

 
  



 

 17 

13. Henry Ranch (Builder: Joe Martin, Trumark Homes) An approved development of 97 single-
family residential homes on 74.35 acres at the eastern terminus of Lincoln Avenue – The Tract 
920 development proposal was originally approved in 2007 and an extension of the associated 
Development Agreement was approved in 2016.  Final Map, grading plans and improvement 
plans were submitted for initial review on February 12, 2019.  Architectural plans were 
submitted for Design Review on February 15, 2019, and comments were issued on March 14, 
2019.  The second submittal of final engineering was received on April 22, 2019, and several 
rounds of comments have been issued.  The project applicant is still working on the 
improvement plans, particularly water service issues.  Fire Department staff met with the 
applicant on August 2, 2019 to review a plan to privatize hydrant installation and maintenance. 

 
14. Del Prado (Developer: Kerry Garza, Touchstone Communities) – An approved 113-unit 

townhome-style Planned Development located at the southwestern corner of Brotherton Road 
and the Centre City Parkway frontage road -  The Del Prado project was approved by the City 
Council in May of 2016.  The project site is separated into two parcels by an SDGE parcel.  
Engineering and Planning are reviewing third plan check for final map, grading and 
improvement plans for Del Prado South.  Del Prado North is in second plan check for the same 
plans.  No building plans have been submitted into plan check.  Planning has provided 
comments for the North landscape plans.  The applicant is attempting to resolve sewer issues 
with the Regional Water Quality Control Board because sewer lines are proposed to cross over 
water lines.  Utilities is awaiting resubmittal of a full set of plans and met with the applicant on 
August 1, 2019 to review potential redesign options.  Planning approved the South landscape 
plan.   

 
15. Pine Street Apartments (Developer: Paul Mayer, Pemcor) A five-story, 198-unit apartment 

complex with structured parking on 2.31 acres – A proposed planned development and 
Specific Plan Amendment for a new residential development on Third Avenue between Quince 
Street and Pine Street in the Mercado District of the Downtown Specific Plan.  The 
development proposal was submitted for initial review on August 2, 2019.  Plans have been 
distributed to all departments.  The applicant recently notified staff that the project economics 
will require a significant redesign and that revised plans will be forthcoming. 

 
16. Accessory Dwelling Units – Planning staff is currently working on nine (9) applications for 

accessory dwelling units.  Twenty-four (24) accessory dwelling units have been approved so 
far this year.  Twenty-four (24) accessory dwelling units were approved in 2018.  Three (3) 
accessory dwelling units were approved in 2017. 

 
Building Division: 

 
1. The Building Division issued 76 permits (including 28 solar photovoltaic) with a total valuation 

of $587,103 including a commercial addition with a value of $300,00 for the Shell Station 
located at 615 W. El Norte. 
 

2. Our building inspectors responded to 211 inspection requests. 191 customers visited the 
Building counter during the week.   

 
3. No change from the previous. The Latitude 2 apartment project at 650 Center City Pkwy has 

received Building final approvals and Temporary Certificates of Occupancy for buildings 1-4. 
Field Engineering have released Building 6 for TCO. The Building Division has granted a 
Temporary Certificate of Occupancy, with minor restrictions and is awaiting a request for 



 

 18 

Final inspection of Bldg. 6. Final Inspection pending the receipt of all final reports from the 
contractor. 

 
4. No change from the previous.  The new two story church sanctuary building at 1864 N. 

Broadway is progressing toward final inspection.  Finish work continues to proceed and may 
take several weeks to complete. A Final Inspection will be performed once work is completed 
and requested by the contractor. 

 
5. No Change from the previous. The new 105 room hotel at 200 La Terraza is currently 

operating on a Temporary Certificate of Occupancy, pending Engineering final approval.  
Work is on-going to complete Engineering conditions, however, additional time is needed; 
Since their current TCO expires today they will be granted an additional 30-day extension, 
which will expire October 16th, 2019. 

 
6. The new five-story storage building at 852 Metcalf St has completed T-bar ceiling grid and 

has been approved by staff. The hold on inspections has been lifted by the Building 
Inspection staff, with the condition that no work is to be performed in the Bio-retention basin.  
Plans to address the corrective measures for the Bio-retention basin are currently under 
review by Engineering.  The installation of outdoor lighting standards has been approved. 

 
7. The Gateway Grand 126-unit apartment project at 700 W. Grand Ave. has received approval 

of exterior shear for 4th and 5th floors.  4th floor corridor shear walls have been approved for 
Building B.  Floor sheathing for 4th floor of Building C has been approved.  Plumbing top out 
has been approved for the leasing office and club house. 

 
8. No change from the previous. The new apartments at 917 W Lincoln Ave, consisting of 3 

buildings and 9 total units, has received partial approval of drywall. Drywall installation is 
complete.  Finish work is on-going and will take several weeks to complete.  Staff is awaiting 
a request for final inspection.  

 
9. The new 2 story 20,000 sf office building for Superior Ready Mix on 1564 W. Mission is 

awaiting final inspection. 
 
10. No change from the previous.  KB Homes, located at the Oak Creek development on Daisy 

Field Glen has completed the model home construction phase of the development.  Plan 
revisions have been submitted and are currently under review.  Staff has been informed by 
KB’s permit coordinator that requests for permit issuance of the first phase could be occurring 
within the next 2 to 3 weeks. The number of homes in the first phase could total between 12-
16 dwellings. Construction of the Guard shack is currently underway-so far framing, roof 
sheathing, drywall and exterior lath have been approved.  

 
11. The Starbucks “shell” building located at 350 W. Valley Pkwy has received partial pre-roofing 

inspection to allow for shear transfer connections to be placed.  Exterior shear has been 
approved and rough framing, electrical, plumbing and mechanical will be inspected this week. 

 
 

 
  



 

 19 

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 
 
Capital Improvements: 
 
1. Transit Center Pedestrian Bridge Project –  On the north end of the project the contractor 

resumed operations after last week’s rain to shape the new channel alignment. Installation 
of a new water service lateral along Grand Avenue at Spruce Street is nearing completion. 
The contractor is removing existing wall segments along Spruce Street and 3rd Avenue in 
preparation of the new masonry flood wall design. Fifty-five (55) working days remain on the 
contract. 

2. Storm Drain Pipe Lining and Rehabilitation Project Phase1 – The project consists of 14 work 
zones and 3 Bid Alternate locations for the videoing, grouting, repairing, and lining of existing 
corrugated metal pipes (CMP) within the City’s inventory. Surface restoration of the asphalt 
roadway is the order of work for this week.  

3. El Norte Parkway Improvements – The project includes widening of El Norte Parkway at the 
flood control channel by the installation of a new bridge, construction of new median islands 
from Valley Parkway to Washington Avenue, landscaping and a drip irrigation system, a 
bike/pedestrian signal at the flood control channel, along with roadway resurfacing. The 
installation of steel pilings was started this week along the East side of the channel. A crane 
is utilized to perform the pile driving. The steel H beams measure 75’ in length and are 
hammered in the ground by a diesel powered hammer suspended above the I beam. The 
process for installing a single 75’ beam requires 450 blows on average from the hammer and 
takes approximately 13 minutes to complete. There is a total of 22 piles to be installed as 
part of the bridge construction. Ninety-Eight (98) working days remaining for project 
completion. Submittals are continuing to be processed by staff.  

 Private Development: 
 
1. Tract 932 - Canyon Grove Shea Homes Community –  No changes from that reported last 

week: The developer is set to begin removing damaged concrete improvements throughout 
the project.  

2. Latitude II Condominiums: Washington Avenue @ Centre City Parkway –  No changes from 
reported last week: The project will be working on punch list items over the next reporting 
period. 

3. Tract 934 – Is a 5 lot subdivision located at 1207 Gamble Street. No changes from that report 
from last week: Offsite & onsite concrete improvements were constructed on Wednesday of 
this week. 

4. 1221 Gamble Street – Is a 3 lot subdivision located adjacent to Tract 934. Installation of 
concrete curb and gutter forms are in place along Gamble Street. Importing of material is 
under way for the construction of the 2 new lots along Pear Blossom Place. 

5. Veterans Village – No changes from that reported last week. It was determined after reporting 
on the project status last week that the Storm Water Certification has not been received. The 
bonds and securities will be placed on hold until this documentation is received.     

6. KB Homes Oak Creek Project – The construction of the new storm drain is continuing this 
week with the backfill material being placed. Hamilton lane will be closed to through traffic 
until Tuesday of next week when it is scheduled to be reopened. Emergency Services are 
notified of all road closures and a detour route is in place.  



 

 20 

7. ATT Facility Tank Relocation –  The concrete sidewalk replacement has been completed 
along 2nd Avenue. The contractor will slurry a section of Parking Lot 4 and restripe the area 
starting on October 22. 

8. North American Self Storage –  The project is located at 852 Metcalf Street. The new water 
line was tied in to the City system late last week.    

9. Pradera by Lennar –  The construction of 779’ of 12” water main along Conway Drive, 
between Lehner Drive and Rincon Avenue is continuing; the first 350’ has been laid along 
Conway Drive.  

10. Henry Ranch Tract 920 - The project is located at the intersection of El Norte Parkway/Lincoln 
Avenue. The project currently has a Demo/Grading permit for clearing vegetation/trees and 
structures associated with the Henry Avocado Packing Plant that was located on the site. 
The utility contractor is pot holing the existing gas service lateral that is required to be 
removed in the El Norte Pkwy/Lincoln Ave intersection. 

11. The Villages – Village 1 grading plans have been approved. Village 1 is between Country 
Club Drive to the South, David Drive to the East and Golden Circle Drive to the North. A total 
of 111 homes are to be constructed in Village 1. The project is actively being graded this 
week. The grading contractor is placing temporary sprinkler systems in addition to the 4 
available water trucks along the project limits in an attempt to minimize dust from the clearing 
operation. The large scale grading operation is set to start on Monday October 7 with the 
mobilization of scrapers and bull dozers.      

GRANT APPLICATIONS 
 
None this week. 
 

### 


	CONSENT CALENDAR
	1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/RRB)
	2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council)
	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: A) Regular Meeting of September 11, 2019  B) Regular Meeting of September 25, 2019
	09-11-19 CC Meeting Minutes.docx (6 pages)
	09-25-19 CC Meeting Minutes.docx (8 pages)

	4. PROPOSED CHANGES TO COMMUNITY SERVICES FEE SCHEDULE -
	R2019-153 Changes to Community Services Fees.doc (1 page)
	R2019-153 Exhibit A List of Proposed Fee Changes.xlsx (1 page)

	5. RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING APPLICATION FOR SB 2 PLANNING GRANT -
	R2019-156 SB 2 Planning Grant.doc (2 pages)


	PUBLIC HEARINGS
	6. DOWNTOWN SPECIFIC PLAN AMENDMENT AND MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE QUINCE STREET SENIOR HOUSING PROJECT (PHG 17-0028) -
	7. DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE "ASPIRE" MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT (PHG 19-0014) -
	Attachment 1 PC Report.pdf (31 pages)
	Attachment 2 PC Minutes 8.27.19.pdf (3 pages)
	Attachment 3 Public Comments.pdf (79 pages)
	O2019-13 Aspire.doc (4 pages)
	O2019-13 EXHIBIT A Aspire Legal Description.pdf (2 pages)
	O2019-13 Exhibit B Findings.docx (4 pages)
	O2019-13 EXHIBIT C Conditions.docx (20 pages)
	O2019-13 Exhibit D Architecture Plans.pdf (17 pages)
	O2019-13 EXHIBIT E Development Agreement with Fee Guide.pdf (70 pages)
	O2019-13 Exhibit F CEQA Exemption.docx (93 pages)

	8. TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION MAP, MASTER AND PRECISE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR A 32-UNIT MIXED-USE CONDOMINIUM PROJECT AT 555 W. GRAND AVENUE (SUB 18-0008; PHG 18-0021) -
	Attachment 1 Planning Commission Staff Report.pdf (91 pages)
	Attachment 2 Planning Commission minutes.pdf (2 pages)
	R2019-143.doc (6 pages)
	R2019-143 Exhibit A (Legal) with Headers.pdf (1 page)
	R2019-143 Exhibit B (Findings-Factors) with Headers.pdf (6 pages)
	R2019-143 Exhibit C  Conditions of Approval with Headers.pdf (16 pages)
	R2019-143 Exhibit 'D' (Plans) with Headers.pdf (28 pages)
	O2019-15 555 W. Grand.doc (4 pages)
	O2019-15 Exhibit A Property Description
	O2019-15 Exhibit B (Findings Factors) with Headers.pdf (6 pages)
	O2019-15 Exhibit C  Conditions of Approvals with Headers.pdf (16 pages)
	O2019-15 Exhibit 'D' (Plans) with Headers.pdf (28 pages)
	O2019-15 Exhibit 'E' CEQA Exemption (NOE) with Header.pdf (6 pages)
	O2019-15 Exhibit F 555 W. Grand Avenue.pdf (24 pages)


	FUTURE AGENDA
	9. FUTURE AGENDA -

	CITY MANAGER'S WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT
	WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT - 




